
TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT NOS. 1 - 11 

PORT ST. LUCIE 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
JANUARY 7, 2026 

11:00A.M. 
Special District Services, Inc. 

The Oaks Center 
2501A Burns Road 

Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410 

www.traditioncdd1.org 
www.traditioncdd2.org 
www.traditioncdd3.org 
www.traditioncdd4.org 
www.traditioncdd5.org 
www.traditioncdd6.org 
www.traditioncdd7.org 
www.traditioncdd8.org 
www.traditioncdd9.org 
www.traditioncdd10.org 
www.traditioncdd11.org 

561.630.4922 Telephone 
877.SDS.4922 Toll Free
561.630.4923 Facsimil

http://www.traditioncdd1.org/
http://www.traditioncdd2.org/
http://www.traditioncdd3.org/
http://www.traditioncdd4.org/
http://www.traditioncdd5.org/
http://www.traditioncdd6.org/
http://www.traditioncdd7.org/
http://www.traditioncdd8.org/
http://www.traditioncdd9.org/
http://www.traditioncdd10.org/
http://www.traditioncdd11.org/


AGENDA 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO.’S 1-11 

Tradition Town Hall  
10799 SW Civic Lane 

Port St. Lucie, FL  34987 
OR 

Join Zoom Meeting: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/3341025012?omn=88399302269 

Meeting ID: 334 102 5012 
Dial-In: 1 929 436 2866 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
January 7, 2026 

11:00 a.m. 
 
 

A. Call to Order 

B. Proof of Publication……………………………………………………………………………….Page 1 

C. Establish Quorum 

D. Supervisor Resignation 

• Accept Resignation of Supervisor George Russell; CDD #6/Seat No. 1 

• Accept Resignation of Supervisor Eric Sexauer; CDD Nos. 1&2/Seat No.2; CDD Nos. 

7,8,9&10/Seat No. 4; and CDD No. 11/Seat No. 1 

• Accept Resignation of Supervisor Rob Siedlecki; CDD #4/Seat No. 1 

E. Additions or Deletions 

F. Comments from the Public Not on the Agenda  

G. Consent Items 

1. Organizational Resolutions  

a. Resolution No. 2026-01 - Resolutions Adopting Records Retention Policy………….Page 2 

b. Resolution No. 2026-02 - Resolutions Designating a Qualified Public Depository…..Page 25 

c. Resolution No. 2026-03 - Resolutions Establishing Defense Policy………………….Page 37 

d. Resolution No. 2026-04 - Resolutions Authorizing Chair & Vice Chair to Execute Plats, 

Permits & Conveyances………………………………………………………………..Page 82 

e. Resolution No. 2026-05 - Resolutions Designating Public Comment Period…………Page 105 

f. Resolution No. 2026-06 - Resolutions Adopting Alternative Investment Guidelines…Page 139 

g. Resolution No. 2026-07 - Resolutions Adopting Prompt Payment Policies…………..Page 151 

h. Resolution No. 2026-08 - Resolutions Adopting Travel Reimbursement Policy……...Page 307 

i. Resolutions No. 2026-09 - Resolutions Adopting Internal Controls Policy…………..Page 341 

j. Resolution No. 2026-10 - Resolutions Authorizing Disbursement of Funds………….Page 408 

k. Resolution No. 2026-11 - Resolutions Setting Hearing to Adopt Districts’ Rules  

of Procedure……………………………………………………………………………Page 431 

2. Approve November 5, 2025, Regular Board Meeting Minutes…………………….………….Page 443 

 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/3341025012?omn=88399302269


3. Approve Fixed Property Damage Agreement…………………………………………………Page 449 

4. Approve Agreement for Office Renovation Services………………………………………….Page 451 

5. Approve Cost Share Agreement for Office Renovation Construction Servies………………..Page 465 

6. Approval of WA #19-143-198; iThink Financial Plaza – Irrigation…………………………..Page 472 

H. Old Business 

1. Irrigation Franchise Agreement 

2. (CDD #4) Consider Adopting Resolution No. 2025-23; Amended Final Fiscal Year Budget  
2024/2025……………………………………………………………………………………...Page 475 

3. (CDD #4) Consider Resolution No. 2025-24 for District Nos, 1-11; Designating a Registered Agent 
& Registered Office of the District & Providing for an Effective Date……………………….Page 477 

I. New Business 
1. Update from Irrigation Rate Committee  

2. Adopt Resolution No. 2026-12; Setting Irrigation Rate Hearing……………………………..Page 482 

3. Adopt Resolution No. 2026-13; Authorizing the Disposition of Tangible Personal 

Property………………………………………………………………………………………..Page 486 

J. Administrative Matters 
1. Manager’s Report 

2. Attorney’s Report 

3. Engineer’s Report 

4. Financial Report (Under Separate Cover)………….……………..………………………..….Page 489 

5. Founder’s Report 

K. Board Member Discussion Requests and Comments 

L. Adjourn  



Notice of Regular Board Meeting of the 
Tradition Community Development District Nos. 1-11 

The Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) of the Tradition Community Development District 
Nos. 1-11 will hold a Regular Board Meeting on January 7, 2026, at 11:00 a.m. at 
Tradition Town Hall located at 10799 SW Civic Lane, Port St. Lucie, Florida 34987. 

The purpose of the Regular Board Meeting is for the Board to consider any business 
which may properly come before it.  A copy of the Agenda may be obtained from the 
Districts’ websites or at the offices of the District Manager, Special District Services, 
Inc., 10521 SW Village Center Dr, Suite 203, Port St. Lucie, Florida 34987 during normal 
business hours.  The meetings are open to the public and will be conducted in 
accordance with the provisions of Florida law.  Meetings may be continued as found 
necessary to a time and place specified on the record. 

There may be occasions when one or more Supervisors will participate by telephone; 
therefore, a speaker telephone may be present at the meeting location so that 
Supervisors may be fully informed of the discussions taking place. 

In accordance with the provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act, any person 
requiring special accommodations or an interpreter to participate at this meeting should 
contact the District Manager at (772) 345-5119 and/or toll free at 1-877-737-4922, at 
least seven (7) days prior to the date of the meeting. 

If any person decides to appeal any decision made with respect to any matter considered 
at this Regular Board Meeting, such person will need a record of the proceedings and 
such person may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made at 
their own expense and which record includes the testimony and evidence on which the 
appeal is based. 

Meetings may be cancelled from time to time without advertised notice. 

Tradition Community Development District Nos. 1-11 

www.traditioncdd1.org 
www.traditioncdd2.org 
www.traditioncdd3.org 
www.traditioncdd4.org 
www.traditioncdd5.org 
www.traditioncdd6.org 
www.traditioncdd7.org 
www.traditioncdd8.org 
www.traditioncdd9.org 
www.traditioncdd10.org 
www.traditioncdd11.org 

PUBLISH:  St. Lucie News Tribune   12/23/25 

1

http://www.traditioncdd1.org/
http://www.traditioncdd2.org/
http://www.traditioncdd3.org/
http://www.traditioncdd4.org/
http://www.traditioncdd5.org/
http://www.traditioncdd6.org/
http://www.traditioncdd7.org/
http://www.traditioncdd8.org/
http://www.traditioncdd9.org/
http://www.traditioncdd10.org/
http://www.traditioncdd11.org/








Kutak Rock LLP 

107 West College Avenue, Tallahassee, FL 32301-7707 

office 850.692.7300 

1 

MEMORANDUM 
FROM: Kutak Rock LLP  

TO: Board of Supervisors 

DATE: January 7, 2026 

Subject: Resolution Adopting Records Retention Policy 

Staff Recommendation 

Staff recommends the Board adopt the Resolution Adopting Records Retention Policy. 

General Information 

This Resolution establishes the District Manager as the public records liaison and establishes the 
District’s Public Records Retention Policy. The Policy adopts the records retention requirements 
set forth in Florida law, except that it extends the timeframes in which the records are to be kept 
so that all records are kept indefinitely unless the policy is otherwise amended by the Board. 

District Legal Counsel Review 

The District’s attorneys prepared by this Resolution. 

Funding Review 

This Resolution is not expected to affect the District’s financial condition. 

2



4902-5135-9093.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-01 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1 
PROVIDING FOR THE APPOINTMENT OF A RECORDS 
MANAGEMENT LIAISON OFFICER; PROVIDING THE 
DUTIES OF THE RECORDS MANAGEMENT LIAISON 
OFFICER; ADOPTING A RECORDS RETENTION POLICY; 
AND PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY AND EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 1 (the “District”) is a local 
unit of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  

WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt rules to govern the 
administration of the District and to adopt resolutions as may be necessary for the conduct of district 
business; and 

WHEREAS, Section 1.2(2) of the District’s Proposed Rules of Procedure appoints the Secretary 
of the District as the District’s records custodian; and 

WHEREAS, Section 257.36(5), Florida Statutes, requires the District to establish and maintain 
an active and continuing program for the economical and efficient management of records and to provide 
for the appointment of a records management liaison officer (the “Records Management Liaison 
Officer”); and 

WHEREAS, the District desires for the Records Management Liaison Officer to be an employee 
of the District or an employee of the District Manager; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to authorize the District’s records custodian to appoint a 
Records Management Liaison Officer, which may or may not be the District’s records custodian; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to prescribe duties of the Records Management Liaison Officer 
and provide for the assignment of additional duties; and 

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) finds that it is in the best interests 
of the District to adopt by resolution a records retention policy (the “Policy”) for immediate use and 
application; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to provide for future amendment of the Records Retention 
Policy. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1: 

SECTION 1. The District hereby authorizes the District’s records custodian to appoint a 
Records Management Liaison Officer and report such appointment to the appropriate State of Florida 
agencies.  A Records Management Liaison Officer shall be an employee of the District or the District 
Manager.  The Board, and the District’s records custodian, shall each have the individual power to 
remove the Records Management Liaison Officer at any time for any reason.  Immediately following the 
removal or resignation of a Records Management Liaison Officer, the District’s records custodian shall 
appoint a replacement Records Management Liaison Officer. 

3



4902-5135-9093.1  

SECTION 2. The duties of the Records Management Liaison Officer shall include the following: 

A. Serve as the District’s contact with the Florida Department of State, State Library and 
Archives of Florida; and 

B. Coordinate the District’s records inventory; and 
C. Maintain records retention and disposition forms; and 
D. Coordinate District records management training; and 
E. Develop records management procedures consistent with the attached Records Retention 

Policy, as amended; and 
F. Participate in the development of the District’s development of electronic record keeping 

systems; and 
G. Submit annual compliance statements; and 
H. Work with the Florida Department of State, State Library and Archives of Florida to establish 

individual retention schedules for the District, from time to time and as may be necessary; 
and 

I. Such other duties as may be assigned by the Board or the District’s records custodian in the 
future. 

 
SECTION 3.  The District hereby adopts as its Records Retention Policy the applicable 

provisions of Section 257.36(5), Florida Statutes, the rules adopted by the Division of Library and 
Information Services of the Department of State (the “Division”) pursuant to Section 257.36, Florida 
Statutes, and the General Records Schedules established by the Division.  However, the District hereby 
extends the minimum retention guidelines contained in the General Records Schedules so that the District 
will retain all public records relating to District business until the Board of Supervisors amends the 
Records Retention Policy to address the disposition of the same.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the 
District shall only retain Transitory Messages until the Transitory Message is obsolete, superseded or 
administrative value is lost in accordance with the General Records Schedule for State and Local 

Government Agencies, Item #146, as incorporated by reference in Rule 1B-24.003(1)(a), Florida 
Administrative Code.  In accordance with section 668.50, Florida Statutes, and section 119.01, Florida 
Statutes, the District hereby determines the electronic record shall be considered the official record of all 
public records relating to District business and any paper originals are designated as duplicates which 
may be disposed of unless prohibited by any law, rule or ordinance.  To the extent the above statute, rules, 
or schedules are amended or supplemented in the future, the District’s Records Retention Policy shall 
automatically incorporate such amendment or supplement provided that such automatic amendment does 
not permit the disposition of District records without further action of the Board.  The Records Retention 
Policy shall remain in full force and effect until such time as the Board amends the Policy.   

SECTION 4.  If any provision of this resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other 
provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 

SECTION 5.  This resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain in 
effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any Policy 
previously adopted by the District. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 1 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

4



4919-5358-9635.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-01 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 
PROVIDING FOR THE APPOINTMENT OF A RECORDS 
MANAGEMENT LIAISON OFFICER; PROVIDING THE DUTIES 
OF THE RECORDS MANAGEMENT LIAISON OFFICER; 
ADOPTING A RECORDS RETENTION POLICY; AND 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY AND EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 2 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  

WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt rules to govern the 
administration of the District and to adopt resolutions as may be necessary for the conduct of district 
business; and 

WHEREAS, Section 1.2(2) of the District’s Proposed Rules of Procedure appoints the Secretary 
of the District as the District’s records custodian; and 

WHEREAS, Section 257.36(5), Florida Statutes, requires the District to establish and maintain an 
active and continuing program for the economical and efficient management of records and to provide for 
the appointment of a records management liaison officer (the “Records Management Liaison Officer”); 
and 

WHEREAS, the District desires for the Records Management Liaison Officer to be an employee 
of the District or an employee of the District Manager; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to authorize the District’s records custodian to appoint a Records 
Management Liaison Officer, which may or may not be the District’s records custodian; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to prescribe duties of the Records Management Liaison Officer 
and provide for the assignment of additional duties; and 

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) finds that it is in the best interests 
of the District to adopt by resolution a records retention policy (the “Policy”) for immediate use and 
application; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to provide for future amendment of the Records Retention Policy. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2: 

SECTION 1. The District hereby authorizes the District’s records custodian to appoint a Records 
Management Liaison Officer and report such appointment to the appropriate State of Florida agencies.  A 
Records Management Liaison Officer shall be an employee of the District or the District Manager.  The 
Board, and the District’s records custodian, shall each have the individual power to remove the Records 
Management Liaison Officer at any time for any reason.  Immediately following the removal or resignation 
of a Records Management Liaison Officer, the District’s records custodian shall appoint a replacement 
Records Management Liaison Officer. 

SECTION 2. The duties of the Records Management Liaison Officer shall include the following: 

5



4919-5358-9635.1  

A. Serve as the District’s contact with the Florida Department of State, State Library and Archives 
of Florida; and 

B. Coordinate the District’s records inventory; and 
C. Maintain records retention and disposition forms; and 
D. Coordinate District records management training; and 
E. Develop records management procedures consistent with the attached Records Retention 

Policy, as amended; and 
F. Participate in the development of the District’s development of electronic record keeping 

systems; and 
G. Submit annual compliance statements; and 
H. Work with the Florida Department of State, State Library and Archives of Florida to establish 

individual retention schedules for the District, from time to time and as may be necessary; and 
I. Such other duties as may be assigned by the Board or the District’s records custodian in the 

future. 
 

SECTION 3.  The District hereby adopts as its Records Retention Policy the applicable 
provisions of Section 257.36(5), Florida Statutes, the rules adopted by the Division of Library and 
Information Services of the Department of State (the “Division”) pursuant to Section 257.36, Florida 
Statutes, and the General Records Schedules established by the Division.  However, the District hereby 
extends the minimum retention guidelines contained in the General Records Schedules so that the District 
will retain all public records relating to District business until the Board of Supervisors amends the Records 
Retention Policy to address the disposition of the same.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the District shall 
only retain Transitory Messages until the Transitory Message is obsolete, superseded or administrative 
value is lost in accordance with the General Records Schedule for State and Local Government Agencies, 

Item #146, as incorporated by reference in Rule 1B-24.003(1)(a), Florida Administrative Code.  In 
accordance with section 668.50, Florida Statutes, and section 119.01, Florida Statutes, the District hereby 
determines the electronic record shall be considered the official record of all public records relating to 
District business and any paper originals are designated as duplicates which may be disposed of unless 
prohibited by any law, rule or ordinance.  To the extent the above statute, rules, or schedules are amended 
or supplemented in the future, the District’s Records Retention Policy shall automatically incorporate such 
amendment or supplement provided that such automatic amendment does not permit the disposition of 
District records without further action of the Board.  The Records Retention Policy shall remain in full force 
and effect until such time as the Board amends the Policy.   

SECTION 4.  If any provision of this resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other 
provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 

SECTION 5.  This resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain in effect 
unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any Policy 
previously adopted by the District. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 2 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 

 

6



4898-2452-1603.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-01 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 3 
PROVIDING FOR THE APPOINTMENT OF A RECORDS 
MANAGEMENT LIAISON OFFICER; PROVIDING THE DUTIES 
OF THE RECORDS MANAGEMENT LIAISON OFFICER; 
ADOPTING A RECORDS RETENTION POLICY; AND 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY AND EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 3 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  

WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt rules to govern the 
administration of the District and to adopt resolutions as may be necessary for the conduct of district 
business; and 

WHEREAS, Section 1.2(2) of the District’s Proposed Rules of Procedure appoints the Secretary 
of the District as the District’s records custodian; and 

WHEREAS, Section 257.36(5), Florida Statutes, requires the District to establish and maintain an 
active and continuing program for the economical and efficient management of records and to provide for 
the appointment of a records management liaison officer (the “Records Management Liaison Officer”); 
and 

WHEREAS, the District desires for the Records Management Liaison Officer to be an employee 
of the District or an employee of the District Manager; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to authorize the District’s records custodian to appoint a Records 
Management Liaison Officer, which may or may not be the District’s records custodian; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to prescribe duties of the Records Management Liaison Officer 
and provide for the assignment of additional duties; and 

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) finds that it is in the best interests 
of the District to adopt by resolution a records retention policy (the “Policy”) for immediate use and 
application; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to provide for future amendment of the Records Retention Policy. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 3: 

SECTION 1. The District hereby authorizes the District’s records custodian to appoint a Records 
Management Liaison Officer and report such appointment to the appropriate State of Florida agencies.  A 
Records Management Liaison Officer shall be an employee of the District or the District Manager.  The 
Board, and the District’s records custodian, shall each have the individual power to remove the Records 
Management Liaison Officer at any time for any reason.  Immediately following the removal or resignation 
of a Records Management Liaison Officer, the District’s records custodian shall appoint a replacement 
Records Management Liaison Officer. 

SECTION 2. The duties of the Records Management Liaison Officer shall include the following: 

7



4898-2452-1603.1  

A. Serve as the District’s contact with the Florida Department of State, State Library and Archives 
of Florida; and 

B. Coordinate the District’s records inventory; and 
C. Maintain records retention and disposition forms; and 
D. Coordinate District records management training; and 
E. Develop records management procedures consistent with the attached Records Retention 

Policy, as amended; and 
F. Participate in the development of the District’s development of electronic record keeping 

systems; and 
G. Submit annual compliance statements; and 
H. Work with the Florida Department of State, State Library and Archives of Florida to establish 

individual retention schedules for the District, from time to time and as may be necessary; and 
I. Such other duties as may be assigned by the Board or the District’s records custodian in the 

future. 
 

SECTION 3.  The District hereby adopts as its Records Retention Policy the applicable 
provisions of Section 257.36(5), Florida Statutes, the rules adopted by the Division of Library and 
Information Services of the Department of State (the “Division”) pursuant to Section 257.36, Florida 
Statutes, and the General Records Schedules established by the Division.  However, the District hereby 
extends the minimum retention guidelines contained in the General Records Schedules so that the District 
will retain all public records relating to District business until the Board of Supervisors amends the Records 
Retention Policy to address the disposition of the same.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the District shall 
only retain Transitory Messages until the Transitory Message is obsolete, superseded or administrative 
value is lost in accordance with the General Records Schedule for State and Local Government Agencies, 

Item #146, as incorporated by reference in Rule 1B-24.003(1)(a), Florida Administrative Code.  In 
accordance with section 668.50, Florida Statutes, and section 119.01, Florida Statutes, the District hereby 
determines the electronic record shall be considered the official record of all public records relating to 
District business and any paper originals are designated as duplicates which may be disposed of unless 
prohibited by any law, rule or ordinance.  To the extent the above statute, rules, or schedules are amended 
or supplemented in the future, the District’s Records Retention Policy shall automatically incorporate such 
amendment or supplement provided that such automatic amendment does not permit the disposition of 
District records without further action of the Board.  The Records Retention Policy shall remain in full force 
and effect until such time as the Board amends the Policy.   

SECTION 4.  If any provision of this resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other 
provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 

SECTION 5.  This resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain in effect 
unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any Policy 
previously adopted by the District. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 3 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 

 

8



4903-7974-2595.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-01 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 4 
PROVIDING FOR THE APPOINTMENT OF A RECORDS 
MANAGEMENT LIAISON OFFICER; PROVIDING THE DUTIES 
OF THE RECORDS MANAGEMENT LIAISON OFFICER; 
ADOPTING A RECORDS RETENTION POLICY; AND 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY AND EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 4 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  

WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt rules to govern the 
administration of the District and to adopt resolutions as may be necessary for the conduct of district 
business; and 

WHEREAS, Section 1.2(2) of the District’s Proposed Rules of Procedure appoints the Secretary 
of the District as the District’s records custodian; and 

WHEREAS, Section 257.36(5), Florida Statutes, requires the District to establish and maintain an 
active and continuing program for the economical and efficient management of records and to provide for 
the appointment of a records management liaison officer (the “Records Management Liaison Officer”); 
and 

WHEREAS, the District desires for the Records Management Liaison Officer to be an employee 
of the District or an employee of the District Manager; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to authorize the District’s records custodian to appoint a Records 
Management Liaison Officer, which may or may not be the District’s records custodian; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to prescribe duties of the Records Management Liaison Officer 
and provide for the assignment of additional duties; and 

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) finds that it is in the best interests 
of the District to adopt by resolution a records retention policy (the “Policy”) for immediate use and 
application; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to provide for future amendment of the Records Retention Policy. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 4: 

SECTION 1. The District hereby authorizes the District’s records custodian to appoint a Records 
Management Liaison Officer and report such appointment to the appropriate State of Florida agencies.  A 
Records Management Liaison Officer shall be an employee of the District or the District Manager.  The 
Board, and the District’s records custodian, shall each have the individual power to remove the Records 
Management Liaison Officer at any time for any reason.  Immediately following the removal or resignation 
of a Records Management Liaison Officer, the District’s records custodian shall appoint a replacement 
Records Management Liaison Officer. 

SECTION 2. The duties of the Records Management Liaison Officer shall include the following: 

9



4903-7974-2595.1  

A. Serve as the District’s contact with the Florida Department of State, State Library and Archives 
of Florida; and 

B. Coordinate the District’s records inventory; and 
C. Maintain records retention and disposition forms; and 
D. Coordinate District records management training; and 
E. Develop records management procedures consistent with the attached Records Retention 

Policy, as amended; and 
F. Participate in the development of the District’s development of electronic record keeping 

systems; and 
G. Submit annual compliance statements; and 
H. Work with the Florida Department of State, State Library and Archives of Florida to establish 

individual retention schedules for the District, from time to time and as may be necessary; and 
I. Such other duties as may be assigned by the Board or the District’s records custodian in the 

future. 
 

SECTION 3.  The District hereby adopts as its Records Retention Policy the applicable 
provisions of Section 257.36(5), Florida Statutes, the rules adopted by the Division of Library and 
Information Services of the Department of State (the “Division”) pursuant to Section 257.36, Florida 
Statutes, and the General Records Schedules established by the Division.  However, the District hereby 
extends the minimum retention guidelines contained in the General Records Schedules so that the District 
will retain all public records relating to District business until the Board of Supervisors amends the Records 
Retention Policy to address the disposition of the same.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the District shall 
only retain Transitory Messages until the Transitory Message is obsolete, superseded or administrative 
value is lost in accordance with the General Records Schedule for State and Local Government Agencies, 

Item #146, as incorporated by reference in Rule 1B-24.003(1)(a), Florida Administrative Code.  In 
accordance with section 668.50, Florida Statutes, and section 119.01, Florida Statutes, the District hereby 
determines the electronic record shall be considered the official record of all public records relating to 
District business and any paper originals are designated as duplicates which may be disposed of unless 
prohibited by any law, rule or ordinance.  To the extent the above statute, rules, or schedules are amended 
or supplemented in the future, the District’s Records Retention Policy shall automatically incorporate such 
amendment or supplement provided that such automatic amendment does not permit the disposition of 
District records without further action of the Board.  The Records Retention Policy shall remain in full force 
and effect until such time as the Board amends the Policy.   

SECTION 4.  If any provision of this resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other 
provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 

SECTION 5.  This resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain in effect 
unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any Policy 
previously adopted by the District. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 4 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 

 

10



4901-9715-9555.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-01 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5 
PROVIDING FOR THE APPOINTMENT OF A RECORDS 
MANAGEMENT LIAISON OFFICER; PROVIDING THE DUTIES 
OF THE RECORDS MANAGEMENT LIAISON OFFICER; 
ADOPTING A RECORDS RETENTION POLICY; AND 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY AND EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 5 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  

WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt rules to govern the 
administration of the District and to adopt resolutions as may be necessary for the conduct of district 
business; and 

WHEREAS, Section 1.2(2) of the District’s Proposed Rules of Procedure appoints the Secretary 
of the District as the District’s records custodian; and 

WHEREAS, Section 257.36(5), Florida Statutes, requires the District to establish and maintain an 
active and continuing program for the economical and efficient management of records and to provide for 
the appointment of a records management liaison officer (the “Records Management Liaison Officer”); 
and 

WHEREAS, the District desires for the Records Management Liaison Officer to be an employee 
of the District or an employee of the District Manager; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to authorize the District’s records custodian to appoint a Records 
Management Liaison Officer, which may or may not be the District’s records custodian; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to prescribe duties of the Records Management Liaison Officer 
and provide for the assignment of additional duties; and 

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) finds that it is in the best interests 
of the District to adopt by resolution a records retention policy (the “Policy”) for immediate use and 
application; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to provide for future amendment of the Records Retention Policy. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5: 

SECTION 1. The District hereby authorizes the District’s records custodian to appoint a Records 
Management Liaison Officer and report such appointment to the appropriate State of Florida agencies.  A 
Records Management Liaison Officer shall be an employee of the District or the District Manager.  The 
Board, and the District’s records custodian, shall each have the individual power to remove the Records 
Management Liaison Officer at any time for any reason.  Immediately following the removal or resignation 
of a Records Management Liaison Officer, the District’s records custodian shall appoint a replacement 
Records Management Liaison Officer. 

SECTION 2. The duties of the Records Management Liaison Officer shall include the following: 

11



4901-9715-9555.1  

A. Serve as the District’s contact with the Florida Department of State, State Library and Archives 
of Florida; and 

B. Coordinate the District’s records inventory; and 
C. Maintain records retention and disposition forms; and 
D. Coordinate District records management training; and 
E. Develop records management procedures consistent with the attached Records Retention 

Policy, as amended; and 
F. Participate in the development of the District’s development of electronic record keeping 

systems; and 
G. Submit annual compliance statements; and 
H. Work with the Florida Department of State, State Library and Archives of Florida to establish 

individual retention schedules for the District, from time to time and as may be necessary; and 
I. Such other duties as may be assigned by the Board or the District’s records custodian in the 

future. 
 

SECTION 3.  The District hereby adopts as its Records Retention Policy the applicable 
provisions of Section 257.36(5), Florida Statutes, the rules adopted by the Division of Library and 
Information Services of the Department of State (the “Division”) pursuant to Section 257.36, Florida 
Statutes, and the General Records Schedules established by the Division.  However, the District hereby 
extends the minimum retention guidelines contained in the General Records Schedules so that the District 
will retain all public records relating to District business until the Board of Supervisors amends the Records 
Retention Policy to address the disposition of the same.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the District shall 
only retain Transitory Messages until the Transitory Message is obsolete, superseded or administrative 
value is lost in accordance with the General Records Schedule for State and Local Government Agencies, 

Item #146, as incorporated by reference in Rule 1B-24.003(1)(a), Florida Administrative Code.  In 
accordance with section 668.50, Florida Statutes, and section 119.01, Florida Statutes, the District hereby 
determines the electronic record shall be considered the official record of all public records relating to 
District business and any paper originals are designated as duplicates which may be disposed of unless 
prohibited by any law, rule or ordinance.  To the extent the above statute, rules, or schedules are amended 
or supplemented in the future, the District’s Records Retention Policy shall automatically incorporate such 
amendment or supplement provided that such automatic amendment does not permit the disposition of 
District records without further action of the Board.  The Records Retention Policy shall remain in full force 
and effect until such time as the Board amends the Policy.   

SECTION 4.  If any provision of this resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other 
provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 

SECTION 5.  This resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain in effect 
unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any Policy 
previously adopted by the District. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 5 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 

 

12



4936-3812-7235.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-01 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 6 
PROVIDING FOR THE APPOINTMENT OF A RECORDS 
MANAGEMENT LIAISON OFFICER; PROVIDING THE DUTIES 
OF THE RECORDS MANAGEMENT LIAISON OFFICER; 
ADOPTING A RECORDS RETENTION POLICY; AND 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY AND EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 6 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  

WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt rules to govern the 
administration of the District and to adopt resolutions as may be necessary for the conduct of district 
business; and 

WHEREAS, Section 1.2(2) of the District’s Proposed Rules of Procedure appoints the Secretary 
of the District as the District’s records custodian; and 

WHEREAS, Section 257.36(5), Florida Statutes, requires the District to establish and maintain an 
active and continuing program for the economical and efficient management of records and to provide for 
the appointment of a records management liaison officer (the “Records Management Liaison Officer”); 
and 

WHEREAS, the District desires for the Records Management Liaison Officer to be an employee 
of the District or an employee of the District Manager; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to authorize the District’s records custodian to appoint a Records 
Management Liaison Officer, which may or may not be the District’s records custodian; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to prescribe duties of the Records Management Liaison Officer 
and provide for the assignment of additional duties; and 

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) finds that it is in the best interests 
of the District to adopt by resolution a records retention policy (the “Policy”) for immediate use and 
application; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to provide for future amendment of the Records Retention Policy. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 6: 

SECTION 1. The District hereby authorizes the District’s records custodian to appoint a Records 
Management Liaison Officer and report such appointment to the appropriate State of Florida agencies.  A 
Records Management Liaison Officer shall be an employee of the District or the District Manager.  The 
Board, and the District’s records custodian, shall each have the individual power to remove the Records 
Management Liaison Officer at any time for any reason.  Immediately following the removal or resignation 
of a Records Management Liaison Officer, the District’s records custodian shall appoint a replacement 
Records Management Liaison Officer. 

SECTION 2. The duties of the Records Management Liaison Officer shall include the following: 

13



4936-3812-7235.1  

A. Serve as the District’s contact with the Florida Department of State, State Library and Archives 
of Florida; and 

B. Coordinate the District’s records inventory; and 
C. Maintain records retention and disposition forms; and 
D. Coordinate District records management training; and 
E. Develop records management procedures consistent with the attached Records Retention 

Policy, as amended; and 
F. Participate in the development of the District’s development of electronic record keeping 

systems; and 
G. Submit annual compliance statements; and 
H. Work with the Florida Department of State, State Library and Archives of Florida to establish 

individual retention schedules for the District, from time to time and as may be necessary; and 
I. Such other duties as may be assigned by the Board or the District’s records custodian in the 

future. 
 

SECTION 3.  The District hereby adopts as its Records Retention Policy the applicable 
provisions of Section 257.36(5), Florida Statutes, the rules adopted by the Division of Library and 
Information Services of the Department of State (the “Division”) pursuant to Section 257.36, Florida 
Statutes, and the General Records Schedules established by the Division.  However, the District hereby 
extends the minimum retention guidelines contained in the General Records Schedules so that the District 
will retain all public records relating to District business until the Board of Supervisors amends the Records 
Retention Policy to address the disposition of the same.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the District shall 
only retain Transitory Messages until the Transitory Message is obsolete, superseded or administrative 
value is lost in accordance with the General Records Schedule for State and Local Government Agencies, 

Item #146, as incorporated by reference in Rule 1B-24.003(1)(a), Florida Administrative Code.  In 
accordance with section 668.50, Florida Statutes, and section 119.01, Florida Statutes, the District hereby 
determines the electronic record shall be considered the official record of all public records relating to 
District business and any paper originals are designated as duplicates which may be disposed of unless 
prohibited by any law, rule or ordinance.  To the extent the above statute, rules, or schedules are amended 
or supplemented in the future, the District’s Records Retention Policy shall automatically incorporate such 
amendment or supplement provided that such automatic amendment does not permit the disposition of 
District records without further action of the Board.  The Records Retention Policy shall remain in full force 
and effect until such time as the Board amends the Policy.   

SECTION 4.  If any provision of this resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other 
provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 

SECTION 5.  This resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain in effect 
unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any Policy 
previously adopted by the District. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 6 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 

 

14



4905-1881-0243.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-01 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 7 
PROVIDING FOR THE APPOINTMENT OF A RECORDS 
MANAGEMENT LIAISON OFFICER; PROVIDING THE DUTIES 
OF THE RECORDS MANAGEMENT LIAISON OFFICER; 
ADOPTING A RECORDS RETENTION POLICY; AND 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY AND EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 7 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  

WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt rules to govern the 
administration of the District and to adopt resolutions as may be necessary for the conduct of district 
business; and 

WHEREAS, Section 1.2(2) of the District’s Proposed Rules of Procedure appoints the Secretary 
of the District as the District’s records custodian; and 

WHEREAS, Section 257.36(5), Florida Statutes, requires the District to establish and maintain an 
active and continuing program for the economical and efficient management of records and to provide for 
the appointment of a records management liaison officer (the “Records Management Liaison Officer”); 
and 

WHEREAS, the District desires for the Records Management Liaison Officer to be an employee 
of the District or an employee of the District Manager; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to authorize the District’s records custodian to appoint a Records 
Management Liaison Officer, which may or may not be the District’s records custodian; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to prescribe duties of the Records Management Liaison Officer 
and provide for the assignment of additional duties; and 

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) finds that it is in the best interests 
of the District to adopt by resolution a records retention policy (the “Policy”) for immediate use and 
application; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to provide for future amendment of the Records Retention Policy. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 7: 

SECTION 1. The District hereby authorizes the District’s records custodian to appoint a Records 
Management Liaison Officer and report such appointment to the appropriate State of Florida agencies.  A 
Records Management Liaison Officer shall be an employee of the District or the District Manager.  The 
Board, and the District’s records custodian, shall each have the individual power to remove the Records 
Management Liaison Officer at any time for any reason.  Immediately following the removal or resignation 
of a Records Management Liaison Officer, the District’s records custodian shall appoint a replacement 
Records Management Liaison Officer. 

SECTION 2. The duties of the Records Management Liaison Officer shall include the following: 

15



4905-1881-0243.1  

A. Serve as the District’s contact with the Florida Department of State, State Library and Archives 
of Florida; and 

B. Coordinate the District’s records inventory; and 
C. Maintain records retention and disposition forms; and 
D. Coordinate District records management training; and 
E. Develop records management procedures consistent with the attached Records Retention 

Policy, as amended; and 
F. Participate in the development of the District’s development of electronic record keeping 

systems; and 
G. Submit annual compliance statements; and 
H. Work with the Florida Department of State, State Library and Archives of Florida to establish 

individual retention schedules for the District, from time to time and as may be necessary; and 
I. Such other duties as may be assigned by the Board or the District’s records custodian in the 

future. 
 

SECTION 3.  The District hereby adopts as its Records Retention Policy the applicable 
provisions of Section 257.36(5), Florida Statutes, the rules adopted by the Division of Library and 
Information Services of the Department of State (the “Division”) pursuant to Section 257.36, Florida 
Statutes, and the General Records Schedules established by the Division.  However, the District hereby 
extends the minimum retention guidelines contained in the General Records Schedules so that the District 
will retain all public records relating to District business until the Board of Supervisors amends the Records 
Retention Policy to address the disposition of the same.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the District shall 
only retain Transitory Messages until the Transitory Message is obsolete, superseded or administrative 
value is lost in accordance with the General Records Schedule for State and Local Government Agencies, 

Item #146, as incorporated by reference in Rule 1B-24.003(1)(a), Florida Administrative Code.  In 
accordance with section 668.50, Florida Statutes, and section 119.01, Florida Statutes, the District hereby 
determines the electronic record shall be considered the official record of all public records relating to 
District business and any paper originals are designated as duplicates which may be disposed of unless 
prohibited by any law, rule or ordinance.  To the extent the above statute, rules, or schedules are amended 
or supplemented in the future, the District’s Records Retention Policy shall automatically incorporate such 
amendment or supplement provided that such automatic amendment does not permit the disposition of 
District records without further action of the Board.  The Records Retention Policy shall remain in full force 
and effect until such time as the Board amends the Policy.   

SECTION 4.  If any provision of this resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other 
provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 

SECTION 5.  This resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain in effect 
unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any Policy 
previously adopted by the District. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 7 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 

 

16



4898-8297-9971.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-01 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 8 
PROVIDING FOR THE APPOINTMENT OF A RECORDS 
MANAGEMENT LIAISON OFFICER; PROVIDING THE DUTIES 
OF THE RECORDS MANAGEMENT LIAISON OFFICER; 
ADOPTING A RECORDS RETENTION POLICY; AND 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY AND EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 8 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  

WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt rules to govern the 
administration of the District and to adopt resolutions as may be necessary for the conduct of district 
business; and 

WHEREAS, Section 1.2(2) of the District’s Proposed Rules of Procedure appoints the Secretary 
of the District as the District’s records custodian; and 

WHEREAS, Section 257.36(5), Florida Statutes, requires the District to establish and maintain an 
active and continuing program for the economical and efficient management of records and to provide for 
the appointment of a records management liaison officer (the “Records Management Liaison Officer”); 
and 

WHEREAS, the District desires for the Records Management Liaison Officer to be an employee 
of the District or an employee of the District Manager; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to authorize the District’s records custodian to appoint a Records 
Management Liaison Officer, which may or may not be the District’s records custodian; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to prescribe duties of the Records Management Liaison Officer 
and provide for the assignment of additional duties; and 

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) finds that it is in the best interests 
of the District to adopt by resolution a records retention policy (the “Policy”) for immediate use and 
application; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to provide for future amendment of the Records Retention Policy. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 8: 

SECTION 1. The District hereby authorizes the District’s records custodian to appoint a Records 
Management Liaison Officer and report such appointment to the appropriate State of Florida agencies.  A 
Records Management Liaison Officer shall be an employee of the District or the District Manager.  The 
Board, and the District’s records custodian, shall each have the individual power to remove the Records 
Management Liaison Officer at any time for any reason.  Immediately following the removal or resignation 
of a Records Management Liaison Officer, the District’s records custodian shall appoint a replacement 
Records Management Liaison Officer. 

SECTION 2. The duties of the Records Management Liaison Officer shall include the following: 

17



4898-8297-9971.1  

A. Serve as the District’s contact with the Florida Department of State, State Library and Archives 
of Florida; and 

B. Coordinate the District’s records inventory; and 
C. Maintain records retention and disposition forms; and 
D. Coordinate District records management training; and 
E. Develop records management procedures consistent with the attached Records Retention 

Policy, as amended; and 
F. Participate in the development of the District’s development of electronic record keeping 

systems; and 
G. Submit annual compliance statements; and 
H. Work with the Florida Department of State, State Library and Archives of Florida to establish 

individual retention schedules for the District, from time to time and as may be necessary; and 
I. Such other duties as may be assigned by the Board or the District’s records custodian in the 

future. 
 

SECTION 3.  The District hereby adopts as its Records Retention Policy the applicable 
provisions of Section 257.36(5), Florida Statutes, the rules adopted by the Division of Library and 
Information Services of the Department of State (the “Division”) pursuant to Section 257.36, Florida 
Statutes, and the General Records Schedules established by the Division.  However, the District hereby 
extends the minimum retention guidelines contained in the General Records Schedules so that the District 
will retain all public records relating to District business until the Board of Supervisors amends the Records 
Retention Policy to address the disposition of the same.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the District shall 
only retain Transitory Messages until the Transitory Message is obsolete, superseded or administrative 
value is lost in accordance with the General Records Schedule for State and Local Government Agencies, 

Item #146, as incorporated by reference in Rule 1B-24.003(1)(a), Florida Administrative Code.  In 
accordance with section 668.50, Florida Statutes, and section 119.01, Florida Statutes, the District hereby 
determines the electronic record shall be considered the official record of all public records relating to 
District business and any paper originals are designated as duplicates which may be disposed of unless 
prohibited by any law, rule or ordinance.  To the extent the above statute, rules, or schedules are amended 
or supplemented in the future, the District’s Records Retention Policy shall automatically incorporate such 
amendment or supplement provided that such automatic amendment does not permit the disposition of 
District records without further action of the Board.  The Records Retention Policy shall remain in full force 
and effect until such time as the Board amends the Policy.   

SECTION 4.  If any provision of this resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other 
provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 

SECTION 5.  This resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain in effect 
unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any Policy 
previously adopted by the District. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 8 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 

 

18



4933-4111-8083.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-01 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 9 
PROVIDING FOR THE APPOINTMENT OF A RECORDS 
MANAGEMENT LIAISON OFFICER; PROVIDING THE DUTIES 
OF THE RECORDS MANAGEMENT LIAISON OFFICER; 
ADOPTING A RECORDS RETENTION POLICY; AND 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY AND EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 9 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  

WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt rules to govern the 
administration of the District and to adopt resolutions as may be necessary for the conduct of district 
business; and 

WHEREAS, Section 1.2(2) of the District’s Proposed Rules of Procedure appoints the Secretary 
of the District as the District’s records custodian; and 

WHEREAS, Section 257.36(5), Florida Statutes, requires the District to establish and maintain an 
active and continuing program for the economical and efficient management of records and to provide for 
the appointment of a records management liaison officer (the “Records Management Liaison Officer”); 
and 

WHEREAS, the District desires for the Records Management Liaison Officer to be an employee 
of the District or an employee of the District Manager; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to authorize the District’s records custodian to appoint a Records 
Management Liaison Officer, which may or may not be the District’s records custodian; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to prescribe duties of the Records Management Liaison Officer 
and provide for the assignment of additional duties; and 

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) finds that it is in the best interests 
of the District to adopt by resolution a records retention policy (the “Policy”) for immediate use and 
application; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to provide for future amendment of the Records Retention Policy. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 9: 

SECTION 1. The District hereby authorizes the District’s records custodian to appoint a Records 
Management Liaison Officer and report such appointment to the appropriate State of Florida agencies.  A 
Records Management Liaison Officer shall be an employee of the District or the District Manager.  The 
Board, and the District’s records custodian, shall each have the individual power to remove the Records 
Management Liaison Officer at any time for any reason.  Immediately following the removal or resignation 
of a Records Management Liaison Officer, the District’s records custodian shall appoint a replacement 
Records Management Liaison Officer. 

SECTION 2. The duties of the Records Management Liaison Officer shall include the following: 

19



4933-4111-8083.1  

A. Serve as the District’s contact with the Florida Department of State, State Library and Archives 
of Florida; and 

B. Coordinate the District’s records inventory; and 
C. Maintain records retention and disposition forms; and 
D. Coordinate District records management training; and 
E. Develop records management procedures consistent with the attached Records Retention 

Policy, as amended; and 
F. Participate in the development of the District’s development of electronic record keeping 

systems; and 
G. Submit annual compliance statements; and 
H. Work with the Florida Department of State, State Library and Archives of Florida to establish 

individual retention schedules for the District, from time to time and as may be necessary; and 
I. Such other duties as may be assigned by the Board or the District’s records custodian in the 

future. 
 

SECTION 3.  The District hereby adopts as its Records Retention Policy the applicable 
provisions of Section 257.36(5), Florida Statutes, the rules adopted by the Division of Library and 
Information Services of the Department of State (the “Division”) pursuant to Section 257.36, Florida 
Statutes, and the General Records Schedules established by the Division.  However, the District hereby 
extends the minimum retention guidelines contained in the General Records Schedules so that the District 
will retain all public records relating to District business until the Board of Supervisors amends the Records 
Retention Policy to address the disposition of the same.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the District shall 
only retain Transitory Messages until the Transitory Message is obsolete, superseded or administrative 
value is lost in accordance with the General Records Schedule for State and Local Government Agencies, 

Item #146, as incorporated by reference in Rule 1B-24.003(1)(a), Florida Administrative Code.  In 
accordance with section 668.50, Florida Statutes, and section 119.01, Florida Statutes, the District hereby 
determines the electronic record shall be considered the official record of all public records relating to 
District business and any paper originals are designated as duplicates which may be disposed of unless 
prohibited by any law, rule or ordinance.  To the extent the above statute, rules, or schedules are amended 
or supplemented in the future, the District’s Records Retention Policy shall automatically incorporate such 
amendment or supplement provided that such automatic amendment does not permit the disposition of 
District records without further action of the Board.  The Records Retention Policy shall remain in full force 
and effect until such time as the Board amends the Policy.   

SECTION 4.  If any provision of this resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other 
provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 

SECTION 5.  This resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain in effect 
unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any Policy 
previously adopted by the District. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 9 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 

 

20



4904-9082-6371.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-01 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 10 
PROVIDING FOR THE APPOINTMENT OF A RECORDS 
MANAGEMENT LIAISON OFFICER; PROVIDING THE DUTIES 
OF THE RECORDS MANAGEMENT LIAISON OFFICER; 
ADOPTING A RECORDS RETENTION POLICY; AND 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY AND EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 10 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  

WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt rules to govern the 
administration of the District and to adopt resolutions as may be necessary for the conduct of district 
business; and 

WHEREAS, Section 1.2(2) of the District’s Proposed Rules of Procedure appoints the Secretary 
of the District as the District’s records custodian; and 

WHEREAS, Section 257.36(5), Florida Statutes, requires the District to establish and maintain an 
active and continuing program for the economical and efficient management of records and to provide for 
the appointment of a records management liaison officer (the “Records Management Liaison Officer”); 
and 

WHEREAS, the District desires for the Records Management Liaison Officer to be an employee 
of the District or an employee of the District Manager; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to authorize the District’s records custodian to appoint a Records 
Management Liaison Officer, which may or may not be the District’s records custodian; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to prescribe duties of the Records Management Liaison Officer 
and provide for the assignment of additional duties; and 

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) finds that it is in the best interests 
of the District to adopt by resolution a records retention policy (the “Policy”) for immediate use and 
application; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to provide for future amendment of the Records Retention Policy. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 10: 

SECTION 1. The District hereby authorizes the District’s records custodian to appoint a Records 
Management Liaison Officer and report such appointment to the appropriate State of Florida agencies.  A 
Records Management Liaison Officer shall be an employee of the District or the District Manager.  The 
Board, and the District’s records custodian, shall each have the individual power to remove the Records 
Management Liaison Officer at any time for any reason.  Immediately following the removal or resignation 
of a Records Management Liaison Officer, the District’s records custodian shall appoint a replacement 
Records Management Liaison Officer. 

SECTION 2. The duties of the Records Management Liaison Officer shall include the following: 

21



4904-9082-6371.1  

A. Serve as the District’s contact with the Florida Department of State, State Library and Archives 
of Florida; and 

B. Coordinate the District’s records inventory; and 
C. Maintain records retention and disposition forms; and 
D. Coordinate District records management training; and 
E. Develop records management procedures consistent with the attached Records Retention 

Policy, as amended; and 
F. Participate in the development of the District’s development of electronic record keeping 

systems; and 
G. Submit annual compliance statements; and 
H. Work with the Florida Department of State, State Library and Archives of Florida to establish 

individual retention schedules for the District, from time to time and as may be necessary; and 
I. Such other duties as may be assigned by the Board or the District’s records custodian in the 

future. 
 

SECTION 3.  The District hereby adopts as its Records Retention Policy the applicable 
provisions of Section 257.36(5), Florida Statutes, the rules adopted by the Division of Library and 
Information Services of the Department of State (the “Division”) pursuant to Section 257.36, Florida 
Statutes, and the General Records Schedules established by the Division.  However, the District hereby 
extends the minimum retention guidelines contained in the General Records Schedules so that the District 
will retain all public records relating to District business until the Board of Supervisors amends the Records 
Retention Policy to address the disposition of the same.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the District shall 
only retain Transitory Messages until the Transitory Message is obsolete, superseded or administrative 
value is lost in accordance with the General Records Schedule for State and Local Government Agencies, 

Item #146, as incorporated by reference in Rule 1B-24.003(1)(a), Florida Administrative Code.  In 
accordance with section 668.50, Florida Statutes, and section 119.01, Florida Statutes, the District hereby 
determines the electronic record shall be considered the official record of all public records relating to 
District business and any paper originals are designated as duplicates which may be disposed of unless 
prohibited by any law, rule or ordinance.  To the extent the above statute, rules, or schedules are amended 
or supplemented in the future, the District’s Records Retention Policy shall automatically incorporate such 
amendment or supplement provided that such automatic amendment does not permit the disposition of 
District records without further action of the Board.  The Records Retention Policy shall remain in full force 
and effect until such time as the Board amends the Policy.   

SECTION 4.  If any provision of this resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other 
provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 

SECTION 5.  This resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain in effect 
unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any Policy 
previously adopted by the District. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 10 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 

 

22



4925-7297-0627.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-01 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 11 
PROVIDING FOR THE APPOINTMENT OF A RECORDS 
MANAGEMENT LIAISON OFFICER; PROVIDING THE DUTIES 
OF THE RECORDS MANAGEMENT LIAISON OFFICER; 
ADOPTING A RECORDS RETENTION POLICY; AND 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY AND EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 11 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  

WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt rules to govern the 
administration of the District and to adopt resolutions as may be necessary for the conduct of district 
business; and 

WHEREAS, Section 1.2(2) of the District’s Proposed Rules of Procedure appoints the Secretary 
of the District as the District’s records custodian; and 

WHEREAS, Section 257.36(5), Florida Statutes, requires the District to establish and maintain an 
active and continuing program for the economical and efficient management of records and to provide for 
the appointment of a records management liaison officer (the “Records Management Liaison Officer”); 
and 

WHEREAS, the District desires for the Records Management Liaison Officer to be an employee 
of the District or an employee of the District Manager; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to authorize the District’s records custodian to appoint a Records 
Management Liaison Officer, which may or may not be the District’s records custodian; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to prescribe duties of the Records Management Liaison Officer 
and provide for the assignment of additional duties; and 

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) finds that it is in the best interests 
of the District to adopt by resolution a records retention policy (the “Policy”) for immediate use and 
application; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to provide for future amendment of the Records Retention Policy. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 11: 

SECTION 1. The District hereby authorizes the District’s records custodian to appoint a Records 
Management Liaison Officer and report such appointment to the appropriate State of Florida agencies.  A 
Records Management Liaison Officer shall be an employee of the District or the District Manager.  The 
Board, and the District’s records custodian, shall each have the individual power to remove the Records 
Management Liaison Officer at any time for any reason.  Immediately following the removal or resignation 
of a Records Management Liaison Officer, the District’s records custodian shall appoint a replacement 
Records Management Liaison Officer. 

SECTION 2. The duties of the Records Management Liaison Officer shall include the following: 

23



4925-7297-0627.1  

A. Serve as the District’s contact with the Florida Department of State, State Library and Archives 
of Florida; and 

B. Coordinate the District’s records inventory; and 
C. Maintain records retention and disposition forms; and 
D. Coordinate District records management training; and 
E. Develop records management procedures consistent with the attached Records Retention 

Policy, as amended; and 
F. Participate in the development of the District’s development of electronic record keeping 

systems; and 
G. Submit annual compliance statements; and 
H. Work with the Florida Department of State, State Library and Archives of Florida to establish 

individual retention schedules for the District, from time to time and as may be necessary; and 
I. Such other duties as may be assigned by the Board or the District’s records custodian in the 

future. 
 

SECTION 3.  The District hereby adopts as its Records Retention Policy the applicable 
provisions of Section 257.36(5), Florida Statutes, the rules adopted by the Division of Library and 
Information Services of the Department of State (the “Division”) pursuant to Section 257.36, Florida 
Statutes, and the General Records Schedules established by the Division.  However, the District hereby 
extends the minimum retention guidelines contained in the General Records Schedules so that the District 
will retain all public records relating to District business until the Board of Supervisors amends the Records 
Retention Policy to address the disposition of the same.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the District shall 
only retain Transitory Messages until the Transitory Message is obsolete, superseded or administrative 
value is lost in accordance with the General Records Schedule for State and Local Government Agencies, 

Item #146, as incorporated by reference in Rule 1B-24.003(1)(a), Florida Administrative Code.  In 
accordance with section 668.50, Florida Statutes, and section 119.01, Florida Statutes, the District hereby 
determines the electronic record shall be considered the official record of all public records relating to 
District business and any paper originals are designated as duplicates which may be disposed of unless 
prohibited by any law, rule or ordinance.  To the extent the above statute, rules, or schedules are amended 
or supplemented in the future, the District’s Records Retention Policy shall automatically incorporate such 
amendment or supplement provided that such automatic amendment does not permit the disposition of 
District records without further action of the Board.  The Records Retention Policy shall remain in full force 
and effect until such time as the Board amends the Policy.   

SECTION 4.  If any provision of this resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other 
provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 

SECTION 5.  This resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain in effect 
unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any Policy 
previously adopted by the District. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 11 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 

 

24



Kutak Rock LLP 

107 West College Avenue, Tallahassee, FL 32301-7707 

office 850.692.7300 

2 

MEMORANDUM 
FROM: Kutak Rock LLP  

TO: Board of Supervisors 

DATE: January 7, 2026 

Subject: Resolution Designating a Qualified Public Depository 

Staff Recommendation 

Staff recommends the Board adopt the Resolution Designating a Qualified Public Depository. 

General Information 

The District is authorized to select from the list of qualified public depository meeting the 
statutory requirements set out in Chapter 280, to make deposits of its revenue. This Resolution 
selects a district bank and authorizes the District Manager to set up operating accounts.  

District Legal Counsel Review 

The District’s attorneys prepared by this Resolution. 

Funding Review 

This Resolution is not expected to affect the District’s financial condition. 

25



4902-5135-9093.1  

 

 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-02 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1 DESIGNATING A PUBLIC 
DEPOSITORY FOR FUNDS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1 AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 1 (the “District”) is a local 
unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) is statutorily authorized to select 
a depository as defined in Section 280.02, Florida Statutes, which meets all the requirements of Chapter 
280 and has been designated by the State Treasurer as a qualified public depository; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board desires to designate a public depository for the District funds. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1 THAT: 

 
1. DESIGNATION OF PUBLIC DEPOSITORY.  

______________________________________ is hereby designated as the public depository for District 
funds (“Designation”).  In accordance with Section 280.17(4), Florida Statutes, the District’s Secretary is 
directed to furnish to the State Treasurer prior to the deposit of any public funds, the District’s official 
name, address, federal employer identification number, and the name of the person or persons responsible 
for establishing accounts.  The District’s Treasurer, upon assuming responsibility for handling the District 
funds, is directed to furnish to the State Treasurer annually the information required in accordance with 
Section 280.17(3), Florida Statutes. 

 
2. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect upon its passage and shall 

remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes 
any Designation previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 1 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

26



4919-5358-9635.1  

 
RESOLUTION 2026-02 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 DESIGNATING A PUBLIC 
DEPOSITORY FOR FUNDS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 2 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) is statutorily authorized to select a 
depository as defined in Section 280.02, Florida Statutes, which meets all the requirements of Chapter 280 
and has been designated by the State Treasurer as a qualified public depository; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board desires to designate a public depository for the District funds. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 THAT: 

 
1. DESIGNATION OF PUBLIC DEPOSITORY.  

______________________________________ is hereby designated as the public depository for District 
funds (“Designation”).  In accordance with Section 280.17(4), Florida Statutes, the District’s Secretary is 
directed to furnish to the State Treasurer prior to the deposit of any public funds, the District’s official 
name, address, federal employer identification number, and the name of the person or persons responsible 
for establishing accounts.  The District’s Treasurer, upon assuming responsibility for handling the District 
funds, is directed to furnish to the State Treasurer annually the information required in accordance with 
Section 280.17(3), Florida Statutes. 

 
2. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect upon its passage and shall remain 

in effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Designation previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 2 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

27



4898-2452-1603.1  

 
RESOLUTION 2026-02 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 3 DESIGNATING A PUBLIC 
DEPOSITORY FOR FUNDS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 3 AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 3 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) is statutorily authorized to select a 
depository as defined in Section 280.02, Florida Statutes, which meets all the requirements of Chapter 280 
and has been designated by the State Treasurer as a qualified public depository; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board desires to designate a public depository for the District funds. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 3 THAT: 

 
1. DESIGNATION OF PUBLIC DEPOSITORY.  

______________________________________ is hereby designated as the public depository for District 
funds (“Designation”).  In accordance with Section 280.17(4), Florida Statutes, the District’s Secretary is 
directed to furnish to the State Treasurer prior to the deposit of any public funds, the District’s official 
name, address, federal employer identification number, and the name of the person or persons responsible 
for establishing accounts.  The District’s Treasurer, upon assuming responsibility for handling the District 
funds, is directed to furnish to the State Treasurer annually the information required in accordance with 
Section 280.17(3), Florida Statutes. 

 
2. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect upon its passage and shall remain 

in effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Designation previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 3 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

28



4903-7974-2595.1  

 
RESOLUTION 2026-02 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 4 DESIGNATING A PUBLIC 
DEPOSITORY FOR FUNDS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 4 AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 4 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) is statutorily authorized to select a 
depository as defined in Section 280.02, Florida Statutes, which meets all the requirements of Chapter 280 
and has been designated by the State Treasurer as a qualified public depository; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board desires to designate a public depository for the District funds. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 4 THAT: 

 
1. DESIGNATION OF PUBLIC DEPOSITORY.  

______________________________________ is hereby designated as the public depository for District 
funds (“Designation”).  In accordance with Section 280.17(4), Florida Statutes, the District’s Secretary is 
directed to furnish to the State Treasurer prior to the deposit of any public funds, the District’s official 
name, address, federal employer identification number, and the name of the person or persons responsible 
for establishing accounts.  The District’s Treasurer, upon assuming responsibility for handling the District 
funds, is directed to furnish to the State Treasurer annually the information required in accordance with 
Section 280.17(3), Florida Statutes. 

 
2. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect upon its passage and shall remain 

in effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Designation previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 4 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

29



4901-9715-9555.1  

 
RESOLUTION 2026-02 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5 DESIGNATING A PUBLIC 
DEPOSITORY FOR FUNDS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5 AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 5 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) is statutorily authorized to select a 
depository as defined in Section 280.02, Florida Statutes, which meets all the requirements of Chapter 280 
and has been designated by the State Treasurer as a qualified public depository; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board desires to designate a public depository for the District funds. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5 THAT: 

 
1. DESIGNATION OF PUBLIC DEPOSITORY.  

______________________________________ is hereby designated as the public depository for District 
funds (“Designation”).  In accordance with Section 280.17(4), Florida Statutes, the District’s Secretary is 
directed to furnish to the State Treasurer prior to the deposit of any public funds, the District’s official 
name, address, federal employer identification number, and the name of the person or persons responsible 
for establishing accounts.  The District’s Treasurer, upon assuming responsibility for handling the District 
funds, is directed to furnish to the State Treasurer annually the information required in accordance with 
Section 280.17(3), Florida Statutes. 

 
2. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect upon its passage and shall remain 

in effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Designation previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 5 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

30



4936-3812-7235.1  

 
RESOLUTION 2026-02 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 6 DESIGNATING A PUBLIC 
DEPOSITORY FOR FUNDS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 6 AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 6 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) is statutorily authorized to select a 
depository as defined in Section 280.02, Florida Statutes, which meets all the requirements of Chapter 280 
and has been designated by the State Treasurer as a qualified public depository; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board desires to designate a public depository for the District funds. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 6 THAT: 

 
1. DESIGNATION OF PUBLIC DEPOSITORY.  

______________________________________ is hereby designated as the public depository for District 
funds (“Designation”).  In accordance with Section 280.17(4), Florida Statutes, the District’s Secretary is 
directed to furnish to the State Treasurer prior to the deposit of any public funds, the District’s official 
name, address, federal employer identification number, and the name of the person or persons responsible 
for establishing accounts.  The District’s Treasurer, upon assuming responsibility for handling the District 
funds, is directed to furnish to the State Treasurer annually the information required in accordance with 
Section 280.17(3), Florida Statutes. 

 
2. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect upon its passage and shall remain 

in effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Designation previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 6 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

31



4905-1881-0243.1  

 
RESOLUTION 2026-02 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 7 DESIGNATING A PUBLIC 
DEPOSITORY FOR FUNDS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 7 AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 7 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) is statutorily authorized to select a 
depository as defined in Section 280.02, Florida Statutes, which meets all the requirements of Chapter 280 
and has been designated by the State Treasurer as a qualified public depository; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board desires to designate a public depository for the District funds. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 7 THAT: 

 
1. DESIGNATION OF PUBLIC DEPOSITORY.  

______________________________________ is hereby designated as the public depository for District 
funds (“Designation”).  In accordance with Section 280.17(4), Florida Statutes, the District’s Secretary is 
directed to furnish to the State Treasurer prior to the deposit of any public funds, the District’s official 
name, address, federal employer identification number, and the name of the person or persons responsible 
for establishing accounts.  The District’s Treasurer, upon assuming responsibility for handling the District 
funds, is directed to furnish to the State Treasurer annually the information required in accordance with 
Section 280.17(3), Florida Statutes. 

 
2. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect upon its passage and shall remain 

in effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Designation previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 7 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

32



4898-8297-9971.1  

 
RESOLUTION 2026-02 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 8 DESIGNATING A PUBLIC 
DEPOSITORY FOR FUNDS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 8 AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 8 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) is statutorily authorized to select a 
depository as defined in Section 280.02, Florida Statutes, which meets all the requirements of Chapter 280 
and has been designated by the State Treasurer as a qualified public depository; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board desires to designate a public depository for the District funds. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 8 THAT: 

 
1. DESIGNATION OF PUBLIC DEPOSITORY.  

______________________________________ is hereby designated as the public depository for District 
funds (“Designation”).  In accordance with Section 280.17(4), Florida Statutes, the District’s Secretary is 
directed to furnish to the State Treasurer prior to the deposit of any public funds, the District’s official 
name, address, federal employer identification number, and the name of the person or persons responsible 
for establishing accounts.  The District’s Treasurer, upon assuming responsibility for handling the District 
funds, is directed to furnish to the State Treasurer annually the information required in accordance with 
Section 280.17(3), Florida Statutes. 

 
2. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect upon its passage and shall remain 

in effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Designation previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 8 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

33



4933-4111-8083.1  

 
RESOLUTION 2026-02 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 9 DESIGNATING A PUBLIC 
DEPOSITORY FOR FUNDS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 9 AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 9 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) is statutorily authorized to select a 
depository as defined in Section 280.02, Florida Statutes, which meets all the requirements of Chapter 280 
and has been designated by the State Treasurer as a qualified public depository; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board desires to designate a public depository for the District funds. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 9 THAT: 

 
1. DESIGNATION OF PUBLIC DEPOSITORY.  

______________________________________ is hereby designated as the public depository for District 
funds (“Designation”).  In accordance with Section 280.17(4), Florida Statutes, the District’s Secretary is 
directed to furnish to the State Treasurer prior to the deposit of any public funds, the District’s official 
name, address, federal employer identification number, and the name of the person or persons responsible 
for establishing accounts.  The District’s Treasurer, upon assuming responsibility for handling the District 
funds, is directed to furnish to the State Treasurer annually the information required in accordance with 
Section 280.17(3), Florida Statutes. 

 
2. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect upon its passage and shall remain 

in effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Designation previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 9 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

34



4904-9082-6371.1  

 
RESOLUTION 2026-02 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 10 DESIGNATING A PUBLIC 
DEPOSITORY FOR FUNDS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 10 AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 10 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) is statutorily authorized to select a 
depository as defined in Section 280.02, Florida Statutes, which meets all the requirements of Chapter 280 
and has been designated by the State Treasurer as a qualified public depository; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board desires to designate a public depository for the District funds. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 10 THAT: 

 
1. DESIGNATION OF PUBLIC DEPOSITORY.  

______________________________________ is hereby designated as the public depository for District 
funds (“Designation”).  In accordance with Section 280.17(4), Florida Statutes, the District’s Secretary is 
directed to furnish to the State Treasurer prior to the deposit of any public funds, the District’s official 
name, address, federal employer identification number, and the name of the person or persons responsible 
for establishing accounts.  The District’s Treasurer, upon assuming responsibility for handling the District 
funds, is directed to furnish to the State Treasurer annually the information required in accordance with 
Section 280.17(3), Florida Statutes. 

 
2. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect upon its passage and shall remain 

in effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Designation previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 10 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

35



4925-7297-0627.1  

 
RESOLUTION 2026-02 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 11 DESIGNATING A PUBLIC 
DEPOSITORY FOR FUNDS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 11 AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 11 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) is statutorily authorized to select a 
depository as defined in Section 280.02, Florida Statutes, which meets all the requirements of Chapter 280 
and has been designated by the State Treasurer as a qualified public depository; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board desires to designate a public depository for the District funds. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 11 THAT: 

 
1. DESIGNATION OF PUBLIC DEPOSITORY.  

______________________________________ is hereby designated as the public depository for District 
funds (“Designation”).  In accordance with Section 280.17(4), Florida Statutes, the District’s Secretary is 
directed to furnish to the State Treasurer prior to the deposit of any public funds, the District’s official 
name, address, federal employer identification number, and the name of the person or persons responsible 
for establishing accounts.  The District’s Treasurer, upon assuming responsibility for handling the District 
funds, is directed to furnish to the State Treasurer annually the information required in accordance with 
Section 280.17(3), Florida Statutes. 

 
2. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect upon its passage and shall remain 

in effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Designation previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 11 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

36



Kutak Rock LLP 

107 West College Avenue, Tallahassee, FL 32301-7707 

office 850.692.7300 

3 

MEMORANDUM 
FROM: Kutak Rock LLP  

TO: Board of Supervisors 

DATE: January 7, 2026 

Subject: Resolution Establishing Defense Policy 

Staff Recommendation 

Staff recommends the Board adopt the Resolution Establishing Defense Policy 

General Information 

This Resolution evidences the District’s intent to provide indemnification, support, and legal 
defense for the Board and District officers and staff for actions taken within the scope of their 
employment or functions.  This representation will relate to actions or omissions taken in good 
faith within the scope of office but will not apply or extend to action was taken in bad faith, with 
malicious intent, or willful disregard. 

District Legal Counsel Review 

The District’s attorneys prepared by this Resolution. 

Funding Review 

This Resolution is not expected to affect the District’s financial condition. 

37



4902-5135-9093.1  

 
 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-03 
 

A RESOLUTION SETTING FORTH THE POLICY OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1 
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS WITH REGARD TO THE SUPPORT 
AND LEGAL DEFENSE OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
AND DISTRICT OFFICERS AND PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) and the officers and staff of the Tradition 

Community Development District No. 1 (the “District”) are constantly presented with the necessity for 
making decisions regarding various phases of District policy and management; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is absolutely essential to the effective operation of the District that such decisions 
be made in an environment where the threat of personal liability for the Board and its officers and staff is 
maintained at a minimum; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board wishes to formalize a policy with regard to the support and legal 
protection of the Board and its officers and staff (the “Policy”) so as to reduce the threat of personal 
liability to such individuals and allow for an effective decision-making environment. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1 THAT: 

 
1.      INDEMNITEES.  As set forth in this Resolution, the District, in accordance with Florida 

law, agrees that the following Board members, officers and staff (together, the “Indemnitees”) of the 
District shall be provided the benefit of the indemnification, support and legal defense provisions 
provided in this Resolution: 

 
a. All members of the Board of Supervisors; and 
 
b. Secretary and Assistant Secretaries, Treasurer and Assistant Treasurers, and other District 

officers, as well as District Staff (e.g., the District Manager, the District Engineer, and the 
District Counsel). 

 
2. SCOPE OF ACTIONS.  As set forth in this Resolution and in accordance with Sections 

111.07 and 768.28, Florida Statutes, the District hereby agrees to provide legal representation to defend 
any and all civil actions of any kind arising from a complaint for damages or injuries suffered as a result 
of any action or omission of action of all Indemnitees, present or former, arising out of and in the scope of 
his or her employment or function, unless, in the case of a tort action, the Indemnitee acted in bad faith, 
with malicious purpose, or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or 
property. Defense of such civil actions includes, but is not limited to, any civil rights lawsuit seeking 
relief personally against any Indemnitee for an act or omission under color of state law, custom or usage, 
wherein it is alleged that such Indemnitee has deprived another person of rights secured under the Federal 
Constitution or laws, including, by way of example, actions under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 or other federal 
statute. The District hereby further agrees to provide legal representation to defend against any other 
litigation arising against an Indemnitee from the performance of their official duties while serving a 
public purpose, including civil and administrative actions as permitted by law, and criminal actions only 
until conviction, as permitted by law. By these provisions, the District does not waive any immunity from 

38



4902-5135-9093.1  

liability or limited waiver of such immunity as granted under Florida law. Rather, the District is stating 
that to the extent the State does not through its laws protect the Board and its officers from liability, the 
District is committed to doing so to the extent described in this Resolution and as permitted by law. 

 
3. INSURANCE.  The District may insure itself in order to cover all reasonable costs and 

fees directly arising out of or in connection with any legal claim or suit that directly results from a 
decision or act made by an Indemnitee while performing the duties and functions of his or her position. 

 
4. GOOD FAITH.  This Resolution is intended to evidence the District’s support of 

Indemnitees who perform acts and render decisions in the good faith performance of their duties and 
functions. The District will neither support nor defend those actions or omissions committed by an 
individual outside the scope of his or her office or committed in bad faith or with malicious purpose or in 
a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property. By adoption of this 
Resolution, the Indemnitee(s) in question are each presumed to have acted within the scope of his or her 
office and are presumed to be acting in good faith, without a malicious purpose and not in a manner 
exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety or property. The District’s Board of 
Supervisors may overcome this presumption only by unanimous vote of those participating and voting, in 
accordance with Section 7 herein. 

 
5. ADVERSE FINDING.  In the event that the District has expended funds to provide an 

attorney to defend an Indemnitee who is found to be personally liable by virtue of actions outside the 
scope of his or her employment or function, or is found to have acted in bad faith, with malicious purpose, 
or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property, the individual 
shall be required to reimburse the District for funds so expended. The District may recover such funds in 
a civil action against such individual. 

 
6. PAYMENT.  The District agrees to pay any final judgment, including damages, fines, 

penalties or other damages, costs, and attorneys’ fees and costs, arising from any complaint for damages 
or injuries suffered as a result of any action or omission of action of any Indemnitee as described in 
Section 111.07, Florida Statutes, subject to the limitations and exclusions set forth in this Resolution. If 
the action arises under Section 768.28, Florida Statues, as a tort claim, the limitations and provisions of 
that section governing payment shall apply. If the action is a civil rights action arising under 42 U.S.C. § 
1983, or similar federal statutes, payment for the full amount of judgment may be made unless the 
individual has been determined in the final judgment to have caused the harm intentionally. The District 
agrees to pay any compromise or settlement of any claim or litigation described in this paragraph, 
provided, however, that the District determines such compromise or settlement to be in the District’s best 
interest. 

 
7. REBUTTAL OF GOOD FAITH PRESUMPTION.  To rebut the presumption of the 

automatic payment of judgments or provision of legal representation pursuant to this Resolution, at least 
one of the following determinations shall be made by a unanimous decision of the District’s Board of 
Supervisors participating and voting: 
 

a. The actions of the Indemnitee were outside the scope of his or her duties and authority; or 
 
b. The acts or omissions of the Indemnitee constituted bad faith, malicious purpose, 

intentional infliction of harm or were done in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful 
disregard of human rights, safety or property; or 

 
c. The Indemnitee received financial profit or advantage to which he or she was not legally 

entitled. 
 

39



4902-5135-9093.1  

8. PROCEDURE.  To ensure the provision of legal representation pursuant to this 
Resolution, the following must be met: 

 
a.  A copy of the summons, complaint, notice, demand letter or other document or pleading in 

the action, or a letter setting forth the substance of any claim or complaint, must be 
delivered to the District Chairman, Vice Chairman, District Manager or District Counsel 
within thirty (30) calendar days after actual receipt of any such document together with a 
specific request in writing that the District defend or provide representation for the 
Indemnitee; and 

 
b. The Indemnitee must cooperate continuously and fully with the District in the defense of 

the action. 
 

9. LIMITATIONS.  Any indemnification, legal defense or other protection provided 
pursuant to this representation shall not extend to: 
 

a. Consulting or other outside professional or business activities for which the Indemnitee 
received financial or other material compensation, which are outside the scope of his or 
her District duties and authority; and 

 
b. Any independent contractor for whom defense or indemnification is not authorized 

pursuant to Section 1(b) of this Resolution, unless the Board votes to authorize such 
indemnification, legal defense, or other protection; and  

 
c. Any fine, penalty or other punishment imposed as a result of conviction for a criminal 

offense, and any legal fees and costs incurred to defend criminal prosecution in which a 
conviction is obtained; and 

 
d. Claims brought against the Indemnitee by the District’s Board of Supervisors; and 
 
e. Any indemnification or defense prohibited by law. 
 

10. RETENTION OF COUNSEL.  In the event legal representation or defense is provided 
pursuant to this Resolution, the Indemnitee may either: 
 

a. Retain legal counsel appointed by the District, in which case legal counsel shall be paid 
directly by the District; or 

 
b. Retain legal counsel chosen by the Indemnitee, in which case the District shall have the 

right to:  
 

i. Approve, in advance, any agreement for legal fees or disbursements; and  
 
ii. Pay all or part of the legal fees, costs and other disbursements and to set a 

maximum for legal fees, costs and other disbursements; and 
 
iii. Direct the defense and settle or compromise the action or claim; and 
 
iv. Reduce or offset any monies that may be payable by the District by any  

court costs or attorneys' fees awarded to the Indemnitee. 
 

40



4902-5135-9093.1  

11. NO ENLARGEMENT OF RIGHTS.  The benefits of the Policy adopted in this 
Resolution shall not enlarge the rights that would have been available to any third-party plaintiff or 
claimant in the absence of this Policy. 

 
12. HEIRS AND REPRESENTATIVES.  To the extent permitted by law, this Policy shall 

inure to the benefit of the heirs, personal representatives and estate of the Board member and/or officer. 
 
13. MODIFICATIONS.  The District reserves the right to change, modify or withdraw this 

Resolution in its sole discretion, except as to actions, demand or other claims based on acts or omissions 
that occurred before the effective change, modification or withdrawal of this Resolution. 

 
14. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall be effective as of its adoption on the date 

listed below and shall apply to any acts or omissions occurring after that date. Furthermore, upon its 
passage this Resolution supersedes any Policy previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY  
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

41



4919-5358-9635.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-03 
 

A RESOLUTION SETTING FORTH THE POLICY OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS WITH REGARD TO THE SUPPORT 
AND LEGAL DEFENSE OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS AND 
DISTRICT OFFICERS AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) and the officers and staff of the Tradition 

Community Development District No. 2 (the “District”) are constantly presented with the necessity for 
making decisions regarding various phases of District policy and management; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is absolutely essential to the effective operation of the District that such decisions 
be made in an environment where the threat of personal liability for the Board and its officers and staff is 
maintained at a minimum; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board wishes to formalize a policy with regard to the support and legal protection 
of the Board and its officers and staff (the “Policy”) so as to reduce the threat of personal liability to such 
individuals and allow for an effective decision-making environment. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 THAT: 

 
1.      INDEMNITEES.  As set forth in this Resolution, the District, in accordance with Florida 

law, agrees that the following Board members, officers and staff (together, the “Indemnitees”) of the 
District shall be provided the benefit of the indemnification, support and legal defense provisions provided 
in this Resolution: 

 
a. All members of the Board of Supervisors; and 
 
b. Secretary and Assistant Secretaries, Treasurer and Assistant Treasurers, and other District 

officers, as well as District Staff (e.g., the District Manager, the District Engineer, and the 
District Counsel). 

 
2. SCOPE OF ACTIONS.  As set forth in this Resolution and in accordance with Sections 

111.07 and 768.28, Florida Statutes, the District hereby agrees to provide legal representation to defend any 
and all civil actions of any kind arising from a complaint for damages or injuries suffered as a result of any 
action or omission of action of all Indemnitees, present or former, arising out of and in the scope of his or 
her employment or function, unless, in the case of a tort action, the Indemnitee acted in bad faith, with 
malicious purpose, or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or 
property. Defense of such civil actions includes, but is not limited to, any civil rights lawsuit seeking relief 
personally against any Indemnitee for an act or omission under color of state law, custom or usage, wherein 
it is alleged that such Indemnitee has deprived another person of rights secured under the Federal 
Constitution or laws, including, by way of example, actions under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 or other federal statute. 
The District hereby further agrees to provide legal representation to defend against any other litigation 
arising against an Indemnitee from the performance of their official duties while serving a public purpose, 
including civil and administrative actions as permitted by law, and criminal actions only until conviction, 
as permitted by law. By these provisions, the District does not waive any immunity from liability or limited 
waiver of such immunity as granted under Florida law. Rather, the District is stating that to the extent the 
State does not through its laws protect the Board and its officers from liability, the District is committed to 
doing so to the extent described in this Resolution and as permitted by law. 

42



4919-5358-9635.1  

 
3. INSURANCE.  The District may insure itself in order to cover all reasonable costs and 

fees directly arising out of or in connection with any legal claim or suit that directly results from a decision 
or act made by an Indemnitee while performing the duties and functions of his or her position. 

 
4. GOOD FAITH.  This Resolution is intended to evidence the District’s support of 

Indemnitees who perform acts and render decisions in the good faith performance of their duties and 
functions. The District will neither support nor defend those actions or omissions committed by an 
individual outside the scope of his or her office or committed in bad faith or with malicious purpose or in a 
manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property. By adoption of this 
Resolution, the Indemnitee(s) in question are each presumed to have acted within the scope of his or her 
office and are presumed to be acting in good faith, without a malicious purpose and not in a manner 
exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety or property. The District’s Board of 
Supervisors may overcome this presumption only by unanimous vote of those participating and voting, in 
accordance with Section 7 herein. 

 
5. ADVERSE FINDING.  In the event that the District has expended funds to provide an 

attorney to defend an Indemnitee who is found to be personally liable by virtue of actions outside the scope 
of his or her employment or function, or is found to have acted in bad faith, with malicious purpose, or in 
a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property, the individual shall 
be required to reimburse the District for funds so expended. The District may recover such funds in a civil 
action against such individual. 

 
6. PAYMENT.  The District agrees to pay any final judgment, including damages, fines, 

penalties or other damages, costs, and attorneys’ fees and costs, arising from any complaint for damages or 
injuries suffered as a result of any action or omission of action of any Indemnitee as described in Section 
111.07, Florida Statutes, subject to the limitations and exclusions set forth in this Resolution. If the action 
arises under Section 768.28, Florida Statues, as a tort claim, the limitations and provisions of that section 
governing payment shall apply. If the action is a civil rights action arising under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, or 
similar federal statutes, payment for the full amount of judgment may be made unless the individual has 
been determined in the final judgment to have caused the harm intentionally. The District agrees to pay any 
compromise or settlement of any claim or litigation described in this paragraph, provided, however, that 
the District determines such compromise or settlement to be in the District’s best interest. 

 
7. REBUTTAL OF GOOD FAITH PRESUMPTION.  To rebut the presumption of the 

automatic payment of judgments or provision of legal representation pursuant to this Resolution, at least 
one of the following determinations shall be made by a unanimous decision of the District’s Board of 
Supervisors participating and voting: 
 

a. The actions of the Indemnitee were outside the scope of his or her duties and authority; or 
 
b. The acts or omissions of the Indemnitee constituted bad faith, malicious purpose, 

intentional infliction of harm or were done in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful 
disregard of human rights, safety or property; or 

 
c. The Indemnitee received financial profit or advantage to which he or she was not legally 

entitled. 
 

8. PROCEDURE.  To ensure the provision of legal representation pursuant to this 
Resolution, the following must be met: 

 
a.  A copy of the summons, complaint, notice, demand letter or other document or pleading in 

the action, or a letter setting forth the substance of any claim or complaint, must be 

43



4919-5358-9635.1  

delivered to the District Chairman, Vice Chairman, District Manager or District Counsel 
within thirty (30) calendar days after actual receipt of any such document together with a 
specific request in writing that the District defend or provide representation for the 
Indemnitee; and 

 
b. The Indemnitee must cooperate continuously and fully with the District in the defense of 

the action. 
 

9. LIMITATIONS.  Any indemnification, legal defense or other protection provided 
pursuant to this representation shall not extend to: 
 

a. Consulting or other outside professional or business activities for which the Indemnitee 
received financial or other material compensation, which are outside the scope of his or her 
District duties and authority; and 

 
b. Any independent contractor for whom defense or indemnification is not authorized 

pursuant to Section 1(b) of this Resolution, unless the Board votes to authorize such 
indemnification, legal defense, or other protection; and  

 
c. Any fine, penalty or other punishment imposed as a result of conviction for a criminal 

offense, and any legal fees and costs incurred to defend criminal prosecution in which a 
conviction is obtained; and 

 
d. Claims brought against the Indemnitee by the District’s Board of Supervisors; and 
 
e. Any indemnification or defense prohibited by law. 
 

10. RETENTION OF COUNSEL.  In the event legal representation or defense is provided 
pursuant to this Resolution, the Indemnitee may either: 
 

a. Retain legal counsel appointed by the District, in which case legal counsel shall be paid 
directly by the District; or 

 
b. Retain legal counsel chosen by the Indemnitee, in which case the District shall have the 

right to:  
 

i. Approve, in advance, any agreement for legal fees or disbursements; and  
 
ii. Pay all or part of the legal fees, costs and other disbursements and to set a maximum 

for legal fees, costs and other disbursements; and 
 
iii. Direct the defense and settle or compromise the action or claim; and 
 
iv. Reduce or offset any monies that may be payable by the District by any  

court costs or attorneys' fees awarded to the Indemnitee. 
 

11. NO ENLARGEMENT OF RIGHTS.  The benefits of the Policy adopted in this 
Resolution shall not enlarge the rights that would have been available to any third-party plaintiff or claimant 
in the absence of this Policy. 

 
12. HEIRS AND REPRESENTATIVES.  To the extent permitted by law, this Policy shall 

inure to the benefit of the heirs, personal representatives and estate of the Board member and/or officer. 
 

44



4919-5358-9635.1  

13. MODIFICATIONS.  The District reserves the right to change, modify or withdraw this 
Resolution in its sole discretion, except as to actions, demand or other claims based on acts or omissions 
that occurred before the effective change, modification or withdrawal of this Resolution. 

 
14. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall be effective as of its adoption on the date 

listed below and shall apply to any acts or omissions occurring after that date. Furthermore, upon its passage 
this Resolution supersedes any Policy previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY  
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

45



4898-2452-1603.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-03 
 

A RESOLUTION SETTING FORTH THE POLICY OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 3 
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS WITH REGARD TO THE SUPPORT 
AND LEGAL DEFENSE OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS AND 
DISTRICT OFFICERS AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) and the officers and staff of the Tradition 

Community Development District No. 3 (the “District”) are constantly presented with the necessity for 
making decisions regarding various phases of District policy and management; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is absolutely essential to the effective operation of the District that such decisions 
be made in an environment where the threat of personal liability for the Board and its officers and staff is 
maintained at a minimum; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board wishes to formalize a policy with regard to the support and legal protection 
of the Board and its officers and staff (the “Policy”) so as to reduce the threat of personal liability to such 
individuals and allow for an effective decision-making environment. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 3 THAT: 

 
1.      INDEMNITEES.  As set forth in this Resolution, the District, in accordance with Florida 

law, agrees that the following Board members, officers and staff (together, the “Indemnitees”) of the 
District shall be provided the benefit of the indemnification, support and legal defense provisions provided 
in this Resolution: 

 
a. All members of the Board of Supervisors; and 
 
b. Secretary and Assistant Secretaries, Treasurer and Assistant Treasurers, and other District 

officers, as well as District Staff (e.g., the District Manager, the District Engineer, and the 
District Counsel). 

 
2. SCOPE OF ACTIONS.  As set forth in this Resolution and in accordance with Sections 

111.07 and 768.28, Florida Statutes, the District hereby agrees to provide legal representation to defend any 
and all civil actions of any kind arising from a complaint for damages or injuries suffered as a result of any 
action or omission of action of all Indemnitees, present or former, arising out of and in the scope of his or 
her employment or function, unless, in the case of a tort action, the Indemnitee acted in bad faith, with 
malicious purpose, or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or 
property. Defense of such civil actions includes, but is not limited to, any civil rights lawsuit seeking relief 
personally against any Indemnitee for an act or omission under color of state law, custom or usage, wherein 
it is alleged that such Indemnitee has deprived another person of rights secured under the Federal 
Constitution or laws, including, by way of example, actions under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 or other federal statute. 
The District hereby further agrees to provide legal representation to defend against any other litigation 
arising against an Indemnitee from the performance of their official duties while serving a public purpose, 
including civil and administrative actions as permitted by law, and criminal actions only until conviction, 
as permitted by law. By these provisions, the District does not waive any immunity from liability or limited 
waiver of such immunity as granted under Florida law. Rather, the District is stating that to the extent the 
State does not through its laws protect the Board and its officers from liability, the District is committed to 
doing so to the extent described in this Resolution and as permitted by law. 

46



4898-2452-1603.1  

 
3. INSURANCE.  The District may insure itself in order to cover all reasonable costs and 

fees directly arising out of or in connection with any legal claim or suit that directly results from a decision 
or act made by an Indemnitee while performing the duties and functions of his or her position. 

 
4. GOOD FAITH.  This Resolution is intended to evidence the District’s support of 

Indemnitees who perform acts and render decisions in the good faith performance of their duties and 
functions. The District will neither support nor defend those actions or omissions committed by an 
individual outside the scope of his or her office or committed in bad faith or with malicious purpose or in a 
manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property. By adoption of this 
Resolution, the Indemnitee(s) in question are each presumed to have acted within the scope of his or her 
office and are presumed to be acting in good faith, without a malicious purpose and not in a manner 
exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety or property. The District’s Board of 
Supervisors may overcome this presumption only by unanimous vote of those participating and voting, in 
accordance with Section 7 herein. 

 
5. ADVERSE FINDING.  In the event that the District has expended funds to provide an 

attorney to defend an Indemnitee who is found to be personally liable by virtue of actions outside the scope 
of his or her employment or function, or is found to have acted in bad faith, with malicious purpose, or in 
a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property, the individual shall 
be required to reimburse the District for funds so expended. The District may recover such funds in a civil 
action against such individual. 

 
6. PAYMENT.  The District agrees to pay any final judgment, including damages, fines, 

penalties or other damages, costs, and attorneys’ fees and costs, arising from any complaint for damages or 
injuries suffered as a result of any action or omission of action of any Indemnitee as described in Section 
111.07, Florida Statutes, subject to the limitations and exclusions set forth in this Resolution. If the action 
arises under Section 768.28, Florida Statues, as a tort claim, the limitations and provisions of that section 
governing payment shall apply. If the action is a civil rights action arising under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, or 
similar federal statutes, payment for the full amount of judgment may be made unless the individual has 
been determined in the final judgment to have caused the harm intentionally. The District agrees to pay any 
compromise or settlement of any claim or litigation described in this paragraph, provided, however, that 
the District determines such compromise or settlement to be in the District’s best interest. 

 
7. REBUTTAL OF GOOD FAITH PRESUMPTION.  To rebut the presumption of the 

automatic payment of judgments or provision of legal representation pursuant to this Resolution, at least 
one of the following determinations shall be made by a unanimous decision of the District’s Board of 
Supervisors participating and voting: 
 

a. The actions of the Indemnitee were outside the scope of his or her duties and authority; or 
 
b. The acts or omissions of the Indemnitee constituted bad faith, malicious purpose, 

intentional infliction of harm or were done in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful 
disregard of human rights, safety or property; or 

 
c. The Indemnitee received financial profit or advantage to which he or she was not legally 

entitled. 
 

8. PROCEDURE.  To ensure the provision of legal representation pursuant to this 
Resolution, the following must be met: 

 
a.  A copy of the summons, complaint, notice, demand letter or other document or pleading in 

the action, or a letter setting forth the substance of any claim or complaint, must be 

47



4898-2452-1603.1  

delivered to the District Chairman, Vice Chairman, District Manager or District Counsel 
within thirty (30) calendar days after actual receipt of any such document together with a 
specific request in writing that the District defend or provide representation for the 
Indemnitee; and 

 
b. The Indemnitee must cooperate continuously and fully with the District in the defense of 

the action. 
 

9. LIMITATIONS.  Any indemnification, legal defense or other protection provided 
pursuant to this representation shall not extend to: 
 

a. Consulting or other outside professional or business activities for which the Indemnitee 
received financial or other material compensation, which are outside the scope of his or her 
District duties and authority; and 

 
b. Any independent contractor for whom defense or indemnification is not authorized 

pursuant to Section 1(b) of this Resolution, unless the Board votes to authorize such 
indemnification, legal defense, or other protection; and  

 
c. Any fine, penalty or other punishment imposed as a result of conviction for a criminal 

offense, and any legal fees and costs incurred to defend criminal prosecution in which a 
conviction is obtained; and 

 
d. Claims brought against the Indemnitee by the District’s Board of Supervisors; and 
 
e. Any indemnification or defense prohibited by law. 
 

10. RETENTION OF COUNSEL.  In the event legal representation or defense is provided 
pursuant to this Resolution, the Indemnitee may either: 
 

a. Retain legal counsel appointed by the District, in which case legal counsel shall be paid 
directly by the District; or 

 
b. Retain legal counsel chosen by the Indemnitee, in which case the District shall have the 

right to:  
 

i. Approve, in advance, any agreement for legal fees or disbursements; and  
 
ii. Pay all or part of the legal fees, costs and other disbursements and to set a maximum 

for legal fees, costs and other disbursements; and 
 
iii. Direct the defense and settle or compromise the action or claim; and 
 
iv. Reduce or offset any monies that may be payable by the District by any  

court costs or attorneys' fees awarded to the Indemnitee. 
 

11. NO ENLARGEMENT OF RIGHTS.  The benefits of the Policy adopted in this 
Resolution shall not enlarge the rights that would have been available to any third-party plaintiff or claimant 
in the absence of this Policy. 

 
12. HEIRS AND REPRESENTATIVES.  To the extent permitted by law, this Policy shall 

inure to the benefit of the heirs, personal representatives and estate of the Board member and/or officer. 
 

48



4898-2452-1603.1  

13. MODIFICATIONS.  The District reserves the right to change, modify or withdraw this 
Resolution in its sole discretion, except as to actions, demand or other claims based on acts or omissions 
that occurred before the effective change, modification or withdrawal of this Resolution. 

 
14. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall be effective as of its adoption on the date 

listed below and shall apply to any acts or omissions occurring after that date. Furthermore, upon its passage 
this Resolution supersedes any Policy previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY  
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 3 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

49



4903-7974-2595.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-03 
 

A RESOLUTION SETTING FORTH THE POLICY OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 4 
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS WITH REGARD TO THE SUPPORT 
AND LEGAL DEFENSE OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS AND 
DISTRICT OFFICERS AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) and the officers and staff of the Tradition 

Community Development District No. 4 (the “District”) are constantly presented with the necessity for 
making decisions regarding various phases of District policy and management; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is absolutely essential to the effective operation of the District that such decisions 
be made in an environment where the threat of personal liability for the Board and its officers and staff is 
maintained at a minimum; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board wishes to formalize a policy with regard to the support and legal protection 
of the Board and its officers and staff (the “Policy”) so as to reduce the threat of personal liability to such 
individuals and allow for an effective decision-making environment. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 4 THAT: 

 
1.      INDEMNITEES.  As set forth in this Resolution, the District, in accordance with Florida 

law, agrees that the following Board members, officers and staff (together, the “Indemnitees”) of the 
District shall be provided the benefit of the indemnification, support and legal defense provisions provided 
in this Resolution: 

 
a. All members of the Board of Supervisors; and 
 
b. Secretary and Assistant Secretaries, Treasurer and Assistant Treasurers, and other District 

officers, as well as District Staff (e.g., the District Manager, the District Engineer, and the 
District Counsel). 

 
2. SCOPE OF ACTIONS.  As set forth in this Resolution and in accordance with Sections 

111.07 and 768.28, Florida Statutes, the District hereby agrees to provide legal representation to defend any 
and all civil actions of any kind arising from a complaint for damages or injuries suffered as a result of any 
action or omission of action of all Indemnitees, present or former, arising out of and in the scope of his or 
her employment or function, unless, in the case of a tort action, the Indemnitee acted in bad faith, with 
malicious purpose, or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or 
property. Defense of such civil actions includes, but is not limited to, any civil rights lawsuit seeking relief 
personally against any Indemnitee for an act or omission under color of state law, custom or usage, wherein 
it is alleged that such Indemnitee has deprived another person of rights secured under the Federal 
Constitution or laws, including, by way of example, actions under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 or other federal statute. 
The District hereby further agrees to provide legal representation to defend against any other litigation 
arising against an Indemnitee from the performance of their official duties while serving a public purpose, 
including civil and administrative actions as permitted by law, and criminal actions only until conviction, 
as permitted by law. By these provisions, the District does not waive any immunity from liability or limited 
waiver of such immunity as granted under Florida law. Rather, the District is stating that to the extent the 
State does not through its laws protect the Board and its officers from liability, the District is committed to 
doing so to the extent described in this Resolution and as permitted by law. 

50



4903-7974-2595.1  

 
3. INSURANCE.  The District may insure itself in order to cover all reasonable costs and 

fees directly arising out of or in connection with any legal claim or suit that directly results from a decision 
or act made by an Indemnitee while performing the duties and functions of his or her position. 

 
4. GOOD FAITH.  This Resolution is intended to evidence the District’s support of 

Indemnitees who perform acts and render decisions in the good faith performance of their duties and 
functions. The District will neither support nor defend those actions or omissions committed by an 
individual outside the scope of his or her office or committed in bad faith or with malicious purpose or in a 
manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property. By adoption of this 
Resolution, the Indemnitee(s) in question are each presumed to have acted within the scope of his or her 
office and are presumed to be acting in good faith, without a malicious purpose and not in a manner 
exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety or property. The District’s Board of 
Supervisors may overcome this presumption only by unanimous vote of those participating and voting, in 
accordance with Section 7 herein. 

 
5. ADVERSE FINDING.  In the event that the District has expended funds to provide an 

attorney to defend an Indemnitee who is found to be personally liable by virtue of actions outside the scope 
of his or her employment or function, or is found to have acted in bad faith, with malicious purpose, or in 
a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property, the individual shall 
be required to reimburse the District for funds so expended. The District may recover such funds in a civil 
action against such individual. 

 
6. PAYMENT.  The District agrees to pay any final judgment, including damages, fines, 

penalties or other damages, costs, and attorneys’ fees and costs, arising from any complaint for damages or 
injuries suffered as a result of any action or omission of action of any Indemnitee as described in Section 
111.07, Florida Statutes, subject to the limitations and exclusions set forth in this Resolution. If the action 
arises under Section 768.28, Florida Statues, as a tort claim, the limitations and provisions of that section 
governing payment shall apply. If the action is a civil rights action arising under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, or 
similar federal statutes, payment for the full amount of judgment may be made unless the individual has 
been determined in the final judgment to have caused the harm intentionally. The District agrees to pay any 
compromise or settlement of any claim or litigation described in this paragraph, provided, however, that 
the District determines such compromise or settlement to be in the District’s best interest. 

 
7. REBUTTAL OF GOOD FAITH PRESUMPTION.  To rebut the presumption of the 

automatic payment of judgments or provision of legal representation pursuant to this Resolution, at least 
one of the following determinations shall be made by a unanimous decision of the District’s Board of 
Supervisors participating and voting: 
 

a. The actions of the Indemnitee were outside the scope of his or her duties and authority; or 
 
b. The acts or omissions of the Indemnitee constituted bad faith, malicious purpose, 

intentional infliction of harm or were done in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful 
disregard of human rights, safety or property; or 

 
c. The Indemnitee received financial profit or advantage to which he or she was not legally 

entitled. 
 

8. PROCEDURE.  To ensure the provision of legal representation pursuant to this 
Resolution, the following must be met: 

 
a.  A copy of the summons, complaint, notice, demand letter or other document or pleading in 

the action, or a letter setting forth the substance of any claim or complaint, must be 

51



4903-7974-2595.1  

delivered to the District Chairman, Vice Chairman, District Manager or District Counsel 
within thirty (30) calendar days after actual receipt of any such document together with a 
specific request in writing that the District defend or provide representation for the 
Indemnitee; and 

 
b. The Indemnitee must cooperate continuously and fully with the District in the defense of 

the action. 
 

9. LIMITATIONS.  Any indemnification, legal defense or other protection provided 
pursuant to this representation shall not extend to: 
 

a. Consulting or other outside professional or business activities for which the Indemnitee 
received financial or other material compensation, which are outside the scope of his or her 
District duties and authority; and 

 
b. Any independent contractor for whom defense or indemnification is not authorized 

pursuant to Section 1(b) of this Resolution, unless the Board votes to authorize such 
indemnification, legal defense, or other protection; and  

 
c. Any fine, penalty or other punishment imposed as a result of conviction for a criminal 

offense, and any legal fees and costs incurred to defend criminal prosecution in which a 
conviction is obtained; and 

 
d. Claims brought against the Indemnitee by the District’s Board of Supervisors; and 
 
e. Any indemnification or defense prohibited by law. 
 

10. RETENTION OF COUNSEL.  In the event legal representation or defense is provided 
pursuant to this Resolution, the Indemnitee may either: 
 

a. Retain legal counsel appointed by the District, in which case legal counsel shall be paid 
directly by the District; or 

 
b. Retain legal counsel chosen by the Indemnitee, in which case the District shall have the 

right to:  
 

i. Approve, in advance, any agreement for legal fees or disbursements; and  
 
ii. Pay all or part of the legal fees, costs and other disbursements and to set a maximum 

for legal fees, costs and other disbursements; and 
 
iii. Direct the defense and settle or compromise the action or claim; and 
 
iv. Reduce or offset any monies that may be payable by the District by any  

court costs or attorneys' fees awarded to the Indemnitee. 
 

11. NO ENLARGEMENT OF RIGHTS.  The benefits of the Policy adopted in this 
Resolution shall not enlarge the rights that would have been available to any third-party plaintiff or claimant 
in the absence of this Policy. 

 
12. HEIRS AND REPRESENTATIVES.  To the extent permitted by law, this Policy shall 

inure to the benefit of the heirs, personal representatives and estate of the Board member and/or officer. 
 

52



4903-7974-2595.1  

13. MODIFICATIONS.  The District reserves the right to change, modify or withdraw this 
Resolution in its sole discretion, except as to actions, demand or other claims based on acts or omissions 
that occurred before the effective change, modification or withdrawal of this Resolution. 

 
14. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall be effective as of its adoption on the date 

listed below and shall apply to any acts or omissions occurring after that date. Furthermore, upon its passage 
this Resolution supersedes any Policy previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY  
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 4 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

53



4901-9715-9555.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-03 
 

A RESOLUTION SETTING FORTH THE POLICY OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5 
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS WITH REGARD TO THE SUPPORT 
AND LEGAL DEFENSE OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS AND 
DISTRICT OFFICERS AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) and the officers and staff of the Tradition 

Community Development District No. 5 (the “District”) are constantly presented with the necessity for 
making decisions regarding various phases of District policy and management; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is absolutely essential to the effective operation of the District that such decisions 
be made in an environment where the threat of personal liability for the Board and its officers and staff is 
maintained at a minimum; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board wishes to formalize a policy with regard to the support and legal protection 
of the Board and its officers and staff (the “Policy”) so as to reduce the threat of personal liability to such 
individuals and allow for an effective decision-making environment. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5 THAT: 

 
1.      INDEMNITEES.  As set forth in this Resolution, the District, in accordance with Florida 

law, agrees that the following Board members, officers and staff (together, the “Indemnitees”) of the 
District shall be provided the benefit of the indemnification, support and legal defense provisions provided 
in this Resolution: 

 
a. All members of the Board of Supervisors; and 
 
b. Secretary and Assistant Secretaries, Treasurer and Assistant Treasurers, and other District 

officers, as well as District Staff (e.g., the District Manager, the District Engineer, and the 
District Counsel). 

 
2. SCOPE OF ACTIONS.  As set forth in this Resolution and in accordance with Sections 

111.07 and 768.28, Florida Statutes, the District hereby agrees to provide legal representation to defend any 
and all civil actions of any kind arising from a complaint for damages or injuries suffered as a result of any 
action or omission of action of all Indemnitees, present or former, arising out of and in the scope of his or 
her employment or function, unless, in the case of a tort action, the Indemnitee acted in bad faith, with 
malicious purpose, or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or 
property. Defense of such civil actions includes, but is not limited to, any civil rights lawsuit seeking relief 
personally against any Indemnitee for an act or omission under color of state law, custom or usage, wherein 
it is alleged that such Indemnitee has deprived another person of rights secured under the Federal 
Constitution or laws, including, by way of example, actions under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 or other federal statute. 
The District hereby further agrees to provide legal representation to defend against any other litigation 
arising against an Indemnitee from the performance of their official duties while serving a public purpose, 
including civil and administrative actions as permitted by law, and criminal actions only until conviction, 
as permitted by law. By these provisions, the District does not waive any immunity from liability or limited 
waiver of such immunity as granted under Florida law. Rather, the District is stating that to the extent the 
State does not through its laws protect the Board and its officers from liability, the District is committed to 
doing so to the extent described in this Resolution and as permitted by law. 

54



4901-9715-9555.1  

 
3. INSURANCE.  The District may insure itself in order to cover all reasonable costs and 

fees directly arising out of or in connection with any legal claim or suit that directly results from a decision 
or act made by an Indemnitee while performing the duties and functions of his or her position. 

 
4. GOOD FAITH.  This Resolution is intended to evidence the District’s support of 

Indemnitees who perform acts and render decisions in the good faith performance of their duties and 
functions. The District will neither support nor defend those actions or omissions committed by an 
individual outside the scope of his or her office or committed in bad faith or with malicious purpose or in a 
manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property. By adoption of this 
Resolution, the Indemnitee(s) in question are each presumed to have acted within the scope of his or her 
office and are presumed to be acting in good faith, without a malicious purpose and not in a manner 
exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety or property. The District’s Board of 
Supervisors may overcome this presumption only by unanimous vote of those participating and voting, in 
accordance with Section 7 herein. 

 
5. ADVERSE FINDING.  In the event that the District has expended funds to provide an 

attorney to defend an Indemnitee who is found to be personally liable by virtue of actions outside the scope 
of his or her employment or function, or is found to have acted in bad faith, with malicious purpose, or in 
a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property, the individual shall 
be required to reimburse the District for funds so expended. The District may recover such funds in a civil 
action against such individual. 

 
6. PAYMENT.  The District agrees to pay any final judgment, including damages, fines, 

penalties or other damages, costs, and attorneys’ fees and costs, arising from any complaint for damages or 
injuries suffered as a result of any action or omission of action of any Indemnitee as described in Section 
111.07, Florida Statutes, subject to the limitations and exclusions set forth in this Resolution. If the action 
arises under Section 768.28, Florida Statues, as a tort claim, the limitations and provisions of that section 
governing payment shall apply. If the action is a civil rights action arising under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, or 
similar federal statutes, payment for the full amount of judgment may be made unless the individual has 
been determined in the final judgment to have caused the harm intentionally. The District agrees to pay any 
compromise or settlement of any claim or litigation described in this paragraph, provided, however, that 
the District determines such compromise or settlement to be in the District’s best interest. 

 
7. REBUTTAL OF GOOD FAITH PRESUMPTION.  To rebut the presumption of the 

automatic payment of judgments or provision of legal representation pursuant to this Resolution, at least 
one of the following determinations shall be made by a unanimous decision of the District’s Board of 
Supervisors participating and voting: 
 

a. The actions of the Indemnitee were outside the scope of his or her duties and authority; or 
 
b. The acts or omissions of the Indemnitee constituted bad faith, malicious purpose, 

intentional infliction of harm or were done in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful 
disregard of human rights, safety or property; or 

 
c. The Indemnitee received financial profit or advantage to which he or she was not legally 

entitled. 
 

8. PROCEDURE.  To ensure the provision of legal representation pursuant to this 
Resolution, the following must be met: 

 
a.  A copy of the summons, complaint, notice, demand letter or other document or pleading in 

the action, or a letter setting forth the substance of any claim or complaint, must be 

55



4901-9715-9555.1  

delivered to the District Chairman, Vice Chairman, District Manager or District Counsel 
within thirty (30) calendar days after actual receipt of any such document together with a 
specific request in writing that the District defend or provide representation for the 
Indemnitee; and 

 
b. The Indemnitee must cooperate continuously and fully with the District in the defense of 

the action. 
 

9. LIMITATIONS.  Any indemnification, legal defense or other protection provided 
pursuant to this representation shall not extend to: 
 

a. Consulting or other outside professional or business activities for which the Indemnitee 
received financial or other material compensation, which are outside the scope of his or her 
District duties and authority; and 

 
b. Any independent contractor for whom defense or indemnification is not authorized 

pursuant to Section 1(b) of this Resolution, unless the Board votes to authorize such 
indemnification, legal defense, or other protection; and  

 
c. Any fine, penalty or other punishment imposed as a result of conviction for a criminal 

offense, and any legal fees and costs incurred to defend criminal prosecution in which a 
conviction is obtained; and 

 
d. Claims brought against the Indemnitee by the District’s Board of Supervisors; and 
 
e. Any indemnification or defense prohibited by law. 
 

10. RETENTION OF COUNSEL.  In the event legal representation or defense is provided 
pursuant to this Resolution, the Indemnitee may either: 
 

a. Retain legal counsel appointed by the District, in which case legal counsel shall be paid 
directly by the District; or 

 
b. Retain legal counsel chosen by the Indemnitee, in which case the District shall have the 

right to:  
 

i. Approve, in advance, any agreement for legal fees or disbursements; and  
 
ii. Pay all or part of the legal fees, costs and other disbursements and to set a maximum 

for legal fees, costs and other disbursements; and 
 
iii. Direct the defense and settle or compromise the action or claim; and 
 
iv. Reduce or offset any monies that may be payable by the District by any  

court costs or attorneys' fees awarded to the Indemnitee. 
 

11. NO ENLARGEMENT OF RIGHTS.  The benefits of the Policy adopted in this 
Resolution shall not enlarge the rights that would have been available to any third-party plaintiff or claimant 
in the absence of this Policy. 

 
12. HEIRS AND REPRESENTATIVES.  To the extent permitted by law, this Policy shall 

inure to the benefit of the heirs, personal representatives and estate of the Board member and/or officer. 
 

56



4901-9715-9555.1  

13. MODIFICATIONS.  The District reserves the right to change, modify or withdraw this 
Resolution in its sole discretion, except as to actions, demand or other claims based on acts or omissions 
that occurred before the effective change, modification or withdrawal of this Resolution. 

 
14. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall be effective as of its adoption on the date 

listed below and shall apply to any acts or omissions occurring after that date. Furthermore, upon its passage 
this Resolution supersedes any Policy previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY  
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

57



4936-3812-7235.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-03 
 

A RESOLUTION SETTING FORTH THE POLICY OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 6 
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS WITH REGARD TO THE SUPPORT 
AND LEGAL DEFENSE OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS AND 
DISTRICT OFFICERS AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) and the officers and staff of the Tradition 

Community Development District No. 6 (the “District”) are constantly presented with the necessity for 
making decisions regarding various phases of District policy and management; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is absolutely essential to the effective operation of the District that such decisions 
be made in an environment where the threat of personal liability for the Board and its officers and staff is 
maintained at a minimum; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board wishes to formalize a policy with regard to the support and legal protection 
of the Board and its officers and staff (the “Policy”) so as to reduce the threat of personal liability to such 
individuals and allow for an effective decision-making environment. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 6 THAT: 

 
1.      INDEMNITEES.  As set forth in this Resolution, the District, in accordance with Florida 

law, agrees that the following Board members, officers and staff (together, the “Indemnitees”) of the 
District shall be provided the benefit of the indemnification, support and legal defense provisions provided 
in this Resolution: 

 
a. All members of the Board of Supervisors; and 
 
b. Secretary and Assistant Secretaries, Treasurer and Assistant Treasurers, and other District 

officers, as well as District Staff (e.g., the District Manager, the District Engineer, and the 
District Counsel). 

 
2. SCOPE OF ACTIONS.  As set forth in this Resolution and in accordance with Sections 

111.07 and 768.28, Florida Statutes, the District hereby agrees to provide legal representation to defend any 
and all civil actions of any kind arising from a complaint for damages or injuries suffered as a result of any 
action or omission of action of all Indemnitees, present or former, arising out of and in the scope of his or 
her employment or function, unless, in the case of a tort action, the Indemnitee acted in bad faith, with 
malicious purpose, or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or 
property. Defense of such civil actions includes, but is not limited to, any civil rights lawsuit seeking relief 
personally against any Indemnitee for an act or omission under color of state law, custom or usage, wherein 
it is alleged that such Indemnitee has deprived another person of rights secured under the Federal 
Constitution or laws, including, by way of example, actions under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 or other federal statute. 
The District hereby further agrees to provide legal representation to defend against any other litigation 
arising against an Indemnitee from the performance of their official duties while serving a public purpose, 
including civil and administrative actions as permitted by law, and criminal actions only until conviction, 
as permitted by law. By these provisions, the District does not waive any immunity from liability or limited 
waiver of such immunity as granted under Florida law. Rather, the District is stating that to the extent the 
State does not through its laws protect the Board and its officers from liability, the District is committed to 
doing so to the extent described in this Resolution and as permitted by law. 

58



4936-3812-7235.1  

 
3. INSURANCE.  The District may insure itself in order to cover all reasonable costs and 

fees directly arising out of or in connection with any legal claim or suit that directly results from a decision 
or act made by an Indemnitee while performing the duties and functions of his or her position. 

 
4. GOOD FAITH.  This Resolution is intended to evidence the District’s support of 

Indemnitees who perform acts and render decisions in the good faith performance of their duties and 
functions. The District will neither support nor defend those actions or omissions committed by an 
individual outside the scope of his or her office or committed in bad faith or with malicious purpose or in a 
manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property. By adoption of this 
Resolution, the Indemnitee(s) in question are each presumed to have acted within the scope of his or her 
office and are presumed to be acting in good faith, without a malicious purpose and not in a manner 
exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety or property. The District’s Board of 
Supervisors may overcome this presumption only by unanimous vote of those participating and voting, in 
accordance with Section 7 herein. 

 
5. ADVERSE FINDING.  In the event that the District has expended funds to provide an 

attorney to defend an Indemnitee who is found to be personally liable by virtue of actions outside the scope 
of his or her employment or function, or is found to have acted in bad faith, with malicious purpose, or in 
a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property, the individual shall 
be required to reimburse the District for funds so expended. The District may recover such funds in a civil 
action against such individual. 

 
6. PAYMENT.  The District agrees to pay any final judgment, including damages, fines, 

penalties or other damages, costs, and attorneys’ fees and costs, arising from any complaint for damages or 
injuries suffered as a result of any action or omission of action of any Indemnitee as described in Section 
111.07, Florida Statutes, subject to the limitations and exclusions set forth in this Resolution. If the action 
arises under Section 768.28, Florida Statues, as a tort claim, the limitations and provisions of that section 
governing payment shall apply. If the action is a civil rights action arising under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, or 
similar federal statutes, payment for the full amount of judgment may be made unless the individual has 
been determined in the final judgment to have caused the harm intentionally. The District agrees to pay any 
compromise or settlement of any claim or litigation described in this paragraph, provided, however, that 
the District determines such compromise or settlement to be in the District’s best interest. 

 
7. REBUTTAL OF GOOD FAITH PRESUMPTION.  To rebut the presumption of the 

automatic payment of judgments or provision of legal representation pursuant to this Resolution, at least 
one of the following determinations shall be made by a unanimous decision of the District’s Board of 
Supervisors participating and voting: 
 

a. The actions of the Indemnitee were outside the scope of his or her duties and authority; or 
 
b. The acts or omissions of the Indemnitee constituted bad faith, malicious purpose, 

intentional infliction of harm or were done in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful 
disregard of human rights, safety or property; or 

 
c. The Indemnitee received financial profit or advantage to which he or she was not legally 

entitled. 
 

8. PROCEDURE.  To ensure the provision of legal representation pursuant to this 
Resolution, the following must be met: 

 
a.  A copy of the summons, complaint, notice, demand letter or other document or pleading in 

the action, or a letter setting forth the substance of any claim or complaint, must be 

59



4936-3812-7235.1  

delivered to the District Chairman, Vice Chairman, District Manager or District Counsel 
within thirty (30) calendar days after actual receipt of any such document together with a 
specific request in writing that the District defend or provide representation for the 
Indemnitee; and 

 
b. The Indemnitee must cooperate continuously and fully with the District in the defense of 

the action. 
 

9. LIMITATIONS.  Any indemnification, legal defense or other protection provided 
pursuant to this representation shall not extend to: 
 

a. Consulting or other outside professional or business activities for which the Indemnitee 
received financial or other material compensation, which are outside the scope of his or her 
District duties and authority; and 

 
b. Any independent contractor for whom defense or indemnification is not authorized 

pursuant to Section 1(b) of this Resolution, unless the Board votes to authorize such 
indemnification, legal defense, or other protection; and  

 
c. Any fine, penalty or other punishment imposed as a result of conviction for a criminal 

offense, and any legal fees and costs incurred to defend criminal prosecution in which a 
conviction is obtained; and 

 
d. Claims brought against the Indemnitee by the District’s Board of Supervisors; and 
 
e. Any indemnification or defense prohibited by law. 
 

10. RETENTION OF COUNSEL.  In the event legal representation or defense is provided 
pursuant to this Resolution, the Indemnitee may either: 
 

a. Retain legal counsel appointed by the District, in which case legal counsel shall be paid 
directly by the District; or 

 
b. Retain legal counsel chosen by the Indemnitee, in which case the District shall have the 

right to:  
 

i. Approve, in advance, any agreement for legal fees or disbursements; and  
 
ii. Pay all or part of the legal fees, costs and other disbursements and to set a maximum 

for legal fees, costs and other disbursements; and 
 
iii. Direct the defense and settle or compromise the action or claim; and 
 
iv. Reduce or offset any monies that may be payable by the District by any  

court costs or attorneys' fees awarded to the Indemnitee. 
 

11. NO ENLARGEMENT OF RIGHTS.  The benefits of the Policy adopted in this 
Resolution shall not enlarge the rights that would have been available to any third-party plaintiff or claimant 
in the absence of this Policy. 

 
12. HEIRS AND REPRESENTATIVES.  To the extent permitted by law, this Policy shall 

inure to the benefit of the heirs, personal representatives and estate of the Board member and/or officer. 
 

60



4936-3812-7235.1  

13. MODIFICATIONS.  The District reserves the right to change, modify or withdraw this 
Resolution in its sole discretion, except as to actions, demand or other claims based on acts or omissions 
that occurred before the effective change, modification or withdrawal of this Resolution. 

 
14. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall be effective as of its adoption on the date 

listed below and shall apply to any acts or omissions occurring after that date. Furthermore, upon its passage 
this Resolution supersedes any Policy previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY  
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 6 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

61



4905-1881-0243.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-03 
 

A RESOLUTION SETTING FORTH THE POLICY OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 7 
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS WITH REGARD TO THE SUPPORT 
AND LEGAL DEFENSE OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS AND 
DISTRICT OFFICERS AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) and the officers and staff of the Tradition 

Community Development District No. 7 (the “District”) are constantly presented with the necessity for 
making decisions regarding various phases of District policy and management; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is absolutely essential to the effective operation of the District that such decisions 
be made in an environment where the threat of personal liability for the Board and its officers and staff is 
maintained at a minimum; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board wishes to formalize a policy with regard to the support and legal protection 
of the Board and its officers and staff (the “Policy”) so as to reduce the threat of personal liability to such 
individuals and allow for an effective decision-making environment. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 7 THAT: 

 
1.      INDEMNITEES.  As set forth in this Resolution, the District, in accordance with Florida 

law, agrees that the following Board members, officers and staff (together, the “Indemnitees”) of the 
District shall be provided the benefit of the indemnification, support and legal defense provisions provided 
in this Resolution: 

 
a. All members of the Board of Supervisors; and 
 
b. Secretary and Assistant Secretaries, Treasurer and Assistant Treasurers, and other District 

officers, as well as District Staff (e.g., the District Manager, the District Engineer, and the 
District Counsel). 

 
2. SCOPE OF ACTIONS.  As set forth in this Resolution and in accordance with Sections 

111.07 and 768.28, Florida Statutes, the District hereby agrees to provide legal representation to defend any 
and all civil actions of any kind arising from a complaint for damages or injuries suffered as a result of any 
action or omission of action of all Indemnitees, present or former, arising out of and in the scope of his or 
her employment or function, unless, in the case of a tort action, the Indemnitee acted in bad faith, with 
malicious purpose, or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or 
property. Defense of such civil actions includes, but is not limited to, any civil rights lawsuit seeking relief 
personally against any Indemnitee for an act or omission under color of state law, custom or usage, wherein 
it is alleged that such Indemnitee has deprived another person of rights secured under the Federal 
Constitution or laws, including, by way of example, actions under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 or other federal statute. 
The District hereby further agrees to provide legal representation to defend against any other litigation 
arising against an Indemnitee from the performance of their official duties while serving a public purpose, 
including civil and administrative actions as permitted by law, and criminal actions only until conviction, 
as permitted by law. By these provisions, the District does not waive any immunity from liability or limited 
waiver of such immunity as granted under Florida law. Rather, the District is stating that to the extent the 
State does not through its laws protect the Board and its officers from liability, the District is committed to 
doing so to the extent described in this Resolution and as permitted by law. 

62



4905-1881-0243.1  

 
3. INSURANCE.  The District may insure itself in order to cover all reasonable costs and 

fees directly arising out of or in connection with any legal claim or suit that directly results from a decision 
or act made by an Indemnitee while performing the duties and functions of his or her position. 

 
4. GOOD FAITH.  This Resolution is intended to evidence the District’s support of 

Indemnitees who perform acts and render decisions in the good faith performance of their duties and 
functions. The District will neither support nor defend those actions or omissions committed by an 
individual outside the scope of his or her office or committed in bad faith or with malicious purpose or in a 
manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property. By adoption of this 
Resolution, the Indemnitee(s) in question are each presumed to have acted within the scope of his or her 
office and are presumed to be acting in good faith, without a malicious purpose and not in a manner 
exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety or property. The District’s Board of 
Supervisors may overcome this presumption only by unanimous vote of those participating and voting, in 
accordance with Section 7 herein. 

 
5. ADVERSE FINDING.  In the event that the District has expended funds to provide an 

attorney to defend an Indemnitee who is found to be personally liable by virtue of actions outside the scope 
of his or her employment or function, or is found to have acted in bad faith, with malicious purpose, or in 
a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property, the individual shall 
be required to reimburse the District for funds so expended. The District may recover such funds in a civil 
action against such individual. 

 
6. PAYMENT.  The District agrees to pay any final judgment, including damages, fines, 

penalties or other damages, costs, and attorneys’ fees and costs, arising from any complaint for damages or 
injuries suffered as a result of any action or omission of action of any Indemnitee as described in Section 
111.07, Florida Statutes, subject to the limitations and exclusions set forth in this Resolution. If the action 
arises under Section 768.28, Florida Statues, as a tort claim, the limitations and provisions of that section 
governing payment shall apply. If the action is a civil rights action arising under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, or 
similar federal statutes, payment for the full amount of judgment may be made unless the individual has 
been determined in the final judgment to have caused the harm intentionally. The District agrees to pay any 
compromise or settlement of any claim or litigation described in this paragraph, provided, however, that 
the District determines such compromise or settlement to be in the District’s best interest. 

 
7. REBUTTAL OF GOOD FAITH PRESUMPTION.  To rebut the presumption of the 

automatic payment of judgments or provision of legal representation pursuant to this Resolution, at least 
one of the following determinations shall be made by a unanimous decision of the District’s Board of 
Supervisors participating and voting: 
 

a. The actions of the Indemnitee were outside the scope of his or her duties and authority; or 
 
b. The acts or omissions of the Indemnitee constituted bad faith, malicious purpose, 

intentional infliction of harm or were done in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful 
disregard of human rights, safety or property; or 

 
c. The Indemnitee received financial profit or advantage to which he or she was not legally 

entitled. 
 

8. PROCEDURE.  To ensure the provision of legal representation pursuant to this 
Resolution, the following must be met: 

 
a.  A copy of the summons, complaint, notice, demand letter or other document or pleading in 

the action, or a letter setting forth the substance of any claim or complaint, must be 

63



4905-1881-0243.1  

delivered to the District Chairman, Vice Chairman, District Manager or District Counsel 
within thirty (30) calendar days after actual receipt of any such document together with a 
specific request in writing that the District defend or provide representation for the 
Indemnitee; and 

 
b. The Indemnitee must cooperate continuously and fully with the District in the defense of 

the action. 
 

9. LIMITATIONS.  Any indemnification, legal defense or other protection provided 
pursuant to this representation shall not extend to: 
 

a. Consulting or other outside professional or business activities for which the Indemnitee 
received financial or other material compensation, which are outside the scope of his or her 
District duties and authority; and 

 
b. Any independent contractor for whom defense or indemnification is not authorized 

pursuant to Section 1(b) of this Resolution, unless the Board votes to authorize such 
indemnification, legal defense, or other protection; and  

 
c. Any fine, penalty or other punishment imposed as a result of conviction for a criminal 

offense, and any legal fees and costs incurred to defend criminal prosecution in which a 
conviction is obtained; and 

 
d. Claims brought against the Indemnitee by the District’s Board of Supervisors; and 
 
e. Any indemnification or defense prohibited by law. 
 

10. RETENTION OF COUNSEL.  In the event legal representation or defense is provided 
pursuant to this Resolution, the Indemnitee may either: 
 

a. Retain legal counsel appointed by the District, in which case legal counsel shall be paid 
directly by the District; or 

 
b. Retain legal counsel chosen by the Indemnitee, in which case the District shall have the 

right to:  
 

i. Approve, in advance, any agreement for legal fees or disbursements; and  
 
ii. Pay all or part of the legal fees, costs and other disbursements and to set a maximum 

for legal fees, costs and other disbursements; and 
 
iii. Direct the defense and settle or compromise the action or claim; and 
 
iv. Reduce or offset any monies that may be payable by the District by any  

court costs or attorneys' fees awarded to the Indemnitee. 
 

11. NO ENLARGEMENT OF RIGHTS.  The benefits of the Policy adopted in this 
Resolution shall not enlarge the rights that would have been available to any third-party plaintiff or claimant 
in the absence of this Policy. 

 
12. HEIRS AND REPRESENTATIVES.  To the extent permitted by law, this Policy shall 

inure to the benefit of the heirs, personal representatives and estate of the Board member and/or officer. 
 

64



4905-1881-0243.1  

13. MODIFICATIONS.  The District reserves the right to change, modify or withdraw this 
Resolution in its sole discretion, except as to actions, demand or other claims based on acts or omissions 
that occurred before the effective change, modification or withdrawal of this Resolution. 

 
14. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall be effective as of its adoption on the date 

listed below and shall apply to any acts or omissions occurring after that date. Furthermore, upon its passage 
this Resolution supersedes any Policy previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY  
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 7 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

65



4898-8297-9971.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-03 
 

A RESOLUTION SETTING FORTH THE POLICY OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 8 
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS WITH REGARD TO THE SUPPORT 
AND LEGAL DEFENSE OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS AND 
DISTRICT OFFICERS AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) and the officers and staff of the Tradition 

Community Development District No. 8 (the “District”) are constantly presented with the necessity for 
making decisions regarding various phases of District policy and management; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is absolutely essential to the effective operation of the District that such decisions 
be made in an environment where the threat of personal liability for the Board and its officers and staff is 
maintained at a minimum; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board wishes to formalize a policy with regard to the support and legal protection 
of the Board and its officers and staff (the “Policy”) so as to reduce the threat of personal liability to such 
individuals and allow for an effective decision-making environment. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 8 THAT: 

 
1.      INDEMNITEES.  As set forth in this Resolution, the District, in accordance with Florida 

law, agrees that the following Board members, officers and staff (together, the “Indemnitees”) of the 
District shall be provided the benefit of the indemnification, support and legal defense provisions provided 
in this Resolution: 

 
a. All members of the Board of Supervisors; and 
 
b. Secretary and Assistant Secretaries, Treasurer and Assistant Treasurers, and other District 

officers, as well as District Staff (e.g., the District Manager, the District Engineer, and the 
District Counsel). 

 
2. SCOPE OF ACTIONS.  As set forth in this Resolution and in accordance with Sections 

111.07 and 768.28, Florida Statutes, the District hereby agrees to provide legal representation to defend any 
and all civil actions of any kind arising from a complaint for damages or injuries suffered as a result of any 
action or omission of action of all Indemnitees, present or former, arising out of and in the scope of his or 
her employment or function, unless, in the case of a tort action, the Indemnitee acted in bad faith, with 
malicious purpose, or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or 
property. Defense of such civil actions includes, but is not limited to, any civil rights lawsuit seeking relief 
personally against any Indemnitee for an act or omission under color of state law, custom or usage, wherein 
it is alleged that such Indemnitee has deprived another person of rights secured under the Federal 
Constitution or laws, including, by way of example, actions under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 or other federal statute. 
The District hereby further agrees to provide legal representation to defend against any other litigation 
arising against an Indemnitee from the performance of their official duties while serving a public purpose, 
including civil and administrative actions as permitted by law, and criminal actions only until conviction, 
as permitted by law. By these provisions, the District does not waive any immunity from liability or limited 
waiver of such immunity as granted under Florida law. Rather, the District is stating that to the extent the 
State does not through its laws protect the Board and its officers from liability, the District is committed to 
doing so to the extent described in this Resolution and as permitted by law. 

66



4898-8297-9971.1  

 
3. INSURANCE.  The District may insure itself in order to cover all reasonable costs and 

fees directly arising out of or in connection with any legal claim or suit that directly results from a decision 
or act made by an Indemnitee while performing the duties and functions of his or her position. 

 
4. GOOD FAITH.  This Resolution is intended to evidence the District’s support of 

Indemnitees who perform acts and render decisions in the good faith performance of their duties and 
functions. The District will neither support nor defend those actions or omissions committed by an 
individual outside the scope of his or her office or committed in bad faith or with malicious purpose or in a 
manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property. By adoption of this 
Resolution, the Indemnitee(s) in question are each presumed to have acted within the scope of his or her 
office and are presumed to be acting in good faith, without a malicious purpose and not in a manner 
exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety or property. The District’s Board of 
Supervisors may overcome this presumption only by unanimous vote of those participating and voting, in 
accordance with Section 7 herein. 

 
5. ADVERSE FINDING.  In the event that the District has expended funds to provide an 

attorney to defend an Indemnitee who is found to be personally liable by virtue of actions outside the scope 
of his or her employment or function, or is found to have acted in bad faith, with malicious purpose, or in 
a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property, the individual shall 
be required to reimburse the District for funds so expended. The District may recover such funds in a civil 
action against such individual. 

 
6. PAYMENT.  The District agrees to pay any final judgment, including damages, fines, 

penalties or other damages, costs, and attorneys’ fees and costs, arising from any complaint for damages or 
injuries suffered as a result of any action or omission of action of any Indemnitee as described in Section 
111.07, Florida Statutes, subject to the limitations and exclusions set forth in this Resolution. If the action 
arises under Section 768.28, Florida Statues, as a tort claim, the limitations and provisions of that section 
governing payment shall apply. If the action is a civil rights action arising under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, or 
similar federal statutes, payment for the full amount of judgment may be made unless the individual has 
been determined in the final judgment to have caused the harm intentionally. The District agrees to pay any 
compromise or settlement of any claim or litigation described in this paragraph, provided, however, that 
the District determines such compromise or settlement to be in the District’s best interest. 

 
7. REBUTTAL OF GOOD FAITH PRESUMPTION.  To rebut the presumption of the 

automatic payment of judgments or provision of legal representation pursuant to this Resolution, at least 
one of the following determinations shall be made by a unanimous decision of the District’s Board of 
Supervisors participating and voting: 
 

a. The actions of the Indemnitee were outside the scope of his or her duties and authority; or 
 
b. The acts or omissions of the Indemnitee constituted bad faith, malicious purpose, 

intentional infliction of harm or were done in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful 
disregard of human rights, safety or property; or 

 
c. The Indemnitee received financial profit or advantage to which he or she was not legally 

entitled. 
 

8. PROCEDURE.  To ensure the provision of legal representation pursuant to this 
Resolution, the following must be met: 

 
a.  A copy of the summons, complaint, notice, demand letter or other document or pleading in 

the action, or a letter setting forth the substance of any claim or complaint, must be 

67



4898-8297-9971.1  

delivered to the District Chairman, Vice Chairman, District Manager or District Counsel 
within thirty (30) calendar days after actual receipt of any such document together with a 
specific request in writing that the District defend or provide representation for the 
Indemnitee; and 

 
b. The Indemnitee must cooperate continuously and fully with the District in the defense of 

the action. 
 

9. LIMITATIONS.  Any indemnification, legal defense or other protection provided 
pursuant to this representation shall not extend to: 
 

a. Consulting or other outside professional or business activities for which the Indemnitee 
received financial or other material compensation, which are outside the scope of his or her 
District duties and authority; and 

 
b. Any independent contractor for whom defense or indemnification is not authorized 

pursuant to Section 1(b) of this Resolution, unless the Board votes to authorize such 
indemnification, legal defense, or other protection; and  

 
c. Any fine, penalty or other punishment imposed as a result of conviction for a criminal 

offense, and any legal fees and costs incurred to defend criminal prosecution in which a 
conviction is obtained; and 

 
d. Claims brought against the Indemnitee by the District’s Board of Supervisors; and 
 
e. Any indemnification or defense prohibited by law. 
 

10. RETENTION OF COUNSEL.  In the event legal representation or defense is provided 
pursuant to this Resolution, the Indemnitee may either: 
 

a. Retain legal counsel appointed by the District, in which case legal counsel shall be paid 
directly by the District; or 

 
b. Retain legal counsel chosen by the Indemnitee, in which case the District shall have the 

right to:  
 

i. Approve, in advance, any agreement for legal fees or disbursements; and  
 
ii. Pay all or part of the legal fees, costs and other disbursements and to set a maximum 

for legal fees, costs and other disbursements; and 
 
iii. Direct the defense and settle or compromise the action or claim; and 
 
iv. Reduce or offset any monies that may be payable by the District by any  

court costs or attorneys' fees awarded to the Indemnitee. 
 

11. NO ENLARGEMENT OF RIGHTS.  The benefits of the Policy adopted in this 
Resolution shall not enlarge the rights that would have been available to any third-party plaintiff or claimant 
in the absence of this Policy. 

 
12. HEIRS AND REPRESENTATIVES.  To the extent permitted by law, this Policy shall 

inure to the benefit of the heirs, personal representatives and estate of the Board member and/or officer. 
 

68



4898-8297-9971.1  

13. MODIFICATIONS.  The District reserves the right to change, modify or withdraw this 
Resolution in its sole discretion, except as to actions, demand or other claims based on acts or omissions 
that occurred before the effective change, modification or withdrawal of this Resolution. 

 
14. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall be effective as of its adoption on the date 

listed below and shall apply to any acts or omissions occurring after that date. Furthermore, upon its passage 
this Resolution supersedes any Policy previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY  
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 8 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

69



4933-4111-8083.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-03 
 

A RESOLUTION SETTING FORTH THE POLICY OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 9 
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS WITH REGARD TO THE SUPPORT 
AND LEGAL DEFENSE OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS AND 
DISTRICT OFFICERS AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) and the officers and staff of the Tradition 

Community Development District No. 9 (the “District”) are constantly presented with the necessity for 
making decisions regarding various phases of District policy and management; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is absolutely essential to the effective operation of the District that such decisions 
be made in an environment where the threat of personal liability for the Board and its officers and staff is 
maintained at a minimum; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board wishes to formalize a policy with regard to the support and legal protection 
of the Board and its officers and staff (the “Policy”) so as to reduce the threat of personal liability to such 
individuals and allow for an effective decision-making environment. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 9 THAT: 

 
1.      INDEMNITEES.  As set forth in this Resolution, the District, in accordance with Florida 

law, agrees that the following Board members, officers and staff (together, the “Indemnitees”) of the 
District shall be provided the benefit of the indemnification, support and legal defense provisions provided 
in this Resolution: 

 
a. All members of the Board of Supervisors; and 
 
b. Secretary and Assistant Secretaries, Treasurer and Assistant Treasurers, and other District 

officers, as well as District Staff (e.g., the District Manager, the District Engineer, and the 
District Counsel). 

 
2. SCOPE OF ACTIONS.  As set forth in this Resolution and in accordance with Sections 

111.07 and 768.28, Florida Statutes, the District hereby agrees to provide legal representation to defend any 
and all civil actions of any kind arising from a complaint for damages or injuries suffered as a result of any 
action or omission of action of all Indemnitees, present or former, arising out of and in the scope of his or 
her employment or function, unless, in the case of a tort action, the Indemnitee acted in bad faith, with 
malicious purpose, or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or 
property. Defense of such civil actions includes, but is not limited to, any civil rights lawsuit seeking relief 
personally against any Indemnitee for an act or omission under color of state law, custom or usage, wherein 
it is alleged that such Indemnitee has deprived another person of rights secured under the Federal 
Constitution or laws, including, by way of example, actions under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 or other federal statute. 
The District hereby further agrees to provide legal representation to defend against any other litigation 
arising against an Indemnitee from the performance of their official duties while serving a public purpose, 
including civil and administrative actions as permitted by law, and criminal actions only until conviction, 
as permitted by law. By these provisions, the District does not waive any immunity from liability or limited 
waiver of such immunity as granted under Florida law. Rather, the District is stating that to the extent the 
State does not through its laws protect the Board and its officers from liability, the District is committed to 
doing so to the extent described in this Resolution and as permitted by law. 

70



4933-4111-8083.1  

 
3. INSURANCE.  The District may insure itself in order to cover all reasonable costs and 

fees directly arising out of or in connection with any legal claim or suit that directly results from a decision 
or act made by an Indemnitee while performing the duties and functions of his or her position. 

 
4. GOOD FAITH.  This Resolution is intended to evidence the District’s support of 

Indemnitees who perform acts and render decisions in the good faith performance of their duties and 
functions. The District will neither support nor defend those actions or omissions committed by an 
individual outside the scope of his or her office or committed in bad faith or with malicious purpose or in a 
manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property. By adoption of this 
Resolution, the Indemnitee(s) in question are each presumed to have acted within the scope of his or her 
office and are presumed to be acting in good faith, without a malicious purpose and not in a manner 
exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety or property. The District’s Board of 
Supervisors may overcome this presumption only by unanimous vote of those participating and voting, in 
accordance with Section 7 herein. 

 
5. ADVERSE FINDING.  In the event that the District has expended funds to provide an 

attorney to defend an Indemnitee who is found to be personally liable by virtue of actions outside the scope 
of his or her employment or function, or is found to have acted in bad faith, with malicious purpose, or in 
a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property, the individual shall 
be required to reimburse the District for funds so expended. The District may recover such funds in a civil 
action against such individual. 

 
6. PAYMENT.  The District agrees to pay any final judgment, including damages, fines, 

penalties or other damages, costs, and attorneys’ fees and costs, arising from any complaint for damages or 
injuries suffered as a result of any action or omission of action of any Indemnitee as described in Section 
111.07, Florida Statutes, subject to the limitations and exclusions set forth in this Resolution. If the action 
arises under Section 768.28, Florida Statues, as a tort claim, the limitations and provisions of that section 
governing payment shall apply. If the action is a civil rights action arising under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, or 
similar federal statutes, payment for the full amount of judgment may be made unless the individual has 
been determined in the final judgment to have caused the harm intentionally. The District agrees to pay any 
compromise or settlement of any claim or litigation described in this paragraph, provided, however, that 
the District determines such compromise or settlement to be in the District’s best interest. 

 
7. REBUTTAL OF GOOD FAITH PRESUMPTION.  To rebut the presumption of the 

automatic payment of judgments or provision of legal representation pursuant to this Resolution, at least 
one of the following determinations shall be made by a unanimous decision of the District’s Board of 
Supervisors participating and voting: 
 

a. The actions of the Indemnitee were outside the scope of his or her duties and authority; or 
 
b. The acts or omissions of the Indemnitee constituted bad faith, malicious purpose, 

intentional infliction of harm or were done in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful 
disregard of human rights, safety or property; or 

 
c. The Indemnitee received financial profit or advantage to which he or she was not legally 

entitled. 
 

8. PROCEDURE.  To ensure the provision of legal representation pursuant to this 
Resolution, the following must be met: 

 
a.  A copy of the summons, complaint, notice, demand letter or other document or pleading in 

the action, or a letter setting forth the substance of any claim or complaint, must be 

71



4933-4111-8083.1  

delivered to the District Chairman, Vice Chairman, District Manager or District Counsel 
within thirty (30) calendar days after actual receipt of any such document together with a 
specific request in writing that the District defend or provide representation for the 
Indemnitee; and 

 
b. The Indemnitee must cooperate continuously and fully with the District in the defense of 

the action. 
 

9. LIMITATIONS.  Any indemnification, legal defense or other protection provided 
pursuant to this representation shall not extend to: 
 

a. Consulting or other outside professional or business activities for which the Indemnitee 
received financial or other material compensation, which are outside the scope of his or her 
District duties and authority; and 

 
b. Any independent contractor for whom defense or indemnification is not authorized 

pursuant to Section 1(b) of this Resolution, unless the Board votes to authorize such 
indemnification, legal defense, or other protection; and  

 
c. Any fine, penalty or other punishment imposed as a result of conviction for a criminal 

offense, and any legal fees and costs incurred to defend criminal prosecution in which a 
conviction is obtained; and 

 
d. Claims brought against the Indemnitee by the District’s Board of Supervisors; and 
 
e. Any indemnification or defense prohibited by law. 
 

10. RETENTION OF COUNSEL.  In the event legal representation or defense is provided 
pursuant to this Resolution, the Indemnitee may either: 
 

a. Retain legal counsel appointed by the District, in which case legal counsel shall be paid 
directly by the District; or 

 
b. Retain legal counsel chosen by the Indemnitee, in which case the District shall have the 

right to:  
 

i. Approve, in advance, any agreement for legal fees or disbursements; and  
 
ii. Pay all or part of the legal fees, costs and other disbursements and to set a maximum 

for legal fees, costs and other disbursements; and 
 
iii. Direct the defense and settle or compromise the action or claim; and 
 
iv. Reduce or offset any monies that may be payable by the District by any  

court costs or attorneys' fees awarded to the Indemnitee. 
 

11. NO ENLARGEMENT OF RIGHTS.  The benefits of the Policy adopted in this 
Resolution shall not enlarge the rights that would have been available to any third-party plaintiff or claimant 
in the absence of this Policy. 

 
12. HEIRS AND REPRESENTATIVES.  To the extent permitted by law, this Policy shall 

inure to the benefit of the heirs, personal representatives and estate of the Board member and/or officer. 
 

72



4933-4111-8083.1  

13. MODIFICATIONS.  The District reserves the right to change, modify or withdraw this 
Resolution in its sole discretion, except as to actions, demand or other claims based on acts or omissions 
that occurred before the effective change, modification or withdrawal of this Resolution. 

 
14. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall be effective as of its adoption on the date 

listed below and shall apply to any acts or omissions occurring after that date. Furthermore, upon its passage 
this Resolution supersedes any Policy previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY  
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 9 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

73



4904-9082-6371.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-03 
 

A RESOLUTION SETTING FORTH THE POLICY OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 10 
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS WITH REGARD TO THE SUPPORT 
AND LEGAL DEFENSE OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS AND 
DISTRICT OFFICERS AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) and the officers and staff of the Tradition 

Community Development District No. 10 (the “District”) are constantly presented with the necessity for 
making decisions regarding various phases of District policy and management; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is absolutely essential to the effective operation of the District that such decisions 
be made in an environment where the threat of personal liability for the Board and its officers and staff is 
maintained at a minimum; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board wishes to formalize a policy with regard to the support and legal protection 
of the Board and its officers and staff (the “Policy”) so as to reduce the threat of personal liability to such 
individuals and allow for an effective decision-making environment. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 10 THAT: 

 
1.      INDEMNITEES.  As set forth in this Resolution, the District, in accordance with Florida 

law, agrees that the following Board members, officers and staff (together, the “Indemnitees”) of the 
District shall be provided the benefit of the indemnification, support and legal defense provisions provided 
in this Resolution: 

 
a. All members of the Board of Supervisors; and 
 
b. Secretary and Assistant Secretaries, Treasurer and Assistant Treasurers, and other District 

officers, as well as District Staff (e.g., the District Manager, the District Engineer, and the 
District Counsel). 

 
2. SCOPE OF ACTIONS.  As set forth in this Resolution and in accordance with Sections 

111.07 and 768.28, Florida Statutes, the District hereby agrees to provide legal representation to defend any 
and all civil actions of any kind arising from a complaint for damages or injuries suffered as a result of any 
action or omission of action of all Indemnitees, present or former, arising out of and in the scope of his or 
her employment or function, unless, in the case of a tort action, the Indemnitee acted in bad faith, with 
malicious purpose, or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or 
property. Defense of such civil actions includes, but is not limited to, any civil rights lawsuit seeking relief 
personally against any Indemnitee for an act or omission under color of state law, custom or usage, wherein 
it is alleged that such Indemnitee has deprived another person of rights secured under the Federal 
Constitution or laws, including, by way of example, actions under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 or other federal statute. 
The District hereby further agrees to provide legal representation to defend against any other litigation 
arising against an Indemnitee from the performance of their official duties while serving a public purpose, 
including civil and administrative actions as permitted by law, and criminal actions only until conviction, 
as permitted by law. By these provisions, the District does not waive any immunity from liability or limited 
waiver of such immunity as granted under Florida law. Rather, the District is stating that to the extent the 
State does not through its laws protect the Board and its officers from liability, the District is committed to 
doing so to the extent described in this Resolution and as permitted by law. 

74



4904-9082-6371.1  

 
3. INSURANCE.  The District may insure itself in order to cover all reasonable costs and 

fees directly arising out of or in connection with any legal claim or suit that directly results from a decision 
or act made by an Indemnitee while performing the duties and functions of his or her position. 

 
4. GOOD FAITH.  This Resolution is intended to evidence the District’s support of 

Indemnitees who perform acts and render decisions in the good faith performance of their duties and 
functions. The District will neither support nor defend those actions or omissions committed by an 
individual outside the scope of his or her office or committed in bad faith or with malicious purpose or in a 
manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property. By adoption of this 
Resolution, the Indemnitee(s) in question are each presumed to have acted within the scope of his or her 
office and are presumed to be acting in good faith, without a malicious purpose and not in a manner 
exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety or property. The District’s Board of 
Supervisors may overcome this presumption only by unanimous vote of those participating and voting, in 
accordance with Section 7 herein. 

 
5. ADVERSE FINDING.  In the event that the District has expended funds to provide an 

attorney to defend an Indemnitee who is found to be personally liable by virtue of actions outside the scope 
of his or her employment or function, or is found to have acted in bad faith, with malicious purpose, or in 
a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property, the individual shall 
be required to reimburse the District for funds so expended. The District may recover such funds in a civil 
action against such individual. 

 
6. PAYMENT.  The District agrees to pay any final judgment, including damages, fines, 

penalties or other damages, costs, and attorneys’ fees and costs, arising from any complaint for damages or 
injuries suffered as a result of any action or omission of action of any Indemnitee as described in Section 
111.07, Florida Statutes, subject to the limitations and exclusions set forth in this Resolution. If the action 
arises under Section 768.28, Florida Statues, as a tort claim, the limitations and provisions of that section 
governing payment shall apply. If the action is a civil rights action arising under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, or 
similar federal statutes, payment for the full amount of judgment may be made unless the individual has 
been determined in the final judgment to have caused the harm intentionally. The District agrees to pay any 
compromise or settlement of any claim or litigation described in this paragraph, provided, however, that 
the District determines such compromise or settlement to be in the District’s best interest. 

 
7. REBUTTAL OF GOOD FAITH PRESUMPTION.  To rebut the presumption of the 

automatic payment of judgments or provision of legal representation pursuant to this Resolution, at least 
one of the following determinations shall be made by a unanimous decision of the District’s Board of 
Supervisors participating and voting: 
 

a. The actions of the Indemnitee were outside the scope of his or her duties and authority; or 
 
b. The acts or omissions of the Indemnitee constituted bad faith, malicious purpose, 

intentional infliction of harm or were done in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful 
disregard of human rights, safety or property; or 

 
c. The Indemnitee received financial profit or advantage to which he or she was not legally 

entitled. 
 

8. PROCEDURE.  To ensure the provision of legal representation pursuant to this 
Resolution, the following must be met: 

 
a.  A copy of the summons, complaint, notice, demand letter or other document or pleading in 

the action, or a letter setting forth the substance of any claim or complaint, must be 

75



4904-9082-6371.1  

delivered to the District Chairman, Vice Chairman, District Manager or District Counsel 
within thirty (30) calendar days after actual receipt of any such document together with a 
specific request in writing that the District defend or provide representation for the 
Indemnitee; and 

 
b. The Indemnitee must cooperate continuously and fully with the District in the defense of 

the action. 
 

9. LIMITATIONS.  Any indemnification, legal defense or other protection provided 
pursuant to this representation shall not extend to: 
 

a. Consulting or other outside professional or business activities for which the Indemnitee 
received financial or other material compensation, which are outside the scope of his or her 
District duties and authority; and 

 
b. Any independent contractor for whom defense or indemnification is not authorized 

pursuant to Section 1(b) of this Resolution, unless the Board votes to authorize such 
indemnification, legal defense, or other protection; and  

 
c. Any fine, penalty or other punishment imposed as a result of conviction for a criminal 

offense, and any legal fees and costs incurred to defend criminal prosecution in which a 
conviction is obtained; and 

 
d. Claims brought against the Indemnitee by the District’s Board of Supervisors; and 
 
e. Any indemnification or defense prohibited by law. 
 

10. RETENTION OF COUNSEL.  In the event legal representation or defense is provided 
pursuant to this Resolution, the Indemnitee may either: 
 

a. Retain legal counsel appointed by the District, in which case legal counsel shall be paid 
directly by the District; or 

 
b. Retain legal counsel chosen by the Indemnitee, in which case the District shall have the 

right to:  
 

i. Approve, in advance, any agreement for legal fees or disbursements; and  
 
ii. Pay all or part of the legal fees, costs and other disbursements and to set a maximum 

for legal fees, costs and other disbursements; and 
 
iii. Direct the defense and settle or compromise the action or claim; and 
 
iv. Reduce or offset any monies that may be payable by the District by any  

court costs or attorneys' fees awarded to the Indemnitee. 
 

11. NO ENLARGEMENT OF RIGHTS.  The benefits of the Policy adopted in this 
Resolution shall not enlarge the rights that would have been available to any third-party plaintiff or claimant 
in the absence of this Policy. 

 
12. HEIRS AND REPRESENTATIVES.  To the extent permitted by law, this Policy shall 

inure to the benefit of the heirs, personal representatives and estate of the Board member and/or officer. 
 

76



4904-9082-6371.1  

13. MODIFICATIONS.  The District reserves the right to change, modify or withdraw this 
Resolution in its sole discretion, except as to actions, demand or other claims based on acts or omissions 
that occurred before the effective change, modification or withdrawal of this Resolution. 

 
14. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall be effective as of its adoption on the date 

listed below and shall apply to any acts or omissions occurring after that date. Furthermore, upon its passage 
this Resolution supersedes any Policy previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY  
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 10 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

77



4925-7297-0627.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-03 
 

A RESOLUTION SETTING FORTH THE POLICY OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 11 
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS WITH REGARD TO THE SUPPORT 
AND LEGAL DEFENSE OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS AND 
DISTRICT OFFICERS AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) and the officers and staff of the Tradition 

Community Development District No. 11 (the “District”) are constantly presented with the necessity for 
making decisions regarding various phases of District policy and management; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is absolutely essential to the effective operation of the District that such decisions 
be made in an environment where the threat of personal liability for the Board and its officers and staff is 
maintained at a minimum; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board wishes to formalize a policy with regard to the support and legal protection 
of the Board and its officers and staff (the “Policy”) so as to reduce the threat of personal liability to such 
individuals and allow for an effective decision-making environment. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 11 THAT: 

 
1.      INDEMNITEES.  As set forth in this Resolution, the District, in accordance with Florida 

law, agrees that the following Board members, officers and staff (together, the “Indemnitees”) of the 
District shall be provided the benefit of the indemnification, support and legal defense provisions provided 
in this Resolution: 

 
a. All members of the Board of Supervisors; and 
 
b. Secretary and Assistant Secretaries, Treasurer and Assistant Treasurers, and other District 

officers, as well as District Staff (e.g., the District Manager, the District Engineer, and the 
District Counsel). 

 
2. SCOPE OF ACTIONS.  As set forth in this Resolution and in accordance with Sections 

111.07 and 768.28, Florida Statutes, the District hereby agrees to provide legal representation to defend any 
and all civil actions of any kind arising from a complaint for damages or injuries suffered as a result of any 
action or omission of action of all Indemnitees, present or former, arising out of and in the scope of his or 
her employment or function, unless, in the case of a tort action, the Indemnitee acted in bad faith, with 
malicious purpose, or in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or 
property. Defense of such civil actions includes, but is not limited to, any civil rights lawsuit seeking relief 
personally against any Indemnitee for an act or omission under color of state law, custom or usage, wherein 
it is alleged that such Indemnitee has deprived another person of rights secured under the Federal 
Constitution or laws, including, by way of example, actions under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 or other federal statute. 
The District hereby further agrees to provide legal representation to defend against any other litigation 
arising against an Indemnitee from the performance of their official duties while serving a public purpose, 
including civil and administrative actions as permitted by law, and criminal actions only until conviction, 
as permitted by law. By these provisions, the District does not waive any immunity from liability or limited 
waiver of such immunity as granted under Florida law. Rather, the District is stating that to the extent the 
State does not through its laws protect the Board and its officers from liability, the District is committed to 
doing so to the extent described in this Resolution and as permitted by law. 

78



4925-7297-0627.1  

 
3. INSURANCE.  The District may insure itself in order to cover all reasonable costs and 

fees directly arising out of or in connection with any legal claim or suit that directly results from a decision 
or act made by an Indemnitee while performing the duties and functions of his or her position. 

 
4. GOOD FAITH.  This Resolution is intended to evidence the District’s support of 

Indemnitees who perform acts and render decisions in the good faith performance of their duties and 
functions. The District will neither support nor defend those actions or omissions committed by an 
individual outside the scope of his or her office or committed in bad faith or with malicious purpose or in a 
manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property. By adoption of this 
Resolution, the Indemnitee(s) in question are each presumed to have acted within the scope of his or her 
office and are presumed to be acting in good faith, without a malicious purpose and not in a manner 
exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety or property. The District’s Board of 
Supervisors may overcome this presumption only by unanimous vote of those participating and voting, in 
accordance with Section 7 herein. 

 
5. ADVERSE FINDING.  In the event that the District has expended funds to provide an 

attorney to defend an Indemnitee who is found to be personally liable by virtue of actions outside the scope 
of his or her employment or function, or is found to have acted in bad faith, with malicious purpose, or in 
a manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, safety, or property, the individual shall 
be required to reimburse the District for funds so expended. The District may recover such funds in a civil 
action against such individual. 

 
6. PAYMENT.  The District agrees to pay any final judgment, including damages, fines, 

penalties or other damages, costs, and attorneys’ fees and costs, arising from any complaint for damages or 
injuries suffered as a result of any action or omission of action of any Indemnitee as described in Section 
111.07, Florida Statutes, subject to the limitations and exclusions set forth in this Resolution. If the action 
arises under Section 768.28, Florida Statues, as a tort claim, the limitations and provisions of that section 
governing payment shall apply. If the action is a civil rights action arising under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, or 
similar federal statutes, payment for the full amount of judgment may be made unless the individual has 
been determined in the final judgment to have caused the harm intentionally. The District agrees to pay any 
compromise or settlement of any claim or litigation described in this paragraph, provided, however, that 
the District determines such compromise or settlement to be in the District’s best interest. 

 
7. REBUTTAL OF GOOD FAITH PRESUMPTION.  To rebut the presumption of the 

automatic payment of judgments or provision of legal representation pursuant to this Resolution, at least 
one of the following determinations shall be made by a unanimous decision of the District’s Board of 
Supervisors participating and voting: 
 

a. The actions of the Indemnitee were outside the scope of his or her duties and authority; or 
 
b. The acts or omissions of the Indemnitee constituted bad faith, malicious purpose, 

intentional infliction of harm or were done in a manner exhibiting wanton and willful 
disregard of human rights, safety or property; or 

 
c. The Indemnitee received financial profit or advantage to which he or she was not legally 

entitled. 
 

8. PROCEDURE.  To ensure the provision of legal representation pursuant to this 
Resolution, the following must be met: 

 
a.  A copy of the summons, complaint, notice, demand letter or other document or pleading in 

the action, or a letter setting forth the substance of any claim or complaint, must be 

79



4925-7297-0627.1  

delivered to the District Chairman, Vice Chairman, District Manager or District Counsel 
within thirty (30) calendar days after actual receipt of any such document together with a 
specific request in writing that the District defend or provide representation for the 
Indemnitee; and 

 
b. The Indemnitee must cooperate continuously and fully with the District in the defense of 

the action. 
 

9. LIMITATIONS.  Any indemnification, legal defense or other protection provided 
pursuant to this representation shall not extend to: 
 

a. Consulting or other outside professional or business activities for which the Indemnitee 
received financial or other material compensation, which are outside the scope of his or her 
District duties and authority; and 

 
b. Any independent contractor for whom defense or indemnification is not authorized 

pursuant to Section 1(b) of this Resolution, unless the Board votes to authorize such 
indemnification, legal defense, or other protection; and  

 
c. Any fine, penalty or other punishment imposed as a result of conviction for a criminal 

offense, and any legal fees and costs incurred to defend criminal prosecution in which a 
conviction is obtained; and 

 
d. Claims brought against the Indemnitee by the District’s Board of Supervisors; and 
 
e. Any indemnification or defense prohibited by law. 
 

10. RETENTION OF COUNSEL.  In the event legal representation or defense is provided 
pursuant to this Resolution, the Indemnitee may either: 
 

a. Retain legal counsel appointed by the District, in which case legal counsel shall be paid 
directly by the District; or 

 
b. Retain legal counsel chosen by the Indemnitee, in which case the District shall have the 

right to:  
 

i. Approve, in advance, any agreement for legal fees or disbursements; and  
 
ii. Pay all or part of the legal fees, costs and other disbursements and to set a maximum 

for legal fees, costs and other disbursements; and 
 
iii. Direct the defense and settle or compromise the action or claim; and 
 
iv. Reduce or offset any monies that may be payable by the District by any  

court costs or attorneys' fees awarded to the Indemnitee. 
 

11. NO ENLARGEMENT OF RIGHTS.  The benefits of the Policy adopted in this 
Resolution shall not enlarge the rights that would have been available to any third-party plaintiff or claimant 
in the absence of this Policy. 

 
12. HEIRS AND REPRESENTATIVES.  To the extent permitted by law, this Policy shall 

inure to the benefit of the heirs, personal representatives and estate of the Board member and/or officer. 
 

80



4925-7297-0627.1  

13. MODIFICATIONS.  The District reserves the right to change, modify or withdraw this 
Resolution in its sole discretion, except as to actions, demand or other claims based on acts or omissions 
that occurred before the effective change, modification or withdrawal of this Resolution. 

 
14. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall be effective as of its adoption on the date 

listed below and shall apply to any acts or omissions occurring after that date. Furthermore, upon its passage 
this Resolution supersedes any Policy previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY  
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 11 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

81



Kutak Rock LLP 

107 West College Avenue, Tallahassee, FL 32301-7707 

office 850.692.7300 

4 

MEMORANDUM 
FROM: Kutak Rock LLP  

TO: Board of Supervisors 

DATE: January 7, 2026 

Subject: Resolution Authorizing Chair & Vice Chair to Execute Plats, Permits & Conveyances 

Staff Recommendation 

Staff recommends the Board adopt the Resolution Authorizing Chair & Vice Chair to Execute 
Plats, Permits & Conveyances. 

General Information 

This Resolution authorizes the Chairman or Vice Chairman to execute real estate documents on 
behalf of the District in furtherance of the District’s capital improvement plan. 

District Legal Counsel Review 

The District’s attorneys prepared by this Resolution. 

Funding Review 

This Resolution is not expected to affect the District’s financial condition. 

82



4902-5135-9093.1  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-04 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1 GRANTING THE CHAIR 
AND VICE CHAIR THE AUTHORITY TO EXECUTE DEDICATION 
DOCUMENTS, PLATS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS RELATED TO THE 
DEVELOPMENT OF THE DISTRICT’S IMPROVEMENTS; GRANTING THE 
DISTRICT MANAGER AUTHORITY TO TAKE ACTION REGARDING 
PERMITS; APPROVING THE SCOPE AND TERMS OF SUCH 
AUTHORIZATION; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 1 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being situated 
entirely within St. Lucie County, Florida; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Chapter 189, Florida Statutes, and the Act authorize the District to construct, 
install, operate, and/or maintain systems and facilities for certain public infrastructure improvements; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District has adopted capital improvement plan, as may be amended and/or 
supplemented (the “Engineer’s Report”), which sets forth the scope of the District’s capital 
improvement plan and the improvements which are to be constructed therewith (the “Improvements”); 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, in connection with the development of the Improvements in accordance with the 
Engineer’s Report, which includes, but is not limited to, obtaining all necessary permits and approvals 
from state, federal and local governments and agencies for the construction and/or operation of the 
Improvements (the “Permits”), the District is required, from time to time, to accept, convey and dedicate 
certain interests in real and personal property, including, but not limited to easements and plat dedications 
(the “Plats and Dedications”); and 

 
 WHEREAS, to facilitate the efficient development of the Improvements, the District desires to 
authorize the Chair and Vice Chair to approve and execute the Plats and Dedications and authorize the 
District Manager to execute and submit paperwork necessary to apply for and obtain Permits necessary to 
finalize the development of the District’s capital improvement plan (the “Development Authority”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the authority granted in Section 2 herein (the "Development Authority") shall be 
subject to the District Engineer and District Counsel agreeing that each such proposed Permit, Plat or 
Dedication is legal, consistent with the District’s improvement plan and necessary for the development of 
the Improvements; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors finds that granting the Development Authority to the 
Chair, Vice Chair, and District Manager, as outlined herein, is in the best interests of the District so that 
the development of the Improvements may proceed expeditiously, subject to the terms and limitations 
imposed by this Resolution. 

 

83



4902-5135-9093.1  

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1: 

 
 SECTION 1. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS.  The recitals so stated are true and 
correct and by this reference are incorporated into and form a material part of this Resolution. 
 
 SECTION 2. DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY.  The Chair and Vice Chair of the District’s 
Board of Supervisors is hereby authorized to sign, accept or execute Plats and Dedications as defined 
above.  The District Manager is hereby authorized to sign, accept or execute documents needed to apply 
for and obtain Permits, as defined above, necessary to finalize the development of the District’s capital 
improvement plan outlined in the relevant Engineer’s Report. Such authority shall be subject to the 
District Engineer and District Counsel’s review and approval. 
 
 SECTION 3. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or 
invalid, the other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
 SECTION 4. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect upon its passage and 
shall remain in effect until rescinded or repealed by subsequent resolution of the Board. Furthermore, 
upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any resolution prescribing a policy relative to the 
Development Authority previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026. 

 
Attest: TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1 
 

________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chair, Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

84



4919-5358-9635.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-04 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 GRANTING THE CHAIR 
AND VICE CHAIR THE AUTHORITY TO EXECUTE DEDICATION 
DOCUMENTS, PLATS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS RELATED TO THE 
DEVELOPMENT OF THE DISTRICT’S IMPROVEMENTS; GRANTING THE 
DISTRICT MANAGER AUTHORITY TO TAKE ACTION REGARDING 
PERMITS; APPROVING THE SCOPE AND TERMS OF SUCH 
AUTHORIZATION; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 2 (the “District”) is a local unit of 
special-purpose government created and existing pursuant Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being situated 
entirely within St. Lucie County, Florida; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Chapter 189, Florida Statutes, and the Act authorize the District to construct, install, 
operate, and/or maintain systems and facilities for certain public infrastructure improvements; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District has adopted capital improvement plan, as may be amended and/or 
supplemented (the “Engineer’s Report”), which sets forth the scope of the District’s capital improvement 
plan and the improvements which are to be constructed therewith (the “Improvements”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, in connection with the development of the Improvements in accordance with the 
Engineer’s Report, which includes, but is not limited to, obtaining all necessary permits and approvals from 
state, federal and local governments and agencies for the construction and/or operation of the Improvements 
(the “Permits”), the District is required, from time to time, to accept, convey and dedicate certain interests 
in real and personal property, including, but not limited to easements and plat dedications (the “Plats and 
Dedications”); and 

 
 WHEREAS, to facilitate the efficient development of the Improvements, the District desires to 
authorize the Chair and Vice Chair to approve and execute the Plats and Dedications and authorize the 
District Manager to execute and submit paperwork necessary to apply for and obtain Permits necessary to 
finalize the development of the District’s capital improvement plan (the “Development Authority”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the authority granted in Section 2 herein (the "Development Authority") shall be 
subject to the District Engineer and District Counsel agreeing that each such proposed Permit, Plat or 
Dedication is legal, consistent with the District’s improvement plan and necessary for the development of 
the Improvements; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors finds that granting the Development Authority to the Chair, 
Vice Chair, and District Manager, as outlined herein, is in the best interests of the District so that the 
development of the Improvements may proceed expeditiously, subject to the terms and limitations imposed 
by this Resolution. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2: 

 
 SECTION 1. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS.  The recitals so stated are true and correct 
and by this reference are incorporated into and form a material part of this Resolution. 
 
 SECTION 2. DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY.  The Chair and Vice Chair of the District’s 
Board of Supervisors is hereby authorized to sign, accept or execute Plats and Dedications as defined above.  

85



4919-5358-9635.1  

The District Manager is hereby authorized to sign, accept or execute documents needed to apply for and 
obtain Permits, as defined above, necessary to finalize the development of the District’s capital 
improvement plan outlined in the relevant Engineer’s Report. Such authority shall be subject to the District 
Engineer and District Counsel’s review and approval. 
 
 SECTION 3. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or 
invalid, the other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
 SECTION 4. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect upon its passage and shall 
remain in effect until rescinded or repealed by subsequent resolution of the Board. Furthermore, upon its 
passage this Resolution supersedes any resolution prescribing a policy relative to the Development 
Authority previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026. 

 
Attest: TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 
 

________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chair, Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

86



4898-2452-1603.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-04 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 3 GRANTING THE CHAIR 
AND VICE CHAIR THE AUTHORITY TO EXECUTE DEDICATION 
DOCUMENTS, PLATS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS RELATED TO THE 
DEVELOPMENT OF THE DISTRICT’S IMPROVEMENTS; GRANTING THE 
DISTRICT MANAGER AUTHORITY TO TAKE ACTION REGARDING 
PERMITS; APPROVING THE SCOPE AND TERMS OF SUCH 
AUTHORIZATION; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 3 (the “District”) is a local unit of 
special-purpose government created and existing pursuant Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being situated 
entirely within St. Lucie County, Florida; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Chapter 189, Florida Statutes, and the Act authorize the District to construct, install, 
operate, and/or maintain systems and facilities for certain public infrastructure improvements; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District has adopted capital improvement plan, as may be amended and/or 
supplemented (the “Engineer’s Report”), which sets forth the scope of the District’s capital improvement 
plan and the improvements which are to be constructed therewith (the “Improvements”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, in connection with the development of the Improvements in accordance with the 
Engineer’s Report, which includes, but is not limited to, obtaining all necessary permits and approvals from 
state, federal and local governments and agencies for the construction and/or operation of the Improvements 
(the “Permits”), the District is required, from time to time, to accept, convey and dedicate certain interests 
in real and personal property, including, but not limited to easements and plat dedications (the “Plats and 
Dedications”); and 

 
 WHEREAS, to facilitate the efficient development of the Improvements, the District desires to 
authorize the Chair and Vice Chair to approve and execute the Plats and Dedications and authorize the 
District Manager to execute and submit paperwork necessary to apply for and obtain Permits necessary to 
finalize the development of the District’s capital improvement plan (the “Development Authority”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the authority granted in Section 2 herein (the "Development Authority") shall be 
subject to the District Engineer and District Counsel agreeing that each such proposed Permit, Plat or 
Dedication is legal, consistent with the District’s improvement plan and necessary for the development of 
the Improvements; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors finds that granting the Development Authority to the Chair, 
Vice Chair, and District Manager, as outlined herein, is in the best interests of the District so that the 
development of the Improvements may proceed expeditiously, subject to the terms and limitations imposed 
by this Resolution. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 3: 

 
 SECTION 1. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS.  The recitals so stated are true and correct 
and by this reference are incorporated into and form a material part of this Resolution. 
 
 SECTION 2. DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY.  The Chair and Vice Chair of the District’s 
Board of Supervisors is hereby authorized to sign, accept or execute Plats and Dedications as defined above.  

87



4898-2452-1603.1  

The District Manager is hereby authorized to sign, accept or execute documents needed to apply for and 
obtain Permits, as defined above, necessary to finalize the development of the District’s capital 
improvement plan outlined in the relevant Engineer’s Report. Such authority shall be subject to the District 
Engineer and District Counsel’s review and approval. 
 
 SECTION 3. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or 
invalid, the other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
 SECTION 4. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect upon its passage and shall 
remain in effect until rescinded or repealed by subsequent resolution of the Board. Furthermore, upon its 
passage this Resolution supersedes any resolution prescribing a policy relative to the Development 
Authority previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026. 

 
Attest: TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 3 
 

________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chair, Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

88



4903-7974-2595.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-04 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 4 GRANTING THE CHAIR 
AND VICE CHAIR THE AUTHORITY TO EXECUTE DEDICATION 
DOCUMENTS, PLATS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS RELATED TO THE 
DEVELOPMENT OF THE DISTRICT’S IMPROVEMENTS; GRANTING THE 
DISTRICT MANAGER AUTHORITY TO TAKE ACTION REGARDING 
PERMITS; APPROVING THE SCOPE AND TERMS OF SUCH 
AUTHORIZATION; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 4 (the “District”) is a local unit of 
special-purpose government created and existing pursuant Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being situated 
entirely within St. Lucie County, Florida; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Chapter 189, Florida Statutes, and the Act authorize the District to construct, install, 
operate, and/or maintain systems and facilities for certain public infrastructure improvements; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District has adopted capital improvement plan, as may be amended and/or 
supplemented (the “Engineer’s Report”), which sets forth the scope of the District’s capital improvement 
plan and the improvements which are to be constructed therewith (the “Improvements”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, in connection with the development of the Improvements in accordance with the 
Engineer’s Report, which includes, but is not limited to, obtaining all necessary permits and approvals from 
state, federal and local governments and agencies for the construction and/or operation of the Improvements 
(the “Permits”), the District is required, from time to time, to accept, convey and dedicate certain interests 
in real and personal property, including, but not limited to easements and plat dedications (the “Plats and 
Dedications”); and 

 
 WHEREAS, to facilitate the efficient development of the Improvements, the District desires to 
authorize the Chair and Vice Chair to approve and execute the Plats and Dedications and authorize the 
District Manager to execute and submit paperwork necessary to apply for and obtain Permits necessary to 
finalize the development of the District’s capital improvement plan (the “Development Authority”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the authority granted in Section 2 herein (the "Development Authority") shall be 
subject to the District Engineer and District Counsel agreeing that each such proposed Permit, Plat or 
Dedication is legal, consistent with the District’s improvement plan and necessary for the development of 
the Improvements; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors finds that granting the Development Authority to the Chair, 
Vice Chair, and District Manager, as outlined herein, is in the best interests of the District so that the 
development of the Improvements may proceed expeditiously, subject to the terms and limitations imposed 
by this Resolution. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 4: 

 
 SECTION 1. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS.  The recitals so stated are true and correct 
and by this reference are incorporated into and form a material part of this Resolution. 
 
 SECTION 2. DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY.  The Chair and Vice Chair of the District’s 
Board of Supervisors is hereby authorized to sign, accept or execute Plats and Dedications as defined above.  

89



4903-7974-2595.1  

The District Manager is hereby authorized to sign, accept or execute documents needed to apply for and 
obtain Permits, as defined above, necessary to finalize the development of the District’s capital 
improvement plan outlined in the relevant Engineer’s Report. Such authority shall be subject to the District 
Engineer and District Counsel’s review and approval. 
 
 SECTION 3. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or 
invalid, the other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
 SECTION 4. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect upon its passage and shall 
remain in effect until rescinded or repealed by subsequent resolution of the Board. Furthermore, upon its 
passage this Resolution supersedes any resolution prescribing a policy relative to the Development 
Authority previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026. 

 
Attest: TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 4 
 

________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chair, Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

90



4901-9715-9555.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-04 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5 GRANTING THE CHAIR 
AND VICE CHAIR THE AUTHORITY TO EXECUTE DEDICATION 
DOCUMENTS, PLATS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS RELATED TO THE 
DEVELOPMENT OF THE DISTRICT’S IMPROVEMENTS; GRANTING THE 
DISTRICT MANAGER AUTHORITY TO TAKE ACTION REGARDING 
PERMITS; APPROVING THE SCOPE AND TERMS OF SUCH 
AUTHORIZATION; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 5 (the “District”) is a local unit of 
special-purpose government created and existing pursuant Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being situated 
entirely within St. Lucie County, Florida; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Chapter 189, Florida Statutes, and the Act authorize the District to construct, install, 
operate, and/or maintain systems and facilities for certain public infrastructure improvements; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District has adopted capital improvement plan, as may be amended and/or 
supplemented (the “Engineer’s Report”), which sets forth the scope of the District’s capital improvement 
plan and the improvements which are to be constructed therewith (the “Improvements”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, in connection with the development of the Improvements in accordance with the 
Engineer’s Report, which includes, but is not limited to, obtaining all necessary permits and approvals from 
state, federal and local governments and agencies for the construction and/or operation of the Improvements 
(the “Permits”), the District is required, from time to time, to accept, convey and dedicate certain interests 
in real and personal property, including, but not limited to easements and plat dedications (the “Plats and 
Dedications”); and 

 
 WHEREAS, to facilitate the efficient development of the Improvements, the District desires to 
authorize the Chair and Vice Chair to approve and execute the Plats and Dedications and authorize the 
District Manager to execute and submit paperwork necessary to apply for and obtain Permits necessary to 
finalize the development of the District’s capital improvement plan (the “Development Authority”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the authority granted in Section 2 herein (the "Development Authority") shall be 
subject to the District Engineer and District Counsel agreeing that each such proposed Permit, Plat or 
Dedication is legal, consistent with the District’s improvement plan and necessary for the development of 
the Improvements; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors finds that granting the Development Authority to the Chair, 
Vice Chair, and District Manager, as outlined herein, is in the best interests of the District so that the 
development of the Improvements may proceed expeditiously, subject to the terms and limitations imposed 
by this Resolution. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5: 

 
 SECTION 1. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS.  The recitals so stated are true and correct 
and by this reference are incorporated into and form a material part of this Resolution. 
 
 SECTION 2. DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY.  The Chair and Vice Chair of the District’s 
Board of Supervisors is hereby authorized to sign, accept or execute Plats and Dedications as defined above.  

91



4901-9715-9555.1  

The District Manager is hereby authorized to sign, accept or execute documents needed to apply for and 
obtain Permits, as defined above, necessary to finalize the development of the District’s capital 
improvement plan outlined in the relevant Engineer’s Report. Such authority shall be subject to the District 
Engineer and District Counsel’s review and approval. 
 
 SECTION 3. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or 
invalid, the other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
 SECTION 4. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect upon its passage and shall 
remain in effect until rescinded or repealed by subsequent resolution of the Board. Furthermore, upon its 
passage this Resolution supersedes any resolution prescribing a policy relative to the Development 
Authority previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026. 

 
Attest: TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5 
 

________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chair, Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

92



4936-3812-7235.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-04 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 6 GRANTING THE CHAIR 
AND VICE CHAIR THE AUTHORITY TO EXECUTE DEDICATION 
DOCUMENTS, PLATS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS RELATED TO THE 
DEVELOPMENT OF THE DISTRICT’S IMPROVEMENTS; GRANTING THE 
DISTRICT MANAGER AUTHORITY TO TAKE ACTION REGARDING 
PERMITS; APPROVING THE SCOPE AND TERMS OF SUCH 
AUTHORIZATION; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 6 (the “District”) is a local unit of 
special-purpose government created and existing pursuant Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being situated 
entirely within St. Lucie County, Florida; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Chapter 189, Florida Statutes, and the Act authorize the District to construct, install, 
operate, and/or maintain systems and facilities for certain public infrastructure improvements; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District has adopted capital improvement plan, as may be amended and/or 
supplemented (the “Engineer’s Report”), which sets forth the scope of the District’s capital improvement 
plan and the improvements which are to be constructed therewith (the “Improvements”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, in connection with the development of the Improvements in accordance with the 
Engineer’s Report, which includes, but is not limited to, obtaining all necessary permits and approvals from 
state, federal and local governments and agencies for the construction and/or operation of the Improvements 
(the “Permits”), the District is required, from time to time, to accept, convey and dedicate certain interests 
in real and personal property, including, but not limited to easements and plat dedications (the “Plats and 
Dedications”); and 

 
 WHEREAS, to facilitate the efficient development of the Improvements, the District desires to 
authorize the Chair and Vice Chair to approve and execute the Plats and Dedications and authorize the 
District Manager to execute and submit paperwork necessary to apply for and obtain Permits necessary to 
finalize the development of the District’s capital improvement plan (the “Development Authority”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the authority granted in Section 2 herein (the "Development Authority") shall be 
subject to the District Engineer and District Counsel agreeing that each such proposed Permit, Plat or 
Dedication is legal, consistent with the District’s improvement plan and necessary for the development of 
the Improvements; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors finds that granting the Development Authority to the Chair, 
Vice Chair, and District Manager, as outlined herein, is in the best interests of the District so that the 
development of the Improvements may proceed expeditiously, subject to the terms and limitations imposed 
by this Resolution. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 6: 

 
 SECTION 1. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS.  The recitals so stated are true and correct 
and by this reference are incorporated into and form a material part of this Resolution. 
 
 SECTION 2. DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY.  The Chair and Vice Chair of the District’s 
Board of Supervisors is hereby authorized to sign, accept or execute Plats and Dedications as defined above.  

93



4936-3812-7235.1  

The District Manager is hereby authorized to sign, accept or execute documents needed to apply for and 
obtain Permits, as defined above, necessary to finalize the development of the District’s capital 
improvement plan outlined in the relevant Engineer’s Report. Such authority shall be subject to the District 
Engineer and District Counsel’s review and approval. 
 
 SECTION 3. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or 
invalid, the other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
 SECTION 4. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect upon its passage and shall 
remain in effect until rescinded or repealed by subsequent resolution of the Board. Furthermore, upon its 
passage this Resolution supersedes any resolution prescribing a policy relative to the Development 
Authority previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026. 

 
Attest: TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 6 
 

________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chair, Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

94



4905-1881-0243.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-04 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 7 GRANTING THE CHAIR 
AND VICE CHAIR THE AUTHORITY TO EXECUTE DEDICATION 
DOCUMENTS, PLATS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS RELATED TO THE 
DEVELOPMENT OF THE DISTRICT’S IMPROVEMENTS; GRANTING THE 
DISTRICT MANAGER AUTHORITY TO TAKE ACTION REGARDING 
PERMITS; APPROVING THE SCOPE AND TERMS OF SUCH 
AUTHORIZATION; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 7 (the “District”) is a local unit of 
special-purpose government created and existing pursuant Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being situated 
entirely within St. Lucie County, Florida; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Chapter 189, Florida Statutes, and the Act authorize the District to construct, install, 
operate, and/or maintain systems and facilities for certain public infrastructure improvements; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District has adopted capital improvement plan, as may be amended and/or 
supplemented (the “Engineer’s Report”), which sets forth the scope of the District’s capital improvement 
plan and the improvements which are to be constructed therewith (the “Improvements”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, in connection with the development of the Improvements in accordance with the 
Engineer’s Report, which includes, but is not limited to, obtaining all necessary permits and approvals from 
state, federal and local governments and agencies for the construction and/or operation of the Improvements 
(the “Permits”), the District is required, from time to time, to accept, convey and dedicate certain interests 
in real and personal property, including, but not limited to easements and plat dedications (the “Plats and 
Dedications”); and 

 
 WHEREAS, to facilitate the efficient development of the Improvements, the District desires to 
authorize the Chair and Vice Chair to approve and execute the Plats and Dedications and authorize the 
District Manager to execute and submit paperwork necessary to apply for and obtain Permits necessary to 
finalize the development of the District’s capital improvement plan (the “Development Authority”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the authority granted in Section 2 herein (the "Development Authority") shall be 
subject to the District Engineer and District Counsel agreeing that each such proposed Permit, Plat or 
Dedication is legal, consistent with the District’s improvement plan and necessary for the development of 
the Improvements; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors finds that granting the Development Authority to the Chair, 
Vice Chair, and District Manager, as outlined herein, is in the best interests of the District so that the 
development of the Improvements may proceed expeditiously, subject to the terms and limitations imposed 
by this Resolution. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 7: 

 
 SECTION 1. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS.  The recitals so stated are true and correct 
and by this reference are incorporated into and form a material part of this Resolution. 
 
 SECTION 2. DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY.  The Chair and Vice Chair of the District’s 
Board of Supervisors is hereby authorized to sign, accept or execute Plats and Dedications as defined above.  

95



4905-1881-0243.1  

The District Manager is hereby authorized to sign, accept or execute documents needed to apply for and 
obtain Permits, as defined above, necessary to finalize the development of the District’s capital 
improvement plan outlined in the relevant Engineer’s Report. Such authority shall be subject to the District 
Engineer and District Counsel’s review and approval. 
 
 SECTION 3. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or 
invalid, the other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
 SECTION 4. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect upon its passage and shall 
remain in effect until rescinded or repealed by subsequent resolution of the Board. Furthermore, upon its 
passage this Resolution supersedes any resolution prescribing a policy relative to the Development 
Authority previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026. 

 
Attest: TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 7 
 

________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chair, Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

96



4898-8297-9971.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-04 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 8 GRANTING THE CHAIR 
AND VICE CHAIR THE AUTHORITY TO EXECUTE DEDICATION 
DOCUMENTS, PLATS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS RELATED TO THE 
DEVELOPMENT OF THE DISTRICT’S IMPROVEMENTS; GRANTING THE 
DISTRICT MANAGER AUTHORITY TO TAKE ACTION REGARDING 
PERMITS; APPROVING THE SCOPE AND TERMS OF SUCH 
AUTHORIZATION; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 8 (the “District”) is a local unit of 
special-purpose government created and existing pursuant Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being situated 
entirely within St. Lucie County, Florida; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Chapter 189, Florida Statutes, and the Act authorize the District to construct, install, 
operate, and/or maintain systems and facilities for certain public infrastructure improvements; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District has adopted capital improvement plan, as may be amended and/or 
supplemented (the “Engineer’s Report”), which sets forth the scope of the District’s capital improvement 
plan and the improvements which are to be constructed therewith (the “Improvements”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, in connection with the development of the Improvements in accordance with the 
Engineer’s Report, which includes, but is not limited to, obtaining all necessary permits and approvals from 
state, federal and local governments and agencies for the construction and/or operation of the Improvements 
(the “Permits”), the District is required, from time to time, to accept, convey and dedicate certain interests 
in real and personal property, including, but not limited to easements and plat dedications (the “Plats and 
Dedications”); and 

 
 WHEREAS, to facilitate the efficient development of the Improvements, the District desires to 
authorize the Chair and Vice Chair to approve and execute the Plats and Dedications and authorize the 
District Manager to execute and submit paperwork necessary to apply for and obtain Permits necessary to 
finalize the development of the District’s capital improvement plan (the “Development Authority”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the authority granted in Section 2 herein (the "Development Authority") shall be 
subject to the District Engineer and District Counsel agreeing that each such proposed Permit, Plat or 
Dedication is legal, consistent with the District’s improvement plan and necessary for the development of 
the Improvements; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors finds that granting the Development Authority to the Chair, 
Vice Chair, and District Manager, as outlined herein, is in the best interests of the District so that the 
development of the Improvements may proceed expeditiously, subject to the terms and limitations imposed 
by this Resolution. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 8: 

 
 SECTION 1. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS.  The recitals so stated are true and correct 
and by this reference are incorporated into and form a material part of this Resolution. 
 
 SECTION 2. DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY.  The Chair and Vice Chair of the District’s 
Board of Supervisors is hereby authorized to sign, accept or execute Plats and Dedications as defined above.  

97



4898-8297-9971.1  

The District Manager is hereby authorized to sign, accept or execute documents needed to apply for and 
obtain Permits, as defined above, necessary to finalize the development of the District’s capital 
improvement plan outlined in the relevant Engineer’s Report. Such authority shall be subject to the District 
Engineer and District Counsel’s review and approval. 
 
 SECTION 3. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or 
invalid, the other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
 SECTION 4. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect upon its passage and shall 
remain in effect until rescinded or repealed by subsequent resolution of the Board. Furthermore, upon its 
passage this Resolution supersedes any resolution prescribing a policy relative to the Development 
Authority previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026. 

 
Attest: TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 8 
 

________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chair, Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

98



4933-4111-8083.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-04 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 9 GRANTING THE CHAIR 
AND VICE CHAIR THE AUTHORITY TO EXECUTE DEDICATION 
DOCUMENTS, PLATS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS RELATED TO THE 
DEVELOPMENT OF THE DISTRICT’S IMPROVEMENTS; GRANTING THE 
DISTRICT MANAGER AUTHORITY TO TAKE ACTION REGARDING 
PERMITS; APPROVING THE SCOPE AND TERMS OF SUCH 
AUTHORIZATION; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 9 (the “District”) is a local unit of 
special-purpose government created and existing pursuant Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being situated 
entirely within St. Lucie County, Florida; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Chapter 189, Florida Statutes, and the Act authorize the District to construct, install, 
operate, and/or maintain systems and facilities for certain public infrastructure improvements; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District has adopted capital improvement plan, as may be amended and/or 
supplemented (the “Engineer’s Report”), which sets forth the scope of the District’s capital improvement 
plan and the improvements which are to be constructed therewith (the “Improvements”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, in connection with the development of the Improvements in accordance with the 
Engineer’s Report, which includes, but is not limited to, obtaining all necessary permits and approvals from 
state, federal and local governments and agencies for the construction and/or operation of the Improvements 
(the “Permits”), the District is required, from time to time, to accept, convey and dedicate certain interests 
in real and personal property, including, but not limited to easements and plat dedications (the “Plats and 
Dedications”); and 

 
 WHEREAS, to facilitate the efficient development of the Improvements, the District desires to 
authorize the Chair and Vice Chair to approve and execute the Plats and Dedications and authorize the 
District Manager to execute and submit paperwork necessary to apply for and obtain Permits necessary to 
finalize the development of the District’s capital improvement plan (the “Development Authority”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the authority granted in Section 2 herein (the "Development Authority") shall be 
subject to the District Engineer and District Counsel agreeing that each such proposed Permit, Plat or 
Dedication is legal, consistent with the District’s improvement plan and necessary for the development of 
the Improvements; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors finds that granting the Development Authority to the Chair, 
Vice Chair, and District Manager, as outlined herein, is in the best interests of the District so that the 
development of the Improvements may proceed expeditiously, subject to the terms and limitations imposed 
by this Resolution. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 9: 

 
 SECTION 1. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS.  The recitals so stated are true and correct 
and by this reference are incorporated into and form a material part of this Resolution. 
 
 SECTION 2. DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY.  The Chair and Vice Chair of the District’s 
Board of Supervisors is hereby authorized to sign, accept or execute Plats and Dedications as defined above.  

99



4933-4111-8083.1  

The District Manager is hereby authorized to sign, accept or execute documents needed to apply for and 
obtain Permits, as defined above, necessary to finalize the development of the District’s capital 
improvement plan outlined in the relevant Engineer’s Report. Such authority shall be subject to the District 
Engineer and District Counsel’s review and approval. 
 
 SECTION 3. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or 
invalid, the other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
 SECTION 4. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect upon its passage and shall 
remain in effect until rescinded or repealed by subsequent resolution of the Board. Furthermore, upon its 
passage this Resolution supersedes any resolution prescribing a policy relative to the Development 
Authority previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026. 

 
Attest: TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 9 
 

________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chair, Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

100



4904-9082-6371.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-04 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 10 GRANTING THE CHAIR 
AND VICE CHAIR THE AUTHORITY TO EXECUTE DEDICATION 
DOCUMENTS, PLATS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS RELATED TO THE 
DEVELOPMENT OF THE DISTRICT’S IMPROVEMENTS; GRANTING THE 
DISTRICT MANAGER AUTHORITY TO TAKE ACTION REGARDING 
PERMITS; APPROVING THE SCOPE AND TERMS OF SUCH 
AUTHORIZATION; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 10 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being situated 
entirely within St. Lucie County, Florida; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Chapter 189, Florida Statutes, and the Act authorize the District to construct, install, 
operate, and/or maintain systems and facilities for certain public infrastructure improvements; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District has adopted capital improvement plan, as may be amended and/or 
supplemented (the “Engineer’s Report”), which sets forth the scope of the District’s capital improvement 
plan and the improvements which are to be constructed therewith (the “Improvements”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, in connection with the development of the Improvements in accordance with the 
Engineer’s Report, which includes, but is not limited to, obtaining all necessary permits and approvals from 
state, federal and local governments and agencies for the construction and/or operation of the Improvements 
(the “Permits”), the District is required, from time to time, to accept, convey and dedicate certain interests 
in real and personal property, including, but not limited to easements and plat dedications (the “Plats and 
Dedications”); and 

 
 WHEREAS, to facilitate the efficient development of the Improvements, the District desires to 
authorize the Chair and Vice Chair to approve and execute the Plats and Dedications and authorize the 
District Manager to execute and submit paperwork necessary to apply for and obtain Permits necessary to 
finalize the development of the District’s capital improvement plan (the “Development Authority”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the authority granted in Section 2 herein (the "Development Authority") shall be 
subject to the District Engineer and District Counsel agreeing that each such proposed Permit, Plat or 
Dedication is legal, consistent with the District’s improvement plan and necessary for the development of 
the Improvements; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors finds that granting the Development Authority to the Chair, 
Vice Chair, and District Manager, as outlined herein, is in the best interests of the District so that the 
development of the Improvements may proceed expeditiously, subject to the terms and limitations imposed 
by this Resolution. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 10: 

 
 SECTION 1. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS.  The recitals so stated are true and correct 
and by this reference are incorporated into and form a material part of this Resolution. 
 
 SECTION 2. DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY.  The Chair and Vice Chair of the District’s 
Board of Supervisors is hereby authorized to sign, accept or execute Plats and Dedications as defined above.  

101



4904-9082-6371.1  

The District Manager is hereby authorized to sign, accept or execute documents needed to apply for and 
obtain Permits, as defined above, necessary to finalize the development of the District’s capital 
improvement plan outlined in the relevant Engineer’s Report. Such authority shall be subject to the District 
Engineer and District Counsel’s review and approval. 
 
 SECTION 3. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or 
invalid, the other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
 SECTION 4. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect upon its passage and shall 
remain in effect until rescinded or repealed by subsequent resolution of the Board. Furthermore, upon its 
passage this Resolution supersedes any resolution prescribing a policy relative to the Development 
Authority previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026. 

 
Attest: TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 10 
 

________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chair, Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

102



4925-7297-0627.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-04 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 11 GRANTING THE CHAIR 
AND VICE CHAIR THE AUTHORITY TO EXECUTE DEDICATION 
DOCUMENTS, PLATS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS RELATED TO THE 
DEVELOPMENT OF THE DISTRICT’S IMPROVEMENTS; GRANTING THE 
DISTRICT MANAGER AUTHORITY TO TAKE ACTION REGARDING 
PERMITS; APPROVING THE SCOPE AND TERMS OF SUCH 
AUTHORIZATION; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 11 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being situated 
entirely within St. Lucie County, Florida; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Chapter 189, Florida Statutes, and the Act authorize the District to construct, install, 
operate, and/or maintain systems and facilities for certain public infrastructure improvements; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District has adopted capital improvement plan, as may be amended and/or 
supplemented (the “Engineer’s Report”), which sets forth the scope of the District’s capital improvement 
plan and the improvements which are to be constructed therewith (the “Improvements”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, in connection with the development of the Improvements in accordance with the 
Engineer’s Report, which includes, but is not limited to, obtaining all necessary permits and approvals from 
state, federal and local governments and agencies for the construction and/or operation of the Improvements 
(the “Permits”), the District is required, from time to time, to accept, convey and dedicate certain interests 
in real and personal property, including, but not limited to easements and plat dedications (the “Plats and 
Dedications”); and 

 
 WHEREAS, to facilitate the efficient development of the Improvements, the District desires to 
authorize the Chair and Vice Chair to approve and execute the Plats and Dedications and authorize the 
District Manager to execute and submit paperwork necessary to apply for and obtain Permits necessary to 
finalize the development of the District’s capital improvement plan (the “Development Authority”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the authority granted in Section 2 herein (the "Development Authority") shall be 
subject to the District Engineer and District Counsel agreeing that each such proposed Permit, Plat or 
Dedication is legal, consistent with the District’s improvement plan and necessary for the development of 
the Improvements; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors finds that granting the Development Authority to the Chair, 
Vice Chair, and District Manager, as outlined herein, is in the best interests of the District so that the 
development of the Improvements may proceed expeditiously, subject to the terms and limitations imposed 
by this Resolution. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 11: 

 
 SECTION 1. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS.  The recitals so stated are true and correct 
and by this reference are incorporated into and form a material part of this Resolution. 
 
 SECTION 2. DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY.  The Chair and Vice Chair of the District’s 
Board of Supervisors is hereby authorized to sign, accept or execute Plats and Dedications as defined above.  

103



4925-7297-0627.1  

The District Manager is hereby authorized to sign, accept or execute documents needed to apply for and 
obtain Permits, as defined above, necessary to finalize the development of the District’s capital 
improvement plan outlined in the relevant Engineer’s Report. Such authority shall be subject to the District 
Engineer and District Counsel’s review and approval. 
 
 SECTION 3. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or 
invalid, the other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
 SECTION 4. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect upon its passage and shall 
remain in effect until rescinded or repealed by subsequent resolution of the Board. Furthermore, upon its 
passage this Resolution supersedes any resolution prescribing a policy relative to the Development 
Authority previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026. 

 
Attest: TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 11 
 

________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary Chair, Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

104



Kutak Rock LLP 

107 West College Avenue, Tallahassee, FL 32301-7707 

office 850.692.7300 

 
 

  
 

5 
 

MEMORANDUM 
FROM: Kutak Rock LLP  
 
TO:  Board of Supervisors 
 
DATE: January 7, 2026 
 
 
Subject: Resolution Designating Public Comment Period 

 

Staff Recommendation 

Staff recommends the Board adopt the Resolution Designating Public Comment Period. 

 

General Information 

Florida’s “Opportunity to be Heard” Act (Ch. 286) requires the public have the opportunity to 
participate in the District’s decision-making process by being able to comment on District 
agenda items before the Board takes action.  This Resolution sets the procedure for the public 
comment period in compliance with Florida law generally providing that there should be at least 
one (1) public comment period afforded to the public at the beginning of the Board meeting, 
establishing minimal procedure for public wishing to participate during those comment periods,  
limiting the comment period to three (3) minutes, and requiring a level of public decorum.  

 

District Legal Counsel Review 

The District’s attorneys prepared by this Resolution. 

 

Funding Review 

This Resolution is not expected to affect the District’s financial condition. 

 

 

105



4902-5135-9093.1  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-05 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1 
PROVIDING FOR THE PUBLIC’S OPPORTUNITY TO BE 
HEARD; DESIGNATING PUBLIC COMMENT PERIODS; 
DESIGNATING A PROCEDURE TO IDENTIFY INDIVIDUALS 
SEEKING TO BE HEARD; ADDRESSING PUBLIC DECORUM; 
ADDRESSING EXCEPTIONS; AND PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 1 (the “District”) is a local 

unit of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  
 
WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions as may be 

necessary for the conduct of District business; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, requires that members of the public be given a 
reasonable opportunity to be heard on a proposition before a board or commission; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, sets forth guidelines for rules and policies that 
govern the public’s opportunity to be heard at a public meeting; and 
 

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) finds that it is in the best interests 
of the District to adopt by resolution a public comment policy (the “Public Comment Policy”) for 
immediate use and application. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1: 
 

1. DESIGNATING PUBLIC COMMENT PERIODS.  The District’s Chairperson, his or 
her designee, or such other person conducting a District meeting (the “Presiding Officer”), shall ensure 
that there is at least one period of time (the “Public Comment Period”) in the District’s meeting agenda 
whereby the public has an opportunity to be heard on propositions before the Board, as follows:   
 

a) An initial Public Comment Period shall be provided at the start of each Board 
meeting before consideration of any propositions by the Board. In the event there 
are propositions that come before the Board that are not listed on the agenda, the 
Presiding Officer shall announce a Public Comment Period on such propositions 
prior to the Board voting on the matter. 
 

106



4902-5135-9093.1  

b) Speakers shall be permitted to address any agenda item or non-agenda matter(s) 
of personal or general concern, during the initial Public Comment Period. 
 

c) Individuals wishing to make a public comment are limited to three (3) minutes 
per person.  Potential speakers may not assign their three (3) minutes to extend 
another speaker’s time. 
 

d) The Presiding Officer may extend or reduce the time periods set forth herein in 
order to facilitate orderly and efficient District business; provided, however, that 
a reasonable opportunity for public comment shall be provided consistent with 
the requirements of Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes.  The Presiding Officer 
may also elect to set and announce additional Public Comment Periods if he or 
she deems it appropriate. 

 
2. DESIGNATING A PROCEDURE TO IDENTIFY INDIVIDUALS SEEKING TO 

BE HEARD. Unless otherwise directed and declared by the Presiding Officer, individuals seeking to be 
heard on propositions before the Board shall identify themselves by a show of hands at the beginning of 
each Public Comment Period, as announced by the Presiding Officer.  Alternatively, in the event that 
public attendance is high, and/or if otherwise in the best interests of the District in order to facilitate 
efficient and orderly District business, the Presiding Officer may require individuals to complete speaker 
cards that include the individual’s name, address, the proposition on which they wish to be heard, the 
individual’s position on the proposition (i.e., “for,” “against,” or “undecided”), and if appropriate, to 
indicate the designation of a representative to speak for the individual or the individual’s group.  In the 
event large groups of individuals desire to speak, the Presiding Officer may require each group to 
designate a representative to speak on behalf of such group.  Any attorney hired to represent an individual 
or company’s interests before the Board shall notify the Board of such representation prior to providing 
any public comment.     

 
Sections 1 and 2 herein shall be deemed to apply only to District Board meetings, but the 

Presiding Officer of a District workshop in his or her discretion may elect to apply such Sections to 
District workshops. 

 
3. PUBLIC DECORUM.  The following policies govern public decorum at public 

meetings and workshops: 
 

a) Each person addressing the Board shall proceed to the place assigned for 
speaking and should state his or her name and address in an audible tone of voice 
for the public record.   
 

b) All remarks shall be addressed to the Board as a body and not to any member 
thereof or to any staff member. No person other than a Board Supervisor or 
District staff member shall be permitted to enter into any discussion with an 
individual speaker while he or she has the floor, without the permission of the 
Presiding Officer.  
 

c) Nothing herein shall be construed to prohibit the Presiding Officer from 
maintaining orderly conduct and proper decorum in a public meeting.  Speakers 
shall refrain from disruptive behavior, and from making vulgar or threatening 
remarks. Speakers shall refrain from launching personal attacks against any 
Board Supervisor, District staff member, or member of the public. The Presiding 
Officer shall have the discretion to remove any speaker who disregards these 
policies from the meeting. 
 

107



4902-5135-9093.1  

d) In the case that any person is declared out of order by the Presiding Officer and 
ordered expelled, and does not immediately leave the meeting facilities, the 
following steps may be taken: 

 
i. The Presiding Officer may declare a recess. 

ii. The Presiding Officer may contact the local law enforcement authority. 
iii. In case the person does not remove himself or herself from the meeting, 

the Presiding Officer may request that he or she be placed under arrest by 
local law enforcement authorities for violation of Section 871.01, Florida 
Statutes, or other applicable law. 

 
4. EXCEPTIONS.  The Board recognizes and may apply all applicable exceptions to 

Section 286.0114, including those set forth in Section 286.0114(3) and other applicable law.  
Additionally, the Presiding Officer may alter the procedures set forth in this Public Comment Policy for 
public hearings and other special proceedings that may require a different procedure under Florida law.  

  
5. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the 

other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 

6. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall 
remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed.  Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes 
any Public Comment Policy previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 
ATTEST:      TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1 
 
 
 
_________________________________  ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant     Chairperson/Vice Chairperson  

Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

108



4919-5358-9635.1  

 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-05 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 
PROVIDING FOR THE PUBLIC’S OPPORTUNITY TO BE 
HEARD; DESIGNATING PUBLIC COMMENT PERIODS; 
DESIGNATING A PROCEDURE TO IDENTIFY INDIVIDUALS 
SEEKING TO BE HEARD; ADDRESSING PUBLIC DECORUM; 
ADDRESSING EXCEPTIONS; AND PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 2 (the “District”) is a local unit 

of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  
 
WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions as may be 

necessary for the conduct of District business; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, requires that members of the public be given a 
reasonable opportunity to be heard on a proposition before a board or commission; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, sets forth guidelines for rules and policies that 
govern the public’s opportunity to be heard at a public meeting; and 
 

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) finds that it is in the best interests 
of the District to adopt by resolution a public comment policy (the “Public Comment Policy”) for 
immediate use and application. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2: 
 

1. DESIGNATING PUBLIC COMMENT PERIODS.  The District’s Chairperson, his or 
her designee, or such other person conducting a District meeting (the “Presiding Officer”), shall ensure 
that there is at least one period of time (the “Public Comment Period”) in the District’s meeting agenda 
whereby the public has an opportunity to be heard on propositions before the Board, as follows:   
 

a) An initial Public Comment Period shall be provided at the start of each Board 
meeting before consideration of any propositions by the Board. In the event there 
are propositions that come before the Board that are not listed on the agenda, the 
Presiding Officer shall announce a Public Comment Period on such propositions 
prior to the Board voting on the matter. 
 

b) Speakers shall be permitted to address any agenda item or non-agenda matter(s) of 
personal or general concern, during the initial Public Comment Period. 
 

c) Individuals wishing to make a public comment are limited to three (3) minutes per 
person.  Potential speakers may not assign their three (3) minutes to extend another 
speaker’s time. 
 

d) The Presiding Officer may extend or reduce the time periods set forth herein in 
order to facilitate orderly and efficient District business; provided, however, that a 

109



4919-5358-9635.1  

reasonable opportunity for public comment shall be provided consistent with the 
requirements of Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes.  The Presiding Officer may 
also elect to set and announce additional Public Comment Periods if he or she 
deems it appropriate. 

 
2. DESIGNATING A PROCEDURE TO IDENTIFY INDIVIDUALS SEEKING TO 

BE HEARD. Unless otherwise directed and declared by the Presiding Officer, individuals seeking to be 
heard on propositions before the Board shall identify themselves by a show of hands at the beginning of 
each Public Comment Period, as announced by the Presiding Officer.  Alternatively, in the event that public 
attendance is high, and/or if otherwise in the best interests of the District in order to facilitate efficient and 
orderly District business, the Presiding Officer may require individuals to complete speaker cards that 
include the individual’s name, address, the proposition on which they wish to be heard, the individual’s 
position on the proposition (i.e., “for,” “against,” or “undecided”), and if appropriate, to indicate the 
designation of a representative to speak for the individual or the individual’s group.  In the event large 
groups of individuals desire to speak, the Presiding Officer may require each group to designate a 
representative to speak on behalf of such group.  Any attorney hired to represent an individual or company’s 
interests before the Board shall notify the Board of such representation prior to providing any public 
comment.     

 
Sections 1 and 2 herein shall be deemed to apply only to District Board meetings, but the Presiding 

Officer of a District workshop in his or her discretion may elect to apply such Sections to District 
workshops. 

 
3. PUBLIC DECORUM.  The following policies govern public decorum at public meetings 

and workshops: 
 

a) Each person addressing the Board shall proceed to the place assigned for speaking 
and should state his or her name and address in an audible tone of voice for the 
public record.   
 

b) All remarks shall be addressed to the Board as a body and not to any member 
thereof or to any staff member. No person other than a Board Supervisor or District 
staff member shall be permitted to enter into any discussion with an individual 
speaker while he or she has the floor, without the permission of the Presiding 
Officer.  
 

c) Nothing herein shall be construed to prohibit the Presiding Officer from 
maintaining orderly conduct and proper decorum in a public meeting.  Speakers 
shall refrain from disruptive behavior, and from making vulgar or threatening 
remarks. Speakers shall refrain from launching personal attacks against any Board 
Supervisor, District staff member, or member of the public. The Presiding Officer 
shall have the discretion to remove any speaker who disregards these policies from 
the meeting. 
 

d) In the case that any person is declared out of order by the Presiding Officer and 
ordered expelled, and does not immediately leave the meeting facilities, the 
following steps may be taken: 

 
i. The Presiding Officer may declare a recess. 

ii. The Presiding Officer may contact the local law enforcement authority. 
iii. In case the person does not remove himself or herself from the meeting, 

the Presiding Officer may request that he or she be placed under arrest by 

110



4919-5358-9635.1  

local law enforcement authorities for violation of Section 871.01, Florida 
Statutes, or other applicable law. 

 
4. EXCEPTIONS.  The Board recognizes and may apply all applicable exceptions to Section 

286.0114, including those set forth in Section 286.0114(3) and other applicable law.  Additionally, the 
Presiding Officer may alter the procedures set forth in this Public Comment Policy for public hearings and 
other special proceedings that may require a different procedure under Florida law.  

  
5. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the 

other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 

6. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall 
remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed.  Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes 
any Public Comment Policy previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 
ATTEST:      TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 
 
 
 
_________________________________  ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant     Chairperson/Vice Chairperson  

Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

111



4898-2452-1603.1  

 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-05 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 3 
PROVIDING FOR THE PUBLIC’S OPPORTUNITY TO BE 
HEARD; DESIGNATING PUBLIC COMMENT PERIODS; 
DESIGNATING A PROCEDURE TO IDENTIFY INDIVIDUALS 
SEEKING TO BE HEARD; ADDRESSING PUBLIC DECORUM; 
ADDRESSING EXCEPTIONS; AND PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 3 (the “District”) is a local unit 

of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  
 
WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions as may be 

necessary for the conduct of District business; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, requires that members of the public be given a 
reasonable opportunity to be heard on a proposition before a board or commission; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, sets forth guidelines for rules and policies that 
govern the public’s opportunity to be heard at a public meeting; and 
 

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) finds that it is in the best interests 
of the District to adopt by resolution a public comment policy (the “Public Comment Policy”) for 
immediate use and application. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 3: 
 

1. DESIGNATING PUBLIC COMMENT PERIODS.  The District’s Chairperson, his or 
her designee, or such other person conducting a District meeting (the “Presiding Officer”), shall ensure 
that there is at least one period of time (the “Public Comment Period”) in the District’s meeting agenda 
whereby the public has an opportunity to be heard on propositions before the Board, as follows:   
 

a) An initial Public Comment Period shall be provided at the start of each Board 
meeting before consideration of any propositions by the Board. In the event there 
are propositions that come before the Board that are not listed on the agenda, the 
Presiding Officer shall announce a Public Comment Period on such propositions 
prior to the Board voting on the matter. 
 

b) Speakers shall be permitted to address any agenda item or non-agenda matter(s) of 
personal or general concern, during the initial Public Comment Period. 
 

c) Individuals wishing to make a public comment are limited to three (3) minutes per 
person.  Potential speakers may not assign their three (3) minutes to extend another 
speaker’s time. 
 

d) The Presiding Officer may extend or reduce the time periods set forth herein in 
order to facilitate orderly and efficient District business; provided, however, that a 

112



4898-2452-1603.1  

reasonable opportunity for public comment shall be provided consistent with the 
requirements of Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes.  The Presiding Officer may 
also elect to set and announce additional Public Comment Periods if he or she 
deems it appropriate. 

 
2. DESIGNATING A PROCEDURE TO IDENTIFY INDIVIDUALS SEEKING TO 

BE HEARD. Unless otherwise directed and declared by the Presiding Officer, individuals seeking to be 
heard on propositions before the Board shall identify themselves by a show of hands at the beginning of 
each Public Comment Period, as announced by the Presiding Officer.  Alternatively, in the event that public 
attendance is high, and/or if otherwise in the best interests of the District in order to facilitate efficient and 
orderly District business, the Presiding Officer may require individuals to complete speaker cards that 
include the individual’s name, address, the proposition on which they wish to be heard, the individual’s 
position on the proposition (i.e., “for,” “against,” or “undecided”), and if appropriate, to indicate the 
designation of a representative to speak for the individual or the individual’s group.  In the event large 
groups of individuals desire to speak, the Presiding Officer may require each group to designate a 
representative to speak on behalf of such group.  Any attorney hired to represent an individual or company’s 
interests before the Board shall notify the Board of such representation prior to providing any public 
comment.     

 
Sections 1 and 2 herein shall be deemed to apply only to District Board meetings, but the Presiding 

Officer of a District workshop in his or her discretion may elect to apply such Sections to District 
workshops. 

 
3. PUBLIC DECORUM.  The following policies govern public decorum at public meetings 

and workshops: 
 

a) Each person addressing the Board shall proceed to the place assigned for speaking 
and should state his or her name and address in an audible tone of voice for the 
public record.   
 

b) All remarks shall be addressed to the Board as a body and not to any member 
thereof or to any staff member. No person other than a Board Supervisor or District 
staff member shall be permitted to enter into any discussion with an individual 
speaker while he or she has the floor, without the permission of the Presiding 
Officer.  
 

c) Nothing herein shall be construed to prohibit the Presiding Officer from 
maintaining orderly conduct and proper decorum in a public meeting.  Speakers 
shall refrain from disruptive behavior, and from making vulgar or threatening 
remarks. Speakers shall refrain from launching personal attacks against any Board 
Supervisor, District staff member, or member of the public. The Presiding Officer 
shall have the discretion to remove any speaker who disregards these policies from 
the meeting. 
 

d) In the case that any person is declared out of order by the Presiding Officer and 
ordered expelled, and does not immediately leave the meeting facilities, the 
following steps may be taken: 

 
i. The Presiding Officer may declare a recess. 

ii. The Presiding Officer may contact the local law enforcement authority. 
iii. In case the person does not remove himself or herself from the meeting, 

the Presiding Officer may request that he or she be placed under arrest by 

113



4898-2452-1603.1  

local law enforcement authorities for violation of Section 871.01, Florida 
Statutes, or other applicable law. 

 
4. EXCEPTIONS.  The Board recognizes and may apply all applicable exceptions to Section 

286.0114, including those set forth in Section 286.0114(3) and other applicable law.  Additionally, the 
Presiding Officer may alter the procedures set forth in this Public Comment Policy for public hearings and 
other special proceedings that may require a different procedure under Florida law.  

  
5. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the 

other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 

6. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall 
remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed.  Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes 
any Public Comment Policy previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 
ATTEST:      TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 3 
 
 
 
_________________________________  ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant     Chairperson/Vice Chairperson  

Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

114



4903-7974-2595.1  

 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-05 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 4 
PROVIDING FOR THE PUBLIC’S OPPORTUNITY TO BE 
HEARD; DESIGNATING PUBLIC COMMENT PERIODS; 
DESIGNATING A PROCEDURE TO IDENTIFY INDIVIDUALS 
SEEKING TO BE HEARD; ADDRESSING PUBLIC DECORUM; 
ADDRESSING EXCEPTIONS; AND PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 4 (the “District”) is a local unit 

of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  
 
WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions as may be 

necessary for the conduct of District business; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, requires that members of the public be given a 
reasonable opportunity to be heard on a proposition before a board or commission; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, sets forth guidelines for rules and policies that 
govern the public’s opportunity to be heard at a public meeting; and 
 

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) finds that it is in the best interests 
of the District to adopt by resolution a public comment policy (the “Public Comment Policy”) for 
immediate use and application. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 4: 
 

1. DESIGNATING PUBLIC COMMENT PERIODS.  The District’s Chairperson, his or 
her designee, or such other person conducting a District meeting (the “Presiding Officer”), shall ensure 
that there is at least one period of time (the “Public Comment Period”) in the District’s meeting agenda 
whereby the public has an opportunity to be heard on propositions before the Board, as follows:   
 

a) An initial Public Comment Period shall be provided at the start of each Board 
meeting before consideration of any propositions by the Board. In the event there 
are propositions that come before the Board that are not listed on the agenda, the 
Presiding Officer shall announce a Public Comment Period on such propositions 
prior to the Board voting on the matter. 
 

b) Speakers shall be permitted to address any agenda item or non-agenda matter(s) of 
personal or general concern, during the initial Public Comment Period. 
 

c) Individuals wishing to make a public comment are limited to three (3) minutes per 
person.  Potential speakers may not assign their three (3) minutes to extend another 
speaker’s time. 
 

d) The Presiding Officer may extend or reduce the time periods set forth herein in 
order to facilitate orderly and efficient District business; provided, however, that a 

115



4903-7974-2595.1  

reasonable opportunity for public comment shall be provided consistent with the 
requirements of Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes.  The Presiding Officer may 
also elect to set and announce additional Public Comment Periods if he or she 
deems it appropriate. 

 
2. DESIGNATING A PROCEDURE TO IDENTIFY INDIVIDUALS SEEKING TO 

BE HEARD. Unless otherwise directed and declared by the Presiding Officer, individuals seeking to be 
heard on propositions before the Board shall identify themselves by a show of hands at the beginning of 
each Public Comment Period, as announced by the Presiding Officer.  Alternatively, in the event that public 
attendance is high, and/or if otherwise in the best interests of the District in order to facilitate efficient and 
orderly District business, the Presiding Officer may require individuals to complete speaker cards that 
include the individual’s name, address, the proposition on which they wish to be heard, the individual’s 
position on the proposition (i.e., “for,” “against,” or “undecided”), and if appropriate, to indicate the 
designation of a representative to speak for the individual or the individual’s group.  In the event large 
groups of individuals desire to speak, the Presiding Officer may require each group to designate a 
representative to speak on behalf of such group.  Any attorney hired to represent an individual or company’s 
interests before the Board shall notify the Board of such representation prior to providing any public 
comment.     

 
Sections 1 and 2 herein shall be deemed to apply only to District Board meetings, but the Presiding 

Officer of a District workshop in his or her discretion may elect to apply such Sections to District 
workshops. 

 
3. PUBLIC DECORUM.  The following policies govern public decorum at public meetings 

and workshops: 
 

a) Each person addressing the Board shall proceed to the place assigned for speaking 
and should state his or her name and address in an audible tone of voice for the 
public record.   
 

b) All remarks shall be addressed to the Board as a body and not to any member 
thereof or to any staff member. No person other than a Board Supervisor or District 
staff member shall be permitted to enter into any discussion with an individual 
speaker while he or she has the floor, without the permission of the Presiding 
Officer.  
 

c) Nothing herein shall be construed to prohibit the Presiding Officer from 
maintaining orderly conduct and proper decorum in a public meeting.  Speakers 
shall refrain from disruptive behavior, and from making vulgar or threatening 
remarks. Speakers shall refrain from launching personal attacks against any Board 
Supervisor, District staff member, or member of the public. The Presiding Officer 
shall have the discretion to remove any speaker who disregards these policies from 
the meeting. 
 

d) In the case that any person is declared out of order by the Presiding Officer and 
ordered expelled, and does not immediately leave the meeting facilities, the 
following steps may be taken: 

 
i. The Presiding Officer may declare a recess. 

ii. The Presiding Officer may contact the local law enforcement authority. 
iii. In case the person does not remove himself or herself from the meeting, 

the Presiding Officer may request that he or she be placed under arrest by 

116



4903-7974-2595.1  

local law enforcement authorities for violation of Section 871.01, Florida 
Statutes, or other applicable law. 

 
4. EXCEPTIONS.  The Board recognizes and may apply all applicable exceptions to Section 

286.0114, including those set forth in Section 286.0114(3) and other applicable law.  Additionally, the 
Presiding Officer may alter the procedures set forth in this Public Comment Policy for public hearings and 
other special proceedings that may require a different procedure under Florida law.  

  
5. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the 

other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 

6. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall 
remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed.  Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes 
any Public Comment Policy previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 
ATTEST:      TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 4 
 
 
 
_________________________________  ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant     Chairperson/Vice Chairperson  

Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

117



4901-9715-9555.1  

 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-05 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5 
PROVIDING FOR THE PUBLIC’S OPPORTUNITY TO BE 
HEARD; DESIGNATING PUBLIC COMMENT PERIODS; 
DESIGNATING A PROCEDURE TO IDENTIFY INDIVIDUALS 
SEEKING TO BE HEARD; ADDRESSING PUBLIC DECORUM; 
ADDRESSING EXCEPTIONS; AND PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 5 (the “District”) is a local unit 

of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  
 
WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions as may be 

necessary for the conduct of District business; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, requires that members of the public be given a 
reasonable opportunity to be heard on a proposition before a board or commission; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, sets forth guidelines for rules and policies that 
govern the public’s opportunity to be heard at a public meeting; and 
 

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) finds that it is in the best interests 
of the District to adopt by resolution a public comment policy (the “Public Comment Policy”) for 
immediate use and application. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5: 
 

1. DESIGNATING PUBLIC COMMENT PERIODS.  The District’s Chairperson, his or 
her designee, or such other person conducting a District meeting (the “Presiding Officer”), shall ensure 
that there is at least one period of time (the “Public Comment Period”) in the District’s meeting agenda 
whereby the public has an opportunity to be heard on propositions before the Board, as follows:   
 

a) An initial Public Comment Period shall be provided at the start of each Board 
meeting before consideration of any propositions by the Board. In the event there 
are propositions that come before the Board that are not listed on the agenda, the 
Presiding Officer shall announce a Public Comment Period on such propositions 
prior to the Board voting on the matter. 
 

b) Speakers shall be permitted to address any agenda item or non-agenda matter(s) of 
personal or general concern, during the initial Public Comment Period. 
 

c) Individuals wishing to make a public comment are limited to three (3) minutes per 
person.  Potential speakers may not assign their three (3) minutes to extend another 
speaker’s time. 
 

d) The Presiding Officer may extend or reduce the time periods set forth herein in 
order to facilitate orderly and efficient District business; provided, however, that a 

118



4901-9715-9555.1  

reasonable opportunity for public comment shall be provided consistent with the 
requirements of Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes.  The Presiding Officer may 
also elect to set and announce additional Public Comment Periods if he or she 
deems it appropriate. 

 
2. DESIGNATING A PROCEDURE TO IDENTIFY INDIVIDUALS SEEKING TO 

BE HEARD. Unless otherwise directed and declared by the Presiding Officer, individuals seeking to be 
heard on propositions before the Board shall identify themselves by a show of hands at the beginning of 
each Public Comment Period, as announced by the Presiding Officer.  Alternatively, in the event that public 
attendance is high, and/or if otherwise in the best interests of the District in order to facilitate efficient and 
orderly District business, the Presiding Officer may require individuals to complete speaker cards that 
include the individual’s name, address, the proposition on which they wish to be heard, the individual’s 
position on the proposition (i.e., “for,” “against,” or “undecided”), and if appropriate, to indicate the 
designation of a representative to speak for the individual or the individual’s group.  In the event large 
groups of individuals desire to speak, the Presiding Officer may require each group to designate a 
representative to speak on behalf of such group.  Any attorney hired to represent an individual or company’s 
interests before the Board shall notify the Board of such representation prior to providing any public 
comment.     

 
Sections 1 and 2 herein shall be deemed to apply only to District Board meetings, but the Presiding 

Officer of a District workshop in his or her discretion may elect to apply such Sections to District 
workshops. 

 
3. PUBLIC DECORUM.  The following policies govern public decorum at public meetings 

and workshops: 
 

a) Each person addressing the Board shall proceed to the place assigned for speaking 
and should state his or her name and address in an audible tone of voice for the 
public record.   
 

b) All remarks shall be addressed to the Board as a body and not to any member 
thereof or to any staff member. No person other than a Board Supervisor or District 
staff member shall be permitted to enter into any discussion with an individual 
speaker while he or she has the floor, without the permission of the Presiding 
Officer.  
 

c) Nothing herein shall be construed to prohibit the Presiding Officer from 
maintaining orderly conduct and proper decorum in a public meeting.  Speakers 
shall refrain from disruptive behavior, and from making vulgar or threatening 
remarks. Speakers shall refrain from launching personal attacks against any Board 
Supervisor, District staff member, or member of the public. The Presiding Officer 
shall have the discretion to remove any speaker who disregards these policies from 
the meeting. 
 

d) In the case that any person is declared out of order by the Presiding Officer and 
ordered expelled, and does not immediately leave the meeting facilities, the 
following steps may be taken: 

 
i. The Presiding Officer may declare a recess. 

ii. The Presiding Officer may contact the local law enforcement authority. 
iii. In case the person does not remove himself or herself from the meeting, 

the Presiding Officer may request that he or she be placed under arrest by 

119



4901-9715-9555.1  

local law enforcement authorities for violation of Section 871.01, Florida 
Statutes, or other applicable law. 

 
4. EXCEPTIONS.  The Board recognizes and may apply all applicable exceptions to Section 

286.0114, including those set forth in Section 286.0114(3) and other applicable law.  Additionally, the 
Presiding Officer may alter the procedures set forth in this Public Comment Policy for public hearings and 
other special proceedings that may require a different procedure under Florida law.  

  
5. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the 

other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 

6. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall 
remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed.  Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes 
any Public Comment Policy previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 
ATTEST:      TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5 
 
 
 
_________________________________  ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant     Chairperson/Vice Chairperson  

Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

120



4936-3812-7235.1  

 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-05 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 6 
PROVIDING FOR THE PUBLIC’S OPPORTUNITY TO BE 
HEARD; DESIGNATING PUBLIC COMMENT PERIODS; 
DESIGNATING A PROCEDURE TO IDENTIFY INDIVIDUALS 
SEEKING TO BE HEARD; ADDRESSING PUBLIC DECORUM; 
ADDRESSING EXCEPTIONS; AND PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 6 (the “District”) is a local unit 

of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  
 
WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions as may be 

necessary for the conduct of District business; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, requires that members of the public be given a 
reasonable opportunity to be heard on a proposition before a board or commission; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, sets forth guidelines for rules and policies that 
govern the public’s opportunity to be heard at a public meeting; and 
 

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) finds that it is in the best interests 
of the District to adopt by resolution a public comment policy (the “Public Comment Policy”) for 
immediate use and application. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 6: 
 

1. DESIGNATING PUBLIC COMMENT PERIODS.  The District’s Chairperson, his or 
her designee, or such other person conducting a District meeting (the “Presiding Officer”), shall ensure 
that there is at least one period of time (the “Public Comment Period”) in the District’s meeting agenda 
whereby the public has an opportunity to be heard on propositions before the Board, as follows:   
 

a) An initial Public Comment Period shall be provided at the start of each Board 
meeting before consideration of any propositions by the Board. In the event there 
are propositions that come before the Board that are not listed on the agenda, the 
Presiding Officer shall announce a Public Comment Period on such propositions 
prior to the Board voting on the matter. 
 

b) Speakers shall be permitted to address any agenda item or non-agenda matter(s) of 
personal or general concern, during the initial Public Comment Period. 
 

c) Individuals wishing to make a public comment are limited to three (3) minutes per 
person.  Potential speakers may not assign their three (3) minutes to extend another 
speaker’s time. 
 

d) The Presiding Officer may extend or reduce the time periods set forth herein in 
order to facilitate orderly and efficient District business; provided, however, that a 

121



4936-3812-7235.1  

reasonable opportunity for public comment shall be provided consistent with the 
requirements of Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes.  The Presiding Officer may 
also elect to set and announce additional Public Comment Periods if he or she 
deems it appropriate. 

 
2. DESIGNATING A PROCEDURE TO IDENTIFY INDIVIDUALS SEEKING TO 

BE HEARD. Unless otherwise directed and declared by the Presiding Officer, individuals seeking to be 
heard on propositions before the Board shall identify themselves by a show of hands at the beginning of 
each Public Comment Period, as announced by the Presiding Officer.  Alternatively, in the event that public 
attendance is high, and/or if otherwise in the best interests of the District in order to facilitate efficient and 
orderly District business, the Presiding Officer may require individuals to complete speaker cards that 
include the individual’s name, address, the proposition on which they wish to be heard, the individual’s 
position on the proposition (i.e., “for,” “against,” or “undecided”), and if appropriate, to indicate the 
designation of a representative to speak for the individual or the individual’s group.  In the event large 
groups of individuals desire to speak, the Presiding Officer may require each group to designate a 
representative to speak on behalf of such group.  Any attorney hired to represent an individual or company’s 
interests before the Board shall notify the Board of such representation prior to providing any public 
comment.     

 
Sections 1 and 2 herein shall be deemed to apply only to District Board meetings, but the Presiding 

Officer of a District workshop in his or her discretion may elect to apply such Sections to District 
workshops. 

 
3. PUBLIC DECORUM.  The following policies govern public decorum at public meetings 

and workshops: 
 

a) Each person addressing the Board shall proceed to the place assigned for speaking 
and should state his or her name and address in an audible tone of voice for the 
public record.   
 

b) All remarks shall be addressed to the Board as a body and not to any member 
thereof or to any staff member. No person other than a Board Supervisor or District 
staff member shall be permitted to enter into any discussion with an individual 
speaker while he or she has the floor, without the permission of the Presiding 
Officer.  
 

c) Nothing herein shall be construed to prohibit the Presiding Officer from 
maintaining orderly conduct and proper decorum in a public meeting.  Speakers 
shall refrain from disruptive behavior, and from making vulgar or threatening 
remarks. Speakers shall refrain from launching personal attacks against any Board 
Supervisor, District staff member, or member of the public. The Presiding Officer 
shall have the discretion to remove any speaker who disregards these policies from 
the meeting. 
 

d) In the case that any person is declared out of order by the Presiding Officer and 
ordered expelled, and does not immediately leave the meeting facilities, the 
following steps may be taken: 

 
i. The Presiding Officer may declare a recess. 

ii. The Presiding Officer may contact the local law enforcement authority. 
iii. In case the person does not remove himself or herself from the meeting, 

the Presiding Officer may request that he or she be placed under arrest by 

122



4936-3812-7235.1  

local law enforcement authorities for violation of Section 871.01, Florida 
Statutes, or other applicable law. 

 
4. EXCEPTIONS.  The Board recognizes and may apply all applicable exceptions to Section 

286.0114, including those set forth in Section 286.0114(3) and other applicable law.  Additionally, the 
Presiding Officer may alter the procedures set forth in this Public Comment Policy for public hearings and 
other special proceedings that may require a different procedure under Florida law.  

  
5. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the 

other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 

6. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall 
remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed.  Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes 
any Public Comment Policy previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 
ATTEST:      TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 6 
 
 
 
_________________________________  ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant     Chairperson/Vice Chairperson  

Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

123



4905-1881-0243.1  

 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-05 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 7 
PROVIDING FOR THE PUBLIC’S OPPORTUNITY TO BE 
HEARD; DESIGNATING PUBLIC COMMENT PERIODS; 
DESIGNATING A PROCEDURE TO IDENTIFY INDIVIDUALS 
SEEKING TO BE HEARD; ADDRESSING PUBLIC DECORUM; 
ADDRESSING EXCEPTIONS; AND PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 7 (the “District”) is a local unit 

of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  
 
WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions as may be 

necessary for the conduct of District business; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, requires that members of the public be given a 
reasonable opportunity to be heard on a proposition before a board or commission; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, sets forth guidelines for rules and policies that 
govern the public’s opportunity to be heard at a public meeting; and 
 

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) finds that it is in the best interests 
of the District to adopt by resolution a public comment policy (the “Public Comment Policy”) for 
immediate use and application. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 7: 
 

1. DESIGNATING PUBLIC COMMENT PERIODS.  The District’s Chairperson, his or 
her designee, or such other person conducting a District meeting (the “Presiding Officer”), shall ensure 
that there is at least one period of time (the “Public Comment Period”) in the District’s meeting agenda 
whereby the public has an opportunity to be heard on propositions before the Board, as follows:   
 

a) An initial Public Comment Period shall be provided at the start of each Board 
meeting before consideration of any propositions by the Board. In the event there 
are propositions that come before the Board that are not listed on the agenda, the 
Presiding Officer shall announce a Public Comment Period on such propositions 
prior to the Board voting on the matter. 
 

b) Speakers shall be permitted to address any agenda item or non-agenda matter(s) of 
personal or general concern, during the initial Public Comment Period. 
 

c) Individuals wishing to make a public comment are limited to three (3) minutes per 
person.  Potential speakers may not assign their three (3) minutes to extend another 
speaker’s time. 
 

d) The Presiding Officer may extend or reduce the time periods set forth herein in 
order to facilitate orderly and efficient District business; provided, however, that a 

124



4905-1881-0243.1  

reasonable opportunity for public comment shall be provided consistent with the 
requirements of Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes.  The Presiding Officer may 
also elect to set and announce additional Public Comment Periods if he or she 
deems it appropriate. 

 
2. DESIGNATING A PROCEDURE TO IDENTIFY INDIVIDUALS SEEKING TO 

BE HEARD. Unless otherwise directed and declared by the Presiding Officer, individuals seeking to be 
heard on propositions before the Board shall identify themselves by a show of hands at the beginning of 
each Public Comment Period, as announced by the Presiding Officer.  Alternatively, in the event that public 
attendance is high, and/or if otherwise in the best interests of the District in order to facilitate efficient and 
orderly District business, the Presiding Officer may require individuals to complete speaker cards that 
include the individual’s name, address, the proposition on which they wish to be heard, the individual’s 
position on the proposition (i.e., “for,” “against,” or “undecided”), and if appropriate, to indicate the 
designation of a representative to speak for the individual or the individual’s group.  In the event large 
groups of individuals desire to speak, the Presiding Officer may require each group to designate a 
representative to speak on behalf of such group.  Any attorney hired to represent an individual or company’s 
interests before the Board shall notify the Board of such representation prior to providing any public 
comment.     

 
Sections 1 and 2 herein shall be deemed to apply only to District Board meetings, but the Presiding 

Officer of a District workshop in his or her discretion may elect to apply such Sections to District 
workshops. 

 
3. PUBLIC DECORUM.  The following policies govern public decorum at public meetings 

and workshops: 
 

a) Each person addressing the Board shall proceed to the place assigned for speaking 
and should state his or her name and address in an audible tone of voice for the 
public record.   
 

b) All remarks shall be addressed to the Board as a body and not to any member 
thereof or to any staff member. No person other than a Board Supervisor or District 
staff member shall be permitted to enter into any discussion with an individual 
speaker while he or she has the floor, without the permission of the Presiding 
Officer.  
 

c) Nothing herein shall be construed to prohibit the Presiding Officer from 
maintaining orderly conduct and proper decorum in a public meeting.  Speakers 
shall refrain from disruptive behavior, and from making vulgar or threatening 
remarks. Speakers shall refrain from launching personal attacks against any Board 
Supervisor, District staff member, or member of the public. The Presiding Officer 
shall have the discretion to remove any speaker who disregards these policies from 
the meeting. 
 

d) In the case that any person is declared out of order by the Presiding Officer and 
ordered expelled, and does not immediately leave the meeting facilities, the 
following steps may be taken: 

 
i. The Presiding Officer may declare a recess. 

ii. The Presiding Officer may contact the local law enforcement authority. 
iii. In case the person does not remove himself or herself from the meeting, 

the Presiding Officer may request that he or she be placed under arrest by 

125



4905-1881-0243.1  

local law enforcement authorities for violation of Section 871.01, Florida 
Statutes, or other applicable law. 

 
4. EXCEPTIONS.  The Board recognizes and may apply all applicable exceptions to Section 

286.0114, including those set forth in Section 286.0114(3) and other applicable law.  Additionally, the 
Presiding Officer may alter the procedures set forth in this Public Comment Policy for public hearings and 
other special proceedings that may require a different procedure under Florida law.  

  
5. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the 

other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 

6. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall 
remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed.  Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes 
any Public Comment Policy previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 
ATTEST:      TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 7 
 
 
 
_________________________________  ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant     Chairperson/Vice Chairperson  

Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

126



4898-8297-9971.1  

 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-05 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 8 
PROVIDING FOR THE PUBLIC’S OPPORTUNITY TO BE 
HEARD; DESIGNATING PUBLIC COMMENT PERIODS; 
DESIGNATING A PROCEDURE TO IDENTIFY INDIVIDUALS 
SEEKING TO BE HEARD; ADDRESSING PUBLIC DECORUM; 
ADDRESSING EXCEPTIONS; AND PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 8 (the “District”) is a local unit 

of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  
 
WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions as may be 

necessary for the conduct of District business; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, requires that members of the public be given a 
reasonable opportunity to be heard on a proposition before a board or commission; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, sets forth guidelines for rules and policies that 
govern the public’s opportunity to be heard at a public meeting; and 
 

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) finds that it is in the best interests 
of the District to adopt by resolution a public comment policy (the “Public Comment Policy”) for 
immediate use and application. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 8: 
 

1. DESIGNATING PUBLIC COMMENT PERIODS.  The District’s Chairperson, his or 
her designee, or such other person conducting a District meeting (the “Presiding Officer”), shall ensure 
that there is at least one period of time (the “Public Comment Period”) in the District’s meeting agenda 
whereby the public has an opportunity to be heard on propositions before the Board, as follows:   
 

a) An initial Public Comment Period shall be provided at the start of each Board 
meeting before consideration of any propositions by the Board. In the event there 
are propositions that come before the Board that are not listed on the agenda, the 
Presiding Officer shall announce a Public Comment Period on such propositions 
prior to the Board voting on the matter. 
 

b) Speakers shall be permitted to address any agenda item or non-agenda matter(s) of 
personal or general concern, during the initial Public Comment Period. 
 

c) Individuals wishing to make a public comment are limited to three (3) minutes per 
person.  Potential speakers may not assign their three (3) minutes to extend another 
speaker’s time. 
 

d) The Presiding Officer may extend or reduce the time periods set forth herein in 
order to facilitate orderly and efficient District business; provided, however, that a 

127



4898-8297-9971.1  

reasonable opportunity for public comment shall be provided consistent with the 
requirements of Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes.  The Presiding Officer may 
also elect to set and announce additional Public Comment Periods if he or she 
deems it appropriate. 

 
2. DESIGNATING A PROCEDURE TO IDENTIFY INDIVIDUALS SEEKING TO 

BE HEARD. Unless otherwise directed and declared by the Presiding Officer, individuals seeking to be 
heard on propositions before the Board shall identify themselves by a show of hands at the beginning of 
each Public Comment Period, as announced by the Presiding Officer.  Alternatively, in the event that public 
attendance is high, and/or if otherwise in the best interests of the District in order to facilitate efficient and 
orderly District business, the Presiding Officer may require individuals to complete speaker cards that 
include the individual’s name, address, the proposition on which they wish to be heard, the individual’s 
position on the proposition (i.e., “for,” “against,” or “undecided”), and if appropriate, to indicate the 
designation of a representative to speak for the individual or the individual’s group.  In the event large 
groups of individuals desire to speak, the Presiding Officer may require each group to designate a 
representative to speak on behalf of such group.  Any attorney hired to represent an individual or company’s 
interests before the Board shall notify the Board of such representation prior to providing any public 
comment.     

 
Sections 1 and 2 herein shall be deemed to apply only to District Board meetings, but the Presiding 

Officer of a District workshop in his or her discretion may elect to apply such Sections to District 
workshops. 

 
3. PUBLIC DECORUM.  The following policies govern public decorum at public meetings 

and workshops: 
 

a) Each person addressing the Board shall proceed to the place assigned for speaking 
and should state his or her name and address in an audible tone of voice for the 
public record.   
 

b) All remarks shall be addressed to the Board as a body and not to any member 
thereof or to any staff member. No person other than a Board Supervisor or District 
staff member shall be permitted to enter into any discussion with an individual 
speaker while he or she has the floor, without the permission of the Presiding 
Officer.  
 

c) Nothing herein shall be construed to prohibit the Presiding Officer from 
maintaining orderly conduct and proper decorum in a public meeting.  Speakers 
shall refrain from disruptive behavior, and from making vulgar or threatening 
remarks. Speakers shall refrain from launching personal attacks against any Board 
Supervisor, District staff member, or member of the public. The Presiding Officer 
shall have the discretion to remove any speaker who disregards these policies from 
the meeting. 
 

d) In the case that any person is declared out of order by the Presiding Officer and 
ordered expelled, and does not immediately leave the meeting facilities, the 
following steps may be taken: 

 
i. The Presiding Officer may declare a recess. 

ii. The Presiding Officer may contact the local law enforcement authority. 
iii. In case the person does not remove himself or herself from the meeting, 

the Presiding Officer may request that he or she be placed under arrest by 

128



4898-8297-9971.1  

local law enforcement authorities for violation of Section 871.01, Florida 
Statutes, or other applicable law. 

 
4. EXCEPTIONS.  The Board recognizes and may apply all applicable exceptions to Section 

286.0114, including those set forth in Section 286.0114(3) and other applicable law.  Additionally, the 
Presiding Officer may alter the procedures set forth in this Public Comment Policy for public hearings and 
other special proceedings that may require a different procedure under Florida law.  

  
5. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the 

other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 

6. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall 
remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed.  Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes 
any Public Comment Policy previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 
ATTEST:      TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 8 
 
 
 
_________________________________  ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant     Chairperson/Vice Chairperson  

Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

129



4933-4111-8083.1  

 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-05 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 9 
PROVIDING FOR THE PUBLIC’S OPPORTUNITY TO BE 
HEARD; DESIGNATING PUBLIC COMMENT PERIODS; 
DESIGNATING A PROCEDURE TO IDENTIFY INDIVIDUALS 
SEEKING TO BE HEARD; ADDRESSING PUBLIC DECORUM; 
ADDRESSING EXCEPTIONS; AND PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 9 (the “District”) is a local unit 

of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  
 
WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions as may be 

necessary for the conduct of District business; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, requires that members of the public be given a 
reasonable opportunity to be heard on a proposition before a board or commission; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, sets forth guidelines for rules and policies that 
govern the public’s opportunity to be heard at a public meeting; and 
 

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) finds that it is in the best interests 
of the District to adopt by resolution a public comment policy (the “Public Comment Policy”) for 
immediate use and application. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 9: 
 

1. DESIGNATING PUBLIC COMMENT PERIODS.  The District’s Chairperson, his or 
her designee, or such other person conducting a District meeting (the “Presiding Officer”), shall ensure 
that there is at least one period of time (the “Public Comment Period”) in the District’s meeting agenda 
whereby the public has an opportunity to be heard on propositions before the Board, as follows:   
 

a) An initial Public Comment Period shall be provided at the start of each Board 
meeting before consideration of any propositions by the Board. In the event there 
are propositions that come before the Board that are not listed on the agenda, the 
Presiding Officer shall announce a Public Comment Period on such propositions 
prior to the Board voting on the matter. 
 

b) Speakers shall be permitted to address any agenda item or non-agenda matter(s) of 
personal or general concern, during the initial Public Comment Period. 
 

c) Individuals wishing to make a public comment are limited to three (3) minutes per 
person.  Potential speakers may not assign their three (3) minutes to extend another 
speaker’s time. 
 

d) The Presiding Officer may extend or reduce the time periods set forth herein in 
order to facilitate orderly and efficient District business; provided, however, that a 

130



4933-4111-8083.1  

reasonable opportunity for public comment shall be provided consistent with the 
requirements of Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes.  The Presiding Officer may 
also elect to set and announce additional Public Comment Periods if he or she 
deems it appropriate. 

 
2. DESIGNATING A PROCEDURE TO IDENTIFY INDIVIDUALS SEEKING TO 

BE HEARD. Unless otherwise directed and declared by the Presiding Officer, individuals seeking to be 
heard on propositions before the Board shall identify themselves by a show of hands at the beginning of 
each Public Comment Period, as announced by the Presiding Officer.  Alternatively, in the event that public 
attendance is high, and/or if otherwise in the best interests of the District in order to facilitate efficient and 
orderly District business, the Presiding Officer may require individuals to complete speaker cards that 
include the individual’s name, address, the proposition on which they wish to be heard, the individual’s 
position on the proposition (i.e., “for,” “against,” or “undecided”), and if appropriate, to indicate the 
designation of a representative to speak for the individual or the individual’s group.  In the event large 
groups of individuals desire to speak, the Presiding Officer may require each group to designate a 
representative to speak on behalf of such group.  Any attorney hired to represent an individual or company’s 
interests before the Board shall notify the Board of such representation prior to providing any public 
comment.     

 
Sections 1 and 2 herein shall be deemed to apply only to District Board meetings, but the Presiding 

Officer of a District workshop in his or her discretion may elect to apply such Sections to District 
workshops. 

 
3. PUBLIC DECORUM.  The following policies govern public decorum at public meetings 

and workshops: 
 

a) Each person addressing the Board shall proceed to the place assigned for speaking 
and should state his or her name and address in an audible tone of voice for the 
public record.   
 

b) All remarks shall be addressed to the Board as a body and not to any member 
thereof or to any staff member. No person other than a Board Supervisor or District 
staff member shall be permitted to enter into any discussion with an individual 
speaker while he or she has the floor, without the permission of the Presiding 
Officer.  
 

c) Nothing herein shall be construed to prohibit the Presiding Officer from 
maintaining orderly conduct and proper decorum in a public meeting.  Speakers 
shall refrain from disruptive behavior, and from making vulgar or threatening 
remarks. Speakers shall refrain from launching personal attacks against any Board 
Supervisor, District staff member, or member of the public. The Presiding Officer 
shall have the discretion to remove any speaker who disregards these policies from 
the meeting. 
 

d) In the case that any person is declared out of order by the Presiding Officer and 
ordered expelled, and does not immediately leave the meeting facilities, the 
following steps may be taken: 

 
i. The Presiding Officer may declare a recess. 

ii. The Presiding Officer may contact the local law enforcement authority. 
iii. In case the person does not remove himself or herself from the meeting, 

the Presiding Officer may request that he or she be placed under arrest by 

131



4933-4111-8083.1  

local law enforcement authorities for violation of Section 871.01, Florida 
Statutes, or other applicable law. 

 
4. EXCEPTIONS.  The Board recognizes and may apply all applicable exceptions to Section 

286.0114, including those set forth in Section 286.0114(3) and other applicable law.  Additionally, the 
Presiding Officer may alter the procedures set forth in this Public Comment Policy for public hearings and 
other special proceedings that may require a different procedure under Florida law.  

  
5. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the 

other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 

6. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall 
remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed.  Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes 
any Public Comment Policy previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 
ATTEST:      TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 9 
 
 
 
_________________________________  ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant     Chairperson/Vice Chairperson  

Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

132



4904-9082-6371.1  

 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-05 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 10 
PROVIDING FOR THE PUBLIC’S OPPORTUNITY TO BE 
HEARD; DESIGNATING PUBLIC COMMENT PERIODS; 
DESIGNATING A PROCEDURE TO IDENTIFY INDIVIDUALS 
SEEKING TO BE HEARD; ADDRESSING PUBLIC DECORUM; 
ADDRESSING EXCEPTIONS; AND PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 10 (the “District”) is a local unit 

of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  
 
WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions as may be 

necessary for the conduct of District business; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, requires that members of the public be given a 
reasonable opportunity to be heard on a proposition before a board or commission; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, sets forth guidelines for rules and policies that 
govern the public’s opportunity to be heard at a public meeting; and 
 

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) finds that it is in the best interests 
of the District to adopt by resolution a public comment policy (the “Public Comment Policy”) for 
immediate use and application. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 10: 
 

1. DESIGNATING PUBLIC COMMENT PERIODS.  The District’s Chairperson, his or 
her designee, or such other person conducting a District meeting (the “Presiding Officer”), shall ensure 
that there is at least one period of time (the “Public Comment Period”) in the District’s meeting agenda 
whereby the public has an opportunity to be heard on propositions before the Board, as follows:   
 

a) An initial Public Comment Period shall be provided at the start of each Board 
meeting before consideration of any propositions by the Board. In the event there 
are propositions that come before the Board that are not listed on the agenda, the 
Presiding Officer shall announce a Public Comment Period on such propositions 
prior to the Board voting on the matter. 
 

b) Speakers shall be permitted to address any agenda item or non-agenda matter(s) of 
personal or general concern, during the initial Public Comment Period. 
 

c) Individuals wishing to make a public comment are limited to three (3) minutes per 
person.  Potential speakers may not assign their three (3) minutes to extend another 
speaker’s time. 
 

d) The Presiding Officer may extend or reduce the time periods set forth herein in 
order to facilitate orderly and efficient District business; provided, however, that a 

133



4904-9082-6371.1  

reasonable opportunity for public comment shall be provided consistent with the 
requirements of Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes.  The Presiding Officer may 
also elect to set and announce additional Public Comment Periods if he or she 
deems it appropriate. 

 
2. DESIGNATING A PROCEDURE TO IDENTIFY INDIVIDUALS SEEKING TO 

BE HEARD. Unless otherwise directed and declared by the Presiding Officer, individuals seeking to be 
heard on propositions before the Board shall identify themselves by a show of hands at the beginning of 
each Public Comment Period, as announced by the Presiding Officer.  Alternatively, in the event that public 
attendance is high, and/or if otherwise in the best interests of the District in order to facilitate efficient and 
orderly District business, the Presiding Officer may require individuals to complete speaker cards that 
include the individual’s name, address, the proposition on which they wish to be heard, the individual’s 
position on the proposition (i.e., “for,” “against,” or “undecided”), and if appropriate, to indicate the 
designation of a representative to speak for the individual or the individual’s group.  In the event large 
groups of individuals desire to speak, the Presiding Officer may require each group to designate a 
representative to speak on behalf of such group.  Any attorney hired to represent an individual or company’s 
interests before the Board shall notify the Board of such representation prior to providing any public 
comment.     

 
Sections 1 and 2 herein shall be deemed to apply only to District Board meetings, but the Presiding 

Officer of a District workshop in his or her discretion may elect to apply such Sections to District 
workshops. 

 
3. PUBLIC DECORUM.  The following policies govern public decorum at public meetings 

and workshops: 
 

a) Each person addressing the Board shall proceed to the place assigned for speaking 
and should state his or her name and address in an audible tone of voice for the 
public record.   
 

b) All remarks shall be addressed to the Board as a body and not to any member 
thereof or to any staff member. No person other than a Board Supervisor or District 
staff member shall be permitted to enter into any discussion with an individual 
speaker while he or she has the floor, without the permission of the Presiding 
Officer.  
 

c) Nothing herein shall be construed to prohibit the Presiding Officer from 
maintaining orderly conduct and proper decorum in a public meeting.  Speakers 
shall refrain from disruptive behavior, and from making vulgar or threatening 
remarks. Speakers shall refrain from launching personal attacks against any Board 
Supervisor, District staff member, or member of the public. The Presiding Officer 
shall have the discretion to remove any speaker who disregards these policies from 
the meeting. 
 

d) In the case that any person is declared out of order by the Presiding Officer and 
ordered expelled, and does not immediately leave the meeting facilities, the 
following steps may be taken: 

 
i. The Presiding Officer may declare a recess. 

ii. The Presiding Officer may contact the local law enforcement authority. 
iii. In case the person does not remove himself or herself from the meeting, 

the Presiding Officer may request that he or she be placed under arrest by 

134



4904-9082-6371.1  

local law enforcement authorities for violation of Section 871.01, Florida 
Statutes, or other applicable law. 

 
4. EXCEPTIONS.  The Board recognizes and may apply all applicable exceptions to Section 

286.0114, including those set forth in Section 286.0114(3) and other applicable law.  Additionally, the 
Presiding Officer may alter the procedures set forth in this Public Comment Policy for public hearings and 
other special proceedings that may require a different procedure under Florida law.  

  
5. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the 

other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 

6. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall 
remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed.  Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes 
any Public Comment Policy previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 
ATTEST:      TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 10 
 
 
 
_________________________________  ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant     Chairperson/Vice Chairperson  

Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

135



4925-7297-0627.1  

 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-05 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 11 
PROVIDING FOR THE PUBLIC’S OPPORTUNITY TO BE 
HEARD; DESIGNATING PUBLIC COMMENT PERIODS; 
DESIGNATING A PROCEDURE TO IDENTIFY INDIVIDUALS 
SEEKING TO BE HEARD; ADDRESSING PUBLIC DECORUM; 
ADDRESSING EXCEPTIONS; AND PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 11 (the “District”) is a local unit 

of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  
 
WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions as may be 

necessary for the conduct of District business; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, requires that members of the public be given a 
reasonable opportunity to be heard on a proposition before a board or commission; and 
 

WHEREAS, Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, sets forth guidelines for rules and policies that 
govern the public’s opportunity to be heard at a public meeting; and 
 

WHEREAS, the District’s Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) finds that it is in the best interests 
of the District to adopt by resolution a public comment policy (the “Public Comment Policy”) for 
immediate use and application. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 11: 
 

1. DESIGNATING PUBLIC COMMENT PERIODS.  The District’s Chairperson, his or 
her designee, or such other person conducting a District meeting (the “Presiding Officer”), shall ensure 
that there is at least one period of time (the “Public Comment Period”) in the District’s meeting agenda 
whereby the public has an opportunity to be heard on propositions before the Board, as follows:   
 

a) An initial Public Comment Period shall be provided at the start of each Board 
meeting before consideration of any propositions by the Board. In the event there 
are propositions that come before the Board that are not listed on the agenda, the 
Presiding Officer shall announce a Public Comment Period on such propositions 
prior to the Board voting on the matter. 
 

b) Speakers shall be permitted to address any agenda item or non-agenda matter(s) of 
personal or general concern, during the initial Public Comment Period. 
 

c) Individuals wishing to make a public comment are limited to three (3) minutes per 
person.  Potential speakers may not assign their three (3) minutes to extend another 
speaker’s time. 
 

d) The Presiding Officer may extend or reduce the time periods set forth herein in 
order to facilitate orderly and efficient District business; provided, however, that a 

136



4925-7297-0627.1  

reasonable opportunity for public comment shall be provided consistent with the 
requirements of Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes.  The Presiding Officer may 
also elect to set and announce additional Public Comment Periods if he or she 
deems it appropriate. 

 
2. DESIGNATING A PROCEDURE TO IDENTIFY INDIVIDUALS SEEKING TO 

BE HEARD. Unless otherwise directed and declared by the Presiding Officer, individuals seeking to be 
heard on propositions before the Board shall identify themselves by a show of hands at the beginning of 
each Public Comment Period, as announced by the Presiding Officer.  Alternatively, in the event that public 
attendance is high, and/or if otherwise in the best interests of the District in order to facilitate efficient and 
orderly District business, the Presiding Officer may require individuals to complete speaker cards that 
include the individual’s name, address, the proposition on which they wish to be heard, the individual’s 
position on the proposition (i.e., “for,” “against,” or “undecided”), and if appropriate, to indicate the 
designation of a representative to speak for the individual or the individual’s group.  In the event large 
groups of individuals desire to speak, the Presiding Officer may require each group to designate a 
representative to speak on behalf of such group.  Any attorney hired to represent an individual or company’s 
interests before the Board shall notify the Board of such representation prior to providing any public 
comment.     

 
Sections 1 and 2 herein shall be deemed to apply only to District Board meetings, but the Presiding 

Officer of a District workshop in his or her discretion may elect to apply such Sections to District 
workshops. 

 
3. PUBLIC DECORUM.  The following policies govern public decorum at public meetings 

and workshops: 
 

a) Each person addressing the Board shall proceed to the place assigned for speaking 
and should state his or her name and address in an audible tone of voice for the 
public record.   
 

b) All remarks shall be addressed to the Board as a body and not to any member 
thereof or to any staff member. No person other than a Board Supervisor or District 
staff member shall be permitted to enter into any discussion with an individual 
speaker while he or she has the floor, without the permission of the Presiding 
Officer.  
 

c) Nothing herein shall be construed to prohibit the Presiding Officer from 
maintaining orderly conduct and proper decorum in a public meeting.  Speakers 
shall refrain from disruptive behavior, and from making vulgar or threatening 
remarks. Speakers shall refrain from launching personal attacks against any Board 
Supervisor, District staff member, or member of the public. The Presiding Officer 
shall have the discretion to remove any speaker who disregards these policies from 
the meeting. 
 

d) In the case that any person is declared out of order by the Presiding Officer and 
ordered expelled, and does not immediately leave the meeting facilities, the 
following steps may be taken: 

 
i. The Presiding Officer may declare a recess. 

ii. The Presiding Officer may contact the local law enforcement authority. 
iii. In case the person does not remove himself or herself from the meeting, 

the Presiding Officer may request that he or she be placed under arrest by 

137



4925-7297-0627.1  

local law enforcement authorities for violation of Section 871.01, Florida 
Statutes, or other applicable law. 

 
4. EXCEPTIONS.  The Board recognizes and may apply all applicable exceptions to Section 

286.0114, including those set forth in Section 286.0114(3) and other applicable law.  Additionally, the 
Presiding Officer may alter the procedures set forth in this Public Comment Policy for public hearings and 
other special proceedings that may require a different procedure under Florida law.  

  
5. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the 

other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 

6. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall 
remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed.  Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes 
any Public Comment Policy previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 
ATTEST:      TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 11 
 
 
 
_________________________________  ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant     Chairperson/Vice Chairperson  

Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

138



Kutak Rock LLP 

107 West College Avenue, Tallahassee, FL 32301-7707 

office 850.692.7300 

 
 

  
 

6 
 

MEMORANDUM 
FROM: Kutak Rock LLP  
 
TO:  Board of Supervisors 
 
DATE: January 7, 2026 
 
 
Subject: Resolution Adopting Alternative Investment Guidelines 

 

Staff Recommendation 

Staff recommends the Board adopt the Resolution Adopting Alternative Investment Guidelines. 

 

General Information 

This Resolution adopts a policy regarding the investment of public funds in excess of amounts 
needed for operation expenses and essentially just adopts the statutorily-permitted investment 
options: (1) Local Government Surplus Trust Fund (2) SEC registered money markets (3) 
Interest-bearing time deposits or savings accounts or (4) Direct obligations of the US Treasury. 

 

District Legal Counsel Review 

The District’s attorneys prepared by this Resolution. 

 

Funding Review 

This Resolution is not expected to affect the District’s financial condition. 

 

 

 

 

139



4902-5135-9093.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-06 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1 
ADOPTING THE ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENT GUIDELINES 
FOR INVESTING PUBLIC FUNDS IN EXCESS OF AMOUNTS 
NEEDED TO MEET CURRENT OPERATING EXPENSES, IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 218.415(17), FLORIDA 
STATUTES 

 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) of the Tradition Community Development 
District No. 1 (the “District”), is required to adopt an investment policy in accordance with Section 
218.415, Florida Statutes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board desires to adopt the alternative investment guidelines for the investment of 
public funds in excess of amounts needed to meet current operating expenses, in accordance with Section 
218.415, Florida Statutes. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1: 
 

1. ADOPTION OF ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENT GUIDELINES.  The District 
hereby adopts the alternative investment guidelines for the investment of public funds in excess of the 
amounts needed to meet current operating expenses, in accordance with Section 218.415(17), Florida 
Statutes (the “Policy”).  The District may invest in the following instruments and may divest itself of 
investments, at prevailing prices or rates: 

 
a. The Local Government Surplus Trust Fund, or any intergovernmental investment 

pool authorized pursuant to the Florida Interlocal Cooperation Act, as provided in 
Section 163.01, Florida Statutes. 

b. Securities and Exchange Commission registered money market funds with the 
highest quality rating from nationally recognized rating agency. 

c. Interest-bearing time deposits or savings accounts in qualified public depositories, 
as defined in Section 280.02, Florida Statutes. 

 d. Direct obligations of the U.S. Treasury. 
 
2. LIQUIDITY.  Securities listed in paragraphs c. and d. shall be invested to provide 

sufficient liquidity to pay obligations as they come due. 
 

3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its 
adoption. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any Policy previously adopted by the 
District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 1 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 

140



4919-5358-9635.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-06 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 
ADOPTING THE ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENT GUIDELINES 
FOR INVESTING PUBLIC FUNDS IN EXCESS OF AMOUNTS 
NEEDED TO MEET CURRENT OPERATING EXPENSES, IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 218.415(17), FLORIDA 
STATUTES 

 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) of the Tradition Community Development 
District No. 2 (the “District”), is required to adopt an investment policy in accordance with Section 
218.415, Florida Statutes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board desires to adopt the alternative investment guidelines for the investment of 
public funds in excess of amounts needed to meet current operating expenses, in accordance with Section 
218.415, Florida Statutes. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2: 
 

1. ADOPTION OF ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENT GUIDELINES.  The District 
hereby adopts the alternative investment guidelines for the investment of public funds in excess of the 
amounts needed to meet current operating expenses, in accordance with Section 218.415(17), Florida 
Statutes (the “Policy”).  The District may invest in the following instruments and may divest itself of 
investments, at prevailing prices or rates: 

 
a. The Local Government Surplus Trust Fund, or any intergovernmental investment 

pool authorized pursuant to the Florida Interlocal Cooperation Act, as provided in 
Section 163.01, Florida Statutes. 

b. Securities and Exchange Commission registered money market funds with the 
highest quality rating from nationally recognized rating agency. 

c. Interest-bearing time deposits or savings accounts in qualified public depositories, 
as defined in Section 280.02, Florida Statutes. 

 d. Direct obligations of the U.S. Treasury. 
 
2. LIQUIDITY.  Securities listed in paragraphs c. and d. shall be invested to provide 

sufficient liquidity to pay obligations as they come due. 
 

3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its 
adoption. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any Policy previously adopted by the 
District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 2 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 

141



4898-2452-1603.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-06 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 3 
ADOPTING THE ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENT GUIDELINES 
FOR INVESTING PUBLIC FUNDS IN EXCESS OF AMOUNTS 
NEEDED TO MEET CURRENT OPERATING EXPENSES, IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 218.415(17), FLORIDA 
STATUTES 

 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) of the Tradition Community Development 
District No. 3 (the “District”), is required to adopt an investment policy in accordance with Section 
218.415, Florida Statutes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board desires to adopt the alternative investment guidelines for the investment of 
public funds in excess of amounts needed to meet current operating expenses, in accordance with Section 
218.415, Florida Statutes. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 3: 
 

1. ADOPTION OF ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENT GUIDELINES.  The District 
hereby adopts the alternative investment guidelines for the investment of public funds in excess of the 
amounts needed to meet current operating expenses, in accordance with Section 218.415(17), Florida 
Statutes (the “Policy”).  The District may invest in the following instruments and may divest itself of 
investments, at prevailing prices or rates: 

 
a. The Local Government Surplus Trust Fund, or any intergovernmental investment 

pool authorized pursuant to the Florida Interlocal Cooperation Act, as provided in 
Section 163.01, Florida Statutes. 

b. Securities and Exchange Commission registered money market funds with the 
highest quality rating from nationally recognized rating agency. 

c. Interest-bearing time deposits or savings accounts in qualified public depositories, 
as defined in Section 280.02, Florida Statutes. 

 d. Direct obligations of the U.S. Treasury. 
 
2. LIQUIDITY.  Securities listed in paragraphs c. and d. shall be invested to provide 

sufficient liquidity to pay obligations as they come due. 
 

3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its 
adoption. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any Policy previously adopted by the 
District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 3 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 

142



4903-7974-2595.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-06 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 4 
ADOPTING THE ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENT GUIDELINES 
FOR INVESTING PUBLIC FUNDS IN EXCESS OF AMOUNTS 
NEEDED TO MEET CURRENT OPERATING EXPENSES, IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 218.415(17), FLORIDA 
STATUTES 

 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) of the Tradition Community Development 
District No. 4 (the “District”), is required to adopt an investment policy in accordance with Section 
218.415, Florida Statutes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board desires to adopt the alternative investment guidelines for the investment of 
public funds in excess of amounts needed to meet current operating expenses, in accordance with Section 
218.415, Florida Statutes. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 4: 
 

1. ADOPTION OF ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENT GUIDELINES.  The District 
hereby adopts the alternative investment guidelines for the investment of public funds in excess of the 
amounts needed to meet current operating expenses, in accordance with Section 218.415(17), Florida 
Statutes (the “Policy”).  The District may invest in the following instruments and may divest itself of 
investments, at prevailing prices or rates: 

 
a. The Local Government Surplus Trust Fund, or any intergovernmental investment 

pool authorized pursuant to the Florida Interlocal Cooperation Act, as provided in 
Section 163.01, Florida Statutes. 

b. Securities and Exchange Commission registered money market funds with the 
highest quality rating from nationally recognized rating agency. 

c. Interest-bearing time deposits or savings accounts in qualified public depositories, 
as defined in Section 280.02, Florida Statutes. 

 d. Direct obligations of the U.S. Treasury. 
 
2. LIQUIDITY.  Securities listed in paragraphs c. and d. shall be invested to provide 

sufficient liquidity to pay obligations as they come due. 
 

3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its 
adoption. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any Policy previously adopted by the 
District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 4 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 

143



4901-9715-9555.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-06 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5 
ADOPTING THE ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENT GUIDELINES 
FOR INVESTING PUBLIC FUNDS IN EXCESS OF AMOUNTS 
NEEDED TO MEET CURRENT OPERATING EXPENSES, IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 218.415(17), FLORIDA 
STATUTES 

 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) of the Tradition Community Development 
District No. 5 (the “District”), is required to adopt an investment policy in accordance with Section 
218.415, Florida Statutes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board desires to adopt the alternative investment guidelines for the investment of 
public funds in excess of amounts needed to meet current operating expenses, in accordance with Section 
218.415, Florida Statutes. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5: 
 

1. ADOPTION OF ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENT GUIDELINES.  The District 
hereby adopts the alternative investment guidelines for the investment of public funds in excess of the 
amounts needed to meet current operating expenses, in accordance with Section 218.415(17), Florida 
Statutes (the “Policy”).  The District may invest in the following instruments and may divest itself of 
investments, at prevailing prices or rates: 

 
a. The Local Government Surplus Trust Fund, or any intergovernmental investment 

pool authorized pursuant to the Florida Interlocal Cooperation Act, as provided in 
Section 163.01, Florida Statutes. 

b. Securities and Exchange Commission registered money market funds with the 
highest quality rating from nationally recognized rating agency. 

c. Interest-bearing time deposits or savings accounts in qualified public depositories, 
as defined in Section 280.02, Florida Statutes. 

 d. Direct obligations of the U.S. Treasury. 
 
2. LIQUIDITY.  Securities listed in paragraphs c. and d. shall be invested to provide 

sufficient liquidity to pay obligations as they come due. 
 

3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its 
adoption. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any Policy previously adopted by the 
District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 5 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 

144



4936-3812-7235.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-06 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 6 
ADOPTING THE ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENT GUIDELINES 
FOR INVESTING PUBLIC FUNDS IN EXCESS OF AMOUNTS 
NEEDED TO MEET CURRENT OPERATING EXPENSES, IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 218.415(17), FLORIDA 
STATUTES 

 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) of the Tradition Community Development 
District No. 6 (the “District”), is required to adopt an investment policy in accordance with Section 
218.415, Florida Statutes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board desires to adopt the alternative investment guidelines for the investment of 
public funds in excess of amounts needed to meet current operating expenses, in accordance with Section 
218.415, Florida Statutes. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 6: 
 

1. ADOPTION OF ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENT GUIDELINES.  The District 
hereby adopts the alternative investment guidelines for the investment of public funds in excess of the 
amounts needed to meet current operating expenses, in accordance with Section 218.415(17), Florida 
Statutes (the “Policy”).  The District may invest in the following instruments and may divest itself of 
investments, at prevailing prices or rates: 

 
a. The Local Government Surplus Trust Fund, or any intergovernmental investment 

pool authorized pursuant to the Florida Interlocal Cooperation Act, as provided in 
Section 163.01, Florida Statutes. 

b. Securities and Exchange Commission registered money market funds with the 
highest quality rating from nationally recognized rating agency. 

c. Interest-bearing time deposits or savings accounts in qualified public depositories, 
as defined in Section 280.02, Florida Statutes. 

 d. Direct obligations of the U.S. Treasury. 
 
2. LIQUIDITY.  Securities listed in paragraphs c. and d. shall be invested to provide 

sufficient liquidity to pay obligations as they come due. 
 

3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its 
adoption. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any Policy previously adopted by the 
District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 6 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 

145



4905-1881-0243.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-06 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 7 
ADOPTING THE ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENT GUIDELINES 
FOR INVESTING PUBLIC FUNDS IN EXCESS OF AMOUNTS 
NEEDED TO MEET CURRENT OPERATING EXPENSES, IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 218.415(17), FLORIDA 
STATUTES 

 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) of the Tradition Community Development 
District No. 7 (the “District”), is required to adopt an investment policy in accordance with Section 
218.415, Florida Statutes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board desires to adopt the alternative investment guidelines for the investment of 
public funds in excess of amounts needed to meet current operating expenses, in accordance with Section 
218.415, Florida Statutes. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 7: 
 

1. ADOPTION OF ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENT GUIDELINES.  The District 
hereby adopts the alternative investment guidelines for the investment of public funds in excess of the 
amounts needed to meet current operating expenses, in accordance with Section 218.415(17), Florida 
Statutes (the “Policy”).  The District may invest in the following instruments and may divest itself of 
investments, at prevailing prices or rates: 

 
a. The Local Government Surplus Trust Fund, or any intergovernmental investment 

pool authorized pursuant to the Florida Interlocal Cooperation Act, as provided in 
Section 163.01, Florida Statutes. 

b. Securities and Exchange Commission registered money market funds with the 
highest quality rating from nationally recognized rating agency. 

c. Interest-bearing time deposits or savings accounts in qualified public depositories, 
as defined in Section 280.02, Florida Statutes. 

 d. Direct obligations of the U.S. Treasury. 
 
2. LIQUIDITY.  Securities listed in paragraphs c. and d. shall be invested to provide 

sufficient liquidity to pay obligations as they come due. 
 

3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its 
adoption. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any Policy previously adopted by the 
District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 7 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 

146



4898-8297-9971.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-06 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 8 
ADOPTING THE ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENT GUIDELINES 
FOR INVESTING PUBLIC FUNDS IN EXCESS OF AMOUNTS 
NEEDED TO MEET CURRENT OPERATING EXPENSES, IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 218.415(17), FLORIDA 
STATUTES 

 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) of the Tradition Community Development 
District No. 8 (the “District”), is required to adopt an investment policy in accordance with Section 
218.415, Florida Statutes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board desires to adopt the alternative investment guidelines for the investment of 
public funds in excess of amounts needed to meet current operating expenses, in accordance with Section 
218.415, Florida Statutes. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 8: 
 

1. ADOPTION OF ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENT GUIDELINES.  The District 
hereby adopts the alternative investment guidelines for the investment of public funds in excess of the 
amounts needed to meet current operating expenses, in accordance with Section 218.415(17), Florida 
Statutes (the “Policy”).  The District may invest in the following instruments and may divest itself of 
investments, at prevailing prices or rates: 

 
a. The Local Government Surplus Trust Fund, or any intergovernmental investment 

pool authorized pursuant to the Florida Interlocal Cooperation Act, as provided in 
Section 163.01, Florida Statutes. 

b. Securities and Exchange Commission registered money market funds with the 
highest quality rating from nationally recognized rating agency. 

c. Interest-bearing time deposits or savings accounts in qualified public depositories, 
as defined in Section 280.02, Florida Statutes. 

 d. Direct obligations of the U.S. Treasury. 
 
2. LIQUIDITY.  Securities listed in paragraphs c. and d. shall be invested to provide 

sufficient liquidity to pay obligations as they come due. 
 

3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its 
adoption. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any Policy previously adopted by the 
District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 8 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 

147



4933-4111-8083.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-06 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 9 
ADOPTING THE ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENT GUIDELINES 
FOR INVESTING PUBLIC FUNDS IN EXCESS OF AMOUNTS 
NEEDED TO MEET CURRENT OPERATING EXPENSES, IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 218.415(17), FLORIDA 
STATUTES 

 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) of the Tradition Community Development 
District No. 9 (the “District”), is required to adopt an investment policy in accordance with Section 
218.415, Florida Statutes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board desires to adopt the alternative investment guidelines for the investment of 
public funds in excess of amounts needed to meet current operating expenses, in accordance with Section 
218.415, Florida Statutes. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 9: 
 

1. ADOPTION OF ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENT GUIDELINES.  The District 
hereby adopts the alternative investment guidelines for the investment of public funds in excess of the 
amounts needed to meet current operating expenses, in accordance with Section 218.415(17), Florida 
Statutes (the “Policy”).  The District may invest in the following instruments and may divest itself of 
investments, at prevailing prices or rates: 

 
a. The Local Government Surplus Trust Fund, or any intergovernmental investment 

pool authorized pursuant to the Florida Interlocal Cooperation Act, as provided in 
Section 163.01, Florida Statutes. 

b. Securities and Exchange Commission registered money market funds with the 
highest quality rating from nationally recognized rating agency. 

c. Interest-bearing time deposits or savings accounts in qualified public depositories, 
as defined in Section 280.02, Florida Statutes. 

 d. Direct obligations of the U.S. Treasury. 
 
2. LIQUIDITY.  Securities listed in paragraphs c. and d. shall be invested to provide 

sufficient liquidity to pay obligations as they come due. 
 

3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its 
adoption. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any Policy previously adopted by the 
District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 9 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 

148



4904-9082-6371.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-06 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 10 
ADOPTING THE ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENT GUIDELINES 
FOR INVESTING PUBLIC FUNDS IN EXCESS OF AMOUNTS 
NEEDED TO MEET CURRENT OPERATING EXPENSES, IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 218.415(17), FLORIDA 
STATUTES 

 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) of the Tradition Community Development 
District No. 10 (the “District”), is required to adopt an investment policy in accordance with Section 
218.415, Florida Statutes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board desires to adopt the alternative investment guidelines for the investment of 
public funds in excess of amounts needed to meet current operating expenses, in accordance with Section 
218.415, Florida Statutes. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 10: 
 

1. ADOPTION OF ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENT GUIDELINES.  The District 
hereby adopts the alternative investment guidelines for the investment of public funds in excess of the 
amounts needed to meet current operating expenses, in accordance with Section 218.415(17), Florida 
Statutes (the “Policy”).  The District may invest in the following instruments and may divest itself of 
investments, at prevailing prices or rates: 

 
a. The Local Government Surplus Trust Fund, or any intergovernmental investment 

pool authorized pursuant to the Florida Interlocal Cooperation Act, as provided in 
Section 163.01, Florida Statutes. 

b. Securities and Exchange Commission registered money market funds with the 
highest quality rating from nationally recognized rating agency. 

c. Interest-bearing time deposits or savings accounts in qualified public depositories, 
as defined in Section 280.02, Florida Statutes. 

 d. Direct obligations of the U.S. Treasury. 
 
2. LIQUIDITY.  Securities listed in paragraphs c. and d. shall be invested to provide 

sufficient liquidity to pay obligations as they come due. 
 

3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its 
adoption. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any Policy previously adopted by the 
District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 10 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 

149



4925-7297-0627.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-06 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 11 
ADOPTING THE ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENT GUIDELINES 
FOR INVESTING PUBLIC FUNDS IN EXCESS OF AMOUNTS 
NEEDED TO MEET CURRENT OPERATING EXPENSES, IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 218.415(17), FLORIDA 
STATUTES 

 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) of the Tradition Community Development 
District No. 11 (the “District”), is required to adopt an investment policy in accordance with Section 
218.415, Florida Statutes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board desires to adopt the alternative investment guidelines for the investment of 
public funds in excess of amounts needed to meet current operating expenses, in accordance with Section 
218.415, Florida Statutes. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 11: 
 

1. ADOPTION OF ALTERNATIVE INVESTMENT GUIDELINES.  The District 
hereby adopts the alternative investment guidelines for the investment of public funds in excess of the 
amounts needed to meet current operating expenses, in accordance with Section 218.415(17), Florida 
Statutes (the “Policy”).  The District may invest in the following instruments and may divest itself of 
investments, at prevailing prices or rates: 

 
a. The Local Government Surplus Trust Fund, or any intergovernmental investment 

pool authorized pursuant to the Florida Interlocal Cooperation Act, as provided in 
Section 163.01, Florida Statutes. 

b. Securities and Exchange Commission registered money market funds with the 
highest quality rating from nationally recognized rating agency. 

c. Interest-bearing time deposits or savings accounts in qualified public depositories, 
as defined in Section 280.02, Florida Statutes. 

 d. Direct obligations of the U.S. Treasury. 
 
2. LIQUIDITY.  Securities listed in paragraphs c. and d. shall be invested to provide 

sufficient liquidity to pay obligations as they come due. 
 

3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its 
adoption. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any Policy previously adopted by the 
District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 11 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 

150



Kutak Rock LLP 

107 West College Avenue, Tallahassee, FL 32301-7707 

office 850.692.7300 

 
 

  
 

7 
 

MEMORANDUM 
FROM: Kutak Rock LLP  
 
TO:  Board of Supervisors 
 
DATE: January 7, 2026 
 
 
Subject: Resolution Adopting Prompt Payment Policies 

 

Staff Recommendation 

Staff recommends the Board adopt the Resolution Adopting Prompt Payment Policies. 

 

General Information 

This resolution establishes the appropriate procedures for the payment of invoices by the District 
to ensure compliance with the Prompt Payment Act (Ch. 218, F.S.) 

District Legal Counsel Review 

The District’s attorneys prepared by this Resolution. 

 

Funding Review 

This Resolution is not expected to affect the District’s financial condition. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

151



4902-5135-9093.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-07 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1 
ADOPTING PROMPT PAYMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 218, FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING A 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

  
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 1 (the “District”) is a local 
unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, 
being situated entirely within St. Lucie, Florida; and  
 
 WHEREAS, Chapter 218, Florida Statutes, requires timely payment to vendors and 
contractors providing certain goods and/or services to the District; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (the “Board”) accordingly finds that it 
is in the best interest of the District to establish by resolution Prompt Payment Policies and 
Procedures, attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “Policies and Procedures”), as may be amended 
or updated from time to time for immediate use and application. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 1: 
 

 SECTION 1. The Policies and Procedures, attached hereto as Exhibit A, are hereby 
adopted pursuant to this Resolution as necessary for the conduct of District business. The Policies 
and Procedures shall remain in full force and effect until such time as the Board may amend or 
replace them; provided, however, that as the provisions of Chapter 218, Florida Statutes, are 
amended from time to time, the attached Policies and Procedures shall automatically be amended 
to incorporate the new requirements of law without any further action by the Board.   
 
 SECTION 2.   If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other 
provisions shall remain in full force and effect.   
 
 SECTION 3. This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain in 
effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Policies and Procedures previously adopted by the District. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January 2026. 
 
ATTEST:       TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1 
 
_________________________________  ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary    Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 
Exhibit A:  Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 

152



4902-5135-9093.1  

 
 

Exhibit A 
 
 
 

TRADITION  
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT NO. 1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 
In Accordance with the Local Government Prompt Payment Act  

Chapter 218, Part VII, Florida Statutes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

January 7, 2026

153



4902-5135-9093.1  

 
Tradition Community Development District No. 1 

Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 
 

Table of Contents 
 
I. Purpose  ........................................................................................................................ 1 
 
II. Scope   .......................................................................................................................... 1 
 
III. Definitions  .................................................................................................................. 1 

A. Agent    ........................................................................................................... 1 
B. Construction Services   .................................................................................. 1 
C. Contractor or Provider of Construction Services   ......................................... 1 
D. Date Stamped   ............................................................................................... 1 
E. Improper Invoice   .......................................................................................... 2 
F. Improper Payment Request  ........................................................................... 2 
G. Non-Construction Goods and Services .......................................................... 2 
H. Proper Invoice   .............................................................................................. 2 
I. Proper Payment Request   .............................................................................. 2 
J. Provider  ......................................................................................................... 2 
K. Purchase   ....................................................................................................... 2 
L. Vendor  .......................................................................................................... 2 

 
IV. Proper Invoice/Payment Request Requirements   ........................................................ 3 

A. General   ......................................................................................................... 3 
B. Sales Tax   ...................................................................................................... 3 
C. Federal Identification and Social Security Numbers  .................................... 3 
D. Proper Invoice for Non-Construction Goods and Services  .......................... 3 
E. Proper Payment Request Requirements for Construction Services ............... 4 

 
V. Submission of Invoices and Payment Requests   ......................................................... 4 
 
VI. Calculation of Payment Due Date  ............................................................................... 5 

A. Non-Construction Goods and Services Invoices   ......................................... 5 
B. Payment Requests for Construction Services   .............................................. 6 

 
VII. ..........................................................................................................................     

Resolution of Disputes   ................................................................................................... 7 
A. Dispute Between the District and a Provider   ............................................... 7 
B. Dispute Resolution Procedures  ..................................................................... 7 

 
VIII. Purchases Involving Federal Funds or Bond Funds .................................................... 8 

154



4902-5135-9093.1  

 
IX.      Requirements for Construction Services Contracts – Project Completion; Retainage   

9 
 
X.      Late Payment Interest Charges   ................................................................................. 9 

A. Related to Non-Construction Goods and Services  ....................................... 9 
B. Related to Construction Services    ................................................................ 9 
C. Report of Interest   .........................................................................................10

155



 
 

I.             Purpose 
In accordance with the Local Government Prompt Payment Act (Chapter 218, Part VII, 
Florida Statutes) (“PPA”), the purpose of the Tradition Community Development District 
No. 1 (“District”) Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures (“Policies & Procedures”) is 
to provide a specific policy to ensure timely payment to Vendors and Contractors (both 
hereinafter defined) providing goods and/or services to the District and ensure the timely 
receipt by the District of goods and/or services contemplated at the time of contracting.  
Please note that the PPA, like any statute or law, may be amended from time to time by 
legislative action.  These Policies & Procedures are based on the statutory requirements 
as of the date identified on the cover page of this document.  By this reference, as 
applicable statutory provisions subsequently change, these Policies & Procedures shall 
automatically be amended to incorporate the new requirements of law.  These Policies & 
Procedures are adopted by the District to provide guidance in contracting matters.  Failure 
by the District to comply with these Policies & Procedures shall not expand the rights or 
remedies of any Provider (hereinafter defined) against the District under the PPA.  
Nothing contained herein shall be interpreted as more restrictive on the District than what 
is provided for in the PPA. 

 
II. Scope 

These Policies & Procedures apply to all operations of the District, including Construction 
Services and Non-Construction Goods and Services, as applicable. 

 
III. Definitions 

 
A. Agent 

The District-contracted architect, District-contracted engineer, District Manager, or 
other person, acting on behalf of the District, which is required by law or contract 
to review invoices or payment requests from Providers (hereinafter defined).  Such 
individuals/entities must be identified in accordance with §218.735 (1), Fla. Stat., 
and further identified in the relevant agreement between the District and the 
Provider. 

 
B. Construction Services 

All labor, services, and materials provided in connection with the construction, 
alteration, repair, demolition, reconstruction, or other improvement to real property 
that require a license under parts I and II of Chapter 489, Fla. Stat. 

 
C. Contractor or Provider of Construction Services 

The entity or individual that provides Construction Services through direct contract 
with the District. 

 
D. Date Stamped 

Each original and revised invoice or payment request received by the District shall 
be marked electronically or manually, by use of a date stamp or other method, 

156



 
 

which date marking clearly indicates the date such invoice or payment request is 
first delivered to the District through its Agent.  In the event that the Agent receives 
an invoice or payment request but fails to timely or physically mark on the 
document the date received, “Date Stamped” shall mean the date of actual receipt 
by the Agent. 

 
E. Improper Invoice 

An invoice that does not conform to the requirements of a Proper Invoice. 
 

F. Improper Payment Request 
A request for payment for Construction Services that does not conform to the 
requirements of a Proper Payment Request. 
 

G. Non-Construction Goods and Services 
All labor, services, goods and materials provided in connection with anything other 
than construction, alteration, repair, demolition, reconstruction, or other 
improvements to real property. 
 

H. Proper Invoice 
An invoice that conforms to all statutory requirements, all requirements of these 
Policies and Procedures not expressly waived by the District and any additional 
requirements included in the agreement for goods and/or services for which the 
invoice is submitted not expressly waived by the District.  

 
I. Proper Payment Request 

A request for payment for Construction Services which conforms to all statutory 
requirements, all requirements of these Policies & Procedures not expressly waived 
by the District and any additional requirements included in the Construction 
Services agreement for which the Payment Request is submitted not expressly 
waived by the District. 

 
J. Provider 

Includes any Vendor, Contractor or Provider of Construction Services, as defined 
herein. 

 
 K. Purchase 

The purchase of goods, materials, services, or Construction Services; the purchase 
or lease of personal property; or the lease of real property by the District. 

 
L. Vendor 

Any person or entity that sells goods or services, sells or leases personal property, 
or leases real property directly to the District, not including Construction Services. 

  

157



 
 

IV. Proper Invoice/Payment Request Requirements 
 
 A. General 

Prior to Provider receiving payment from the District, Non-Construction Goods and 
Services and Construction Services, as applicable, shall be received and performed 
in accordance with contractual or other specifications or requirements to the 
satisfaction of the District. Provision or delivery of Non-Construction Goods and 
Services to the District does not constitute acceptance for the purpose of payment.  
Final acceptance and authorization of payment shall be made only after delivery 
and inspection by the Agent and the Agent’s confirmation that the Non-
Construction Goods and Services or Construction Services meet contract 
specifications and conditions.  Should the Non-Construction Goods and Services 
or Construction Services differ in any respect from the specifications, payment may 
be withheld until such time as the Provider takes necessary corrective action.  
Certain limited exceptions which require payment in advance are permitted when 
authorized by the District Board of Supervisors (“Board”) or when provided for in 
the applicable agreement. 

 
B. Sales Tax 

Providers should not include sales tax on any invoice or payment request. The 
District’s current tax-exempt number is _________________.  A copy of the tax-
exempt form will be supplied to Providers upon request. 

 
C. Federal Identification and Social Security Numbers  

Providers are paid using either a Federal Identification Number or Social Security 
Number.  To receive payment, Providers should supply the District with the correct 
number as well as a proper Internal Revenue Service W-9 Form.  The District 
Manager shall treat information provided in accordance with Florida law. 

 
Providers should notify the District Manager when changes in data occur (telephone 
(561) 571-0010, email bsakuma@sdsinc.org). 

 
D. Proper Invoice for Non-Construction Goods and Services  

All Non-Construction Goods and Services invoiced must be supplied or performed 
in accordance with the applicable purchase order (including any bid/proposal 
provided, if applicable) or agreement and such Non-Construction Goods and 
Services quantity and quality must be equal to or better than what is required by 
such terms.  Unless otherwise specified in the applicable agreement, invoices 
should contain all of the following minimum information in order to be considered 
a Proper Invoice: 
 
1. Name of Vendor 
2. Remittance address 
3. Invoice Date 

158



 
 

4. Invoice number 
5. The “Bill To” party must be the District or the Board, or other entity approved 

in writing by the Board or the District Manager 
6. Project name (if applicable) 
7. In addition to the information required in Section IV.D.1-6 above, invoices 

involving the purchase of goods should also contain: 
a. A complete item description 
b. Quantity purchased 
c. Unit price(s) 
d. Total price (for each item) 
e. Total amount of invoice (all items) 
f. The location and date(s) of delivery of the goods to the District 

8. In addition to the information required in Section IV.D.1-6 above, invoices 
involving the purchase of services should also contain: 

a. Itemized description of services performed 
b. The location and date of delivery of the services to the District 
c. Billing method for services performed (i.e., approved hourly rates, 

percentage of completion, cost plus fixed fee, direct/actual costs, etc.) 
d. Itemization of other direct, reimbursable costs (including description 

and amount) 
e. Copies of invoices for other direct, reimbursable costs (other than 

incidental costs such as copying) and one (1) of the following: 
i. Copy of both sides of a cancelled check evidencing payment for 

costs submitted for reimbursement 
ii. Paid receipt 

iii. Waiver/lien release from subcontractor (if applicable) 
9. Any applicable discounts 
10. Any other information or documentation, which may be required or specified 

under the terms of the purchase order or agreement 
 

E. Proper Payment Request Requirements for Construction Services 
Payment Requests must conform to all requirements of Section IV.A.-D., above, 
unless otherwise specified in the terms of the applicable agreement or purchase 
order between the District and the Contractor. 

 
V. Submission of Invoices and Payment Requests  

The Provider shall submit all Invoices and Payment Requests for both Construction 
Services and Non-Construction Goods and Services to the District’s Agent as provided in 
the purchase order or agreement, as applicable, and to the District Manager as follows: 
 

159



 
 

Submit the invoice and/or payment request, with required additional material and 
in conformance with these Policies and Procedures, by mail, by hand delivery, or 
via email (Note: email is the preferred method for receipt of Non-Construction 
Goods and Services invoices). 

 
1. Mailing and Drop Off Address 

 
Tradition Community Development District No. 1 
c/o Special District Services, Inc. 
10521 SW Village Center Dr., Suite #203 
Port St. Lucie, FL 34987  
 

2.  Email Address 
   bsakuma@sdsinc.org 
 
VI. Calculation of Payment Due Date 
  
 A. Non-Construction Goods and Services Invoices  
 
  1. Receipt of Proper Invoice  

Payment is due from the District forty-five (45) calendar days from the date 
on which a Proper Invoice is Date Stamped.   

 
2. Receipt of Improper Invoice  

If an Improper Invoice is received, a required invoice is not received, or 
invoicing of a request for payment is not required, the time when payment 
is due from the District is forty-five (45) days from the latest date of the 
following: 

a. On which delivery of personal property is fully accepted by the 
District; 

b. On which services are completed and accepted by the District; 
c. On which the contracted rental period begins (if applicable); or 
d. On which the District and the Vendor agree in a written agreement 

that provides payment due dates. 
 

3. Rejection of an Improper Invoice 
The District may reject an Improper Invoice.  Within ten (10) business days 
of receipt of the Improper Invoice by the District, the Vendor must be 
notified that the invoice is improper and be given an opportunity to correct 
the deficient or missing information, remedy the faulty work, replace the 
defective goods, or take other necessary, remedial action. 

 
The District’s rejection of an Improper Invoice must: 

1. Be provided in writing; 

160



 
 

2. Specify any and all known deficiencies; and 
3. State actions necessary to correct the Improper Invoice. 

 
If the Vendor submits a corrected invoice, which corrects the deficiencies 
specified in the District’s written rejection, the District must pay the 
corrected invoice within the later of: (a) ten (10) business days after date the 
corrected invoice is Date Stamped; or (b) forty-five (45) days after the date 
the Improper Invoice was Date Stamped. 
 
If the Vendor submits an invoice in response to the District’s written 
rejection which fails to correct the deficiencies specified or continues to be 
an Improper Invoice, the District must reject that invoice as stated herein. 
 

4. Payment of Undisputed Portion of Invoice 
If the District disputes a portion of an invoice, the undisputed portion shall 
be paid in a timely manner and in accordance with the due dates for payment 
as specified in these Policies & Procedures. 

 
B. Payment Requests for Construction Services  

 
1. Receipt of Proper Payment Request 

The time at which payment is due for Construction Services from the 
 District is as follows: 

 
a. If an Agent must approve the payment request before it is submitted to 
the District Manager, payment (whether full or partial) is due twenty-five 
(25) business days after the payment request is Date Stamped. The 
Contractor may send the District an overdue notice.  If the payment request 
is not rejected within four (4) business days after Date Stamp of the overdue 
notice, the payment request shall be deemed accepted, except for any 
portion of the payment request that is fraudulent, misleading or is the subject 
of dispute. 

 
The agreement between the District and the Contractor shall identify the 
Agent to which the Contractor shall submit its payment request, or shall be 
provided by the District through a separate written notice no later than ten 
(10) days after contract award or notice to proceed, whichever is later. 
Contractor’s submission of a payment request to the Agent shall be Date 
Stamped, which shall commence the time periods for payment or rejection 
of a payment request or invoice as provided in this section. 

 
b. If, pursuant to contract, an Agent is not required to approve the payment 
request submitted to the District, payment is due twenty (20) business days 

161



 
 

after the payment request is Date Stamped unless such payment request 
includes fraudulent or misleading information or is the subject of dispute. 

 
2. Receipt and Rejection of Improper Payment Request 

a. If an Improper Payment Request is received, the District must reject the 
Improper Payment Request within twenty (20) business days after the date 
on which the payment request is Date Stamped.  

 
b. The District’s rejection of the Improper Payment Request must: 

1. Be provided in writing; 
2. Specify any and all known deficiencies; and 
3. State actions necessary to correct the Improper Invoice. 

 
c. If a Contractor submits a payment request which corrects the deficiency 
specified in the District’s written rejection, the District must pay or reject 
the corrected submission no later than ten (10) business days after the date 
the corrected payment request is Date Stamped. 

 
3.   Payment of Undisputed Portion of Payment Request 

If the District disputes a portion of a payment request, the undisputed 
portion shall be paid by the date required under the contract or by twenty 
(20) business days after receipt of the request, whichever is earlier. 

 
VII. Resolution of Disputes 
 

If a dispute arises between a Provider and the District concerning payment of an invoice or 
payment request, the dispute shall be resolved as set forth in § 218.735, Fla. Stat., for 
Construction Services, and § 218.76, Fla. Stat. for Non-Construction Goods and Services. 
 
A. Dispute between the District and a Contractor 

If a dispute between the District and a Contractor cannot be resolved following 
resubmission of a payment request by the Contractor, the dispute must be resolved 
in accordance with the dispute resolution procedure prescribed in the construction 
contract, if any. In the absence of a prescribed procedure in the contract, the dispute 
must be resolved by the procedures specified below. 

 
B. Dispute Resolution Procedures 

 
1. If an Improper Payment Request or Improper Invoice is submitted, and the 

Provider refuses or fails to submit a revised payment request or invoice as 
contemplated by the PPA and these Policies and Procedures, the Provider 
shall, not later than thirty (30) days after the date on which the last payment 
request or invoice was Date Stamped, submit a written statement via 
certified mail to the Agent, copying the District Manager, specifying the 

162



 
 

basis upon which the Provider contends the last submitted payment request 
or invoice was proper. 

 
2. Within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt by the Agent and District 

Manager of the disputed, last-submitted payment request or invoice, the 
Agent and/or District Manager shall commence investigation of the dispute 
and render a final decision on the matter no later than forty-five (45) 
calendar days after the date on which the last-submitted payment request or 
invoice is Date Stamped. 

 
3. Absent a written agreement to the contrary, if the Provider refuses or fails 

to provide the written statement required above, the Agent and/or District 
Manager is not required to contact the Provider in the investigation.  In 
addition, and absent a written agreement to the contrary, if such written 
statement is not provided, the District may immediately contract with third 
parties to provide the goods and services subject to the dispute and deduct 
the costs of such third party purchases from amounts owed to the Provider. 

 
4. The Board shall approve any decision of the District Manager to contract 

with a third party which would result in: 1) an expenditure above what is 
budgeted for the Construction Services or Non-Construction Services; or 2) 
an expenditure which exceeds the original contract amount for the 
Construction Services or Non-Construction Services by more than ten 
percent (10%) or Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000), whichever is less. 

 
5. A written explanation of the final decision shall be sent to the Provider, via 

certified mail, within five (5) business days from the date on which such 
final decision is made.  A copy of the written explanation of the final 
decision shall be provided to the Chairperson of the Board simultaneously 
with the certified mailing to the Provider. 

 
6. If a Provider does not accept in writing the final decision within five (5) 

business days after receipt by the Provider, the District may immediately 
contract with third parties to provide the goods and services subject to the 
dispute and deduct the costs of such third party purchases from amounts 
owed to the Provider.  If the costs of the third party purchases exceed the 
amount the District owes to the Provider, the District may seek to recover 
such excess from the Provider in a court of law or as otherwise provided in 
an agreement between the District and the Provider.  Nothing contained 
herein shall limit or affect the District’s ability to enforce all of its legal and 
contractual rights and remedies against the Provider. 

    
VIII.  Purchases Involving Federal Funds or Bond Funds 
 

163



 
 

When the District intends to pay for a purchase with federal funds or bond funds, the 
District shall make such purchases only upon reasonable assurances that federal funds or 
bond funds sufficient to cover the cost will be received.  When payment is contingent upon 
the receipt of bond funds, federal funds or federal approval, the public procurement 
documents and any agreement with a Provider shall clearly state such contingency. (§ 
218.77, Fla. Stat.). 
 

IX. Requirements for Construction Services Contracts – Project Completion;  
 Retainage 
 

The District intends to follow the PPA requirements for construction project completion 
and retainage, including, but not limited to, § 218.735 (7) and (8), Fla. Stat. 

 

X. Late Payment Interest Charges 

 
Failure on the part of the District to make timely payments may result in District 
responsibility for late payment interest charges.  No agreement between the District and a 
Provider may prohibit the collection of late payment interest charges allowable under the 
PPA as mandatory interest. (§218.75, Fla. Stat.). 

 
A. Related to Non-Construction Goods and Services 

All payments due from the District, and not made within the time specified within 
this policy or as required by applicable law, will bear interest, from thirty (30) days 
after the due date, at the rate provided in Section 218.74(4), Fla. Stat.  The Vendor 
must submit a Proper Invoice to the District for any interest accrued in order to 
receive the interest payment. (§ 218.74 (4), Fla. Stat.). 

 
An overdue period of less than one (1) month is considered as one (1) month in 
computing interest.  Unpaid interest is compounded monthly.  The term one (1) 
month means a period beginning on any day of a month and ending on the same 
day of the following month. 

 
B. Related to Construction Services 

All payments for Construction Services that are not made within the time periods 
specified within the applicable statute, shall bear interest after the due date, at the 
rate of one percent (1%) per month, or the rate specified by agreement, whichever 
is greater. (§ 218.735 (9), Fla. Stat.). The Contractor must submit a Proper Payment 
Request to the District for any interest accrued in order to receive the interest 
payment.  (§ 218.735 (9), Fla. Stat.). An overdue period of less than one (1) month 
is considered as one (1) month in computing interest.  

 

164



 
 

Unpaid interest is compounded monthly.  The term one (1) month means a period 
beginning on any day of a month and ending on the same day of the following 
month. 

 
C. Report of Interest 

If the total amount of interest paid during the preceding fiscal year exceeds $250, 
the District Manager is required to submit a report to the Board during December 
of each year, stating the number of interest payments made and the total amount of 
such payments. (§ 218.78, Fla. Stat.). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

165



4919-5358-9635.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-07 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 
ADOPTING PROMPT PAYMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 218, FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING A 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

  
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 2 (the “District”) is a local 
unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, 
being situated entirely within St. Lucie, Florida; and  
 
 WHEREAS, Chapter 218, Florida Statutes, requires timely payment to vendors and 
contractors providing certain goods and/or services to the District; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (the “Board”) accordingly finds that it 
is in the best interest of the District to establish by resolution Prompt Payment Policies and 
Procedures, attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “Policies and Procedures”), as may be amended 
or updated from time to time for immediate use and application. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 2: 
 

 SECTION 1. The Policies and Procedures, attached hereto as Exhibit A, are hereby 
adopted pursuant to this Resolution as necessary for the conduct of District business. The Policies 
and Procedures shall remain in full force and effect until such time as the Board may amend or 
replace them; provided, however, that as the provisions of Chapter 218, Florida Statutes, are 
amended from time to time, the attached Policies and Procedures shall automatically be amended 
to incorporate the new requirements of law without any further action by the Board.   
 
 SECTION 2.   If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other 
provisions shall remain in full force and effect.   
 
 SECTION 3. This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain in 
effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Policies and Procedures previously adopted by the District. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January 2026. 
 
ATTEST:       TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 
 
_________________________________  ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary    Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 
Exhibit A:  Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 

166



4919-5358-9635.1  

 
 

Exhibit A 
 
 
 

TRADITION  
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT NO. 2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 
In Accordance with the Local Government Prompt Payment Act  

Chapter 218, Part VII, Florida Statutes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

January 7, 2026

167



4919-5358-9635.1  

 
Tradition Community Development District No. 2 

Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 
 

Table of Contents 
 
I. Purpose  ........................................................................................................................ 1 
 
II. Scope   .......................................................................................................................... 1 
 
III. Definitions  .................................................................................................................. 1 

A. Agent    ........................................................................................................... 1 
B. Construction Services   .................................................................................. 1 
C. Contractor or Provider of Construction Services   ......................................... 1 
D. Date Stamped   ............................................................................................... 1 
E. Improper Invoice   .......................................................................................... 2 
F. Improper Payment Request  ........................................................................... 2 
G. Non-Construction Goods and Services .......................................................... 2 
H. Proper Invoice   .............................................................................................. 2 
I. Proper Payment Request   .............................................................................. 2 
J. Provider  ......................................................................................................... 2 
K. Purchase   ....................................................................................................... 2 
L. Vendor  .......................................................................................................... 2 

 
IV. Proper Invoice/Payment Request Requirements   ........................................................ 3 

A. General   ......................................................................................................... 3 
B. Sales Tax   ...................................................................................................... 3 
C. Federal Identification and Social Security Numbers  .................................... 3 
D. Proper Invoice for Non-Construction Goods and Services  .......................... 3 
E. Proper Payment Request Requirements for Construction Services ............... 4 

 
V. Submission of Invoices and Payment Requests   ......................................................... 4 
 
VI. Calculation of Payment Due Date  ............................................................................... 5 

A. Non-Construction Goods and Services Invoices   ......................................... 5 
B. Payment Requests for Construction Services   .............................................. 6 

 
VII. ..........................................................................................................................     

Resolution of Disputes   ................................................................................................... 7 
A. Dispute Between the District and a Provider   ............................................... 7 
B. Dispute Resolution Procedures  ..................................................................... 7 

 
VIII. Purchases Involving Federal Funds or Bond Funds .................................................... 8 

168



4919-5358-9635.1  

 
IX.      Requirements for Construction Services Contracts – Project Completion; Retainage   

9 
 
X.      Late Payment Interest Charges   ................................................................................. 9 

A. Related to Non-Construction Goods and Services  ....................................... 9 
B. Related to Construction Services    ................................................................ 9 
C. Report of Interest   .........................................................................................10

169



 
 

I.             Purpose 
In accordance with the Local Government Prompt Payment Act (Chapter 218, Part VII, 
Florida Statutes) (“PPA”), the purpose of the Tradition Community Development District 
No. 2 (“District”) Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures (“Policies & Procedures”) is 
to provide a specific policy to ensure timely payment to Vendors and Contractors (both 
hereinafter defined) providing goods and/or services to the District and ensure the timely 
receipt by the District of goods and/or services contemplated at the time of contracting.  
Please note that the PPA, like any statute or law, may be amended from time to time by 
legislative action.  These Policies & Procedures are based on the statutory requirements 
as of the date identified on the cover page of this document.  By this reference, as 
applicable statutory provisions subsequently change, these Policies & Procedures shall 
automatically be amended to incorporate the new requirements of law.  These Policies & 
Procedures are adopted by the District to provide guidance in contracting matters.  Failure 
by the District to comply with these Policies & Procedures shall not expand the rights or 
remedies of any Provider (hereinafter defined) against the District under the PPA.  
Nothing contained herein shall be interpreted as more restrictive on the District than what 
is provided for in the PPA. 

 
II. Scope 

These Policies & Procedures apply to all operations of the District, including Construction 
Services and Non-Construction Goods and Services, as applicable. 

 
III. Definitions 

 
A. Agent 

The District-contracted architect, District-contracted engineer, District Manager, or 
other person, acting on behalf of the District, which is required by law or contract 
to review invoices or payment requests from Providers (hereinafter defined).  Such 
individuals/entities must be identified in accordance with §218.735 (1), Fla. Stat., 
and further identified in the relevant agreement between the District and the 
Provider. 

 
B. Construction Services 

All labor, services, and materials provided in connection with the construction, 
alteration, repair, demolition, reconstruction, or other improvement to real property 
that require a license under parts I and II of Chapter 489, Fla. Stat. 

 
C. Contractor or Provider of Construction Services 

The entity or individual that provides Construction Services through direct contract 
with the District. 

 
D. Date Stamped 

Each original and revised invoice or payment request received by the District shall 
be marked electronically or manually, by use of a date stamp or other method, 

170



 
 

which date marking clearly indicates the date such invoice or payment request is 
first delivered to the District through its Agent.  In the event that the Agent receives 
an invoice or payment request but fails to timely or physically mark on the 
document the date received, “Date Stamped” shall mean the date of actual receipt 
by the Agent. 

 
E. Improper Invoice 

An invoice that does not conform to the requirements of a Proper Invoice. 
 

F. Improper Payment Request 
A request for payment for Construction Services that does not conform to the 
requirements of a Proper Payment Request. 
 

G. Non-Construction Goods and Services 
All labor, services, goods and materials provided in connection with anything other 
than construction, alteration, repair, demolition, reconstruction, or other 
improvements to real property. 
 

H. Proper Invoice 
An invoice that conforms to all statutory requirements, all requirements of these 
Policies and Procedures not expressly waived by the District and any additional 
requirements included in the agreement for goods and/or services for which the 
invoice is submitted not expressly waived by the District.  

 
I. Proper Payment Request 

A request for payment for Construction Services which conforms to all statutory 
requirements, all requirements of these Policies & Procedures not expressly waived 
by the District and any additional requirements included in the Construction 
Services agreement for which the Payment Request is submitted not expressly 
waived by the District. 

 
J. Provider 

Includes any Vendor, Contractor or Provider of Construction Services, as defined 
herein. 

 
 K. Purchase 

The purchase of goods, materials, services, or Construction Services; the purchase 
or lease of personal property; or the lease of real property by the District. 

 
L. Vendor 

Any person or entity that sells goods or services, sells or leases personal property, 
or leases real property directly to the District, not including Construction Services. 

  

171



 
 

IV. Proper Invoice/Payment Request Requirements 
 
 A. General 

Prior to Provider receiving payment from the District, Non-Construction Goods and 
Services and Construction Services, as applicable, shall be received and performed 
in accordance with contractual or other specifications or requirements to the 
satisfaction of the District. Provision or delivery of Non-Construction Goods and 
Services to the District does not constitute acceptance for the purpose of payment.  
Final acceptance and authorization of payment shall be made only after delivery 
and inspection by the Agent and the Agent’s confirmation that the Non-
Construction Goods and Services or Construction Services meet contract 
specifications and conditions.  Should the Non-Construction Goods and Services 
or Construction Services differ in any respect from the specifications, payment may 
be withheld until such time as the Provider takes necessary corrective action.  
Certain limited exceptions which require payment in advance are permitted when 
authorized by the District Board of Supervisors (“Board”) or when provided for in 
the applicable agreement. 

 
B. Sales Tax 

Providers should not include sales tax on any invoice or payment request. The 
District’s current tax-exempt number is _________________.  A copy of the tax-
exempt form will be supplied to Providers upon request. 

 
C. Federal Identification and Social Security Numbers  

Providers are paid using either a Federal Identification Number or Social Security 
Number.  To receive payment, Providers should supply the District with the correct 
number as well as a proper Internal Revenue Service W-9 Form.  The District 
Manager shall treat information provided in accordance with Florida law. 

 
Providers should notify the District Manager when changes in data occur (telephone 
(561) 571-0010, email bsakuma@sdsinc.org). 

 
D. Proper Invoice for Non-Construction Goods and Services  

All Non-Construction Goods and Services invoiced must be supplied or performed 
in accordance with the applicable purchase order (including any bid/proposal 
provided, if applicable) or agreement and such Non-Construction Goods and 
Services quantity and quality must be equal to or better than what is required by 
such terms.  Unless otherwise specified in the applicable agreement, invoices 
should contain all of the following minimum information in order to be considered 
a Proper Invoice: 
 
1. Name of Vendor 
2. Remittance address 
3. Invoice Date 

172



 
 

4. Invoice number 
5. The “Bill To” party must be the District or the Board, or other entity approved 

in writing by the Board or the District Manager 
6. Project name (if applicable) 
7. In addition to the information required in Section IV.D.1-6 above, invoices 

involving the purchase of goods should also contain: 
a. A complete item description 
b. Quantity purchased 
c. Unit price(s) 
d. Total price (for each item) 
e. Total amount of invoice (all items) 
f. The location and date(s) of delivery of the goods to the District 

8. In addition to the information required in Section IV.D.1-6 above, invoices 
involving the purchase of services should also contain: 

a. Itemized description of services performed 
b. The location and date of delivery of the services to the District 
c. Billing method for services performed (i.e., approved hourly rates, 

percentage of completion, cost plus fixed fee, direct/actual costs, etc.) 
d. Itemization of other direct, reimbursable costs (including description 

and amount) 
e. Copies of invoices for other direct, reimbursable costs (other than 

incidental costs such as copying) and one (1) of the following: 
i. Copy of both sides of a cancelled check evidencing payment for 

costs submitted for reimbursement 
ii. Paid receipt 

iii. Waiver/lien release from subcontractor (if applicable) 
9. Any applicable discounts 
10. Any other information or documentation, which may be required or specified 

under the terms of the purchase order or agreement 
 

E. Proper Payment Request Requirements for Construction Services 
Payment Requests must conform to all requirements of Section IV.A.-D., above, 
unless otherwise specified in the terms of the applicable agreement or purchase 
order between the District and the Contractor. 

 
V. Submission of Invoices and Payment Requests  

The Provider shall submit all Invoices and Payment Requests for both Construction 
Services and Non-Construction Goods and Services to the District’s Agent as provided in 
the purchase order or agreement, as applicable, and to the District Manager as follows: 
 

173



 
 

Submit the invoice and/or payment request, with required additional material and 
in conformance with these Policies and Procedures, by mail, by hand delivery, or 
via email (Note: email is the preferred method for receipt of Non-Construction 
Goods and Services invoices). 

 
1. Mailing and Drop Off Address 

 
Tradition Community Development District No. 2 
c/o Special District Services, Inc. 
10521 SW Village Center Dr., Suite #203 
Port St. Lucie, FL 34987  
 

2.  Email Address 
   bsakuma@sdsinc.org 
 
VI. Calculation of Payment Due Date 
  
 A. Non-Construction Goods and Services Invoices  
 
  1. Receipt of Proper Invoice  

Payment is due from the District forty-five (45) calendar days from the date 
on which a Proper Invoice is Date Stamped.   

 
2. Receipt of Improper Invoice  

If an Improper Invoice is received, a required invoice is not received, or 
invoicing of a request for payment is not required, the time when payment 
is due from the District is forty-five (45) days from the latest date of the 
following: 

a. On which delivery of personal property is fully accepted by the 
District; 

b. On which services are completed and accepted by the District; 
c. On which the contracted rental period begins (if applicable); or 
d. On which the District and the Vendor agree in a written agreement 

that provides payment due dates. 
 

3. Rejection of an Improper Invoice 
The District may reject an Improper Invoice.  Within ten (10) business days 
of receipt of the Improper Invoice by the District, the Vendor must be 
notified that the invoice is improper and be given an opportunity to correct 
the deficient or missing information, remedy the faulty work, replace the 
defective goods, or take other necessary, remedial action. 

 
The District’s rejection of an Improper Invoice must: 

1. Be provided in writing; 

174



 
 

2. Specify any and all known deficiencies; and 
3. State actions necessary to correct the Improper Invoice. 

 
If the Vendor submits a corrected invoice, which corrects the deficiencies 
specified in the District’s written rejection, the District must pay the 
corrected invoice within the later of: (a) ten (10) business days after date the 
corrected invoice is Date Stamped; or (b) forty-five (45) days after the date 
the Improper Invoice was Date Stamped. 
 
If the Vendor submits an invoice in response to the District’s written 
rejection which fails to correct the deficiencies specified or continues to be 
an Improper Invoice, the District must reject that invoice as stated herein. 
 

4. Payment of Undisputed Portion of Invoice 
If the District disputes a portion of an invoice, the undisputed portion shall 
be paid in a timely manner and in accordance with the due dates for payment 
as specified in these Policies & Procedures. 

 
B. Payment Requests for Construction Services  

 
1. Receipt of Proper Payment Request 

The time at which payment is due for Construction Services from the 
 District is as follows: 

 
a. If an Agent must approve the payment request before it is submitted to 
the District Manager, payment (whether full or partial) is due twenty-five 
(25) business days after the payment request is Date Stamped. The 
Contractor may send the District an overdue notice.  If the payment request 
is not rejected within four (4) business days after Date Stamp of the overdue 
notice, the payment request shall be deemed accepted, except for any 
portion of the payment request that is fraudulent, misleading or is the subject 
of dispute. 

 
The agreement between the District and the Contractor shall identify the 
Agent to which the Contractor shall submit its payment request, or shall be 
provided by the District through a separate written notice no later than ten 
(10) days after contract award or notice to proceed, whichever is later. 
Contractor’s submission of a payment request to the Agent shall be Date 
Stamped, which shall commence the time periods for payment or rejection 
of a payment request or invoice as provided in this section. 

 
b. If, pursuant to contract, an Agent is not required to approve the payment 
request submitted to the District, payment is due twenty (20) business days 

175



 
 

after the payment request is Date Stamped unless such payment request 
includes fraudulent or misleading information or is the subject of dispute. 

 
2. Receipt and Rejection of Improper Payment Request 

a. If an Improper Payment Request is received, the District must reject the 
Improper Payment Request within twenty (20) business days after the date 
on which the payment request is Date Stamped.  

 
b. The District’s rejection of the Improper Payment Request must: 

1. Be provided in writing; 
2. Specify any and all known deficiencies; and 
3. State actions necessary to correct the Improper Invoice. 

 
c. If a Contractor submits a payment request which corrects the deficiency 
specified in the District’s written rejection, the District must pay or reject 
the corrected submission no later than ten (10) business days after the date 
the corrected payment request is Date Stamped. 

 
3.   Payment of Undisputed Portion of Payment Request 

If the District disputes a portion of a payment request, the undisputed 
portion shall be paid by the date required under the contract or by twenty 
(20) business days after receipt of the request, whichever is earlier. 

 
VII. Resolution of Disputes 
 

If a dispute arises between a Provider and the District concerning payment of an invoice or 
payment request, the dispute shall be resolved as set forth in § 218.735, Fla. Stat., for 
Construction Services, and § 218.76, Fla. Stat. for Non-Construction Goods and Services. 
 
A. Dispute between the District and a Contractor 

If a dispute between the District and a Contractor cannot be resolved following 
resubmission of a payment request by the Contractor, the dispute must be resolved 
in accordance with the dispute resolution procedure prescribed in the construction 
contract, if any. In the absence of a prescribed procedure in the contract, the dispute 
must be resolved by the procedures specified below. 

 
B. Dispute Resolution Procedures 

 
1. If an Improper Payment Request or Improper Invoice is submitted, and the 

Provider refuses or fails to submit a revised payment request or invoice as 
contemplated by the PPA and these Policies and Procedures, the Provider 
shall, not later than thirty (30) days after the date on which the last payment 
request or invoice was Date Stamped, submit a written statement via 
certified mail to the Agent, copying the District Manager, specifying the 

176



 
 

basis upon which the Provider contends the last submitted payment request 
or invoice was proper. 

 
2. Within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt by the Agent and District 

Manager of the disputed, last-submitted payment request or invoice, the 
Agent and/or District Manager shall commence investigation of the dispute 
and render a final decision on the matter no later than forty-five (45) 
calendar days after the date on which the last-submitted payment request or 
invoice is Date Stamped. 

 
3. Absent a written agreement to the contrary, if the Provider refuses or fails 

to provide the written statement required above, the Agent and/or District 
Manager is not required to contact the Provider in the investigation.  In 
addition, and absent a written agreement to the contrary, if such written 
statement is not provided, the District may immediately contract with third 
parties to provide the goods and services subject to the dispute and deduct 
the costs of such third party purchases from amounts owed to the Provider. 

 
4. The Board shall approve any decision of the District Manager to contract 

with a third party which would result in: 1) an expenditure above what is 
budgeted for the Construction Services or Non-Construction Services; or 2) 
an expenditure which exceeds the original contract amount for the 
Construction Services or Non-Construction Services by more than ten 
percent (10%) or Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000), whichever is less. 

 
5. A written explanation of the final decision shall be sent to the Provider, via 

certified mail, within five (5) business days from the date on which such 
final decision is made.  A copy of the written explanation of the final 
decision shall be provided to the Chairperson of the Board simultaneously 
with the certified mailing to the Provider. 

 
6. If a Provider does not accept in writing the final decision within five (5) 

business days after receipt by the Provider, the District may immediately 
contract with third parties to provide the goods and services subject to the 
dispute and deduct the costs of such third party purchases from amounts 
owed to the Provider.  If the costs of the third party purchases exceed the 
amount the District owes to the Provider, the District may seek to recover 
such excess from the Provider in a court of law or as otherwise provided in 
an agreement between the District and the Provider.  Nothing contained 
herein shall limit or affect the District’s ability to enforce all of its legal and 
contractual rights and remedies against the Provider. 

    
VIII.  Purchases Involving Federal Funds or Bond Funds 
 

177



 
 

When the District intends to pay for a purchase with federal funds or bond funds, the 
District shall make such purchases only upon reasonable assurances that federal funds or 
bond funds sufficient to cover the cost will be received.  When payment is contingent upon 
the receipt of bond funds, federal funds or federal approval, the public procurement 
documents and any agreement with a Provider shall clearly state such contingency. (§ 
218.77, Fla. Stat.). 
 

IX. Requirements for Construction Services Contracts – Project Completion;  
 Retainage 
 

The District intends to follow the PPA requirements for construction project completion 
and retainage, including, but not limited to, § 218.735 (7) and (8), Fla. Stat. 

 

X. Late Payment Interest Charges 

 
Failure on the part of the District to make timely payments may result in District 
responsibility for late payment interest charges.  No agreement between the District and a 
Provider may prohibit the collection of late payment interest charges allowable under the 
PPA as mandatory interest. (§218.75, Fla. Stat.). 

 
A. Related to Non-Construction Goods and Services 

All payments due from the District, and not made within the time specified within 
this policy or as required by applicable law, will bear interest, from thirty (30) days 
after the due date, at the rate provided in Section 218.74(4), Fla. Stat.  The Vendor 
must submit a Proper Invoice to the District for any interest accrued in order to 
receive the interest payment. (§ 218.74 (4), Fla. Stat.). 

 
An overdue period of less than one (1) month is considered as one (1) month in 
computing interest.  Unpaid interest is compounded monthly.  The term one (1) 
month means a period beginning on any day of a month and ending on the same 
day of the following month. 

 
B. Related to Construction Services 

All payments for Construction Services that are not made within the time periods 
specified within the applicable statute, shall bear interest after the due date, at the 
rate of one percent (1%) per month, or the rate specified by agreement, whichever 
is greater. (§ 218.735 (9), Fla. Stat.). The Contractor must submit a Proper Payment 
Request to the District for any interest accrued in order to receive the interest 
payment.  (§ 218.735 (9), Fla. Stat.). An overdue period of less than one (1) month 
is considered as one (1) month in computing interest.  

 

178



 
 

Unpaid interest is compounded monthly.  The term one (1) month means a period 
beginning on any day of a month and ending on the same day of the following 
month. 

 
C. Report of Interest 

If the total amount of interest paid during the preceding fiscal year exceeds $250, 
the District Manager is required to submit a report to the Board during December 
of each year, stating the number of interest payments made and the total amount of 
such payments. (§ 218.78, Fla. Stat.). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

179



4898-2452-1603.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-07 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 3 
ADOPTING PROMPT PAYMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 218, FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING A 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

  
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 3 (the “District”) is a local 
unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, 
being situated entirely within St. Lucie, Florida; and  
 
 WHEREAS, Chapter 218, Florida Statutes, requires timely payment to vendors and 
contractors providing certain goods and/or services to the District; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (the “Board”) accordingly finds that it 
is in the best interest of the District to establish by resolution Prompt Payment Policies and 
Procedures, attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “Policies and Procedures”), as may be amended 
or updated from time to time for immediate use and application. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 3: 
 

 SECTION 1. The Policies and Procedures, attached hereto as Exhibit A, are hereby 
adopted pursuant to this Resolution as necessary for the conduct of District business. The Policies 
and Procedures shall remain in full force and effect until such time as the Board may amend or 
replace them; provided, however, that as the provisions of Chapter 218, Florida Statutes, are 
amended from time to time, the attached Policies and Procedures shall automatically be amended 
to incorporate the new requirements of law without any further action by the Board.   
 
 SECTION 2.   If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other 
provisions shall remain in full force and effect.   
 
 SECTION 3. This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain in 
effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Policies and Procedures previously adopted by the District. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January 2026. 
 
ATTEST:       TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 3 
 
_________________________________  ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary    Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 
Exhibit A:  Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 

180



4898-2452-1603.1  

 
 

Exhibit A 
 
 
 

TRADITION  
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT NO. 3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 
In Accordance with the Local Government Prompt Payment Act  

Chapter 218, Part VII, Florida Statutes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

January 7, 2026

181



4898-2452-1603.1  

 
Tradition Community Development District No. 3 

Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 
 

Table of Contents 
 
I. Purpose  ........................................................................................................................ 1 
 
II. Scope   .......................................................................................................................... 1 
 
III. Definitions  .................................................................................................................. 1 

A. Agent    ........................................................................................................... 1 
B. Construction Services   .................................................................................. 1 
C. Contractor or Provider of Construction Services   ......................................... 1 
D. Date Stamped   ............................................................................................... 1 
E. Improper Invoice   .......................................................................................... 2 
F. Improper Payment Request  ........................................................................... 2 
G. Non-Construction Goods and Services .......................................................... 2 
H. Proper Invoice   .............................................................................................. 2 
I. Proper Payment Request   .............................................................................. 2 
J. Provider  ......................................................................................................... 2 
K. Purchase   ....................................................................................................... 2 
L. Vendor  .......................................................................................................... 2 

 
IV. Proper Invoice/Payment Request Requirements   ........................................................ 3 

A. General   ......................................................................................................... 3 
B. Sales Tax   ...................................................................................................... 3 
C. Federal Identification and Social Security Numbers  .................................... 3 
D. Proper Invoice for Non-Construction Goods and Services  .......................... 3 
E. Proper Payment Request Requirements for Construction Services ............... 4 

 
V. Submission of Invoices and Payment Requests   ......................................................... 4 
 
VI. Calculation of Payment Due Date  ............................................................................... 5 

A. Non-Construction Goods and Services Invoices   ......................................... 5 
B. Payment Requests for Construction Services   .............................................. 6 

 
VII. ..........................................................................................................................     

Resolution of Disputes   ................................................................................................... 7 
A. Dispute Between the District and a Provider   ............................................... 7 
B. Dispute Resolution Procedures  ..................................................................... 7 

 
VIII. Purchases Involving Federal Funds or Bond Funds .................................................... 8 

182



4898-2452-1603.1  

 
IX.      Requirements for Construction Services Contracts – Project Completion; Retainage   

9 
 
X.      Late Payment Interest Charges   ................................................................................. 9 

A. Related to Non-Construction Goods and Services  ....................................... 9 
B. Related to Construction Services    ................................................................ 9 
C. Report of Interest   .........................................................................................10

183



 
 

I.             Purpose 
In accordance with the Local Government Prompt Payment Act (Chapter 218, Part VII, 
Florida Statutes) (“PPA”), the purpose of the Tradition Community Development District 
No. 3 (“District”) Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures (“Policies & Procedures”) is 
to provide a specific policy to ensure timely payment to Vendors and Contractors (both 
hereinafter defined) providing goods and/or services to the District and ensure the timely 
receipt by the District of goods and/or services contemplated at the time of contracting.  
Please note that the PPA, like any statute or law, may be amended from time to time by 
legislative action.  These Policies & Procedures are based on the statutory requirements 
as of the date identified on the cover page of this document.  By this reference, as 
applicable statutory provisions subsequently change, these Policies & Procedures shall 
automatically be amended to incorporate the new requirements of law.  These Policies & 
Procedures are adopted by the District to provide guidance in contracting matters.  Failure 
by the District to comply with these Policies & Procedures shall not expand the rights or 
remedies of any Provider (hereinafter defined) against the District under the PPA.  
Nothing contained herein shall be interpreted as more restrictive on the District than what 
is provided for in the PPA. 

 
II. Scope 

These Policies & Procedures apply to all operations of the District, including Construction 
Services and Non-Construction Goods and Services, as applicable. 

 
III. Definitions 

 
A. Agent 

The District-contracted architect, District-contracted engineer, District Manager, or 
other person, acting on behalf of the District, which is required by law or contract 
to review invoices or payment requests from Providers (hereinafter defined).  Such 
individuals/entities must be identified in accordance with §218.735 (1), Fla. Stat., 
and further identified in the relevant agreement between the District and the 
Provider. 

 
B. Construction Services 

All labor, services, and materials provided in connection with the construction, 
alteration, repair, demolition, reconstruction, or other improvement to real property 
that require a license under parts I and II of Chapter 489, Fla. Stat. 

 
C. Contractor or Provider of Construction Services 

The entity or individual that provides Construction Services through direct contract 
with the District. 

 
D. Date Stamped 

Each original and revised invoice or payment request received by the District shall 
be marked electronically or manually, by use of a date stamp or other method, 

184



 
 

which date marking clearly indicates the date such invoice or payment request is 
first delivered to the District through its Agent.  In the event that the Agent receives 
an invoice or payment request but fails to timely or physically mark on the 
document the date received, “Date Stamped” shall mean the date of actual receipt 
by the Agent. 

 
E. Improper Invoice 

An invoice that does not conform to the requirements of a Proper Invoice. 
 

F. Improper Payment Request 
A request for payment for Construction Services that does not conform to the 
requirements of a Proper Payment Request. 
 

G. Non-Construction Goods and Services 
All labor, services, goods and materials provided in connection with anything other 
than construction, alteration, repair, demolition, reconstruction, or other 
improvements to real property. 
 

H. Proper Invoice 
An invoice that conforms to all statutory requirements, all requirements of these 
Policies and Procedures not expressly waived by the District and any additional 
requirements included in the agreement for goods and/or services for which the 
invoice is submitted not expressly waived by the District.  

 
I. Proper Payment Request 

A request for payment for Construction Services which conforms to all statutory 
requirements, all requirements of these Policies & Procedures not expressly waived 
by the District and any additional requirements included in the Construction 
Services agreement for which the Payment Request is submitted not expressly 
waived by the District. 

 
J. Provider 

Includes any Vendor, Contractor or Provider of Construction Services, as defined 
herein. 

 
 K. Purchase 

The purchase of goods, materials, services, or Construction Services; the purchase 
or lease of personal property; or the lease of real property by the District. 

 
L. Vendor 

Any person or entity that sells goods or services, sells or leases personal property, 
or leases real property directly to the District, not including Construction Services. 

  

185



 
 

IV. Proper Invoice/Payment Request Requirements 
 
 A. General 

Prior to Provider receiving payment from the District, Non-Construction Goods and 
Services and Construction Services, as applicable, shall be received and performed 
in accordance with contractual or other specifications or requirements to the 
satisfaction of the District. Provision or delivery of Non-Construction Goods and 
Services to the District does not constitute acceptance for the purpose of payment.  
Final acceptance and authorization of payment shall be made only after delivery 
and inspection by the Agent and the Agent’s confirmation that the Non-
Construction Goods and Services or Construction Services meet contract 
specifications and conditions.  Should the Non-Construction Goods and Services 
or Construction Services differ in any respect from the specifications, payment may 
be withheld until such time as the Provider takes necessary corrective action.  
Certain limited exceptions which require payment in advance are permitted when 
authorized by the District Board of Supervisors (“Board”) or when provided for in 
the applicable agreement. 

 
B. Sales Tax 

Providers should not include sales tax on any invoice or payment request. The 
District’s current tax-exempt number is _________________.  A copy of the tax-
exempt form will be supplied to Providers upon request. 

 
C. Federal Identification and Social Security Numbers  

Providers are paid using either a Federal Identification Number or Social Security 
Number.  To receive payment, Providers should supply the District with the correct 
number as well as a proper Internal Revenue Service W-9 Form.  The District 
Manager shall treat information provided in accordance with Florida law. 

 
Providers should notify the District Manager when changes in data occur (telephone 
(561) 571-0010, email bsakuma@sdsinc.org). 

 
D. Proper Invoice for Non-Construction Goods and Services  

All Non-Construction Goods and Services invoiced must be supplied or performed 
in accordance with the applicable purchase order (including any bid/proposal 
provided, if applicable) or agreement and such Non-Construction Goods and 
Services quantity and quality must be equal to or better than what is required by 
such terms.  Unless otherwise specified in the applicable agreement, invoices 
should contain all of the following minimum information in order to be considered 
a Proper Invoice: 
 
1. Name of Vendor 
2. Remittance address 
3. Invoice Date 

186



 
 

4. Invoice number 
5. The “Bill To” party must be the District or the Board, or other entity approved 

in writing by the Board or the District Manager 
6. Project name (if applicable) 
7. In addition to the information required in Section IV.D.1-6 above, invoices 

involving the purchase of goods should also contain: 
a. A complete item description 
b. Quantity purchased 
c. Unit price(s) 
d. Total price (for each item) 
e. Total amount of invoice (all items) 
f. The location and date(s) of delivery of the goods to the District 

8. In addition to the information required in Section IV.D.1-6 above, invoices 
involving the purchase of services should also contain: 

a. Itemized description of services performed 
b. The location and date of delivery of the services to the District 
c. Billing method for services performed (i.e., approved hourly rates, 

percentage of completion, cost plus fixed fee, direct/actual costs, etc.) 
d. Itemization of other direct, reimbursable costs (including description 

and amount) 
e. Copies of invoices for other direct, reimbursable costs (other than 

incidental costs such as copying) and one (1) of the following: 
i. Copy of both sides of a cancelled check evidencing payment for 

costs submitted for reimbursement 
ii. Paid receipt 

iii. Waiver/lien release from subcontractor (if applicable) 
9. Any applicable discounts 
10. Any other information or documentation, which may be required or specified 

under the terms of the purchase order or agreement 
 

E. Proper Payment Request Requirements for Construction Services 
Payment Requests must conform to all requirements of Section IV.A.-D., above, 
unless otherwise specified in the terms of the applicable agreement or purchase 
order between the District and the Contractor. 

 
V. Submission of Invoices and Payment Requests  

The Provider shall submit all Invoices and Payment Requests for both Construction 
Services and Non-Construction Goods and Services to the District’s Agent as provided in 
the purchase order or agreement, as applicable, and to the District Manager as follows: 
 

187



 
 

Submit the invoice and/or payment request, with required additional material and 
in conformance with these Policies and Procedures, by mail, by hand delivery, or 
via email (Note: email is the preferred method for receipt of Non-Construction 
Goods and Services invoices). 

 
1. Mailing and Drop Off Address 

 
Tradition Community Development District No. 3 
c/o Special District Services, Inc. 
10521 SW Village Center Dr., Suite #203 
Port St. Lucie, FL 34987  
 

2.  Email Address 
   bsakuma@sdsinc.org 
 
VI. Calculation of Payment Due Date 
  
 A. Non-Construction Goods and Services Invoices  
 
  1. Receipt of Proper Invoice  

Payment is due from the District forty-five (45) calendar days from the date 
on which a Proper Invoice is Date Stamped.   

 
2. Receipt of Improper Invoice  

If an Improper Invoice is received, a required invoice is not received, or 
invoicing of a request for payment is not required, the time when payment 
is due from the District is forty-five (45) days from the latest date of the 
following: 

a. On which delivery of personal property is fully accepted by the 
District; 

b. On which services are completed and accepted by the District; 
c. On which the contracted rental period begins (if applicable); or 
d. On which the District and the Vendor agree in a written agreement 

that provides payment due dates. 
 

3. Rejection of an Improper Invoice 
The District may reject an Improper Invoice.  Within ten (10) business days 
of receipt of the Improper Invoice by the District, the Vendor must be 
notified that the invoice is improper and be given an opportunity to correct 
the deficient or missing information, remedy the faulty work, replace the 
defective goods, or take other necessary, remedial action. 

 
The District’s rejection of an Improper Invoice must: 

1. Be provided in writing; 

188



 
 

2. Specify any and all known deficiencies; and 
3. State actions necessary to correct the Improper Invoice. 

 
If the Vendor submits a corrected invoice, which corrects the deficiencies 
specified in the District’s written rejection, the District must pay the 
corrected invoice within the later of: (a) ten (10) business days after date the 
corrected invoice is Date Stamped; or (b) forty-five (45) days after the date 
the Improper Invoice was Date Stamped. 
 
If the Vendor submits an invoice in response to the District’s written 
rejection which fails to correct the deficiencies specified or continues to be 
an Improper Invoice, the District must reject that invoice as stated herein. 
 

4. Payment of Undisputed Portion of Invoice 
If the District disputes a portion of an invoice, the undisputed portion shall 
be paid in a timely manner and in accordance with the due dates for payment 
as specified in these Policies & Procedures. 

 
B. Payment Requests for Construction Services  

 
1. Receipt of Proper Payment Request 

The time at which payment is due for Construction Services from the 
 District is as follows: 

 
a. If an Agent must approve the payment request before it is submitted to 
the District Manager, payment (whether full or partial) is due twenty-five 
(25) business days after the payment request is Date Stamped. The 
Contractor may send the District an overdue notice.  If the payment request 
is not rejected within four (4) business days after Date Stamp of the overdue 
notice, the payment request shall be deemed accepted, except for any 
portion of the payment request that is fraudulent, misleading or is the subject 
of dispute. 

 
The agreement between the District and the Contractor shall identify the 
Agent to which the Contractor shall submit its payment request, or shall be 
provided by the District through a separate written notice no later than ten 
(10) days after contract award or notice to proceed, whichever is later. 
Contractor’s submission of a payment request to the Agent shall be Date 
Stamped, which shall commence the time periods for payment or rejection 
of a payment request or invoice as provided in this section. 

 
b. If, pursuant to contract, an Agent is not required to approve the payment 
request submitted to the District, payment is due twenty (20) business days 

189



 
 

after the payment request is Date Stamped unless such payment request 
includes fraudulent or misleading information or is the subject of dispute. 

 
2. Receipt and Rejection of Improper Payment Request 

a. If an Improper Payment Request is received, the District must reject the 
Improper Payment Request within twenty (20) business days after the date 
on which the payment request is Date Stamped.  

 
b. The District’s rejection of the Improper Payment Request must: 

1. Be provided in writing; 
2. Specify any and all known deficiencies; and 
3. State actions necessary to correct the Improper Invoice. 

 
c. If a Contractor submits a payment request which corrects the deficiency 
specified in the District’s written rejection, the District must pay or reject 
the corrected submission no later than ten (10) business days after the date 
the corrected payment request is Date Stamped. 

 
3.   Payment of Undisputed Portion of Payment Request 

If the District disputes a portion of a payment request, the undisputed 
portion shall be paid by the date required under the contract or by twenty 
(20) business days after receipt of the request, whichever is earlier. 

 
VII. Resolution of Disputes 
 

If a dispute arises between a Provider and the District concerning payment of an invoice or 
payment request, the dispute shall be resolved as set forth in § 218.735, Fla. Stat., for 
Construction Services, and § 218.76, Fla. Stat. for Non-Construction Goods and Services. 
 
A. Dispute between the District and a Contractor 

If a dispute between the District and a Contractor cannot be resolved following 
resubmission of a payment request by the Contractor, the dispute must be resolved 
in accordance with the dispute resolution procedure prescribed in the construction 
contract, if any. In the absence of a prescribed procedure in the contract, the dispute 
must be resolved by the procedures specified below. 

 
B. Dispute Resolution Procedures 

 
1. If an Improper Payment Request or Improper Invoice is submitted, and the 

Provider refuses or fails to submit a revised payment request or invoice as 
contemplated by the PPA and these Policies and Procedures, the Provider 
shall, not later than thirty (30) days after the date on which the last payment 
request or invoice was Date Stamped, submit a written statement via 
certified mail to the Agent, copying the District Manager, specifying the 

190



 
 

basis upon which the Provider contends the last submitted payment request 
or invoice was proper. 

 
2. Within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt by the Agent and District 

Manager of the disputed, last-submitted payment request or invoice, the 
Agent and/or District Manager shall commence investigation of the dispute 
and render a final decision on the matter no later than forty-five (45) 
calendar days after the date on which the last-submitted payment request or 
invoice is Date Stamped. 

 
3. Absent a written agreement to the contrary, if the Provider refuses or fails 

to provide the written statement required above, the Agent and/or District 
Manager is not required to contact the Provider in the investigation.  In 
addition, and absent a written agreement to the contrary, if such written 
statement is not provided, the District may immediately contract with third 
parties to provide the goods and services subject to the dispute and deduct 
the costs of such third party purchases from amounts owed to the Provider. 

 
4. The Board shall approve any decision of the District Manager to contract 

with a third party which would result in: 1) an expenditure above what is 
budgeted for the Construction Services or Non-Construction Services; or 2) 
an expenditure which exceeds the original contract amount for the 
Construction Services or Non-Construction Services by more than ten 
percent (10%) or Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000), whichever is less. 

 
5. A written explanation of the final decision shall be sent to the Provider, via 

certified mail, within five (5) business days from the date on which such 
final decision is made.  A copy of the written explanation of the final 
decision shall be provided to the Chairperson of the Board simultaneously 
with the certified mailing to the Provider. 

 
6. If a Provider does not accept in writing the final decision within five (5) 

business days after receipt by the Provider, the District may immediately 
contract with third parties to provide the goods and services subject to the 
dispute and deduct the costs of such third party purchases from amounts 
owed to the Provider.  If the costs of the third party purchases exceed the 
amount the District owes to the Provider, the District may seek to recover 
such excess from the Provider in a court of law or as otherwise provided in 
an agreement between the District and the Provider.  Nothing contained 
herein shall limit or affect the District’s ability to enforce all of its legal and 
contractual rights and remedies against the Provider. 

    
VIII.  Purchases Involving Federal Funds or Bond Funds 
 

191



 
 

When the District intends to pay for a purchase with federal funds or bond funds, the 
District shall make such purchases only upon reasonable assurances that federal funds or 
bond funds sufficient to cover the cost will be received.  When payment is contingent upon 
the receipt of bond funds, federal funds or federal approval, the public procurement 
documents and any agreement with a Provider shall clearly state such contingency. (§ 
218.77, Fla. Stat.). 
 

IX. Requirements for Construction Services Contracts – Project Completion;  
 Retainage 
 

The District intends to follow the PPA requirements for construction project completion 
and retainage, including, but not limited to, § 218.735 (7) and (8), Fla. Stat. 

 

X. Late Payment Interest Charges 

 
Failure on the part of the District to make timely payments may result in District 
responsibility for late payment interest charges.  No agreement between the District and a 
Provider may prohibit the collection of late payment interest charges allowable under the 
PPA as mandatory interest. (§218.75, Fla. Stat.). 

 
A. Related to Non-Construction Goods and Services 

All payments due from the District, and not made within the time specified within 
this policy or as required by applicable law, will bear interest, from thirty (30) days 
after the due date, at the rate provided in Section 218.74(4), Fla. Stat.  The Vendor 
must submit a Proper Invoice to the District for any interest accrued in order to 
receive the interest payment. (§ 218.74 (4), Fla. Stat.). 

 
An overdue period of less than one (1) month is considered as one (1) month in 
computing interest.  Unpaid interest is compounded monthly.  The term one (1) 
month means a period beginning on any day of a month and ending on the same 
day of the following month. 

 
B. Related to Construction Services 

All payments for Construction Services that are not made within the time periods 
specified within the applicable statute, shall bear interest after the due date, at the 
rate of one percent (1%) per month, or the rate specified by agreement, whichever 
is greater. (§ 218.735 (9), Fla. Stat.). The Contractor must submit a Proper Payment 
Request to the District for any interest accrued in order to receive the interest 
payment.  (§ 218.735 (9), Fla. Stat.). An overdue period of less than one (1) month 
is considered as one (1) month in computing interest.  

 

192



 
 

Unpaid interest is compounded monthly.  The term one (1) month means a period 
beginning on any day of a month and ending on the same day of the following 
month. 

 
C. Report of Interest 

If the total amount of interest paid during the preceding fiscal year exceeds $250, 
the District Manager is required to submit a report to the Board during December 
of each year, stating the number of interest payments made and the total amount of 
such payments. (§ 218.78, Fla. Stat.). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

193



4903-7974-2595.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-07 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 4 
ADOPTING PROMPT PAYMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 218, FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING A 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

  
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 4 (the “District”) is a local 
unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, 
being situated entirely within St. Lucie, Florida; and  
 
 WHEREAS, Chapter 218, Florida Statutes, requires timely payment to vendors and 
contractors providing certain goods and/or services to the District; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (the “Board”) accordingly finds that it 
is in the best interest of the District to establish by resolution Prompt Payment Policies and 
Procedures, attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “Policies and Procedures”), as may be amended 
or updated from time to time for immediate use and application. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 4: 
 

 SECTION 1. The Policies and Procedures, attached hereto as Exhibit A, are hereby 
adopted pursuant to this Resolution as necessary for the conduct of District business. The Policies 
and Procedures shall remain in full force and effect until such time as the Board may amend or 
replace them; provided, however, that as the provisions of Chapter 218, Florida Statutes, are 
amended from time to time, the attached Policies and Procedures shall automatically be amended 
to incorporate the new requirements of law without any further action by the Board.   
 
 SECTION 2.   If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other 
provisions shall remain in full force and effect.   
 
 SECTION 3. This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain in 
effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Policies and Procedures previously adopted by the District. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January 2026. 
 
ATTEST:       TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 4 
 
_________________________________  ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary    Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 
Exhibit A:  Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 

194



4903-7974-2595.1  

 
 

Exhibit A 
 
 
 

TRADITION  
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT NO. 4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 
In Accordance with the Local Government Prompt Payment Act  

Chapter 218, Part VII, Florida Statutes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

January 7, 2026

195



4903-7974-2595.1  

 
Tradition Community Development District No. 4 

Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 
 

Table of Contents 
 
I. Purpose  ........................................................................................................................ 1 
 
II. Scope   .......................................................................................................................... 1 
 
III. Definitions  .................................................................................................................. 1 

A. Agent    ........................................................................................................... 1 
B. Construction Services   .................................................................................. 1 
C. Contractor or Provider of Construction Services   ......................................... 1 
D. Date Stamped   ............................................................................................... 1 
E. Improper Invoice   .......................................................................................... 2 
F. Improper Payment Request  ........................................................................... 2 
G. Non-Construction Goods and Services .......................................................... 2 
H. Proper Invoice   .............................................................................................. 2 
I. Proper Payment Request   .............................................................................. 2 
J. Provider  ......................................................................................................... 2 
K. Purchase   ....................................................................................................... 2 
L. Vendor  .......................................................................................................... 2 

 
IV. Proper Invoice/Payment Request Requirements   ........................................................ 3 

A. General   ......................................................................................................... 3 
B. Sales Tax   ...................................................................................................... 3 
C. Federal Identification and Social Security Numbers  .................................... 3 
D. Proper Invoice for Non-Construction Goods and Services  .......................... 3 
E. Proper Payment Request Requirements for Construction Services ............... 4 

 
V. Submission of Invoices and Payment Requests   ......................................................... 4 
 
VI. Calculation of Payment Due Date  ............................................................................... 5 

A. Non-Construction Goods and Services Invoices   ......................................... 5 
B. Payment Requests for Construction Services   .............................................. 6 

 
VII. ..........................................................................................................................     

Resolution of Disputes   ................................................................................................... 7 
A. Dispute Between the District and a Provider   ............................................... 7 
B. Dispute Resolution Procedures  ..................................................................... 7 

 
VIII. Purchases Involving Federal Funds or Bond Funds .................................................... 8 

196



4903-7974-2595.1  

 
IX.      Requirements for Construction Services Contracts – Project Completion; Retainage   

9 
 
X.      Late Payment Interest Charges   ................................................................................. 9 

A. Related to Non-Construction Goods and Services  ....................................... 9 
B. Related to Construction Services    ................................................................ 9 
C. Report of Interest   .........................................................................................10

197



 
 

I.             Purpose 
In accordance with the Local Government Prompt Payment Act (Chapter 218, Part VII, 
Florida Statutes) (“PPA”), the purpose of the Tradition Community Development District 
No. 4 (“District”) Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures (“Policies & Procedures”) is 
to provide a specific policy to ensure timely payment to Vendors and Contractors (both 
hereinafter defined) providing goods and/or services to the District and ensure the timely 
receipt by the District of goods and/or services contemplated at the time of contracting.  
Please note that the PPA, like any statute or law, may be amended from time to time by 
legislative action.  These Policies & Procedures are based on the statutory requirements 
as of the date identified on the cover page of this document.  By this reference, as 
applicable statutory provisions subsequently change, these Policies & Procedures shall 
automatically be amended to incorporate the new requirements of law.  These Policies & 
Procedures are adopted by the District to provide guidance in contracting matters.  Failure 
by the District to comply with these Policies & Procedures shall not expand the rights or 
remedies of any Provider (hereinafter defined) against the District under the PPA.  
Nothing contained herein shall be interpreted as more restrictive on the District than what 
is provided for in the PPA. 

 
II. Scope 

These Policies & Procedures apply to all operations of the District, including Construction 
Services and Non-Construction Goods and Services, as applicable. 

 
III. Definitions 

 
A. Agent 

The District-contracted architect, District-contracted engineer, District Manager, or 
other person, acting on behalf of the District, which is required by law or contract 
to review invoices or payment requests from Providers (hereinafter defined).  Such 
individuals/entities must be identified in accordance with §218.735 (1), Fla. Stat., 
and further identified in the relevant agreement between the District and the 
Provider. 

 
B. Construction Services 

All labor, services, and materials provided in connection with the construction, 
alteration, repair, demolition, reconstruction, or other improvement to real property 
that require a license under parts I and II of Chapter 489, Fla. Stat. 

 
C. Contractor or Provider of Construction Services 

The entity or individual that provides Construction Services through direct contract 
with the District. 

 
D. Date Stamped 

Each original and revised invoice or payment request received by the District shall 
be marked electronically or manually, by use of a date stamp or other method, 

198



 
 

which date marking clearly indicates the date such invoice or payment request is 
first delivered to the District through its Agent.  In the event that the Agent receives 
an invoice or payment request but fails to timely or physically mark on the 
document the date received, “Date Stamped” shall mean the date of actual receipt 
by the Agent. 

 
E. Improper Invoice 

An invoice that does not conform to the requirements of a Proper Invoice. 
 

F. Improper Payment Request 
A request for payment for Construction Services that does not conform to the 
requirements of a Proper Payment Request. 
 

G. Non-Construction Goods and Services 
All labor, services, goods and materials provided in connection with anything other 
than construction, alteration, repair, demolition, reconstruction, or other 
improvements to real property. 
 

H. Proper Invoice 
An invoice that conforms to all statutory requirements, all requirements of these 
Policies and Procedures not expressly waived by the District and any additional 
requirements included in the agreement for goods and/or services for which the 
invoice is submitted not expressly waived by the District.  

 
I. Proper Payment Request 

A request for payment for Construction Services which conforms to all statutory 
requirements, all requirements of these Policies & Procedures not expressly waived 
by the District and any additional requirements included in the Construction 
Services agreement for which the Payment Request is submitted not expressly 
waived by the District. 

 
J. Provider 

Includes any Vendor, Contractor or Provider of Construction Services, as defined 
herein. 

 
 K. Purchase 

The purchase of goods, materials, services, or Construction Services; the purchase 
or lease of personal property; or the lease of real property by the District. 

 
L. Vendor 

Any person or entity that sells goods or services, sells or leases personal property, 
or leases real property directly to the District, not including Construction Services. 

  

199



 
 

IV. Proper Invoice/Payment Request Requirements 
 
 A. General 

Prior to Provider receiving payment from the District, Non-Construction Goods and 
Services and Construction Services, as applicable, shall be received and performed 
in accordance with contractual or other specifications or requirements to the 
satisfaction of the District. Provision or delivery of Non-Construction Goods and 
Services to the District does not constitute acceptance for the purpose of payment.  
Final acceptance and authorization of payment shall be made only after delivery 
and inspection by the Agent and the Agent’s confirmation that the Non-
Construction Goods and Services or Construction Services meet contract 
specifications and conditions.  Should the Non-Construction Goods and Services 
or Construction Services differ in any respect from the specifications, payment may 
be withheld until such time as the Provider takes necessary corrective action.  
Certain limited exceptions which require payment in advance are permitted when 
authorized by the District Board of Supervisors (“Board”) or when provided for in 
the applicable agreement. 

 
B. Sales Tax 

Providers should not include sales tax on any invoice or payment request. The 
District’s current tax-exempt number is _________________.  A copy of the tax-
exempt form will be supplied to Providers upon request. 

 
C. Federal Identification and Social Security Numbers  

Providers are paid using either a Federal Identification Number or Social Security 
Number.  To receive payment, Providers should supply the District with the correct 
number as well as a proper Internal Revenue Service W-9 Form.  The District 
Manager shall treat information provided in accordance with Florida law. 

 
Providers should notify the District Manager when changes in data occur (telephone 
(561) 571-0010, email bsakuma@sdsinc.org). 

 
D. Proper Invoice for Non-Construction Goods and Services  

All Non-Construction Goods and Services invoiced must be supplied or performed 
in accordance with the applicable purchase order (including any bid/proposal 
provided, if applicable) or agreement and such Non-Construction Goods and 
Services quantity and quality must be equal to or better than what is required by 
such terms.  Unless otherwise specified in the applicable agreement, invoices 
should contain all of the following minimum information in order to be considered 
a Proper Invoice: 
 
1. Name of Vendor 
2. Remittance address 
3. Invoice Date 

200



 
 

4. Invoice number 
5. The “Bill To” party must be the District or the Board, or other entity approved 

in writing by the Board or the District Manager 
6. Project name (if applicable) 
7. In addition to the information required in Section IV.D.1-6 above, invoices 

involving the purchase of goods should also contain: 
a. A complete item description 
b. Quantity purchased 
c. Unit price(s) 
d. Total price (for each item) 
e. Total amount of invoice (all items) 
f. The location and date(s) of delivery of the goods to the District 

8. In addition to the information required in Section IV.D.1-6 above, invoices 
involving the purchase of services should also contain: 

a. Itemized description of services performed 
b. The location and date of delivery of the services to the District 
c. Billing method for services performed (i.e., approved hourly rates, 

percentage of completion, cost plus fixed fee, direct/actual costs, etc.) 
d. Itemization of other direct, reimbursable costs (including description 

and amount) 
e. Copies of invoices for other direct, reimbursable costs (other than 

incidental costs such as copying) and one (1) of the following: 
i. Copy of both sides of a cancelled check evidencing payment for 

costs submitted for reimbursement 
ii. Paid receipt 

iii. Waiver/lien release from subcontractor (if applicable) 
9. Any applicable discounts 
10. Any other information or documentation, which may be required or specified 

under the terms of the purchase order or agreement 
 

E. Proper Payment Request Requirements for Construction Services 
Payment Requests must conform to all requirements of Section IV.A.-D., above, 
unless otherwise specified in the terms of the applicable agreement or purchase 
order between the District and the Contractor. 

 
V. Submission of Invoices and Payment Requests  

The Provider shall submit all Invoices and Payment Requests for both Construction 
Services and Non-Construction Goods and Services to the District’s Agent as provided in 
the purchase order or agreement, as applicable, and to the District Manager as follows: 
 

201



 
 

Submit the invoice and/or payment request, with required additional material and 
in conformance with these Policies and Procedures, by mail, by hand delivery, or 
via email (Note: email is the preferred method for receipt of Non-Construction 
Goods and Services invoices). 

 
1. Mailing and Drop Off Address 

 
Tradition Community Development District No. 4 
c/o Special District Services, Inc. 
10521 SW Village Center Dr., Suite #203 
Port St. Lucie, FL 34987  
 

2.  Email Address 
   bsakuma@sdsinc.org 
 
VI. Calculation of Payment Due Date 
  
 A. Non-Construction Goods and Services Invoices  
 
  1. Receipt of Proper Invoice  

Payment is due from the District forty-five (45) calendar days from the date 
on which a Proper Invoice is Date Stamped.   

 
2. Receipt of Improper Invoice  

If an Improper Invoice is received, a required invoice is not received, or 
invoicing of a request for payment is not required, the time when payment 
is due from the District is forty-five (45) days from the latest date of the 
following: 

a. On which delivery of personal property is fully accepted by the 
District; 

b. On which services are completed and accepted by the District; 
c. On which the contracted rental period begins (if applicable); or 
d. On which the District and the Vendor agree in a written agreement 

that provides payment due dates. 
 

3. Rejection of an Improper Invoice 
The District may reject an Improper Invoice.  Within ten (10) business days 
of receipt of the Improper Invoice by the District, the Vendor must be 
notified that the invoice is improper and be given an opportunity to correct 
the deficient or missing information, remedy the faulty work, replace the 
defective goods, or take other necessary, remedial action. 

 
The District’s rejection of an Improper Invoice must: 

1. Be provided in writing; 

202



 
 

2. Specify any and all known deficiencies; and 
3. State actions necessary to correct the Improper Invoice. 

 
If the Vendor submits a corrected invoice, which corrects the deficiencies 
specified in the District’s written rejection, the District must pay the 
corrected invoice within the later of: (a) ten (10) business days after date the 
corrected invoice is Date Stamped; or (b) forty-five (45) days after the date 
the Improper Invoice was Date Stamped. 
 
If the Vendor submits an invoice in response to the District’s written 
rejection which fails to correct the deficiencies specified or continues to be 
an Improper Invoice, the District must reject that invoice as stated herein. 
 

4. Payment of Undisputed Portion of Invoice 
If the District disputes a portion of an invoice, the undisputed portion shall 
be paid in a timely manner and in accordance with the due dates for payment 
as specified in these Policies & Procedures. 

 
B. Payment Requests for Construction Services  

 
1. Receipt of Proper Payment Request 

The time at which payment is due for Construction Services from the 
 District is as follows: 

 
a. If an Agent must approve the payment request before it is submitted to 
the District Manager, payment (whether full or partial) is due twenty-five 
(25) business days after the payment request is Date Stamped. The 
Contractor may send the District an overdue notice.  If the payment request 
is not rejected within four (4) business days after Date Stamp of the overdue 
notice, the payment request shall be deemed accepted, except for any 
portion of the payment request that is fraudulent, misleading or is the subject 
of dispute. 

 
The agreement between the District and the Contractor shall identify the 
Agent to which the Contractor shall submit its payment request, or shall be 
provided by the District through a separate written notice no later than ten 
(10) days after contract award or notice to proceed, whichever is later. 
Contractor’s submission of a payment request to the Agent shall be Date 
Stamped, which shall commence the time periods for payment or rejection 
of a payment request or invoice as provided in this section. 

 
b. If, pursuant to contract, an Agent is not required to approve the payment 
request submitted to the District, payment is due twenty (20) business days 

203



 
 

after the payment request is Date Stamped unless such payment request 
includes fraudulent or misleading information or is the subject of dispute. 

 
2. Receipt and Rejection of Improper Payment Request 

a. If an Improper Payment Request is received, the District must reject the 
Improper Payment Request within twenty (20) business days after the date 
on which the payment request is Date Stamped.  

 
b. The District’s rejection of the Improper Payment Request must: 

1. Be provided in writing; 
2. Specify any and all known deficiencies; and 
3. State actions necessary to correct the Improper Invoice. 

 
c. If a Contractor submits a payment request which corrects the deficiency 
specified in the District’s written rejection, the District must pay or reject 
the corrected submission no later than ten (10) business days after the date 
the corrected payment request is Date Stamped. 

 
3.   Payment of Undisputed Portion of Payment Request 

If the District disputes a portion of a payment request, the undisputed 
portion shall be paid by the date required under the contract or by twenty 
(20) business days after receipt of the request, whichever is earlier. 

 
VII. Resolution of Disputes 
 

If a dispute arises between a Provider and the District concerning payment of an invoice or 
payment request, the dispute shall be resolved as set forth in § 218.735, Fla. Stat., for 
Construction Services, and § 218.76, Fla. Stat. for Non-Construction Goods and Services. 
 
A. Dispute between the District and a Contractor 

If a dispute between the District and a Contractor cannot be resolved following 
resubmission of a payment request by the Contractor, the dispute must be resolved 
in accordance with the dispute resolution procedure prescribed in the construction 
contract, if any. In the absence of a prescribed procedure in the contract, the dispute 
must be resolved by the procedures specified below. 

 
B. Dispute Resolution Procedures 

 
1. If an Improper Payment Request or Improper Invoice is submitted, and the 

Provider refuses or fails to submit a revised payment request or invoice as 
contemplated by the PPA and these Policies and Procedures, the Provider 
shall, not later than thirty (30) days after the date on which the last payment 
request or invoice was Date Stamped, submit a written statement via 
certified mail to the Agent, copying the District Manager, specifying the 

204



 
 

basis upon which the Provider contends the last submitted payment request 
or invoice was proper. 

 
2. Within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt by the Agent and District 

Manager of the disputed, last-submitted payment request or invoice, the 
Agent and/or District Manager shall commence investigation of the dispute 
and render a final decision on the matter no later than forty-five (45) 
calendar days after the date on which the last-submitted payment request or 
invoice is Date Stamped. 

 
3. Absent a written agreement to the contrary, if the Provider refuses or fails 

to provide the written statement required above, the Agent and/or District 
Manager is not required to contact the Provider in the investigation.  In 
addition, and absent a written agreement to the contrary, if such written 
statement is not provided, the District may immediately contract with third 
parties to provide the goods and services subject to the dispute and deduct 
the costs of such third party purchases from amounts owed to the Provider. 

 
4. The Board shall approve any decision of the District Manager to contract 

with a third party which would result in: 1) an expenditure above what is 
budgeted for the Construction Services or Non-Construction Services; or 2) 
an expenditure which exceeds the original contract amount for the 
Construction Services or Non-Construction Services by more than ten 
percent (10%) or Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000), whichever is less. 

 
5. A written explanation of the final decision shall be sent to the Provider, via 

certified mail, within five (5) business days from the date on which such 
final decision is made.  A copy of the written explanation of the final 
decision shall be provided to the Chairperson of the Board simultaneously 
with the certified mailing to the Provider. 

 
6. If a Provider does not accept in writing the final decision within five (5) 

business days after receipt by the Provider, the District may immediately 
contract with third parties to provide the goods and services subject to the 
dispute and deduct the costs of such third party purchases from amounts 
owed to the Provider.  If the costs of the third party purchases exceed the 
amount the District owes to the Provider, the District may seek to recover 
such excess from the Provider in a court of law or as otherwise provided in 
an agreement between the District and the Provider.  Nothing contained 
herein shall limit or affect the District’s ability to enforce all of its legal and 
contractual rights and remedies against the Provider. 

    
VIII.  Purchases Involving Federal Funds or Bond Funds 
 

205



 
 

When the District intends to pay for a purchase with federal funds or bond funds, the 
District shall make such purchases only upon reasonable assurances that federal funds or 
bond funds sufficient to cover the cost will be received.  When payment is contingent upon 
the receipt of bond funds, federal funds or federal approval, the public procurement 
documents and any agreement with a Provider shall clearly state such contingency. (§ 
218.77, Fla. Stat.). 
 

IX. Requirements for Construction Services Contracts – Project Completion;  
 Retainage 
 

The District intends to follow the PPA requirements for construction project completion 
and retainage, including, but not limited to, § 218.735 (7) and (8), Fla. Stat. 

 

X. Late Payment Interest Charges 

 
Failure on the part of the District to make timely payments may result in District 
responsibility for late payment interest charges.  No agreement between the District and a 
Provider may prohibit the collection of late payment interest charges allowable under the 
PPA as mandatory interest. (§218.75, Fla. Stat.). 

 
A. Related to Non-Construction Goods and Services 

All payments due from the District, and not made within the time specified within 
this policy or as required by applicable law, will bear interest, from thirty (30) days 
after the due date, at the rate provided in Section 218.74(4), Fla. Stat.  The Vendor 
must submit a Proper Invoice to the District for any interest accrued in order to 
receive the interest payment. (§ 218.74 (4), Fla. Stat.). 

 
An overdue period of less than one (1) month is considered as one (1) month in 
computing interest.  Unpaid interest is compounded monthly.  The term one (1) 
month means a period beginning on any day of a month and ending on the same 
day of the following month. 

 
B. Related to Construction Services 

All payments for Construction Services that are not made within the time periods 
specified within the applicable statute, shall bear interest after the due date, at the 
rate of one percent (1%) per month, or the rate specified by agreement, whichever 
is greater. (§ 218.735 (9), Fla. Stat.). The Contractor must submit a Proper Payment 
Request to the District for any interest accrued in order to receive the interest 
payment.  (§ 218.735 (9), Fla. Stat.). An overdue period of less than one (1) month 
is considered as one (1) month in computing interest.  

 

206



 
 

Unpaid interest is compounded monthly.  The term one (1) month means a period 
beginning on any day of a month and ending on the same day of the following 
month. 

 
C. Report of Interest 

If the total amount of interest paid during the preceding fiscal year exceeds $250, 
the District Manager is required to submit a report to the Board during December 
of each year, stating the number of interest payments made and the total amount of 
such payments. (§ 218.78, Fla. Stat.). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

207



4901-9715-9555.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-07 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5 
ADOPTING PROMPT PAYMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 218, FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING A 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

  
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 5 (the “District”) is a local 
unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, 
being situated entirely within St. Lucie, Florida; and  
 
 WHEREAS, Chapter 218, Florida Statutes, requires timely payment to vendors and 
contractors providing certain goods and/or services to the District; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (the “Board”) accordingly finds that it 
is in the best interest of the District to establish by resolution Prompt Payment Policies and 
Procedures, attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “Policies and Procedures”), as may be amended 
or updated from time to time for immediate use and application. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 5: 
 

 SECTION 1. The Policies and Procedures, attached hereto as Exhibit A, are hereby 
adopted pursuant to this Resolution as necessary for the conduct of District business. The Policies 
and Procedures shall remain in full force and effect until such time as the Board may amend or 
replace them; provided, however, that as the provisions of Chapter 218, Florida Statutes, are 
amended from time to time, the attached Policies and Procedures shall automatically be amended 
to incorporate the new requirements of law without any further action by the Board.   
 
 SECTION 2.   If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other 
provisions shall remain in full force and effect.   
 
 SECTION 3. This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain in 
effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Policies and Procedures previously adopted by the District. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January 2026. 
 
ATTEST:       TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5 
 
_________________________________  ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary    Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 
Exhibit A:  Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 

208



4901-9715-9555.1  

 
 

Exhibit A 
 
 
 

TRADITION  
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT NO. 5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 
In Accordance with the Local Government Prompt Payment Act  

Chapter 218, Part VII, Florida Statutes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

January 7, 2026

209



4901-9715-9555.1  

 
Tradition Community Development District No. 5 

Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 
 

Table of Contents 
 
I. Purpose  ........................................................................................................................ 1 
 
II. Scope   .......................................................................................................................... 1 
 
III. Definitions  .................................................................................................................. 1 

A. Agent    ........................................................................................................... 1 
B. Construction Services   .................................................................................. 1 
C. Contractor or Provider of Construction Services   ......................................... 1 
D. Date Stamped   ............................................................................................... 1 
E. Improper Invoice   .......................................................................................... 2 
F. Improper Payment Request  ........................................................................... 2 
G. Non-Construction Goods and Services .......................................................... 2 
H. Proper Invoice   .............................................................................................. 2 
I. Proper Payment Request   .............................................................................. 2 
J. Provider  ......................................................................................................... 2 
K. Purchase   ....................................................................................................... 2 
L. Vendor  .......................................................................................................... 2 

 
IV. Proper Invoice/Payment Request Requirements   ........................................................ 3 

A. General   ......................................................................................................... 3 
B. Sales Tax   ...................................................................................................... 3 
C. Federal Identification and Social Security Numbers  .................................... 3 
D. Proper Invoice for Non-Construction Goods and Services  .......................... 3 
E. Proper Payment Request Requirements for Construction Services ............... 4 

 
V. Submission of Invoices and Payment Requests   ......................................................... 4 
 
VI. Calculation of Payment Due Date  ............................................................................... 5 

A. Non-Construction Goods and Services Invoices   ......................................... 5 
B. Payment Requests for Construction Services   .............................................. 6 

 
VII. ..........................................................................................................................     

Resolution of Disputes   ................................................................................................... 7 
A. Dispute Between the District and a Provider   ............................................... 7 
B. Dispute Resolution Procedures  ..................................................................... 7 

 
VIII. Purchases Involving Federal Funds or Bond Funds .................................................... 8 

210



4901-9715-9555.1  

 
IX.      Requirements for Construction Services Contracts – Project Completion; Retainage   

9 
 
X.      Late Payment Interest Charges   ................................................................................. 9 

A. Related to Non-Construction Goods and Services  ....................................... 9 
B. Related to Construction Services    ................................................................ 9 
C. Report of Interest   .........................................................................................10

211



 
 

I.             Purpose 
In accordance with the Local Government Prompt Payment Act (Chapter 218, Part VII, 
Florida Statutes) (“PPA”), the purpose of the Tradition Community Development District 
No. 5 (“District”) Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures (“Policies & Procedures”) is 
to provide a specific policy to ensure timely payment to Vendors and Contractors (both 
hereinafter defined) providing goods and/or services to the District and ensure the timely 
receipt by the District of goods and/or services contemplated at the time of contracting.  
Please note that the PPA, like any statute or law, may be amended from time to time by 
legislative action.  These Policies & Procedures are based on the statutory requirements 
as of the date identified on the cover page of this document.  By this reference, as 
applicable statutory provisions subsequently change, these Policies & Procedures shall 
automatically be amended to incorporate the new requirements of law.  These Policies & 
Procedures are adopted by the District to provide guidance in contracting matters.  Failure 
by the District to comply with these Policies & Procedures shall not expand the rights or 
remedies of any Provider (hereinafter defined) against the District under the PPA.  
Nothing contained herein shall be interpreted as more restrictive on the District than what 
is provided for in the PPA. 

 
II. Scope 

These Policies & Procedures apply to all operations of the District, including Construction 
Services and Non-Construction Goods and Services, as applicable. 

 
III. Definitions 

 
A. Agent 

The District-contracted architect, District-contracted engineer, District Manager, or 
other person, acting on behalf of the District, which is required by law or contract 
to review invoices or payment requests from Providers (hereinafter defined).  Such 
individuals/entities must be identified in accordance with §218.735 (1), Fla. Stat., 
and further identified in the relevant agreement between the District and the 
Provider. 

 
B. Construction Services 

All labor, services, and materials provided in connection with the construction, 
alteration, repair, demolition, reconstruction, or other improvement to real property 
that require a license under parts I and II of Chapter 489, Fla. Stat. 

 
C. Contractor or Provider of Construction Services 

The entity or individual that provides Construction Services through direct contract 
with the District. 

 
D. Date Stamped 

Each original and revised invoice or payment request received by the District shall 
be marked electronically or manually, by use of a date stamp or other method, 

212



 
 

which date marking clearly indicates the date such invoice or payment request is 
first delivered to the District through its Agent.  In the event that the Agent receives 
an invoice or payment request but fails to timely or physically mark on the 
document the date received, “Date Stamped” shall mean the date of actual receipt 
by the Agent. 

 
E. Improper Invoice 

An invoice that does not conform to the requirements of a Proper Invoice. 
 

F. Improper Payment Request 
A request for payment for Construction Services that does not conform to the 
requirements of a Proper Payment Request. 
 

G. Non-Construction Goods and Services 
All labor, services, goods and materials provided in connection with anything other 
than construction, alteration, repair, demolition, reconstruction, or other 
improvements to real property. 
 

H. Proper Invoice 
An invoice that conforms to all statutory requirements, all requirements of these 
Policies and Procedures not expressly waived by the District and any additional 
requirements included in the agreement for goods and/or services for which the 
invoice is submitted not expressly waived by the District.  

 
I. Proper Payment Request 

A request for payment for Construction Services which conforms to all statutory 
requirements, all requirements of these Policies & Procedures not expressly waived 
by the District and any additional requirements included in the Construction 
Services agreement for which the Payment Request is submitted not expressly 
waived by the District. 

 
J. Provider 

Includes any Vendor, Contractor or Provider of Construction Services, as defined 
herein. 

 
 K. Purchase 

The purchase of goods, materials, services, or Construction Services; the purchase 
or lease of personal property; or the lease of real property by the District. 

 
L. Vendor 

Any person or entity that sells goods or services, sells or leases personal property, 
or leases real property directly to the District, not including Construction Services. 

  

213



 
 

IV. Proper Invoice/Payment Request Requirements 
 
 A. General 

Prior to Provider receiving payment from the District, Non-Construction Goods and 
Services and Construction Services, as applicable, shall be received and performed 
in accordance with contractual or other specifications or requirements to the 
satisfaction of the District. Provision or delivery of Non-Construction Goods and 
Services to the District does not constitute acceptance for the purpose of payment.  
Final acceptance and authorization of payment shall be made only after delivery 
and inspection by the Agent and the Agent’s confirmation that the Non-
Construction Goods and Services or Construction Services meet contract 
specifications and conditions.  Should the Non-Construction Goods and Services 
or Construction Services differ in any respect from the specifications, payment may 
be withheld until such time as the Provider takes necessary corrective action.  
Certain limited exceptions which require payment in advance are permitted when 
authorized by the District Board of Supervisors (“Board”) or when provided for in 
the applicable agreement. 

 
B. Sales Tax 

Providers should not include sales tax on any invoice or payment request. The 
District’s current tax-exempt number is _________________.  A copy of the tax-
exempt form will be supplied to Providers upon request. 

 
C. Federal Identification and Social Security Numbers  

Providers are paid using either a Federal Identification Number or Social Security 
Number.  To receive payment, Providers should supply the District with the correct 
number as well as a proper Internal Revenue Service W-9 Form.  The District 
Manager shall treat information provided in accordance with Florida law. 

 
Providers should notify the District Manager when changes in data occur (telephone 
(561) 571-0010, email bsakuma@sdsinc.org). 

 
D. Proper Invoice for Non-Construction Goods and Services  

All Non-Construction Goods and Services invoiced must be supplied or performed 
in accordance with the applicable purchase order (including any bid/proposal 
provided, if applicable) or agreement and such Non-Construction Goods and 
Services quantity and quality must be equal to or better than what is required by 
such terms.  Unless otherwise specified in the applicable agreement, invoices 
should contain all of the following minimum information in order to be considered 
a Proper Invoice: 
 
1. Name of Vendor 
2. Remittance address 
3. Invoice Date 

214



 
 

4. Invoice number 
5. The “Bill To” party must be the District or the Board, or other entity approved 

in writing by the Board or the District Manager 
6. Project name (if applicable) 
7. In addition to the information required in Section IV.D.1-6 above, invoices 

involving the purchase of goods should also contain: 
a. A complete item description 
b. Quantity purchased 
c. Unit price(s) 
d. Total price (for each item) 
e. Total amount of invoice (all items) 
f. The location and date(s) of delivery of the goods to the District 

8. In addition to the information required in Section IV.D.1-6 above, invoices 
involving the purchase of services should also contain: 

a. Itemized description of services performed 
b. The location and date of delivery of the services to the District 
c. Billing method for services performed (i.e., approved hourly rates, 

percentage of completion, cost plus fixed fee, direct/actual costs, etc.) 
d. Itemization of other direct, reimbursable costs (including description 

and amount) 
e. Copies of invoices for other direct, reimbursable costs (other than 

incidental costs such as copying) and one (1) of the following: 
i. Copy of both sides of a cancelled check evidencing payment for 

costs submitted for reimbursement 
ii. Paid receipt 

iii. Waiver/lien release from subcontractor (if applicable) 
9. Any applicable discounts 
10. Any other information or documentation, which may be required or specified 

under the terms of the purchase order or agreement 
 

E. Proper Payment Request Requirements for Construction Services 
Payment Requests must conform to all requirements of Section IV.A.-D., above, 
unless otherwise specified in the terms of the applicable agreement or purchase 
order between the District and the Contractor. 

 
V. Submission of Invoices and Payment Requests  

The Provider shall submit all Invoices and Payment Requests for both Construction 
Services and Non-Construction Goods and Services to the District’s Agent as provided in 
the purchase order or agreement, as applicable, and to the District Manager as follows: 
 

215



 
 

Submit the invoice and/or payment request, with required additional material and 
in conformance with these Policies and Procedures, by mail, by hand delivery, or 
via email (Note: email is the preferred method for receipt of Non-Construction 
Goods and Services invoices). 

 
1. Mailing and Drop Off Address 

 
Tradition Community Development District No. 5 
c/o Special District Services, Inc. 
10521 SW Village Center Dr., Suite #203 
Port St. Lucie, FL 34987  
 

2.  Email Address 
   bsakuma@sdsinc.org 
 
VI. Calculation of Payment Due Date 
  
 A. Non-Construction Goods and Services Invoices  
 
  1. Receipt of Proper Invoice  

Payment is due from the District forty-five (45) calendar days from the date 
on which a Proper Invoice is Date Stamped.   

 
2. Receipt of Improper Invoice  

If an Improper Invoice is received, a required invoice is not received, or 
invoicing of a request for payment is not required, the time when payment 
is due from the District is forty-five (45) days from the latest date of the 
following: 

a. On which delivery of personal property is fully accepted by the 
District; 

b. On which services are completed and accepted by the District; 
c. On which the contracted rental period begins (if applicable); or 
d. On which the District and the Vendor agree in a written agreement 

that provides payment due dates. 
 

3. Rejection of an Improper Invoice 
The District may reject an Improper Invoice.  Within ten (10) business days 
of receipt of the Improper Invoice by the District, the Vendor must be 
notified that the invoice is improper and be given an opportunity to correct 
the deficient or missing information, remedy the faulty work, replace the 
defective goods, or take other necessary, remedial action. 

 
The District’s rejection of an Improper Invoice must: 

1. Be provided in writing; 

216



 
 

2. Specify any and all known deficiencies; and 
3. State actions necessary to correct the Improper Invoice. 

 
If the Vendor submits a corrected invoice, which corrects the deficiencies 
specified in the District’s written rejection, the District must pay the 
corrected invoice within the later of: (a) ten (10) business days after date the 
corrected invoice is Date Stamped; or (b) forty-five (45) days after the date 
the Improper Invoice was Date Stamped. 
 
If the Vendor submits an invoice in response to the District’s written 
rejection which fails to correct the deficiencies specified or continues to be 
an Improper Invoice, the District must reject that invoice as stated herein. 
 

4. Payment of Undisputed Portion of Invoice 
If the District disputes a portion of an invoice, the undisputed portion shall 
be paid in a timely manner and in accordance with the due dates for payment 
as specified in these Policies & Procedures. 

 
B. Payment Requests for Construction Services  

 
1. Receipt of Proper Payment Request 

The time at which payment is due for Construction Services from the 
 District is as follows: 

 
a. If an Agent must approve the payment request before it is submitted to 
the District Manager, payment (whether full or partial) is due twenty-five 
(25) business days after the payment request is Date Stamped. The 
Contractor may send the District an overdue notice.  If the payment request 
is not rejected within four (4) business days after Date Stamp of the overdue 
notice, the payment request shall be deemed accepted, except for any 
portion of the payment request that is fraudulent, misleading or is the subject 
of dispute. 

 
The agreement between the District and the Contractor shall identify the 
Agent to which the Contractor shall submit its payment request, or shall be 
provided by the District through a separate written notice no later than ten 
(10) days after contract award or notice to proceed, whichever is later. 
Contractor’s submission of a payment request to the Agent shall be Date 
Stamped, which shall commence the time periods for payment or rejection 
of a payment request or invoice as provided in this section. 

 
b. If, pursuant to contract, an Agent is not required to approve the payment 
request submitted to the District, payment is due twenty (20) business days 

217



 
 

after the payment request is Date Stamped unless such payment request 
includes fraudulent or misleading information or is the subject of dispute. 

 
2. Receipt and Rejection of Improper Payment Request 

a. If an Improper Payment Request is received, the District must reject the 
Improper Payment Request within twenty (20) business days after the date 
on which the payment request is Date Stamped.  

 
b. The District’s rejection of the Improper Payment Request must: 

1. Be provided in writing; 
2. Specify any and all known deficiencies; and 
3. State actions necessary to correct the Improper Invoice. 

 
c. If a Contractor submits a payment request which corrects the deficiency 
specified in the District’s written rejection, the District must pay or reject 
the corrected submission no later than ten (10) business days after the date 
the corrected payment request is Date Stamped. 

 
3.   Payment of Undisputed Portion of Payment Request 

If the District disputes a portion of a payment request, the undisputed 
portion shall be paid by the date required under the contract or by twenty 
(20) business days after receipt of the request, whichever is earlier. 

 
VII. Resolution of Disputes 
 

If a dispute arises between a Provider and the District concerning payment of an invoice or 
payment request, the dispute shall be resolved as set forth in § 218.735, Fla. Stat., for 
Construction Services, and § 218.76, Fla. Stat. for Non-Construction Goods and Services. 
 
A. Dispute between the District and a Contractor 

If a dispute between the District and a Contractor cannot be resolved following 
resubmission of a payment request by the Contractor, the dispute must be resolved 
in accordance with the dispute resolution procedure prescribed in the construction 
contract, if any. In the absence of a prescribed procedure in the contract, the dispute 
must be resolved by the procedures specified below. 

 
B. Dispute Resolution Procedures 

 
1. If an Improper Payment Request or Improper Invoice is submitted, and the 

Provider refuses or fails to submit a revised payment request or invoice as 
contemplated by the PPA and these Policies and Procedures, the Provider 
shall, not later than thirty (30) days after the date on which the last payment 
request or invoice was Date Stamped, submit a written statement via 
certified mail to the Agent, copying the District Manager, specifying the 

218



 
 

basis upon which the Provider contends the last submitted payment request 
or invoice was proper. 

 
2. Within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt by the Agent and District 

Manager of the disputed, last-submitted payment request or invoice, the 
Agent and/or District Manager shall commence investigation of the dispute 
and render a final decision on the matter no later than forty-five (45) 
calendar days after the date on which the last-submitted payment request or 
invoice is Date Stamped. 

 
3. Absent a written agreement to the contrary, if the Provider refuses or fails 

to provide the written statement required above, the Agent and/or District 
Manager is not required to contact the Provider in the investigation.  In 
addition, and absent a written agreement to the contrary, if such written 
statement is not provided, the District may immediately contract with third 
parties to provide the goods and services subject to the dispute and deduct 
the costs of such third party purchases from amounts owed to the Provider. 

 
4. The Board shall approve any decision of the District Manager to contract 

with a third party which would result in: 1) an expenditure above what is 
budgeted for the Construction Services or Non-Construction Services; or 2) 
an expenditure which exceeds the original contract amount for the 
Construction Services or Non-Construction Services by more than ten 
percent (10%) or Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000), whichever is less. 

 
5. A written explanation of the final decision shall be sent to the Provider, via 

certified mail, within five (5) business days from the date on which such 
final decision is made.  A copy of the written explanation of the final 
decision shall be provided to the Chairperson of the Board simultaneously 
with the certified mailing to the Provider. 

 
6. If a Provider does not accept in writing the final decision within five (5) 

business days after receipt by the Provider, the District may immediately 
contract with third parties to provide the goods and services subject to the 
dispute and deduct the costs of such third party purchases from amounts 
owed to the Provider.  If the costs of the third party purchases exceed the 
amount the District owes to the Provider, the District may seek to recover 
such excess from the Provider in a court of law or as otherwise provided in 
an agreement between the District and the Provider.  Nothing contained 
herein shall limit or affect the District’s ability to enforce all of its legal and 
contractual rights and remedies against the Provider. 

    
VIII.  Purchases Involving Federal Funds or Bond Funds 
 

219



 
 

When the District intends to pay for a purchase with federal funds or bond funds, the 
District shall make such purchases only upon reasonable assurances that federal funds or 
bond funds sufficient to cover the cost will be received.  When payment is contingent upon 
the receipt of bond funds, federal funds or federal approval, the public procurement 
documents and any agreement with a Provider shall clearly state such contingency. (§ 
218.77, Fla. Stat.). 
 

IX. Requirements for Construction Services Contracts – Project Completion;  
 Retainage 
 

The District intends to follow the PPA requirements for construction project completion 
and retainage, including, but not limited to, § 218.735 (7) and (8), Fla. Stat. 

 

X. Late Payment Interest Charges 

 
Failure on the part of the District to make timely payments may result in District 
responsibility for late payment interest charges.  No agreement between the District and a 
Provider may prohibit the collection of late payment interest charges allowable under the 
PPA as mandatory interest. (§218.75, Fla. Stat.). 

 
A. Related to Non-Construction Goods and Services 

All payments due from the District, and not made within the time specified within 
this policy or as required by applicable law, will bear interest, from thirty (30) days 
after the due date, at the rate provided in Section 218.74(4), Fla. Stat.  The Vendor 
must submit a Proper Invoice to the District for any interest accrued in order to 
receive the interest payment. (§ 218.74 (4), Fla. Stat.). 

 
An overdue period of less than one (1) month is considered as one (1) month in 
computing interest.  Unpaid interest is compounded monthly.  The term one (1) 
month means a period beginning on any day of a month and ending on the same 
day of the following month. 

 
B. Related to Construction Services 

All payments for Construction Services that are not made within the time periods 
specified within the applicable statute, shall bear interest after the due date, at the 
rate of one percent (1%) per month, or the rate specified by agreement, whichever 
is greater. (§ 218.735 (9), Fla. Stat.). The Contractor must submit a Proper Payment 
Request to the District for any interest accrued in order to receive the interest 
payment.  (§ 218.735 (9), Fla. Stat.). An overdue period of less than one (1) month 
is considered as one (1) month in computing interest.  

 

220



 
 

Unpaid interest is compounded monthly.  The term one (1) month means a period 
beginning on any day of a month and ending on the same day of the following 
month. 

 
C. Report of Interest 

If the total amount of interest paid during the preceding fiscal year exceeds $250, 
the District Manager is required to submit a report to the Board during December 
of each year, stating the number of interest payments made and the total amount of 
such payments. (§ 218.78, Fla. Stat.). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

221



4936-3812-7235.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-07 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 6 
ADOPTING PROMPT PAYMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 218, FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING A 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

  
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 6 (the “District”) is a local 
unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, 
being situated entirely within St. Lucie, Florida; and  
 
 WHEREAS, Chapter 218, Florida Statutes, requires timely payment to vendors and 
contractors providing certain goods and/or services to the District; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (the “Board”) accordingly finds that it 
is in the best interest of the District to establish by resolution Prompt Payment Policies and 
Procedures, attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “Policies and Procedures”), as may be amended 
or updated from time to time for immediate use and application. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 6: 
 

 SECTION 1. The Policies and Procedures, attached hereto as Exhibit A, are hereby 
adopted pursuant to this Resolution as necessary for the conduct of District business. The Policies 
and Procedures shall remain in full force and effect until such time as the Board may amend or 
replace them; provided, however, that as the provisions of Chapter 218, Florida Statutes, are 
amended from time to time, the attached Policies and Procedures shall automatically be amended 
to incorporate the new requirements of law without any further action by the Board.   
 
 SECTION 2.   If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other 
provisions shall remain in full force and effect.   
 
 SECTION 3. This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain in 
effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Policies and Procedures previously adopted by the District. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January 2026. 
 
ATTEST:       TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 6 
 
_________________________________  ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary    Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 
Exhibit A:  Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 

222



4936-3812-7235.1  

 
 

Exhibit A 
 
 
 

TRADITION  
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT NO. 6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 
In Accordance with the Local Government Prompt Payment Act  

Chapter 218, Part VII, Florida Statutes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

January 7, 2026

223



4936-3812-7235.1  

 
Tradition Community Development District No. 6 

Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 
 

Table of Contents 
 
I. Purpose  ........................................................................................................................ 1 
 
II. Scope   .......................................................................................................................... 1 
 
III. Definitions  .................................................................................................................. 1 

A. Agent    ........................................................................................................... 1 
B. Construction Services   .................................................................................. 1 
C. Contractor or Provider of Construction Services   ......................................... 1 
D. Date Stamped   ............................................................................................... 1 
E. Improper Invoice   .......................................................................................... 2 
F. Improper Payment Request  ........................................................................... 2 
G. Non-Construction Goods and Services .......................................................... 2 
H. Proper Invoice   .............................................................................................. 2 
I. Proper Payment Request   .............................................................................. 2 
J. Provider  ......................................................................................................... 2 
K. Purchase   ....................................................................................................... 2 
L. Vendor  .......................................................................................................... 2 

 
IV. Proper Invoice/Payment Request Requirements   ........................................................ 3 

A. General   ......................................................................................................... 3 
B. Sales Tax   ...................................................................................................... 3 
C. Federal Identification and Social Security Numbers  .................................... 3 
D. Proper Invoice for Non-Construction Goods and Services  .......................... 3 
E. Proper Payment Request Requirements for Construction Services ............... 4 

 
V. Submission of Invoices and Payment Requests   ......................................................... 4 
 
VI. Calculation of Payment Due Date  ............................................................................... 5 

A. Non-Construction Goods and Services Invoices   ......................................... 5 
B. Payment Requests for Construction Services   .............................................. 6 

 
VII. ..........................................................................................................................     

Resolution of Disputes   ................................................................................................... 7 
A. Dispute Between the District and a Provider   ............................................... 7 
B. Dispute Resolution Procedures  ..................................................................... 7 

 
VIII. Purchases Involving Federal Funds or Bond Funds .................................................... 8 

224



4936-3812-7235.1  

 
IX.      Requirements for Construction Services Contracts – Project Completion; Retainage   

9 
 
X.      Late Payment Interest Charges   ................................................................................. 9 

A. Related to Non-Construction Goods and Services  ....................................... 9 
B. Related to Construction Services    ................................................................ 9 
C. Report of Interest   .........................................................................................10

225



 
 

I.             Purpose 
In accordance with the Local Government Prompt Payment Act (Chapter 218, Part VII, 
Florida Statutes) (“PPA”), the purpose of the Tradition Community Development District 
No. 6 (“District”) Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures (“Policies & Procedures”) is 
to provide a specific policy to ensure timely payment to Vendors and Contractors (both 
hereinafter defined) providing goods and/or services to the District and ensure the timely 
receipt by the District of goods and/or services contemplated at the time of contracting.  
Please note that the PPA, like any statute or law, may be amended from time to time by 
legislative action.  These Policies & Procedures are based on the statutory requirements 
as of the date identified on the cover page of this document.  By this reference, as 
applicable statutory provisions subsequently change, these Policies & Procedures shall 
automatically be amended to incorporate the new requirements of law.  These Policies & 
Procedures are adopted by the District to provide guidance in contracting matters.  Failure 
by the District to comply with these Policies & Procedures shall not expand the rights or 
remedies of any Provider (hereinafter defined) against the District under the PPA.  
Nothing contained herein shall be interpreted as more restrictive on the District than what 
is provided for in the PPA. 

 
II. Scope 

These Policies & Procedures apply to all operations of the District, including Construction 
Services and Non-Construction Goods and Services, as applicable. 

 
III. Definitions 

 
A. Agent 

The District-contracted architect, District-contracted engineer, District Manager, or 
other person, acting on behalf of the District, which is required by law or contract 
to review invoices or payment requests from Providers (hereinafter defined).  Such 
individuals/entities must be identified in accordance with §218.735 (1), Fla. Stat., 
and further identified in the relevant agreement between the District and the 
Provider. 

 
B. Construction Services 

All labor, services, and materials provided in connection with the construction, 
alteration, repair, demolition, reconstruction, or other improvement to real property 
that require a license under parts I and II of Chapter 489, Fla. Stat. 

 
C. Contractor or Provider of Construction Services 

The entity or individual that provides Construction Services through direct contract 
with the District. 

 
D. Date Stamped 

Each original and revised invoice or payment request received by the District shall 
be marked electronically or manually, by use of a date stamp or other method, 

226



 
 

which date marking clearly indicates the date such invoice or payment request is 
first delivered to the District through its Agent.  In the event that the Agent receives 
an invoice or payment request but fails to timely or physically mark on the 
document the date received, “Date Stamped” shall mean the date of actual receipt 
by the Agent. 

 
E. Improper Invoice 

An invoice that does not conform to the requirements of a Proper Invoice. 
 

F. Improper Payment Request 
A request for payment for Construction Services that does not conform to the 
requirements of a Proper Payment Request. 
 

G. Non-Construction Goods and Services 
All labor, services, goods and materials provided in connection with anything other 
than construction, alteration, repair, demolition, reconstruction, or other 
improvements to real property. 
 

H. Proper Invoice 
An invoice that conforms to all statutory requirements, all requirements of these 
Policies and Procedures not expressly waived by the District and any additional 
requirements included in the agreement for goods and/or services for which the 
invoice is submitted not expressly waived by the District.  

 
I. Proper Payment Request 

A request for payment for Construction Services which conforms to all statutory 
requirements, all requirements of these Policies & Procedures not expressly waived 
by the District and any additional requirements included in the Construction 
Services agreement for which the Payment Request is submitted not expressly 
waived by the District. 

 
J. Provider 

Includes any Vendor, Contractor or Provider of Construction Services, as defined 
herein. 

 
 K. Purchase 

The purchase of goods, materials, services, or Construction Services; the purchase 
or lease of personal property; or the lease of real property by the District. 

 
L. Vendor 

Any person or entity that sells goods or services, sells or leases personal property, 
or leases real property directly to the District, not including Construction Services. 

  

227



 
 

IV. Proper Invoice/Payment Request Requirements 
 
 A. General 

Prior to Provider receiving payment from the District, Non-Construction Goods and 
Services and Construction Services, as applicable, shall be received and performed 
in accordance with contractual or other specifications or requirements to the 
satisfaction of the District. Provision or delivery of Non-Construction Goods and 
Services to the District does not constitute acceptance for the purpose of payment.  
Final acceptance and authorization of payment shall be made only after delivery 
and inspection by the Agent and the Agent’s confirmation that the Non-
Construction Goods and Services or Construction Services meet contract 
specifications and conditions.  Should the Non-Construction Goods and Services 
or Construction Services differ in any respect from the specifications, payment may 
be withheld until such time as the Provider takes necessary corrective action.  
Certain limited exceptions which require payment in advance are permitted when 
authorized by the District Board of Supervisors (“Board”) or when provided for in 
the applicable agreement. 

 
B. Sales Tax 

Providers should not include sales tax on any invoice or payment request. The 
District’s current tax-exempt number is _________________.  A copy of the tax-
exempt form will be supplied to Providers upon request. 

 
C. Federal Identification and Social Security Numbers  

Providers are paid using either a Federal Identification Number or Social Security 
Number.  To receive payment, Providers should supply the District with the correct 
number as well as a proper Internal Revenue Service W-9 Form.  The District 
Manager shall treat information provided in accordance with Florida law. 

 
Providers should notify the District Manager when changes in data occur (telephone 
(561) 571-0010, email bsakuma@sdsinc.org). 

 
D. Proper Invoice for Non-Construction Goods and Services  

All Non-Construction Goods and Services invoiced must be supplied or performed 
in accordance with the applicable purchase order (including any bid/proposal 
provided, if applicable) or agreement and such Non-Construction Goods and 
Services quantity and quality must be equal to or better than what is required by 
such terms.  Unless otherwise specified in the applicable agreement, invoices 
should contain all of the following minimum information in order to be considered 
a Proper Invoice: 
 
1. Name of Vendor 
2. Remittance address 
3. Invoice Date 

228



 
 

4. Invoice number 
5. The “Bill To” party must be the District or the Board, or other entity approved 

in writing by the Board or the District Manager 
6. Project name (if applicable) 
7. In addition to the information required in Section IV.D.1-6 above, invoices 

involving the purchase of goods should also contain: 
a. A complete item description 
b. Quantity purchased 
c. Unit price(s) 
d. Total price (for each item) 
e. Total amount of invoice (all items) 
f. The location and date(s) of delivery of the goods to the District 

8. In addition to the information required in Section IV.D.1-6 above, invoices 
involving the purchase of services should also contain: 

a. Itemized description of services performed 
b. The location and date of delivery of the services to the District 
c. Billing method for services performed (i.e., approved hourly rates, 

percentage of completion, cost plus fixed fee, direct/actual costs, etc.) 
d. Itemization of other direct, reimbursable costs (including description 

and amount) 
e. Copies of invoices for other direct, reimbursable costs (other than 

incidental costs such as copying) and one (1) of the following: 
i. Copy of both sides of a cancelled check evidencing payment for 

costs submitted for reimbursement 
ii. Paid receipt 

iii. Waiver/lien release from subcontractor (if applicable) 
9. Any applicable discounts 
10. Any other information or documentation, which may be required or specified 

under the terms of the purchase order or agreement 
 

E. Proper Payment Request Requirements for Construction Services 
Payment Requests must conform to all requirements of Section IV.A.-D., above, 
unless otherwise specified in the terms of the applicable agreement or purchase 
order between the District and the Contractor. 

 
V. Submission of Invoices and Payment Requests  

The Provider shall submit all Invoices and Payment Requests for both Construction 
Services and Non-Construction Goods and Services to the District’s Agent as provided in 
the purchase order or agreement, as applicable, and to the District Manager as follows: 
 

229



 
 

Submit the invoice and/or payment request, with required additional material and 
in conformance with these Policies and Procedures, by mail, by hand delivery, or 
via email (Note: email is the preferred method for receipt of Non-Construction 
Goods and Services invoices). 

 
1. Mailing and Drop Off Address 

 
Tradition Community Development District No. 6 
c/o Special District Services, Inc. 
10521 SW Village Center Dr., Suite #203 
Port St. Lucie, FL 34987  
 

2.  Email Address 
   bsakuma@sdsinc.org 
 
VI. Calculation of Payment Due Date 
  
 A. Non-Construction Goods and Services Invoices  
 
  1. Receipt of Proper Invoice  

Payment is due from the District forty-five (45) calendar days from the date 
on which a Proper Invoice is Date Stamped.   

 
2. Receipt of Improper Invoice  

If an Improper Invoice is received, a required invoice is not received, or 
invoicing of a request for payment is not required, the time when payment 
is due from the District is forty-five (45) days from the latest date of the 
following: 

a. On which delivery of personal property is fully accepted by the 
District; 

b. On which services are completed and accepted by the District; 
c. On which the contracted rental period begins (if applicable); or 
d. On which the District and the Vendor agree in a written agreement 

that provides payment due dates. 
 

3. Rejection of an Improper Invoice 
The District may reject an Improper Invoice.  Within ten (10) business days 
of receipt of the Improper Invoice by the District, the Vendor must be 
notified that the invoice is improper and be given an opportunity to correct 
the deficient or missing information, remedy the faulty work, replace the 
defective goods, or take other necessary, remedial action. 

 
The District’s rejection of an Improper Invoice must: 

1. Be provided in writing; 

230



 
 

2. Specify any and all known deficiencies; and 
3. State actions necessary to correct the Improper Invoice. 

 
If the Vendor submits a corrected invoice, which corrects the deficiencies 
specified in the District’s written rejection, the District must pay the 
corrected invoice within the later of: (a) ten (10) business days after date the 
corrected invoice is Date Stamped; or (b) forty-five (45) days after the date 
the Improper Invoice was Date Stamped. 
 
If the Vendor submits an invoice in response to the District’s written 
rejection which fails to correct the deficiencies specified or continues to be 
an Improper Invoice, the District must reject that invoice as stated herein. 
 

4. Payment of Undisputed Portion of Invoice 
If the District disputes a portion of an invoice, the undisputed portion shall 
be paid in a timely manner and in accordance with the due dates for payment 
as specified in these Policies & Procedures. 

 
B. Payment Requests for Construction Services  

 
1. Receipt of Proper Payment Request 

The time at which payment is due for Construction Services from the 
 District is as follows: 

 
a. If an Agent must approve the payment request before it is submitted to 
the District Manager, payment (whether full or partial) is due twenty-five 
(25) business days after the payment request is Date Stamped. The 
Contractor may send the District an overdue notice.  If the payment request 
is not rejected within four (4) business days after Date Stamp of the overdue 
notice, the payment request shall be deemed accepted, except for any 
portion of the payment request that is fraudulent, misleading or is the subject 
of dispute. 

 
The agreement between the District and the Contractor shall identify the 
Agent to which the Contractor shall submit its payment request, or shall be 
provided by the District through a separate written notice no later than ten 
(10) days after contract award or notice to proceed, whichever is later. 
Contractor’s submission of a payment request to the Agent shall be Date 
Stamped, which shall commence the time periods for payment or rejection 
of a payment request or invoice as provided in this section. 

 
b. If, pursuant to contract, an Agent is not required to approve the payment 
request submitted to the District, payment is due twenty (20) business days 

231



 
 

after the payment request is Date Stamped unless such payment request 
includes fraudulent or misleading information or is the subject of dispute. 

 
2. Receipt and Rejection of Improper Payment Request 

a. If an Improper Payment Request is received, the District must reject the 
Improper Payment Request within twenty (20) business days after the date 
on which the payment request is Date Stamped.  

 
b. The District’s rejection of the Improper Payment Request must: 

1. Be provided in writing; 
2. Specify any and all known deficiencies; and 
3. State actions necessary to correct the Improper Invoice. 

 
c. If a Contractor submits a payment request which corrects the deficiency 
specified in the District’s written rejection, the District must pay or reject 
the corrected submission no later than ten (10) business days after the date 
the corrected payment request is Date Stamped. 

 
3.   Payment of Undisputed Portion of Payment Request 

If the District disputes a portion of a payment request, the undisputed 
portion shall be paid by the date required under the contract or by twenty 
(20) business days after receipt of the request, whichever is earlier. 

 
VII. Resolution of Disputes 
 

If a dispute arises between a Provider and the District concerning payment of an invoice or 
payment request, the dispute shall be resolved as set forth in § 218.735, Fla. Stat., for 
Construction Services, and § 218.76, Fla. Stat. for Non-Construction Goods and Services. 
 
A. Dispute between the District and a Contractor 

If a dispute between the District and a Contractor cannot be resolved following 
resubmission of a payment request by the Contractor, the dispute must be resolved 
in accordance with the dispute resolution procedure prescribed in the construction 
contract, if any. In the absence of a prescribed procedure in the contract, the dispute 
must be resolved by the procedures specified below. 

 
B. Dispute Resolution Procedures 

 
1. If an Improper Payment Request or Improper Invoice is submitted, and the 

Provider refuses or fails to submit a revised payment request or invoice as 
contemplated by the PPA and these Policies and Procedures, the Provider 
shall, not later than thirty (30) days after the date on which the last payment 
request or invoice was Date Stamped, submit a written statement via 
certified mail to the Agent, copying the District Manager, specifying the 

232



 
 

basis upon which the Provider contends the last submitted payment request 
or invoice was proper. 

 
2. Within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt by the Agent and District 

Manager of the disputed, last-submitted payment request or invoice, the 
Agent and/or District Manager shall commence investigation of the dispute 
and render a final decision on the matter no later than forty-five (45) 
calendar days after the date on which the last-submitted payment request or 
invoice is Date Stamped. 

 
3. Absent a written agreement to the contrary, if the Provider refuses or fails 

to provide the written statement required above, the Agent and/or District 
Manager is not required to contact the Provider in the investigation.  In 
addition, and absent a written agreement to the contrary, if such written 
statement is not provided, the District may immediately contract with third 
parties to provide the goods and services subject to the dispute and deduct 
the costs of such third party purchases from amounts owed to the Provider. 

 
4. The Board shall approve any decision of the District Manager to contract 

with a third party which would result in: 1) an expenditure above what is 
budgeted for the Construction Services or Non-Construction Services; or 2) 
an expenditure which exceeds the original contract amount for the 
Construction Services or Non-Construction Services by more than ten 
percent (10%) or Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000), whichever is less. 

 
5. A written explanation of the final decision shall be sent to the Provider, via 

certified mail, within five (5) business days from the date on which such 
final decision is made.  A copy of the written explanation of the final 
decision shall be provided to the Chairperson of the Board simultaneously 
with the certified mailing to the Provider. 

 
6. If a Provider does not accept in writing the final decision within five (5) 

business days after receipt by the Provider, the District may immediately 
contract with third parties to provide the goods and services subject to the 
dispute and deduct the costs of such third party purchases from amounts 
owed to the Provider.  If the costs of the third party purchases exceed the 
amount the District owes to the Provider, the District may seek to recover 
such excess from the Provider in a court of law or as otherwise provided in 
an agreement between the District and the Provider.  Nothing contained 
herein shall limit or affect the District’s ability to enforce all of its legal and 
contractual rights and remedies against the Provider. 

    
VIII.  Purchases Involving Federal Funds or Bond Funds 
 

233



 
 

When the District intends to pay for a purchase with federal funds or bond funds, the 
District shall make such purchases only upon reasonable assurances that federal funds or 
bond funds sufficient to cover the cost will be received.  When payment is contingent upon 
the receipt of bond funds, federal funds or federal approval, the public procurement 
documents and any agreement with a Provider shall clearly state such contingency. (§ 
218.77, Fla. Stat.). 
 

IX. Requirements for Construction Services Contracts – Project Completion;  
 Retainage 
 

The District intends to follow the PPA requirements for construction project completion 
and retainage, including, but not limited to, § 218.735 (7) and (8), Fla. Stat. 

 

X. Late Payment Interest Charges 

 
Failure on the part of the District to make timely payments may result in District 
responsibility for late payment interest charges.  No agreement between the District and a 
Provider may prohibit the collection of late payment interest charges allowable under the 
PPA as mandatory interest. (§218.75, Fla. Stat.). 

 
A. Related to Non-Construction Goods and Services 

All payments due from the District, and not made within the time specified within 
this policy or as required by applicable law, will bear interest, from thirty (30) days 
after the due date, at the rate provided in Section 218.74(4), Fla. Stat.  The Vendor 
must submit a Proper Invoice to the District for any interest accrued in order to 
receive the interest payment. (§ 218.74 (4), Fla. Stat.). 

 
An overdue period of less than one (1) month is considered as one (1) month in 
computing interest.  Unpaid interest is compounded monthly.  The term one (1) 
month means a period beginning on any day of a month and ending on the same 
day of the following month. 

 
B. Related to Construction Services 

All payments for Construction Services that are not made within the time periods 
specified within the applicable statute, shall bear interest after the due date, at the 
rate of one percent (1%) per month, or the rate specified by agreement, whichever 
is greater. (§ 218.735 (9), Fla. Stat.). The Contractor must submit a Proper Payment 
Request to the District for any interest accrued in order to receive the interest 
payment.  (§ 218.735 (9), Fla. Stat.). An overdue period of less than one (1) month 
is considered as one (1) month in computing interest.  

 

234



 
 

Unpaid interest is compounded monthly.  The term one (1) month means a period 
beginning on any day of a month and ending on the same day of the following 
month. 

 
C. Report of Interest 

If the total amount of interest paid during the preceding fiscal year exceeds $250, 
the District Manager is required to submit a report to the Board during December 
of each year, stating the number of interest payments made and the total amount of 
such payments. (§ 218.78, Fla. Stat.). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

235



4905-1881-0243.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-07 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 7 
ADOPTING PROMPT PAYMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 218, FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING A 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

  
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 7 (the “District”) is a local 
unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, 
being situated entirely within St. Lucie, Florida; and  
 
 WHEREAS, Chapter 218, Florida Statutes, requires timely payment to vendors and 
contractors providing certain goods and/or services to the District; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (the “Board”) accordingly finds that it 
is in the best interest of the District to establish by resolution Prompt Payment Policies and 
Procedures, attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “Policies and Procedures”), as may be amended 
or updated from time to time for immediate use and application. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 7: 
 

 SECTION 1. The Policies and Procedures, attached hereto as Exhibit A, are hereby 
adopted pursuant to this Resolution as necessary for the conduct of District business. The Policies 
and Procedures shall remain in full force and effect until such time as the Board may amend or 
replace them; provided, however, that as the provisions of Chapter 218, Florida Statutes, are 
amended from time to time, the attached Policies and Procedures shall automatically be amended 
to incorporate the new requirements of law without any further action by the Board.   
 
 SECTION 2.   If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other 
provisions shall remain in full force and effect.   
 
 SECTION 3. This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain in 
effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Policies and Procedures previously adopted by the District. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January 2026. 
 
ATTEST:       TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 7 
 
_________________________________  ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary    Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 
Exhibit A:  Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 

236



4905-1881-0243.1  

 
 

Exhibit A 
 
 
 

TRADITION  
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT NO. 7 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 
In Accordance with the Local Government Prompt Payment Act  

Chapter 218, Part VII, Florida Statutes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

January 7, 2026

237



4905-1881-0243.1  

 
Tradition Community Development District No. 7 

Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 
 

Table of Contents 
 
I. Purpose  ........................................................................................................................ 1 
 
II. Scope   .......................................................................................................................... 1 
 
III. Definitions  .................................................................................................................. 1 

A. Agent    ........................................................................................................... 1 
B. Construction Services   .................................................................................. 1 
C. Contractor or Provider of Construction Services   ......................................... 1 
D. Date Stamped   ............................................................................................... 1 
E. Improper Invoice   .......................................................................................... 2 
F. Improper Payment Request  ........................................................................... 2 
G. Non-Construction Goods and Services .......................................................... 2 
H. Proper Invoice   .............................................................................................. 2 
I. Proper Payment Request   .............................................................................. 2 
J. Provider  ......................................................................................................... 2 
K. Purchase   ....................................................................................................... 2 
L. Vendor  .......................................................................................................... 2 

 
IV. Proper Invoice/Payment Request Requirements   ........................................................ 3 

A. General   ......................................................................................................... 3 
B. Sales Tax   ...................................................................................................... 3 
C. Federal Identification and Social Security Numbers  .................................... 3 
D. Proper Invoice for Non-Construction Goods and Services  .......................... 3 
E. Proper Payment Request Requirements for Construction Services ............... 4 

 
V. Submission of Invoices and Payment Requests   ......................................................... 4 
 
VI. Calculation of Payment Due Date  ............................................................................... 5 

A. Non-Construction Goods and Services Invoices   ......................................... 5 
B. Payment Requests for Construction Services   .............................................. 6 

 
VII. ..........................................................................................................................     

Resolution of Disputes   ................................................................................................... 7 
A. Dispute Between the District and a Provider   ............................................... 7 
B. Dispute Resolution Procedures  ..................................................................... 7 

 
VIII. Purchases Involving Federal Funds or Bond Funds .................................................... 8 

238



4905-1881-0243.1  

 
IX.      Requirements for Construction Services Contracts – Project Completion; Retainage   

9 
 
X.      Late Payment Interest Charges   ................................................................................. 9 

A. Related to Non-Construction Goods and Services  ....................................... 9 
B. Related to Construction Services    ................................................................ 9 
C. Report of Interest   .........................................................................................10

239



 
 

I.             Purpose 
In accordance with the Local Government Prompt Payment Act (Chapter 218, Part VII, 
Florida Statutes) (“PPA”), the purpose of the Tradition Community Development District 
No. 7 (“District”) Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures (“Policies & Procedures”) is 
to provide a specific policy to ensure timely payment to Vendors and Contractors (both 
hereinafter defined) providing goods and/or services to the District and ensure the timely 
receipt by the District of goods and/or services contemplated at the time of contracting.  
Please note that the PPA, like any statute or law, may be amended from time to time by 
legislative action.  These Policies & Procedures are based on the statutory requirements 
as of the date identified on the cover page of this document.  By this reference, as 
applicable statutory provisions subsequently change, these Policies & Procedures shall 
automatically be amended to incorporate the new requirements of law.  These Policies & 
Procedures are adopted by the District to provide guidance in contracting matters.  Failure 
by the District to comply with these Policies & Procedures shall not expand the rights or 
remedies of any Provider (hereinafter defined) against the District under the PPA.  
Nothing contained herein shall be interpreted as more restrictive on the District than what 
is provided for in the PPA. 

 
II. Scope 

These Policies & Procedures apply to all operations of the District, including Construction 
Services and Non-Construction Goods and Services, as applicable. 

 
III. Definitions 

 
A. Agent 

The District-contracted architect, District-contracted engineer, District Manager, or 
other person, acting on behalf of the District, which is required by law or contract 
to review invoices or payment requests from Providers (hereinafter defined).  Such 
individuals/entities must be identified in accordance with §218.735 (1), Fla. Stat., 
and further identified in the relevant agreement between the District and the 
Provider. 

 
B. Construction Services 

All labor, services, and materials provided in connection with the construction, 
alteration, repair, demolition, reconstruction, or other improvement to real property 
that require a license under parts I and II of Chapter 489, Fla. Stat. 

 
C. Contractor or Provider of Construction Services 

The entity or individual that provides Construction Services through direct contract 
with the District. 

 
D. Date Stamped 

Each original and revised invoice or payment request received by the District shall 
be marked electronically or manually, by use of a date stamp or other method, 

240



 
 

which date marking clearly indicates the date such invoice or payment request is 
first delivered to the District through its Agent.  In the event that the Agent receives 
an invoice or payment request but fails to timely or physically mark on the 
document the date received, “Date Stamped” shall mean the date of actual receipt 
by the Agent. 

 
E. Improper Invoice 

An invoice that does not conform to the requirements of a Proper Invoice. 
 

F. Improper Payment Request 
A request for payment for Construction Services that does not conform to the 
requirements of a Proper Payment Request. 
 

G. Non-Construction Goods and Services 
All labor, services, goods and materials provided in connection with anything other 
than construction, alteration, repair, demolition, reconstruction, or other 
improvements to real property. 
 

H. Proper Invoice 
An invoice that conforms to all statutory requirements, all requirements of these 
Policies and Procedures not expressly waived by the District and any additional 
requirements included in the agreement for goods and/or services for which the 
invoice is submitted not expressly waived by the District.  

 
I. Proper Payment Request 

A request for payment for Construction Services which conforms to all statutory 
requirements, all requirements of these Policies & Procedures not expressly waived 
by the District and any additional requirements included in the Construction 
Services agreement for which the Payment Request is submitted not expressly 
waived by the District. 

 
J. Provider 

Includes any Vendor, Contractor or Provider of Construction Services, as defined 
herein. 

 
 K. Purchase 

The purchase of goods, materials, services, or Construction Services; the purchase 
or lease of personal property; or the lease of real property by the District. 

 
L. Vendor 

Any person or entity that sells goods or services, sells or leases personal property, 
or leases real property directly to the District, not including Construction Services. 

  

241



 
 

IV. Proper Invoice/Payment Request Requirements 
 
 A. General 

Prior to Provider receiving payment from the District, Non-Construction Goods and 
Services and Construction Services, as applicable, shall be received and performed 
in accordance with contractual or other specifications or requirements to the 
satisfaction of the District. Provision or delivery of Non-Construction Goods and 
Services to the District does not constitute acceptance for the purpose of payment.  
Final acceptance and authorization of payment shall be made only after delivery 
and inspection by the Agent and the Agent’s confirmation that the Non-
Construction Goods and Services or Construction Services meet contract 
specifications and conditions.  Should the Non-Construction Goods and Services 
or Construction Services differ in any respect from the specifications, payment may 
be withheld until such time as the Provider takes necessary corrective action.  
Certain limited exceptions which require payment in advance are permitted when 
authorized by the District Board of Supervisors (“Board”) or when provided for in 
the applicable agreement. 

 
B. Sales Tax 

Providers should not include sales tax on any invoice or payment request. The 
District’s current tax-exempt number is _________________.  A copy of the tax-
exempt form will be supplied to Providers upon request. 

 
C. Federal Identification and Social Security Numbers  

Providers are paid using either a Federal Identification Number or Social Security 
Number.  To receive payment, Providers should supply the District with the correct 
number as well as a proper Internal Revenue Service W-9 Form.  The District 
Manager shall treat information provided in accordance with Florida law. 

 
Providers should notify the District Manager when changes in data occur (telephone 
(561) 571-0010, email bsakuma@sdsinc.org). 

 
D. Proper Invoice for Non-Construction Goods and Services  

All Non-Construction Goods and Services invoiced must be supplied or performed 
in accordance with the applicable purchase order (including any bid/proposal 
provided, if applicable) or agreement and such Non-Construction Goods and 
Services quantity and quality must be equal to or better than what is required by 
such terms.  Unless otherwise specified in the applicable agreement, invoices 
should contain all of the following minimum information in order to be considered 
a Proper Invoice: 
 
1. Name of Vendor 
2. Remittance address 
3. Invoice Date 

242



 
 

4. Invoice number 
5. The “Bill To” party must be the District or the Board, or other entity approved 

in writing by the Board or the District Manager 
6. Project name (if applicable) 
7. In addition to the information required in Section IV.D.1-6 above, invoices 

involving the purchase of goods should also contain: 
a. A complete item description 
b. Quantity purchased 
c. Unit price(s) 
d. Total price (for each item) 
e. Total amount of invoice (all items) 
f. The location and date(s) of delivery of the goods to the District 

8. In addition to the information required in Section IV.D.1-6 above, invoices 
involving the purchase of services should also contain: 

a. Itemized description of services performed 
b. The location and date of delivery of the services to the District 
c. Billing method for services performed (i.e., approved hourly rates, 

percentage of completion, cost plus fixed fee, direct/actual costs, etc.) 
d. Itemization of other direct, reimbursable costs (including description 

and amount) 
e. Copies of invoices for other direct, reimbursable costs (other than 

incidental costs such as copying) and one (1) of the following: 
i. Copy of both sides of a cancelled check evidencing payment for 

costs submitted for reimbursement 
ii. Paid receipt 

iii. Waiver/lien release from subcontractor (if applicable) 
9. Any applicable discounts 
10. Any other information or documentation, which may be required or specified 

under the terms of the purchase order or agreement 
 

E. Proper Payment Request Requirements for Construction Services 
Payment Requests must conform to all requirements of Section IV.A.-D., above, 
unless otherwise specified in the terms of the applicable agreement or purchase 
order between the District and the Contractor. 

 
V. Submission of Invoices and Payment Requests  

The Provider shall submit all Invoices and Payment Requests for both Construction 
Services and Non-Construction Goods and Services to the District’s Agent as provided in 
the purchase order or agreement, as applicable, and to the District Manager as follows: 
 

243



 
 

Submit the invoice and/or payment request, with required additional material and 
in conformance with these Policies and Procedures, by mail, by hand delivery, or 
via email (Note: email is the preferred method for receipt of Non-Construction 
Goods and Services invoices). 

 
1. Mailing and Drop Off Address 

 
Tradition Community Development District No. 7 
c/o Special District Services, Inc. 
10521 SW Village Center Dr., Suite #203 
Port St. Lucie, FL 34987  
 

2.  Email Address 
   bsakuma@sdsinc.org 
 
VI. Calculation of Payment Due Date 
  
 A. Non-Construction Goods and Services Invoices  
 
  1. Receipt of Proper Invoice  

Payment is due from the District forty-five (45) calendar days from the date 
on which a Proper Invoice is Date Stamped.   

 
2. Receipt of Improper Invoice  

If an Improper Invoice is received, a required invoice is not received, or 
invoicing of a request for payment is not required, the time when payment 
is due from the District is forty-five (45) days from the latest date of the 
following: 

a. On which delivery of personal property is fully accepted by the 
District; 

b. On which services are completed and accepted by the District; 
c. On which the contracted rental period begins (if applicable); or 
d. On which the District and the Vendor agree in a written agreement 

that provides payment due dates. 
 

3. Rejection of an Improper Invoice 
The District may reject an Improper Invoice.  Within ten (10) business days 
of receipt of the Improper Invoice by the District, the Vendor must be 
notified that the invoice is improper and be given an opportunity to correct 
the deficient or missing information, remedy the faulty work, replace the 
defective goods, or take other necessary, remedial action. 

 
The District’s rejection of an Improper Invoice must: 

1. Be provided in writing; 

244



 
 

2. Specify any and all known deficiencies; and 
3. State actions necessary to correct the Improper Invoice. 

 
If the Vendor submits a corrected invoice, which corrects the deficiencies 
specified in the District’s written rejection, the District must pay the 
corrected invoice within the later of: (a) ten (10) business days after date the 
corrected invoice is Date Stamped; or (b) forty-five (45) days after the date 
the Improper Invoice was Date Stamped. 
 
If the Vendor submits an invoice in response to the District’s written 
rejection which fails to correct the deficiencies specified or continues to be 
an Improper Invoice, the District must reject that invoice as stated herein. 
 

4. Payment of Undisputed Portion of Invoice 
If the District disputes a portion of an invoice, the undisputed portion shall 
be paid in a timely manner and in accordance with the due dates for payment 
as specified in these Policies & Procedures. 

 
B. Payment Requests for Construction Services  

 
1. Receipt of Proper Payment Request 

The time at which payment is due for Construction Services from the 
 District is as follows: 

 
a. If an Agent must approve the payment request before it is submitted to 
the District Manager, payment (whether full or partial) is due twenty-five 
(25) business days after the payment request is Date Stamped. The 
Contractor may send the District an overdue notice.  If the payment request 
is not rejected within four (4) business days after Date Stamp of the overdue 
notice, the payment request shall be deemed accepted, except for any 
portion of the payment request that is fraudulent, misleading or is the subject 
of dispute. 

 
The agreement between the District and the Contractor shall identify the 
Agent to which the Contractor shall submit its payment request, or shall be 
provided by the District through a separate written notice no later than ten 
(10) days after contract award or notice to proceed, whichever is later. 
Contractor’s submission of a payment request to the Agent shall be Date 
Stamped, which shall commence the time periods for payment or rejection 
of a payment request or invoice as provided in this section. 

 
b. If, pursuant to contract, an Agent is not required to approve the payment 
request submitted to the District, payment is due twenty (20) business days 

245



 
 

after the payment request is Date Stamped unless such payment request 
includes fraudulent or misleading information or is the subject of dispute. 

 
2. Receipt and Rejection of Improper Payment Request 

a. If an Improper Payment Request is received, the District must reject the 
Improper Payment Request within twenty (20) business days after the date 
on which the payment request is Date Stamped.  

 
b. The District’s rejection of the Improper Payment Request must: 

1. Be provided in writing; 
2. Specify any and all known deficiencies; and 
3. State actions necessary to correct the Improper Invoice. 

 
c. If a Contractor submits a payment request which corrects the deficiency 
specified in the District’s written rejection, the District must pay or reject 
the corrected submission no later than ten (10) business days after the date 
the corrected payment request is Date Stamped. 

 
3.   Payment of Undisputed Portion of Payment Request 

If the District disputes a portion of a payment request, the undisputed 
portion shall be paid by the date required under the contract or by twenty 
(20) business days after receipt of the request, whichever is earlier. 

 
VII. Resolution of Disputes 
 

If a dispute arises between a Provider and the District concerning payment of an invoice or 
payment request, the dispute shall be resolved as set forth in § 218.735, Fla. Stat., for 
Construction Services, and § 218.76, Fla. Stat. for Non-Construction Goods and Services. 
 
A. Dispute between the District and a Contractor 

If a dispute between the District and a Contractor cannot be resolved following 
resubmission of a payment request by the Contractor, the dispute must be resolved 
in accordance with the dispute resolution procedure prescribed in the construction 
contract, if any. In the absence of a prescribed procedure in the contract, the dispute 
must be resolved by the procedures specified below. 

 
B. Dispute Resolution Procedures 

 
1. If an Improper Payment Request or Improper Invoice is submitted, and the 

Provider refuses or fails to submit a revised payment request or invoice as 
contemplated by the PPA and these Policies and Procedures, the Provider 
shall, not later than thirty (30) days after the date on which the last payment 
request or invoice was Date Stamped, submit a written statement via 
certified mail to the Agent, copying the District Manager, specifying the 

246



 
 

basis upon which the Provider contends the last submitted payment request 
or invoice was proper. 

 
2. Within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt by the Agent and District 

Manager of the disputed, last-submitted payment request or invoice, the 
Agent and/or District Manager shall commence investigation of the dispute 
and render a final decision on the matter no later than forty-five (45) 
calendar days after the date on which the last-submitted payment request or 
invoice is Date Stamped. 

 
3. Absent a written agreement to the contrary, if the Provider refuses or fails 

to provide the written statement required above, the Agent and/or District 
Manager is not required to contact the Provider in the investigation.  In 
addition, and absent a written agreement to the contrary, if such written 
statement is not provided, the District may immediately contract with third 
parties to provide the goods and services subject to the dispute and deduct 
the costs of such third party purchases from amounts owed to the Provider. 

 
4. The Board shall approve any decision of the District Manager to contract 

with a third party which would result in: 1) an expenditure above what is 
budgeted for the Construction Services or Non-Construction Services; or 2) 
an expenditure which exceeds the original contract amount for the 
Construction Services or Non-Construction Services by more than ten 
percent (10%) or Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000), whichever is less. 

 
5. A written explanation of the final decision shall be sent to the Provider, via 

certified mail, within five (5) business days from the date on which such 
final decision is made.  A copy of the written explanation of the final 
decision shall be provided to the Chairperson of the Board simultaneously 
with the certified mailing to the Provider. 

 
6. If a Provider does not accept in writing the final decision within five (5) 

business days after receipt by the Provider, the District may immediately 
contract with third parties to provide the goods and services subject to the 
dispute and deduct the costs of such third party purchases from amounts 
owed to the Provider.  If the costs of the third party purchases exceed the 
amount the District owes to the Provider, the District may seek to recover 
such excess from the Provider in a court of law or as otherwise provided in 
an agreement between the District and the Provider.  Nothing contained 
herein shall limit or affect the District’s ability to enforce all of its legal and 
contractual rights and remedies against the Provider. 

    
VIII.  Purchases Involving Federal Funds or Bond Funds 
 

247



 
 

When the District intends to pay for a purchase with federal funds or bond funds, the 
District shall make such purchases only upon reasonable assurances that federal funds or 
bond funds sufficient to cover the cost will be received.  When payment is contingent upon 
the receipt of bond funds, federal funds or federal approval, the public procurement 
documents and any agreement with a Provider shall clearly state such contingency. (§ 
218.77, Fla. Stat.). 
 

IX. Requirements for Construction Services Contracts – Project Completion;  
 Retainage 
 

The District intends to follow the PPA requirements for construction project completion 
and retainage, including, but not limited to, § 218.735 (7) and (8), Fla. Stat. 

 

X. Late Payment Interest Charges 

 
Failure on the part of the District to make timely payments may result in District 
responsibility for late payment interest charges.  No agreement between the District and a 
Provider may prohibit the collection of late payment interest charges allowable under the 
PPA as mandatory interest. (§218.75, Fla. Stat.). 

 
A. Related to Non-Construction Goods and Services 

All payments due from the District, and not made within the time specified within 
this policy or as required by applicable law, will bear interest, from thirty (30) days 
after the due date, at the rate provided in Section 218.74(4), Fla. Stat.  The Vendor 
must submit a Proper Invoice to the District for any interest accrued in order to 
receive the interest payment. (§ 218.74 (4), Fla. Stat.). 

 
An overdue period of less than one (1) month is considered as one (1) month in 
computing interest.  Unpaid interest is compounded monthly.  The term one (1) 
month means a period beginning on any day of a month and ending on the same 
day of the following month. 

 
B. Related to Construction Services 

All payments for Construction Services that are not made within the time periods 
specified within the applicable statute, shall bear interest after the due date, at the 
rate of one percent (1%) per month, or the rate specified by agreement, whichever 
is greater. (§ 218.735 (9), Fla. Stat.). The Contractor must submit a Proper Payment 
Request to the District for any interest accrued in order to receive the interest 
payment.  (§ 218.735 (9), Fla. Stat.). An overdue period of less than one (1) month 
is considered as one (1) month in computing interest.  

 

248



 
 

Unpaid interest is compounded monthly.  The term one (1) month means a period 
beginning on any day of a month and ending on the same day of the following 
month. 

 
C. Report of Interest 

If the total amount of interest paid during the preceding fiscal year exceeds $250, 
the District Manager is required to submit a report to the Board during December 
of each year, stating the number of interest payments made and the total amount of 
such payments. (§ 218.78, Fla. Stat.). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

249



4898-8297-9971.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-07 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 8 
ADOPTING PROMPT PAYMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 218, FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING A 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

  
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 8 (the “District”) is a local 
unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, 
being situated entirely within St. Lucie, Florida; and  
 
 WHEREAS, Chapter 218, Florida Statutes, requires timely payment to vendors and 
contractors providing certain goods and/or services to the District; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (the “Board”) accordingly finds that it 
is in the best interest of the District to establish by resolution Prompt Payment Policies and 
Procedures, attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “Policies and Procedures”), as may be amended 
or updated from time to time for immediate use and application. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 8: 
 

 SECTION 1. The Policies and Procedures, attached hereto as Exhibit A, are hereby 
adopted pursuant to this Resolution as necessary for the conduct of District business. The Policies 
and Procedures shall remain in full force and effect until such time as the Board may amend or 
replace them; provided, however, that as the provisions of Chapter 218, Florida Statutes, are 
amended from time to time, the attached Policies and Procedures shall automatically be amended 
to incorporate the new requirements of law without any further action by the Board.   
 
 SECTION 2.   If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other 
provisions shall remain in full force and effect.   
 
 SECTION 3. This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain in 
effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Policies and Procedures previously adopted by the District. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January 2026. 
 
ATTEST:       TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 8 
 
_________________________________  ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary    Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 
Exhibit A:  Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 

250



4898-8297-9971.1  

 
 

Exhibit A 
 
 
 

TRADITION  
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT NO. 8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 
In Accordance with the Local Government Prompt Payment Act  

Chapter 218, Part VII, Florida Statutes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

January 7, 2026

251



4898-8297-9971.1  

 
Tradition Community Development District No. 8 

Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 
 

Table of Contents 
 
I. Purpose  ........................................................................................................................ 1 
 
II. Scope   .......................................................................................................................... 1 
 
III. Definitions  .................................................................................................................. 1 

A. Agent    ........................................................................................................... 1 
B. Construction Services   .................................................................................. 1 
C. Contractor or Provider of Construction Services   ......................................... 1 
D. Date Stamped   ............................................................................................... 1 
E. Improper Invoice   .......................................................................................... 2 
F. Improper Payment Request  ........................................................................... 2 
G. Non-Construction Goods and Services .......................................................... 2 
H. Proper Invoice   .............................................................................................. 2 
I. Proper Payment Request   .............................................................................. 2 
J. Provider  ......................................................................................................... 2 
K. Purchase   ....................................................................................................... 2 
L. Vendor  .......................................................................................................... 2 

 
IV. Proper Invoice/Payment Request Requirements   ........................................................ 3 

A. General   ......................................................................................................... 3 
B. Sales Tax   ...................................................................................................... 3 
C. Federal Identification and Social Security Numbers  .................................... 3 
D. Proper Invoice for Non-Construction Goods and Services  .......................... 3 
E. Proper Payment Request Requirements for Construction Services ............... 4 

 
V. Submission of Invoices and Payment Requests   ......................................................... 4 
 
VI. Calculation of Payment Due Date  ............................................................................... 5 

A. Non-Construction Goods and Services Invoices   ......................................... 5 
B. Payment Requests for Construction Services   .............................................. 6 

 
VII. ..........................................................................................................................     

Resolution of Disputes   ................................................................................................... 7 
A. Dispute Between the District and a Provider   ............................................... 7 
B. Dispute Resolution Procedures  ..................................................................... 7 

 
VIII. Purchases Involving Federal Funds or Bond Funds .................................................... 8 

252



4898-8297-9971.1  

 
IX.      Requirements for Construction Services Contracts – Project Completion; Retainage   

9 
 
X.      Late Payment Interest Charges   ................................................................................. 9 

A. Related to Non-Construction Goods and Services  ....................................... 9 
B. Related to Construction Services    ................................................................ 9 
C. Report of Interest   .........................................................................................10

253



 
 

I.             Purpose 
In accordance with the Local Government Prompt Payment Act (Chapter 218, Part VII, 
Florida Statutes) (“PPA”), the purpose of the Tradition Community Development District 
No. 8 (“District”) Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures (“Policies & Procedures”) is 
to provide a specific policy to ensure timely payment to Vendors and Contractors (both 
hereinafter defined) providing goods and/or services to the District and ensure the timely 
receipt by the District of goods and/or services contemplated at the time of contracting.  
Please note that the PPA, like any statute or law, may be amended from time to time by 
legislative action.  These Policies & Procedures are based on the statutory requirements 
as of the date identified on the cover page of this document.  By this reference, as 
applicable statutory provisions subsequently change, these Policies & Procedures shall 
automatically be amended to incorporate the new requirements of law.  These Policies & 
Procedures are adopted by the District to provide guidance in contracting matters.  Failure 
by the District to comply with these Policies & Procedures shall not expand the rights or 
remedies of any Provider (hereinafter defined) against the District under the PPA.  
Nothing contained herein shall be interpreted as more restrictive on the District than what 
is provided for in the PPA. 

 
II. Scope 

These Policies & Procedures apply to all operations of the District, including Construction 
Services and Non-Construction Goods and Services, as applicable. 

 
III. Definitions 

 
A. Agent 

The District-contracted architect, District-contracted engineer, District Manager, or 
other person, acting on behalf of the District, which is required by law or contract 
to review invoices or payment requests from Providers (hereinafter defined).  Such 
individuals/entities must be identified in accordance with §218.735 (1), Fla. Stat., 
and further identified in the relevant agreement between the District and the 
Provider. 

 
B. Construction Services 

All labor, services, and materials provided in connection with the construction, 
alteration, repair, demolition, reconstruction, or other improvement to real property 
that require a license under parts I and II of Chapter 489, Fla. Stat. 

 
C. Contractor or Provider of Construction Services 

The entity or individual that provides Construction Services through direct contract 
with the District. 

 
D. Date Stamped 

Each original and revised invoice or payment request received by the District shall 
be marked electronically or manually, by use of a date stamp or other method, 

254



 
 

which date marking clearly indicates the date such invoice or payment request is 
first delivered to the District through its Agent.  In the event that the Agent receives 
an invoice or payment request but fails to timely or physically mark on the 
document the date received, “Date Stamped” shall mean the date of actual receipt 
by the Agent. 

 
E. Improper Invoice 

An invoice that does not conform to the requirements of a Proper Invoice. 
 

F. Improper Payment Request 
A request for payment for Construction Services that does not conform to the 
requirements of a Proper Payment Request. 
 

G. Non-Construction Goods and Services 
All labor, services, goods and materials provided in connection with anything other 
than construction, alteration, repair, demolition, reconstruction, or other 
improvements to real property. 
 

H. Proper Invoice 
An invoice that conforms to all statutory requirements, all requirements of these 
Policies and Procedures not expressly waived by the District and any additional 
requirements included in the agreement for goods and/or services for which the 
invoice is submitted not expressly waived by the District.  

 
I. Proper Payment Request 

A request for payment for Construction Services which conforms to all statutory 
requirements, all requirements of these Policies & Procedures not expressly waived 
by the District and any additional requirements included in the Construction 
Services agreement for which the Payment Request is submitted not expressly 
waived by the District. 

 
J. Provider 

Includes any Vendor, Contractor or Provider of Construction Services, as defined 
herein. 

 
 K. Purchase 

The purchase of goods, materials, services, or Construction Services; the purchase 
or lease of personal property; or the lease of real property by the District. 

 
L. Vendor 

Any person or entity that sells goods or services, sells or leases personal property, 
or leases real property directly to the District, not including Construction Services. 

  

255



 
 

IV. Proper Invoice/Payment Request Requirements 
 
 A. General 

Prior to Provider receiving payment from the District, Non-Construction Goods and 
Services and Construction Services, as applicable, shall be received and performed 
in accordance with contractual or other specifications or requirements to the 
satisfaction of the District. Provision or delivery of Non-Construction Goods and 
Services to the District does not constitute acceptance for the purpose of payment.  
Final acceptance and authorization of payment shall be made only after delivery 
and inspection by the Agent and the Agent’s confirmation that the Non-
Construction Goods and Services or Construction Services meet contract 
specifications and conditions.  Should the Non-Construction Goods and Services 
or Construction Services differ in any respect from the specifications, payment may 
be withheld until such time as the Provider takes necessary corrective action.  
Certain limited exceptions which require payment in advance are permitted when 
authorized by the District Board of Supervisors (“Board”) or when provided for in 
the applicable agreement. 

 
B. Sales Tax 

Providers should not include sales tax on any invoice or payment request. The 
District’s current tax-exempt number is _________________.  A copy of the tax-
exempt form will be supplied to Providers upon request. 

 
C. Federal Identification and Social Security Numbers  

Providers are paid using either a Federal Identification Number or Social Security 
Number.  To receive payment, Providers should supply the District with the correct 
number as well as a proper Internal Revenue Service W-9 Form.  The District 
Manager shall treat information provided in accordance with Florida law. 

 
Providers should notify the District Manager when changes in data occur (telephone 
(561) 571-0010, email bsakuma@sdsinc.org). 

 
D. Proper Invoice for Non-Construction Goods and Services  

All Non-Construction Goods and Services invoiced must be supplied or performed 
in accordance with the applicable purchase order (including any bid/proposal 
provided, if applicable) or agreement and such Non-Construction Goods and 
Services quantity and quality must be equal to or better than what is required by 
such terms.  Unless otherwise specified in the applicable agreement, invoices 
should contain all of the following minimum information in order to be considered 
a Proper Invoice: 
 
1. Name of Vendor 
2. Remittance address 
3. Invoice Date 

256



 
 

4. Invoice number 
5. The “Bill To” party must be the District or the Board, or other entity approved 

in writing by the Board or the District Manager 
6. Project name (if applicable) 
7. In addition to the information required in Section IV.D.1-6 above, invoices 

involving the purchase of goods should also contain: 
a. A complete item description 
b. Quantity purchased 
c. Unit price(s) 
d. Total price (for each item) 
e. Total amount of invoice (all items) 
f. The location and date(s) of delivery of the goods to the District 

8. In addition to the information required in Section IV.D.1-6 above, invoices 
involving the purchase of services should also contain: 

a. Itemized description of services performed 
b. The location and date of delivery of the services to the District 
c. Billing method for services performed (i.e., approved hourly rates, 

percentage of completion, cost plus fixed fee, direct/actual costs, etc.) 
d. Itemization of other direct, reimbursable costs (including description 

and amount) 
e. Copies of invoices for other direct, reimbursable costs (other than 

incidental costs such as copying) and one (1) of the following: 
i. Copy of both sides of a cancelled check evidencing payment for 

costs submitted for reimbursement 
ii. Paid receipt 

iii. Waiver/lien release from subcontractor (if applicable) 
9. Any applicable discounts 
10. Any other information or documentation, which may be required or specified 

under the terms of the purchase order or agreement 
 

E. Proper Payment Request Requirements for Construction Services 
Payment Requests must conform to all requirements of Section IV.A.-D., above, 
unless otherwise specified in the terms of the applicable agreement or purchase 
order between the District and the Contractor. 

 
V. Submission of Invoices and Payment Requests  

The Provider shall submit all Invoices and Payment Requests for both Construction 
Services and Non-Construction Goods and Services to the District’s Agent as provided in 
the purchase order or agreement, as applicable, and to the District Manager as follows: 
 

257



 
 

Submit the invoice and/or payment request, with required additional material and 
in conformance with these Policies and Procedures, by mail, by hand delivery, or 
via email (Note: email is the preferred method for receipt of Non-Construction 
Goods and Services invoices). 

 
1. Mailing and Drop Off Address 

 
Tradition Community Development District No. 8 
c/o Special District Services, Inc. 
10521 SW Village Center Dr., Suite #203 
Port St. Lucie, FL 34987  
 

2.  Email Address 
   bsakuma@sdsinc.org 
 
VI. Calculation of Payment Due Date 
  
 A. Non-Construction Goods and Services Invoices  
 
  1. Receipt of Proper Invoice  

Payment is due from the District forty-five (45) calendar days from the date 
on which a Proper Invoice is Date Stamped.   

 
2. Receipt of Improper Invoice  

If an Improper Invoice is received, a required invoice is not received, or 
invoicing of a request for payment is not required, the time when payment 
is due from the District is forty-five (45) days from the latest date of the 
following: 

a. On which delivery of personal property is fully accepted by the 
District; 

b. On which services are completed and accepted by the District; 
c. On which the contracted rental period begins (if applicable); or 
d. On which the District and the Vendor agree in a written agreement 

that provides payment due dates. 
 

3. Rejection of an Improper Invoice 
The District may reject an Improper Invoice.  Within ten (10) business days 
of receipt of the Improper Invoice by the District, the Vendor must be 
notified that the invoice is improper and be given an opportunity to correct 
the deficient or missing information, remedy the faulty work, replace the 
defective goods, or take other necessary, remedial action. 

 
The District’s rejection of an Improper Invoice must: 

1. Be provided in writing; 

258



 
 

2. Specify any and all known deficiencies; and 
3. State actions necessary to correct the Improper Invoice. 

 
If the Vendor submits a corrected invoice, which corrects the deficiencies 
specified in the District’s written rejection, the District must pay the 
corrected invoice within the later of: (a) ten (10) business days after date the 
corrected invoice is Date Stamped; or (b) forty-five (45) days after the date 
the Improper Invoice was Date Stamped. 
 
If the Vendor submits an invoice in response to the District’s written 
rejection which fails to correct the deficiencies specified or continues to be 
an Improper Invoice, the District must reject that invoice as stated herein. 
 

4. Payment of Undisputed Portion of Invoice 
If the District disputes a portion of an invoice, the undisputed portion shall 
be paid in a timely manner and in accordance with the due dates for payment 
as specified in these Policies & Procedures. 

 
B. Payment Requests for Construction Services  

 
1. Receipt of Proper Payment Request 

The time at which payment is due for Construction Services from the 
 District is as follows: 

 
a. If an Agent must approve the payment request before it is submitted to 
the District Manager, payment (whether full or partial) is due twenty-five 
(25) business days after the payment request is Date Stamped. The 
Contractor may send the District an overdue notice.  If the payment request 
is not rejected within four (4) business days after Date Stamp of the overdue 
notice, the payment request shall be deemed accepted, except for any 
portion of the payment request that is fraudulent, misleading or is the subject 
of dispute. 

 
The agreement between the District and the Contractor shall identify the 
Agent to which the Contractor shall submit its payment request, or shall be 
provided by the District through a separate written notice no later than ten 
(10) days after contract award or notice to proceed, whichever is later. 
Contractor’s submission of a payment request to the Agent shall be Date 
Stamped, which shall commence the time periods for payment or rejection 
of a payment request or invoice as provided in this section. 

 
b. If, pursuant to contract, an Agent is not required to approve the payment 
request submitted to the District, payment is due twenty (20) business days 

259



 
 

after the payment request is Date Stamped unless such payment request 
includes fraudulent or misleading information or is the subject of dispute. 

 
2. Receipt and Rejection of Improper Payment Request 

a. If an Improper Payment Request is received, the District must reject the 
Improper Payment Request within twenty (20) business days after the date 
on which the payment request is Date Stamped.  

 
b. The District’s rejection of the Improper Payment Request must: 

1. Be provided in writing; 
2. Specify any and all known deficiencies; and 
3. State actions necessary to correct the Improper Invoice. 

 
c. If a Contractor submits a payment request which corrects the deficiency 
specified in the District’s written rejection, the District must pay or reject 
the corrected submission no later than ten (10) business days after the date 
the corrected payment request is Date Stamped. 

 
3.   Payment of Undisputed Portion of Payment Request 

If the District disputes a portion of a payment request, the undisputed 
portion shall be paid by the date required under the contract or by twenty 
(20) business days after receipt of the request, whichever is earlier. 

 
VII. Resolution of Disputes 
 

If a dispute arises between a Provider and the District concerning payment of an invoice or 
payment request, the dispute shall be resolved as set forth in § 218.735, Fla. Stat., for 
Construction Services, and § 218.76, Fla. Stat. for Non-Construction Goods and Services. 
 
A. Dispute between the District and a Contractor 

If a dispute between the District and a Contractor cannot be resolved following 
resubmission of a payment request by the Contractor, the dispute must be resolved 
in accordance with the dispute resolution procedure prescribed in the construction 
contract, if any. In the absence of a prescribed procedure in the contract, the dispute 
must be resolved by the procedures specified below. 

 
B. Dispute Resolution Procedures 

 
1. If an Improper Payment Request or Improper Invoice is submitted, and the 

Provider refuses or fails to submit a revised payment request or invoice as 
contemplated by the PPA and these Policies and Procedures, the Provider 
shall, not later than thirty (30) days after the date on which the last payment 
request or invoice was Date Stamped, submit a written statement via 
certified mail to the Agent, copying the District Manager, specifying the 

260



 
 

basis upon which the Provider contends the last submitted payment request 
or invoice was proper. 

 
2. Within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt by the Agent and District 

Manager of the disputed, last-submitted payment request or invoice, the 
Agent and/or District Manager shall commence investigation of the dispute 
and render a final decision on the matter no later than forty-five (45) 
calendar days after the date on which the last-submitted payment request or 
invoice is Date Stamped. 

 
3. Absent a written agreement to the contrary, if the Provider refuses or fails 

to provide the written statement required above, the Agent and/or District 
Manager is not required to contact the Provider in the investigation.  In 
addition, and absent a written agreement to the contrary, if such written 
statement is not provided, the District may immediately contract with third 
parties to provide the goods and services subject to the dispute and deduct 
the costs of such third party purchases from amounts owed to the Provider. 

 
4. The Board shall approve any decision of the District Manager to contract 

with a third party which would result in: 1) an expenditure above what is 
budgeted for the Construction Services or Non-Construction Services; or 2) 
an expenditure which exceeds the original contract amount for the 
Construction Services or Non-Construction Services by more than ten 
percent (10%) or Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000), whichever is less. 

 
5. A written explanation of the final decision shall be sent to the Provider, via 

certified mail, within five (5) business days from the date on which such 
final decision is made.  A copy of the written explanation of the final 
decision shall be provided to the Chairperson of the Board simultaneously 
with the certified mailing to the Provider. 

 
6. If a Provider does not accept in writing the final decision within five (5) 

business days after receipt by the Provider, the District may immediately 
contract with third parties to provide the goods and services subject to the 
dispute and deduct the costs of such third party purchases from amounts 
owed to the Provider.  If the costs of the third party purchases exceed the 
amount the District owes to the Provider, the District may seek to recover 
such excess from the Provider in a court of law or as otherwise provided in 
an agreement between the District and the Provider.  Nothing contained 
herein shall limit or affect the District’s ability to enforce all of its legal and 
contractual rights and remedies against the Provider. 

    
VIII.  Purchases Involving Federal Funds or Bond Funds 
 

261



 
 

When the District intends to pay for a purchase with federal funds or bond funds, the 
District shall make such purchases only upon reasonable assurances that federal funds or 
bond funds sufficient to cover the cost will be received.  When payment is contingent upon 
the receipt of bond funds, federal funds or federal approval, the public procurement 
documents and any agreement with a Provider shall clearly state such contingency. (§ 
218.77, Fla. Stat.). 
 

IX. Requirements for Construction Services Contracts – Project Completion;  
 Retainage 
 

The District intends to follow the PPA requirements for construction project completion 
and retainage, including, but not limited to, § 218.735 (7) and (8), Fla. Stat. 

 

X. Late Payment Interest Charges 

 
Failure on the part of the District to make timely payments may result in District 
responsibility for late payment interest charges.  No agreement between the District and a 
Provider may prohibit the collection of late payment interest charges allowable under the 
PPA as mandatory interest. (§218.75, Fla. Stat.). 

 
A. Related to Non-Construction Goods and Services 

All payments due from the District, and not made within the time specified within 
this policy or as required by applicable law, will bear interest, from thirty (30) days 
after the due date, at the rate provided in Section 218.74(4), Fla. Stat.  The Vendor 
must submit a Proper Invoice to the District for any interest accrued in order to 
receive the interest payment. (§ 218.74 (4), Fla. Stat.). 

 
An overdue period of less than one (1) month is considered as one (1) month in 
computing interest.  Unpaid interest is compounded monthly.  The term one (1) 
month means a period beginning on any day of a month and ending on the same 
day of the following month. 

 
B. Related to Construction Services 

All payments for Construction Services that are not made within the time periods 
specified within the applicable statute, shall bear interest after the due date, at the 
rate of one percent (1%) per month, or the rate specified by agreement, whichever 
is greater. (§ 218.735 (9), Fla. Stat.). The Contractor must submit a Proper Payment 
Request to the District for any interest accrued in order to receive the interest 
payment.  (§ 218.735 (9), Fla. Stat.). An overdue period of less than one (1) month 
is considered as one (1) month in computing interest.  

 

262



 
 

Unpaid interest is compounded monthly.  The term one (1) month means a period 
beginning on any day of a month and ending on the same day of the following 
month. 

 
C. Report of Interest 

If the total amount of interest paid during the preceding fiscal year exceeds $250, 
the District Manager is required to submit a report to the Board during December 
of each year, stating the number of interest payments made and the total amount of 
such payments. (§ 218.78, Fla. Stat.). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

263



4933-4111-8083.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-07 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 9 
ADOPTING PROMPT PAYMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 218, FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING A 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

  
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 9 (the “District”) is a local 
unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, 
being situated entirely within St. Lucie, Florida; and  
 
 WHEREAS, Chapter 218, Florida Statutes, requires timely payment to vendors and 
contractors providing certain goods and/or services to the District; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (the “Board”) accordingly finds that it 
is in the best interest of the District to establish by resolution Prompt Payment Policies and 
Procedures, attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “Policies and Procedures”), as may be amended 
or updated from time to time for immediate use and application. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 9: 
 

 SECTION 1. The Policies and Procedures, attached hereto as Exhibit A, are hereby 
adopted pursuant to this Resolution as necessary for the conduct of District business. The Policies 
and Procedures shall remain in full force and effect until such time as the Board may amend or 
replace them; provided, however, that as the provisions of Chapter 218, Florida Statutes, are 
amended from time to time, the attached Policies and Procedures shall automatically be amended 
to incorporate the new requirements of law without any further action by the Board.   
 
 SECTION 2.   If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other 
provisions shall remain in full force and effect.   
 
 SECTION 3. This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain in 
effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Policies and Procedures previously adopted by the District. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January 2026. 
 
ATTEST:       TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 9 
 
_________________________________  ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary    Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 
Exhibit A:  Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 

264



4933-4111-8083.1  

 
 

Exhibit A 
 
 
 

TRADITION  
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT NO. 9 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 
In Accordance with the Local Government Prompt Payment Act  

Chapter 218, Part VII, Florida Statutes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

January 7, 2026

265



4933-4111-8083.1  

 
Tradition Community Development District No. 9 

Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 
 

Table of Contents 
 
I. Purpose  ........................................................................................................................ 1 
 
II. Scope   .......................................................................................................................... 1 
 
III. Definitions  .................................................................................................................. 1 

A. Agent    ........................................................................................................... 1 
B. Construction Services   .................................................................................. 1 
C. Contractor or Provider of Construction Services   ......................................... 1 
D. Date Stamped   ............................................................................................... 1 
E. Improper Invoice   .......................................................................................... 2 
F. Improper Payment Request  ........................................................................... 2 
G. Non-Construction Goods and Services .......................................................... 2 
H. Proper Invoice   .............................................................................................. 2 
I. Proper Payment Request   .............................................................................. 2 
J. Provider  ......................................................................................................... 2 
K. Purchase   ....................................................................................................... 2 
L. Vendor  .......................................................................................................... 2 

 
IV. Proper Invoice/Payment Request Requirements   ........................................................ 3 

A. General   ......................................................................................................... 3 
B. Sales Tax   ...................................................................................................... 3 
C. Federal Identification and Social Security Numbers  .................................... 3 
D. Proper Invoice for Non-Construction Goods and Services  .......................... 3 
E. Proper Payment Request Requirements for Construction Services ............... 4 

 
V. Submission of Invoices and Payment Requests   ......................................................... 4 
 
VI. Calculation of Payment Due Date  ............................................................................... 5 

A. Non-Construction Goods and Services Invoices   ......................................... 5 
B. Payment Requests for Construction Services   .............................................. 6 

 
VII. ..........................................................................................................................     

Resolution of Disputes   ................................................................................................... 7 
A. Dispute Between the District and a Provider   ............................................... 7 
B. Dispute Resolution Procedures  ..................................................................... 7 

 
VIII. Purchases Involving Federal Funds or Bond Funds .................................................... 8 

266



4933-4111-8083.1  

 
IX.      Requirements for Construction Services Contracts – Project Completion; Retainage   

9 
 
X.      Late Payment Interest Charges   ................................................................................. 9 

A. Related to Non-Construction Goods and Services  ....................................... 9 
B. Related to Construction Services    ................................................................ 9 
C. Report of Interest   .........................................................................................10

267



 
 

I.             Purpose 
In accordance with the Local Government Prompt Payment Act (Chapter 218, Part VII, 
Florida Statutes) (“PPA”), the purpose of the Tradition Community Development District 
No. 9 (“District”) Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures (“Policies & Procedures”) is 
to provide a specific policy to ensure timely payment to Vendors and Contractors (both 
hereinafter defined) providing goods and/or services to the District and ensure the timely 
receipt by the District of goods and/or services contemplated at the time of contracting.  
Please note that the PPA, like any statute or law, may be amended from time to time by 
legislative action.  These Policies & Procedures are based on the statutory requirements 
as of the date identified on the cover page of this document.  By this reference, as 
applicable statutory provisions subsequently change, these Policies & Procedures shall 
automatically be amended to incorporate the new requirements of law.  These Policies & 
Procedures are adopted by the District to provide guidance in contracting matters.  Failure 
by the District to comply with these Policies & Procedures shall not expand the rights or 
remedies of any Provider (hereinafter defined) against the District under the PPA.  
Nothing contained herein shall be interpreted as more restrictive on the District than what 
is provided for in the PPA. 

 
II. Scope 

These Policies & Procedures apply to all operations of the District, including Construction 
Services and Non-Construction Goods and Services, as applicable. 

 
III. Definitions 

 
A. Agent 

The District-contracted architect, District-contracted engineer, District Manager, or 
other person, acting on behalf of the District, which is required by law or contract 
to review invoices or payment requests from Providers (hereinafter defined).  Such 
individuals/entities must be identified in accordance with §218.735 (1), Fla. Stat., 
and further identified in the relevant agreement between the District and the 
Provider. 

 
B. Construction Services 

All labor, services, and materials provided in connection with the construction, 
alteration, repair, demolition, reconstruction, or other improvement to real property 
that require a license under parts I and II of Chapter 489, Fla. Stat. 

 
C. Contractor or Provider of Construction Services 

The entity or individual that provides Construction Services through direct contract 
with the District. 

 
D. Date Stamped 

Each original and revised invoice or payment request received by the District shall 
be marked electronically or manually, by use of a date stamp or other method, 

268



 
 

which date marking clearly indicates the date such invoice or payment request is 
first delivered to the District through its Agent.  In the event that the Agent receives 
an invoice or payment request but fails to timely or physically mark on the 
document the date received, “Date Stamped” shall mean the date of actual receipt 
by the Agent. 

 
E. Improper Invoice 

An invoice that does not conform to the requirements of a Proper Invoice. 
 

F. Improper Payment Request 
A request for payment for Construction Services that does not conform to the 
requirements of a Proper Payment Request. 
 

G. Non-Construction Goods and Services 
All labor, services, goods and materials provided in connection with anything other 
than construction, alteration, repair, demolition, reconstruction, or other 
improvements to real property. 
 

H. Proper Invoice 
An invoice that conforms to all statutory requirements, all requirements of these 
Policies and Procedures not expressly waived by the District and any additional 
requirements included in the agreement for goods and/or services for which the 
invoice is submitted not expressly waived by the District.  

 
I. Proper Payment Request 

A request for payment for Construction Services which conforms to all statutory 
requirements, all requirements of these Policies & Procedures not expressly waived 
by the District and any additional requirements included in the Construction 
Services agreement for which the Payment Request is submitted not expressly 
waived by the District. 

 
J. Provider 

Includes any Vendor, Contractor or Provider of Construction Services, as defined 
herein. 

 
 K. Purchase 

The purchase of goods, materials, services, or Construction Services; the purchase 
or lease of personal property; or the lease of real property by the District. 

 
L. Vendor 

Any person or entity that sells goods or services, sells or leases personal property, 
or leases real property directly to the District, not including Construction Services. 

  

269



 
 

IV. Proper Invoice/Payment Request Requirements 
 
 A. General 

Prior to Provider receiving payment from the District, Non-Construction Goods and 
Services and Construction Services, as applicable, shall be received and performed 
in accordance with contractual or other specifications or requirements to the 
satisfaction of the District. Provision or delivery of Non-Construction Goods and 
Services to the District does not constitute acceptance for the purpose of payment.  
Final acceptance and authorization of payment shall be made only after delivery 
and inspection by the Agent and the Agent’s confirmation that the Non-
Construction Goods and Services or Construction Services meet contract 
specifications and conditions.  Should the Non-Construction Goods and Services 
or Construction Services differ in any respect from the specifications, payment may 
be withheld until such time as the Provider takes necessary corrective action.  
Certain limited exceptions which require payment in advance are permitted when 
authorized by the District Board of Supervisors (“Board”) or when provided for in 
the applicable agreement. 

 
B. Sales Tax 

Providers should not include sales tax on any invoice or payment request. The 
District’s current tax-exempt number is _________________.  A copy of the tax-
exempt form will be supplied to Providers upon request. 

 
C. Federal Identification and Social Security Numbers  

Providers are paid using either a Federal Identification Number or Social Security 
Number.  To receive payment, Providers should supply the District with the correct 
number as well as a proper Internal Revenue Service W-9 Form.  The District 
Manager shall treat information provided in accordance with Florida law. 

 
Providers should notify the District Manager when changes in data occur (telephone 
(561) 571-0010, email bsakuma@sdsinc.org). 

 
D. Proper Invoice for Non-Construction Goods and Services  

All Non-Construction Goods and Services invoiced must be supplied or performed 
in accordance with the applicable purchase order (including any bid/proposal 
provided, if applicable) or agreement and such Non-Construction Goods and 
Services quantity and quality must be equal to or better than what is required by 
such terms.  Unless otherwise specified in the applicable agreement, invoices 
should contain all of the following minimum information in order to be considered 
a Proper Invoice: 
 
1. Name of Vendor 
2. Remittance address 
3. Invoice Date 

270



 
 

4. Invoice number 
5. The “Bill To” party must be the District or the Board, or other entity approved 

in writing by the Board or the District Manager 
6. Project name (if applicable) 
7. In addition to the information required in Section IV.D.1-6 above, invoices 

involving the purchase of goods should also contain: 
a. A complete item description 
b. Quantity purchased 
c. Unit price(s) 
d. Total price (for each item) 
e. Total amount of invoice (all items) 
f. The location and date(s) of delivery of the goods to the District 

8. In addition to the information required in Section IV.D.1-6 above, invoices 
involving the purchase of services should also contain: 

a. Itemized description of services performed 
b. The location and date of delivery of the services to the District 
c. Billing method for services performed (i.e., approved hourly rates, 

percentage of completion, cost plus fixed fee, direct/actual costs, etc.) 
d. Itemization of other direct, reimbursable costs (including description 

and amount) 
e. Copies of invoices for other direct, reimbursable costs (other than 

incidental costs such as copying) and one (1) of the following: 
i. Copy of both sides of a cancelled check evidencing payment for 

costs submitted for reimbursement 
ii. Paid receipt 

iii. Waiver/lien release from subcontractor (if applicable) 
9. Any applicable discounts 
10. Any other information or documentation, which may be required or specified 

under the terms of the purchase order or agreement 
 

E. Proper Payment Request Requirements for Construction Services 
Payment Requests must conform to all requirements of Section IV.A.-D., above, 
unless otherwise specified in the terms of the applicable agreement or purchase 
order between the District and the Contractor. 

 
V. Submission of Invoices and Payment Requests  

The Provider shall submit all Invoices and Payment Requests for both Construction 
Services and Non-Construction Goods and Services to the District’s Agent as provided in 
the purchase order or agreement, as applicable, and to the District Manager as follows: 
 

271



 
 

Submit the invoice and/or payment request, with required additional material and 
in conformance with these Policies and Procedures, by mail, by hand delivery, or 
via email (Note: email is the preferred method for receipt of Non-Construction 
Goods and Services invoices). 

 
1. Mailing and Drop Off Address 

 
Tradition Community Development District No. 9 
c/o Special District Services, Inc. 
10521 SW Village Center Dr., Suite #203 
Port St. Lucie, FL 34987  
 

2.  Email Address 
   bsakuma@sdsinc.org 
 
VI. Calculation of Payment Due Date 
  
 A. Non-Construction Goods and Services Invoices  
 
  1. Receipt of Proper Invoice  

Payment is due from the District forty-five (45) calendar days from the date 
on which a Proper Invoice is Date Stamped.   

 
2. Receipt of Improper Invoice  

If an Improper Invoice is received, a required invoice is not received, or 
invoicing of a request for payment is not required, the time when payment 
is due from the District is forty-five (45) days from the latest date of the 
following: 

a. On which delivery of personal property is fully accepted by the 
District; 

b. On which services are completed and accepted by the District; 
c. On which the contracted rental period begins (if applicable); or 
d. On which the District and the Vendor agree in a written agreement 

that provides payment due dates. 
 

3. Rejection of an Improper Invoice 
The District may reject an Improper Invoice.  Within ten (10) business days 
of receipt of the Improper Invoice by the District, the Vendor must be 
notified that the invoice is improper and be given an opportunity to correct 
the deficient or missing information, remedy the faulty work, replace the 
defective goods, or take other necessary, remedial action. 

 
The District’s rejection of an Improper Invoice must: 

1. Be provided in writing; 

272



 
 

2. Specify any and all known deficiencies; and 
3. State actions necessary to correct the Improper Invoice. 

 
If the Vendor submits a corrected invoice, which corrects the deficiencies 
specified in the District’s written rejection, the District must pay the 
corrected invoice within the later of: (a) ten (10) business days after date the 
corrected invoice is Date Stamped; or (b) forty-five (45) days after the date 
the Improper Invoice was Date Stamped. 
 
If the Vendor submits an invoice in response to the District’s written 
rejection which fails to correct the deficiencies specified or continues to be 
an Improper Invoice, the District must reject that invoice as stated herein. 
 

4. Payment of Undisputed Portion of Invoice 
If the District disputes a portion of an invoice, the undisputed portion shall 
be paid in a timely manner and in accordance with the due dates for payment 
as specified in these Policies & Procedures. 

 
B. Payment Requests for Construction Services  

 
1. Receipt of Proper Payment Request 

The time at which payment is due for Construction Services from the 
 District is as follows: 

 
a. If an Agent must approve the payment request before it is submitted to 
the District Manager, payment (whether full or partial) is due twenty-five 
(25) business days after the payment request is Date Stamped. The 
Contractor may send the District an overdue notice.  If the payment request 
is not rejected within four (4) business days after Date Stamp of the overdue 
notice, the payment request shall be deemed accepted, except for any 
portion of the payment request that is fraudulent, misleading or is the subject 
of dispute. 

 
The agreement between the District and the Contractor shall identify the 
Agent to which the Contractor shall submit its payment request, or shall be 
provided by the District through a separate written notice no later than ten 
(10) days after contract award or notice to proceed, whichever is later. 
Contractor’s submission of a payment request to the Agent shall be Date 
Stamped, which shall commence the time periods for payment or rejection 
of a payment request or invoice as provided in this section. 

 
b. If, pursuant to contract, an Agent is not required to approve the payment 
request submitted to the District, payment is due twenty (20) business days 

273



 
 

after the payment request is Date Stamped unless such payment request 
includes fraudulent or misleading information or is the subject of dispute. 

 
2. Receipt and Rejection of Improper Payment Request 

a. If an Improper Payment Request is received, the District must reject the 
Improper Payment Request within twenty (20) business days after the date 
on which the payment request is Date Stamped.  

 
b. The District’s rejection of the Improper Payment Request must: 

1. Be provided in writing; 
2. Specify any and all known deficiencies; and 
3. State actions necessary to correct the Improper Invoice. 

 
c. If a Contractor submits a payment request which corrects the deficiency 
specified in the District’s written rejection, the District must pay or reject 
the corrected submission no later than ten (10) business days after the date 
the corrected payment request is Date Stamped. 

 
3.   Payment of Undisputed Portion of Payment Request 

If the District disputes a portion of a payment request, the undisputed 
portion shall be paid by the date required under the contract or by twenty 
(20) business days after receipt of the request, whichever is earlier. 

 
VII. Resolution of Disputes 
 

If a dispute arises between a Provider and the District concerning payment of an invoice or 
payment request, the dispute shall be resolved as set forth in § 218.735, Fla. Stat., for 
Construction Services, and § 218.76, Fla. Stat. for Non-Construction Goods and Services. 
 
A. Dispute between the District and a Contractor 

If a dispute between the District and a Contractor cannot be resolved following 
resubmission of a payment request by the Contractor, the dispute must be resolved 
in accordance with the dispute resolution procedure prescribed in the construction 
contract, if any. In the absence of a prescribed procedure in the contract, the dispute 
must be resolved by the procedures specified below. 

 
B. Dispute Resolution Procedures 

 
1. If an Improper Payment Request or Improper Invoice is submitted, and the 

Provider refuses or fails to submit a revised payment request or invoice as 
contemplated by the PPA and these Policies and Procedures, the Provider 
shall, not later than thirty (30) days after the date on which the last payment 
request or invoice was Date Stamped, submit a written statement via 
certified mail to the Agent, copying the District Manager, specifying the 

274



 
 

basis upon which the Provider contends the last submitted payment request 
or invoice was proper. 

 
2. Within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt by the Agent and District 

Manager of the disputed, last-submitted payment request or invoice, the 
Agent and/or District Manager shall commence investigation of the dispute 
and render a final decision on the matter no later than forty-five (45) 
calendar days after the date on which the last-submitted payment request or 
invoice is Date Stamped. 

 
3. Absent a written agreement to the contrary, if the Provider refuses or fails 

to provide the written statement required above, the Agent and/or District 
Manager is not required to contact the Provider in the investigation.  In 
addition, and absent a written agreement to the contrary, if such written 
statement is not provided, the District may immediately contract with third 
parties to provide the goods and services subject to the dispute and deduct 
the costs of such third party purchases from amounts owed to the Provider. 

 
4. The Board shall approve any decision of the District Manager to contract 

with a third party which would result in: 1) an expenditure above what is 
budgeted for the Construction Services or Non-Construction Services; or 2) 
an expenditure which exceeds the original contract amount for the 
Construction Services or Non-Construction Services by more than ten 
percent (10%) or Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000), whichever is less. 

 
5. A written explanation of the final decision shall be sent to the Provider, via 

certified mail, within five (5) business days from the date on which such 
final decision is made.  A copy of the written explanation of the final 
decision shall be provided to the Chairperson of the Board simultaneously 
with the certified mailing to the Provider. 

 
6. If a Provider does not accept in writing the final decision within five (5) 

business days after receipt by the Provider, the District may immediately 
contract with third parties to provide the goods and services subject to the 
dispute and deduct the costs of such third party purchases from amounts 
owed to the Provider.  If the costs of the third party purchases exceed the 
amount the District owes to the Provider, the District may seek to recover 
such excess from the Provider in a court of law or as otherwise provided in 
an agreement between the District and the Provider.  Nothing contained 
herein shall limit or affect the District’s ability to enforce all of its legal and 
contractual rights and remedies against the Provider. 

    
VIII.  Purchases Involving Federal Funds or Bond Funds 
 

275



 
 

When the District intends to pay for a purchase with federal funds or bond funds, the 
District shall make such purchases only upon reasonable assurances that federal funds or 
bond funds sufficient to cover the cost will be received.  When payment is contingent upon 
the receipt of bond funds, federal funds or federal approval, the public procurement 
documents and any agreement with a Provider shall clearly state such contingency. (§ 
218.77, Fla. Stat.). 
 

IX. Requirements for Construction Services Contracts – Project Completion;  
 Retainage 
 

The District intends to follow the PPA requirements for construction project completion 
and retainage, including, but not limited to, § 218.735 (7) and (8), Fla. Stat. 

 

X. Late Payment Interest Charges 

 
Failure on the part of the District to make timely payments may result in District 
responsibility for late payment interest charges.  No agreement between the District and a 
Provider may prohibit the collection of late payment interest charges allowable under the 
PPA as mandatory interest. (§218.75, Fla. Stat.). 

 
A. Related to Non-Construction Goods and Services 

All payments due from the District, and not made within the time specified within 
this policy or as required by applicable law, will bear interest, from thirty (30) days 
after the due date, at the rate provided in Section 218.74(4), Fla. Stat.  The Vendor 
must submit a Proper Invoice to the District for any interest accrued in order to 
receive the interest payment. (§ 218.74 (4), Fla. Stat.). 

 
An overdue period of less than one (1) month is considered as one (1) month in 
computing interest.  Unpaid interest is compounded monthly.  The term one (1) 
month means a period beginning on any day of a month and ending on the same 
day of the following month. 

 
B. Related to Construction Services 

All payments for Construction Services that are not made within the time periods 
specified within the applicable statute, shall bear interest after the due date, at the 
rate of one percent (1%) per month, or the rate specified by agreement, whichever 
is greater. (§ 218.735 (9), Fla. Stat.). The Contractor must submit a Proper Payment 
Request to the District for any interest accrued in order to receive the interest 
payment.  (§ 218.735 (9), Fla. Stat.). An overdue period of less than one (1) month 
is considered as one (1) month in computing interest.  

 

276



 
 

Unpaid interest is compounded monthly.  The term one (1) month means a period 
beginning on any day of a month and ending on the same day of the following 
month. 

 
C. Report of Interest 

If the total amount of interest paid during the preceding fiscal year exceeds $250, 
the District Manager is required to submit a report to the Board during December 
of each year, stating the number of interest payments made and the total amount of 
such payments. (§ 218.78, Fla. Stat.). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

277



4904-9082-6371.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-07 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 10 
ADOPTING PROMPT PAYMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 218, FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING A 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

  
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 10 (the “District”) is a 
local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida 
Statutes, being situated entirely within St. Lucie, Florida; and  
 
 WHEREAS, Chapter 218, Florida Statutes, requires timely payment to vendors and 
contractors providing certain goods and/or services to the District; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (the “Board”) accordingly finds that it 
is in the best interest of the District to establish by resolution Prompt Payment Policies and 
Procedures, attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “Policies and Procedures”), as may be amended 
or updated from time to time for immediate use and application. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 10: 
 

 SECTION 1. The Policies and Procedures, attached hereto as Exhibit A, are hereby 
adopted pursuant to this Resolution as necessary for the conduct of District business. The Policies 
and Procedures shall remain in full force and effect until such time as the Board may amend or 
replace them; provided, however, that as the provisions of Chapter 218, Florida Statutes, are 
amended from time to time, the attached Policies and Procedures shall automatically be amended 
to incorporate the new requirements of law without any further action by the Board.   
 
 SECTION 2.   If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other 
provisions shall remain in full force and effect.   
 
 SECTION 3. This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain in 
effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Policies and Procedures previously adopted by the District. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January 2026. 
 
ATTEST:       TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 10 
 
_________________________________  ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary    Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 
Exhibit A:  Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 

278



4904-9082-6371.1  

 
 

Exhibit A 
 
 
 

TRADITION  
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT NO. 10 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 
In Accordance with the Local Government Prompt Payment Act  

Chapter 218, Part VII, Florida Statutes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

January 7, 2026

279



4904-9082-6371.1  

 
Tradition Community Development District No. 10 

Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 
 

Table of Contents 
 
I. Purpose  ........................................................................................................................ 1 
 
II. Scope   .......................................................................................................................... 1 
 
III. Definitions  .................................................................................................................. 1 

A. Agent    ........................................................................................................... 1 
B. Construction Services   .................................................................................. 1 
C. Contractor or Provider of Construction Services   ......................................... 1 
D. Date Stamped   ............................................................................................... 1 
E. Improper Invoice   .......................................................................................... 2 
F. Improper Payment Request  ........................................................................... 2 
G. Non-Construction Goods and Services .......................................................... 2 
H. Proper Invoice   .............................................................................................. 2 
I. Proper Payment Request   .............................................................................. 2 
J. Provider  ......................................................................................................... 2 
K. Purchase   ....................................................................................................... 2 
L. Vendor  .......................................................................................................... 2 

 
IV. Proper Invoice/Payment Request Requirements   ........................................................ 3 

A. General   ......................................................................................................... 3 
B. Sales Tax   ...................................................................................................... 3 
C. Federal Identification and Social Security Numbers  .................................... 3 
D. Proper Invoice for Non-Construction Goods and Services  .......................... 3 
E. Proper Payment Request Requirements for Construction Services ............... 4 

 
V. Submission of Invoices and Payment Requests   ......................................................... 4 
 
VI. Calculation of Payment Due Date  ............................................................................... 5 

A. Non-Construction Goods and Services Invoices   ......................................... 5 
B. Payment Requests for Construction Services   .............................................. 6 

 
VII. ..........................................................................................................................     

Resolution of Disputes   ................................................................................................... 7 
A. Dispute Between the District and a Provider   ............................................... 7 
B. Dispute Resolution Procedures  ..................................................................... 7 

 
VIII. Purchases Involving Federal Funds or Bond Funds .................................................... 8 

280



4904-9082-6371.1  

 
IX.      Requirements for Construction Services Contracts – Project Completion; Retainage   

9 
 
X.      Late Payment Interest Charges   ................................................................................. 9 

A. Related to Non-Construction Goods and Services  ....................................... 9 
B. Related to Construction Services    ................................................................ 9 
C. Report of Interest   .........................................................................................10

281



 
 

I.             Purpose 
In accordance with the Local Government Prompt Payment Act (Chapter 218, Part VII, 
Florida Statutes) (“PPA”), the purpose of the Tradition Community Development District 
No. 10 (“District”) Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures (“Policies & Procedures”) is 
to provide a specific policy to ensure timely payment to Vendors and Contractors (both 
hereinafter defined) providing goods and/or services to the District and ensure the timely 
receipt by the District of goods and/or services contemplated at the time of contracting.  
Please note that the PPA, like any statute or law, may be amended from time to time by 
legislative action.  These Policies & Procedures are based on the statutory requirements 
as of the date identified on the cover page of this document.  By this reference, as 
applicable statutory provisions subsequently change, these Policies & Procedures shall 
automatically be amended to incorporate the new requirements of law.  These Policies & 
Procedures are adopted by the District to provide guidance in contracting matters.  Failure 
by the District to comply with these Policies & Procedures shall not expand the rights or 
remedies of any Provider (hereinafter defined) against the District under the PPA.  
Nothing contained herein shall be interpreted as more restrictive on the District than what 
is provided for in the PPA. 

 
II. Scope 

These Policies & Procedures apply to all operations of the District, including Construction 
Services and Non-Construction Goods and Services, as applicable. 

 
III. Definitions 

 
A. Agent 

The District-contracted architect, District-contracted engineer, District Manager, or 
other person, acting on behalf of the District, which is required by law or contract 
to review invoices or payment requests from Providers (hereinafter defined).  Such 
individuals/entities must be identified in accordance with §218.735 (1), Fla. Stat., 
and further identified in the relevant agreement between the District and the 
Provider. 

 
B. Construction Services 

All labor, services, and materials provided in connection with the construction, 
alteration, repair, demolition, reconstruction, or other improvement to real property 
that require a license under parts I and II of Chapter 489, Fla. Stat. 

 
C. Contractor or Provider of Construction Services 

The entity or individual that provides Construction Services through direct contract 
with the District. 

 
D. Date Stamped 

Each original and revised invoice or payment request received by the District shall 
be marked electronically or manually, by use of a date stamp or other method, 

282



 
 

which date marking clearly indicates the date such invoice or payment request is 
first delivered to the District through its Agent.  In the event that the Agent receives 
an invoice or payment request but fails to timely or physically mark on the 
document the date received, “Date Stamped” shall mean the date of actual receipt 
by the Agent. 

 
E. Improper Invoice 

An invoice that does not conform to the requirements of a Proper Invoice. 
 

F. Improper Payment Request 
A request for payment for Construction Services that does not conform to the 
requirements of a Proper Payment Request. 
 

G. Non-Construction Goods and Services 
All labor, services, goods and materials provided in connection with anything other 
than construction, alteration, repair, demolition, reconstruction, or other 
improvements to real property. 
 

H. Proper Invoice 
An invoice that conforms to all statutory requirements, all requirements of these 
Policies and Procedures not expressly waived by the District and any additional 
requirements included in the agreement for goods and/or services for which the 
invoice is submitted not expressly waived by the District.  

 
I. Proper Payment Request 

A request for payment for Construction Services which conforms to all statutory 
requirements, all requirements of these Policies & Procedures not expressly waived 
by the District and any additional requirements included in the Construction 
Services agreement for which the Payment Request is submitted not expressly 
waived by the District. 

 
J. Provider 

Includes any Vendor, Contractor or Provider of Construction Services, as defined 
herein. 

 
 K. Purchase 

The purchase of goods, materials, services, or Construction Services; the purchase 
or lease of personal property; or the lease of real property by the District. 

 
L. Vendor 

Any person or entity that sells goods or services, sells or leases personal property, 
or leases real property directly to the District, not including Construction Services. 

  

283



 
 

IV. Proper Invoice/Payment Request Requirements 
 
 A. General 

Prior to Provider receiving payment from the District, Non-Construction Goods and 
Services and Construction Services, as applicable, shall be received and performed 
in accordance with contractual or other specifications or requirements to the 
satisfaction of the District. Provision or delivery of Non-Construction Goods and 
Services to the District does not constitute acceptance for the purpose of payment.  
Final acceptance and authorization of payment shall be made only after delivery 
and inspection by the Agent and the Agent’s confirmation that the Non-
Construction Goods and Services or Construction Services meet contract 
specifications and conditions.  Should the Non-Construction Goods and Services 
or Construction Services differ in any respect from the specifications, payment may 
be withheld until such time as the Provider takes necessary corrective action.  
Certain limited exceptions which require payment in advance are permitted when 
authorized by the District Board of Supervisors (“Board”) or when provided for in 
the applicable agreement. 

 
B. Sales Tax 

Providers should not include sales tax on any invoice or payment request. The 
District’s current tax-exempt number is _________________.  A copy of the tax-
exempt form will be supplied to Providers upon request. 

 
C. Federal Identification and Social Security Numbers  

Providers are paid using either a Federal Identification Number or Social Security 
Number.  To receive payment, Providers should supply the District with the correct 
number as well as a proper Internal Revenue Service W-9 Form.  The District 
Manager shall treat information provided in accordance with Florida law. 

 
Providers should notify the District Manager when changes in data occur (telephone 
(561) 571-0010, email bsakuma@sdsinc.org). 

 
D. Proper Invoice for Non-Construction Goods and Services  

All Non-Construction Goods and Services invoiced must be supplied or performed 
in accordance with the applicable purchase order (including any bid/proposal 
provided, if applicable) or agreement and such Non-Construction Goods and 
Services quantity and quality must be equal to or better than what is required by 
such terms.  Unless otherwise specified in the applicable agreement, invoices 
should contain all of the following minimum information in order to be considered 
a Proper Invoice: 
 
1. Name of Vendor 
2. Remittance address 
3. Invoice Date 

284



 
 

4. Invoice number 
5. The “Bill To” party must be the District or the Board, or other entity approved 

in writing by the Board or the District Manager 
6. Project name (if applicable) 
7. In addition to the information required in Section IV.D.1-6 above, invoices 

involving the purchase of goods should also contain: 
a. A complete item description 
b. Quantity purchased 
c. Unit price(s) 
d. Total price (for each item) 
e. Total amount of invoice (all items) 
f. The location and date(s) of delivery of the goods to the District 

8. In addition to the information required in Section IV.D.1-6 above, invoices 
involving the purchase of services should also contain: 

a. Itemized description of services performed 
b. The location and date of delivery of the services to the District 
c. Billing method for services performed (i.e., approved hourly rates, 

percentage of completion, cost plus fixed fee, direct/actual costs, etc.) 
d. Itemization of other direct, reimbursable costs (including description 

and amount) 
e. Copies of invoices for other direct, reimbursable costs (other than 

incidental costs such as copying) and one (1) of the following: 
i. Copy of both sides of a cancelled check evidencing payment for 

costs submitted for reimbursement 
ii. Paid receipt 

iii. Waiver/lien release from subcontractor (if applicable) 
9. Any applicable discounts 
10. Any other information or documentation, which may be required or specified 

under the terms of the purchase order or agreement 
 

E. Proper Payment Request Requirements for Construction Services 
Payment Requests must conform to all requirements of Section IV.A.-D., above, 
unless otherwise specified in the terms of the applicable agreement or purchase 
order between the District and the Contractor. 

 
V. Submission of Invoices and Payment Requests  

The Provider shall submit all Invoices and Payment Requests for both Construction 
Services and Non-Construction Goods and Services to the District’s Agent as provided in 
the purchase order or agreement, as applicable, and to the District Manager as follows: 
 

285



 
 

Submit the invoice and/or payment request, with required additional material and 
in conformance with these Policies and Procedures, by mail, by hand delivery, or 
via email (Note: email is the preferred method for receipt of Non-Construction 
Goods and Services invoices). 

 
1. Mailing and Drop Off Address 

 
Tradition Community Development District No. 10 
c/o Special District Services, Inc. 
10521 SW Village Center Dr., Suite #203 
Port St. Lucie, FL 34987  
 

2.  Email Address 
   bsakuma@sdsinc.org 
 
VI. Calculation of Payment Due Date 
  
 A. Non-Construction Goods and Services Invoices  
 
  1. Receipt of Proper Invoice  

Payment is due from the District forty-five (45) calendar days from the date 
on which a Proper Invoice is Date Stamped.   

 
2. Receipt of Improper Invoice  

If an Improper Invoice is received, a required invoice is not received, or 
invoicing of a request for payment is not required, the time when payment 
is due from the District is forty-five (45) days from the latest date of the 
following: 

a. On which delivery of personal property is fully accepted by the 
District; 

b. On which services are completed and accepted by the District; 
c. On which the contracted rental period begins (if applicable); or 
d. On which the District and the Vendor agree in a written agreement 

that provides payment due dates. 
 

3. Rejection of an Improper Invoice 
The District may reject an Improper Invoice.  Within ten (10) business days 
of receipt of the Improper Invoice by the District, the Vendor must be 
notified that the invoice is improper and be given an opportunity to correct 
the deficient or missing information, remedy the faulty work, replace the 
defective goods, or take other necessary, remedial action. 

 
The District’s rejection of an Improper Invoice must: 

1. Be provided in writing; 

286



 
 

2. Specify any and all known deficiencies; and 
3. State actions necessary to correct the Improper Invoice. 

 
If the Vendor submits a corrected invoice, which corrects the deficiencies 
specified in the District’s written rejection, the District must pay the 
corrected invoice within the later of: (a) ten (10) business days after date the 
corrected invoice is Date Stamped; or (b) forty-five (45) days after the date 
the Improper Invoice was Date Stamped. 
 
If the Vendor submits an invoice in response to the District’s written 
rejection which fails to correct the deficiencies specified or continues to be 
an Improper Invoice, the District must reject that invoice as stated herein. 
 

4. Payment of Undisputed Portion of Invoice 
If the District disputes a portion of an invoice, the undisputed portion shall 
be paid in a timely manner and in accordance with the due dates for payment 
as specified in these Policies & Procedures. 

 
B. Payment Requests for Construction Services  

 
1. Receipt of Proper Payment Request 

The time at which payment is due for Construction Services from the 
 District is as follows: 

 
a. If an Agent must approve the payment request before it is submitted to 
the District Manager, payment (whether full or partial) is due twenty-five 
(25) business days after the payment request is Date Stamped. The 
Contractor may send the District an overdue notice.  If the payment request 
is not rejected within four (4) business days after Date Stamp of the overdue 
notice, the payment request shall be deemed accepted, except for any 
portion of the payment request that is fraudulent, misleading or is the subject 
of dispute. 

 
The agreement between the District and the Contractor shall identify the 
Agent to which the Contractor shall submit its payment request, or shall be 
provided by the District through a separate written notice no later than ten 
(10) days after contract award or notice to proceed, whichever is later. 
Contractor’s submission of a payment request to the Agent shall be Date 
Stamped, which shall commence the time periods for payment or rejection 
of a payment request or invoice as provided in this section. 

 
b. If, pursuant to contract, an Agent is not required to approve the payment 
request submitted to the District, payment is due twenty (20) business days 

287



 
 

after the payment request is Date Stamped unless such payment request 
includes fraudulent or misleading information or is the subject of dispute. 

 
2. Receipt and Rejection of Improper Payment Request 

a. If an Improper Payment Request is received, the District must reject the 
Improper Payment Request within twenty (20) business days after the date 
on which the payment request is Date Stamped.  

 
b. The District’s rejection of the Improper Payment Request must: 

1. Be provided in writing; 
2. Specify any and all known deficiencies; and 
3. State actions necessary to correct the Improper Invoice. 

 
c. If a Contractor submits a payment request which corrects the deficiency 
specified in the District’s written rejection, the District must pay or reject 
the corrected submission no later than ten (10) business days after the date 
the corrected payment request is Date Stamped. 

 
3.   Payment of Undisputed Portion of Payment Request 

If the District disputes a portion of a payment request, the undisputed 
portion shall be paid by the date required under the contract or by twenty 
(20) business days after receipt of the request, whichever is earlier. 

 
VII. Resolution of Disputes 
 

If a dispute arises between a Provider and the District concerning payment of an invoice or 
payment request, the dispute shall be resolved as set forth in § 218.735, Fla. Stat., for 
Construction Services, and § 218.76, Fla. Stat. for Non-Construction Goods and Services. 
 
A. Dispute between the District and a Contractor 

If a dispute between the District and a Contractor cannot be resolved following 
resubmission of a payment request by the Contractor, the dispute must be resolved 
in accordance with the dispute resolution procedure prescribed in the construction 
contract, if any. In the absence of a prescribed procedure in the contract, the dispute 
must be resolved by the procedures specified below. 

 
B. Dispute Resolution Procedures 

 
1. If an Improper Payment Request or Improper Invoice is submitted, and the 

Provider refuses or fails to submit a revised payment request or invoice as 
contemplated by the PPA and these Policies and Procedures, the Provider 
shall, not later than thirty (30) days after the date on which the last payment 
request or invoice was Date Stamped, submit a written statement via 
certified mail to the Agent, copying the District Manager, specifying the 

288



 
 

basis upon which the Provider contends the last submitted payment request 
or invoice was proper. 

 
2. Within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt by the Agent and District 

Manager of the disputed, last-submitted payment request or invoice, the 
Agent and/or District Manager shall commence investigation of the dispute 
and render a final decision on the matter no later than forty-five (45) 
calendar days after the date on which the last-submitted payment request or 
invoice is Date Stamped. 

 
3. Absent a written agreement to the contrary, if the Provider refuses or fails 

to provide the written statement required above, the Agent and/or District 
Manager is not required to contact the Provider in the investigation.  In 
addition, and absent a written agreement to the contrary, if such written 
statement is not provided, the District may immediately contract with third 
parties to provide the goods and services subject to the dispute and deduct 
the costs of such third party purchases from amounts owed to the Provider. 

 
4. The Board shall approve any decision of the District Manager to contract 

with a third party which would result in: 1) an expenditure above what is 
budgeted for the Construction Services or Non-Construction Services; or 2) 
an expenditure which exceeds the original contract amount for the 
Construction Services or Non-Construction Services by more than ten 
percent (10%) or Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000), whichever is less. 

 
5. A written explanation of the final decision shall be sent to the Provider, via 

certified mail, within five (5) business days from the date on which such 
final decision is made.  A copy of the written explanation of the final 
decision shall be provided to the Chairperson of the Board simultaneously 
with the certified mailing to the Provider. 

 
6. If a Provider does not accept in writing the final decision within five (5) 

business days after receipt by the Provider, the District may immediately 
contract with third parties to provide the goods and services subject to the 
dispute and deduct the costs of such third party purchases from amounts 
owed to the Provider.  If the costs of the third party purchases exceed the 
amount the District owes to the Provider, the District may seek to recover 
such excess from the Provider in a court of law or as otherwise provided in 
an agreement between the District and the Provider.  Nothing contained 
herein shall limit or affect the District’s ability to enforce all of its legal and 
contractual rights and remedies against the Provider. 

    
VIII.  Purchases Involving Federal Funds or Bond Funds 
 

289



 
 

When the District intends to pay for a purchase with federal funds or bond funds, the 
District shall make such purchases only upon reasonable assurances that federal funds or 
bond funds sufficient to cover the cost will be received.  When payment is contingent upon 
the receipt of bond funds, federal funds or federal approval, the public procurement 
documents and any agreement with a Provider shall clearly state such contingency. (§ 
218.77, Fla. Stat.). 
 

IX. Requirements for Construction Services Contracts – Project Completion;  
 Retainage 
 

The District intends to follow the PPA requirements for construction project completion 
and retainage, including, but not limited to, § 218.735 (7) and (8), Fla. Stat. 

 

X. Late Payment Interest Charges 

 
Failure on the part of the District to make timely payments may result in District 
responsibility for late payment interest charges.  No agreement between the District and a 
Provider may prohibit the collection of late payment interest charges allowable under the 
PPA as mandatory interest. (§218.75, Fla. Stat.). 

 
A. Related to Non-Construction Goods and Services 

All payments due from the District, and not made within the time specified within 
this policy or as required by applicable law, will bear interest, from thirty (30) days 
after the due date, at the rate provided in Section 218.74(4), Fla. Stat.  The Vendor 
must submit a Proper Invoice to the District for any interest accrued in order to 
receive the interest payment. (§ 218.74 (4), Fla. Stat.). 

 
An overdue period of less than one (1) month is considered as one (1) month in 
computing interest.  Unpaid interest is compounded monthly.  The term one (1) 
month means a period beginning on any day of a month and ending on the same 
day of the following month. 

 
B. Related to Construction Services 

All payments for Construction Services that are not made within the time periods 
specified within the applicable statute, shall bear interest after the due date, at the 
rate of one percent (1%) per month, or the rate specified by agreement, whichever 
is greater. (§ 218.735 (9), Fla. Stat.). The Contractor must submit a Proper Payment 
Request to the District for any interest accrued in order to receive the interest 
payment.  (§ 218.735 (9), Fla. Stat.). An overdue period of less than one (1) month 
is considered as one (1) month in computing interest.  

 

290



 
 

Unpaid interest is compounded monthly.  The term one (1) month means a period 
beginning on any day of a month and ending on the same day of the following 
month. 

 
C. Report of Interest 

If the total amount of interest paid during the preceding fiscal year exceeds $250, 
the District Manager is required to submit a report to the Board during December 
of each year, stating the number of interest payments made and the total amount of 
such payments. (§ 218.78, Fla. Stat.). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

291



Financial Report:
Under Separate Cover 

292



4925-7297-0627.1  

RESOLUTION 2026-07 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 11 
ADOPTING PROMPT PAYMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 218, FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING A 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

  
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 11 (the “District”) is a 
local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida 
Statutes, being situated entirely within St. Lucie, Florida; and  
 
 WHEREAS, Chapter 218, Florida Statutes, requires timely payment to vendors and 
contractors providing certain goods and/or services to the District; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (the “Board”) accordingly finds that it 
is in the best interest of the District to establish by resolution Prompt Payment Policies and 
Procedures, attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “Policies and Procedures”), as may be amended 
or updated from time to time for immediate use and application. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 11: 
 

 SECTION 1. The Policies and Procedures, attached hereto as Exhibit A, are hereby 
adopted pursuant to this Resolution as necessary for the conduct of District business. The Policies 
and Procedures shall remain in full force and effect until such time as the Board may amend or 
replace them; provided, however, that as the provisions of Chapter 218, Florida Statutes, are 
amended from time to time, the attached Policies and Procedures shall automatically be amended 
to incorporate the new requirements of law without any further action by the Board.   
 
 SECTION 2.   If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other 
provisions shall remain in full force and effect.   
 
 SECTION 3. This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain in 
effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Policies and Procedures previously adopted by the District. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January 2026. 
 
ATTEST:       TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 11 
 
_________________________________  ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary    Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 
Exhibit A:  Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 

293



4925-7297-0627.1  

 
 

Exhibit A 
 
 
 

TRADITION  
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT NO. 11 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 
In Accordance with the Local Government Prompt Payment Act  

Chapter 218, Part VII, Florida Statutes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

January 7, 2026

294



4925-7297-0627.1  

 
Tradition Community Development District No. 11 

Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures 
 

Table of Contents 
 
I. Purpose  ........................................................................................................................ 1 
 
II. Scope   .......................................................................................................................... 1 
 
III. Definitions  .................................................................................................................. 1 

A. Agent    ........................................................................................................... 1 
B. Construction Services   .................................................................................. 1 
C. Contractor or Provider of Construction Services   ......................................... 1 
D. Date Stamped   ............................................................................................... 1 
E. Improper Invoice   .......................................................................................... 2 
F. Improper Payment Request  ........................................................................... 2 
G. Non-Construction Goods and Services .......................................................... 2 
H. Proper Invoice   .............................................................................................. 2 
I. Proper Payment Request   .............................................................................. 2 
J. Provider  ......................................................................................................... 2 
K. Purchase   ....................................................................................................... 2 
L. Vendor  .......................................................................................................... 2 

 
IV. Proper Invoice/Payment Request Requirements   ........................................................ 3 

A. General   ......................................................................................................... 3 
B. Sales Tax   ...................................................................................................... 3 
C. Federal Identification and Social Security Numbers  .................................... 3 
D. Proper Invoice for Non-Construction Goods and Services  .......................... 3 
E. Proper Payment Request Requirements for Construction Services ............... 4 

 
V. Submission of Invoices and Payment Requests   ......................................................... 4 
 
VI. Calculation of Payment Due Date  ............................................................................... 5 

A. Non-Construction Goods and Services Invoices   ......................................... 5 
B. Payment Requests for Construction Services   .............................................. 6 

 
VII. ..........................................................................................................................     

Resolution of Disputes   ................................................................................................... 7 
A. Dispute Between the District and a Provider   ............................................... 7 
B. Dispute Resolution Procedures  ..................................................................... 7 

 
VIII. Purchases Involving Federal Funds or Bond Funds .................................................... 8 

295



4925-7297-0627.1  

 
IX.      Requirements for Construction Services Contracts – Project Completion; Retainage   

9 
 
X.      Late Payment Interest Charges   ................................................................................. 9 

A. Related to Non-Construction Goods and Services  ....................................... 9 
B. Related to Construction Services    ................................................................ 9 
C. Report of Interest   .........................................................................................10

296



 
 

I.             Purpose 
In accordance with the Local Government Prompt Payment Act (Chapter 218, Part VII, 
Florida Statutes) (“PPA”), the purpose of the Tradition Community Development District 
No. 11 (“District”) Prompt Payment Policies and Procedures (“Policies & Procedures”) is 
to provide a specific policy to ensure timely payment to Vendors and Contractors (both 
hereinafter defined) providing goods and/or services to the District and ensure the timely 
receipt by the District of goods and/or services contemplated at the time of contracting.  
Please note that the PPA, like any statute or law, may be amended from time to time by 
legislative action.  These Policies & Procedures are based on the statutory requirements 
as of the date identified on the cover page of this document.  By this reference, as 
applicable statutory provisions subsequently change, these Policies & Procedures shall 
automatically be amended to incorporate the new requirements of law.  These Policies & 
Procedures are adopted by the District to provide guidance in contracting matters.  Failure 
by the District to comply with these Policies & Procedures shall not expand the rights or 
remedies of any Provider (hereinafter defined) against the District under the PPA.  
Nothing contained herein shall be interpreted as more restrictive on the District than what 
is provided for in the PPA. 

 
II. Scope 

These Policies & Procedures apply to all operations of the District, including Construction 
Services and Non-Construction Goods and Services, as applicable. 

 
III. Definitions 

 
A. Agent 

The District-contracted architect, District-contracted engineer, District Manager, or 
other person, acting on behalf of the District, which is required by law or contract 
to review invoices or payment requests from Providers (hereinafter defined).  Such 
individuals/entities must be identified in accordance with §218.735 (1), Fla. Stat., 
and further identified in the relevant agreement between the District and the 
Provider. 

 
B. Construction Services 

All labor, services, and materials provided in connection with the construction, 
alteration, repair, demolition, reconstruction, or other improvement to real property 
that require a license under parts I and II of Chapter 489, Fla. Stat. 

 
C. Contractor or Provider of Construction Services 

The entity or individual that provides Construction Services through direct contract 
with the District. 

 
D. Date Stamped 

Each original and revised invoice or payment request received by the District shall 
be marked electronically or manually, by use of a date stamp or other method, 

297



 
 

which date marking clearly indicates the date such invoice or payment request is 
first delivered to the District through its Agent.  In the event that the Agent receives 
an invoice or payment request but fails to timely or physically mark on the 
document the date received, “Date Stamped” shall mean the date of actual receipt 
by the Agent. 

 
E. Improper Invoice 

An invoice that does not conform to the requirements of a Proper Invoice. 
 

F. Improper Payment Request 
A request for payment for Construction Services that does not conform to the 
requirements of a Proper Payment Request. 
 

G. Non-Construction Goods and Services 
All labor, services, goods and materials provided in connection with anything other 
than construction, alteration, repair, demolition, reconstruction, or other 
improvements to real property. 
 

H. Proper Invoice 
An invoice that conforms to all statutory requirements, all requirements of these 
Policies and Procedures not expressly waived by the District and any additional 
requirements included in the agreement for goods and/or services for which the 
invoice is submitted not expressly waived by the District.  

 
I. Proper Payment Request 

A request for payment for Construction Services which conforms to all statutory 
requirements, all requirements of these Policies & Procedures not expressly waived 
by the District and any additional requirements included in the Construction 
Services agreement for which the Payment Request is submitted not expressly 
waived by the District. 

 
J. Provider 

Includes any Vendor, Contractor or Provider of Construction Services, as defined 
herein. 

 
 K. Purchase 

The purchase of goods, materials, services, or Construction Services; the purchase 
or lease of personal property; or the lease of real property by the District. 

 
L. Vendor 

Any person or entity that sells goods or services, sells or leases personal property, 
or leases real property directly to the District, not including Construction Services. 

  

298



 
 

IV. Proper Invoice/Payment Request Requirements 
 
 A. General 

Prior to Provider receiving payment from the District, Non-Construction Goods and 
Services and Construction Services, as applicable, shall be received and performed 
in accordance with contractual or other specifications or requirements to the 
satisfaction of the District. Provision or delivery of Non-Construction Goods and 
Services to the District does not constitute acceptance for the purpose of payment.  
Final acceptance and authorization of payment shall be made only after delivery 
and inspection by the Agent and the Agent’s confirmation that the Non-
Construction Goods and Services or Construction Services meet contract 
specifications and conditions.  Should the Non-Construction Goods and Services 
or Construction Services differ in any respect from the specifications, payment may 
be withheld until such time as the Provider takes necessary corrective action.  
Certain limited exceptions which require payment in advance are permitted when 
authorized by the District Board of Supervisors (“Board”) or when provided for in 
the applicable agreement. 

 
B. Sales Tax 

Providers should not include sales tax on any invoice or payment request. The 
District’s current tax-exempt number is _________________.  A copy of the tax-
exempt form will be supplied to Providers upon request. 

 
C. Federal Identification and Social Security Numbers  

Providers are paid using either a Federal Identification Number or Social Security 
Number.  To receive payment, Providers should supply the District with the correct 
number as well as a proper Internal Revenue Service W-9 Form.  The District 
Manager shall treat information provided in accordance with Florida law. 

 
Providers should notify the District Manager when changes in data occur (telephone 
(561) 571-0010, email bsakuma@sdsinc.org). 

 
D. Proper Invoice for Non-Construction Goods and Services  

All Non-Construction Goods and Services invoiced must be supplied or performed 
in accordance with the applicable purchase order (including any bid/proposal 
provided, if applicable) or agreement and such Non-Construction Goods and 
Services quantity and quality must be equal to or better than what is required by 
such terms.  Unless otherwise specified in the applicable agreement, invoices 
should contain all of the following minimum information in order to be considered 
a Proper Invoice: 
 
1. Name of Vendor 
2. Remittance address 
3. Invoice Date 

299



 
 

4. Invoice number 
5. The “Bill To” party must be the District or the Board, or other entity approved 

in writing by the Board or the District Manager 
6. Project name (if applicable) 
7. In addition to the information required in Section IV.D.1-6 above, invoices 

involving the purchase of goods should also contain: 
a. A complete item description 
b. Quantity purchased 
c. Unit price(s) 
d. Total price (for each item) 
e. Total amount of invoice (all items) 
f. The location and date(s) of delivery of the goods to the District 

8. In addition to the information required in Section IV.D.1-6 above, invoices 
involving the purchase of services should also contain: 

a. Itemized description of services performed 
b. The location and date of delivery of the services to the District 
c. Billing method for services performed (i.e., approved hourly rates, 

percentage of completion, cost plus fixed fee, direct/actual costs, etc.) 
d. Itemization of other direct, reimbursable costs (including description 

and amount) 
e. Copies of invoices for other direct, reimbursable costs (other than 

incidental costs such as copying) and one (1) of the following: 
i. Copy of both sides of a cancelled check evidencing payment for 

costs submitted for reimbursement 
ii. Paid receipt 

iii. Waiver/lien release from subcontractor (if applicable) 
9. Any applicable discounts 
10. Any other information or documentation, which may be required or specified 

under the terms of the purchase order or agreement 
 

E. Proper Payment Request Requirements for Construction Services 
Payment Requests must conform to all requirements of Section IV.A.-D., above, 
unless otherwise specified in the terms of the applicable agreement or purchase 
order between the District and the Contractor. 

 
V. Submission of Invoices and Payment Requests  

The Provider shall submit all Invoices and Payment Requests for both Construction 
Services and Non-Construction Goods and Services to the District’s Agent as provided in 
the purchase order or agreement, as applicable, and to the District Manager as follows: 
 

300



 
 

Submit the invoice and/or payment request, with required additional material and 
in conformance with these Policies and Procedures, by mail, by hand delivery, or 
via email (Note: email is the preferred method for receipt of Non-Construction 
Goods and Services invoices). 

 
1. Mailing and Drop Off Address 

 
Tradition Community Development District No. 11 
c/o Special District Services, Inc. 
10521 SW Village Center Dr., Suite #203 
Port St. Lucie, FL 34987  
 

2.  Email Address 
   bsakuma@sdsinc.org 
 
VI. Calculation of Payment Due Date 
  
 A. Non-Construction Goods and Services Invoices  
 
  1. Receipt of Proper Invoice  

Payment is due from the District forty-five (45) calendar days from the date 
on which a Proper Invoice is Date Stamped.   

 
2. Receipt of Improper Invoice  

If an Improper Invoice is received, a required invoice is not received, or 
invoicing of a request for payment is not required, the time when payment 
is due from the District is forty-five (45) days from the latest date of the 
following: 

a. On which delivery of personal property is fully accepted by the 
District; 

b. On which services are completed and accepted by the District; 
c. On which the contracted rental period begins (if applicable); or 
d. On which the District and the Vendor agree in a written agreement 

that provides payment due dates. 
 

3. Rejection of an Improper Invoice 
The District may reject an Improper Invoice.  Within ten (10) business days 
of receipt of the Improper Invoice by the District, the Vendor must be 
notified that the invoice is improper and be given an opportunity to correct 
the deficient or missing information, remedy the faulty work, replace the 
defective goods, or take other necessary, remedial action. 

 
The District’s rejection of an Improper Invoice must: 

1. Be provided in writing; 

301



 
 

2. Specify any and all known deficiencies; and 
3. State actions necessary to correct the Improper Invoice. 

 
If the Vendor submits a corrected invoice, which corrects the deficiencies 
specified in the District’s written rejection, the District must pay the 
corrected invoice within the later of: (a) ten (10) business days after date the 
corrected invoice is Date Stamped; or (b) forty-five (45) days after the date 
the Improper Invoice was Date Stamped. 
 
If the Vendor submits an invoice in response to the District’s written 
rejection which fails to correct the deficiencies specified or continues to be 
an Improper Invoice, the District must reject that invoice as stated herein. 
 

4. Payment of Undisputed Portion of Invoice 
If the District disputes a portion of an invoice, the undisputed portion shall 
be paid in a timely manner and in accordance with the due dates for payment 
as specified in these Policies & Procedures. 

 
B. Payment Requests for Construction Services  

 
1. Receipt of Proper Payment Request 

The time at which payment is due for Construction Services from the 
 District is as follows: 

 
a. If an Agent must approve the payment request before it is submitted to 
the District Manager, payment (whether full or partial) is due twenty-five 
(25) business days after the payment request is Date Stamped. The 
Contractor may send the District an overdue notice.  If the payment request 
is not rejected within four (4) business days after Date Stamp of the overdue 
notice, the payment request shall be deemed accepted, except for any 
portion of the payment request that is fraudulent, misleading or is the subject 
of dispute. 

 
The agreement between the District and the Contractor shall identify the 
Agent to which the Contractor shall submit its payment request, or shall be 
provided by the District through a separate written notice no later than ten 
(10) days after contract award or notice to proceed, whichever is later. 
Contractor’s submission of a payment request to the Agent shall be Date 
Stamped, which shall commence the time periods for payment or rejection 
of a payment request or invoice as provided in this section. 

 
b. If, pursuant to contract, an Agent is not required to approve the payment 
request submitted to the District, payment is due twenty (20) business days 

302



 
 

after the payment request is Date Stamped unless such payment request 
includes fraudulent or misleading information or is the subject of dispute. 

 
2. Receipt and Rejection of Improper Payment Request 

a. If an Improper Payment Request is received, the District must reject the 
Improper Payment Request within twenty (20) business days after the date 
on which the payment request is Date Stamped.  

 
b. The District’s rejection of the Improper Payment Request must: 

1. Be provided in writing; 
2. Specify any and all known deficiencies; and 
3. State actions necessary to correct the Improper Invoice. 

 
c. If a Contractor submits a payment request which corrects the deficiency 
specified in the District’s written rejection, the District must pay or reject 
the corrected submission no later than ten (10) business days after the date 
the corrected payment request is Date Stamped. 

 
3.   Payment of Undisputed Portion of Payment Request 

If the District disputes a portion of a payment request, the undisputed 
portion shall be paid by the date required under the contract or by twenty 
(20) business days after receipt of the request, whichever is earlier. 

 
VII. Resolution of Disputes 
 

If a dispute arises between a Provider and the District concerning payment of an invoice or 
payment request, the dispute shall be resolved as set forth in § 218.735, Fla. Stat., for 
Construction Services, and § 218.76, Fla. Stat. for Non-Construction Goods and Services. 
 
A. Dispute between the District and a Contractor 

If a dispute between the District and a Contractor cannot be resolved following 
resubmission of a payment request by the Contractor, the dispute must be resolved 
in accordance with the dispute resolution procedure prescribed in the construction 
contract, if any. In the absence of a prescribed procedure in the contract, the dispute 
must be resolved by the procedures specified below. 

 
B. Dispute Resolution Procedures 

 
1. If an Improper Payment Request or Improper Invoice is submitted, and the 

Provider refuses or fails to submit a revised payment request or invoice as 
contemplated by the PPA and these Policies and Procedures, the Provider 
shall, not later than thirty (30) days after the date on which the last payment 
request or invoice was Date Stamped, submit a written statement via 
certified mail to the Agent, copying the District Manager, specifying the 

303



 
 

basis upon which the Provider contends the last submitted payment request 
or invoice was proper. 

 
2. Within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt by the Agent and District 

Manager of the disputed, last-submitted payment request or invoice, the 
Agent and/or District Manager shall commence investigation of the dispute 
and render a final decision on the matter no later than forty-five (45) 
calendar days after the date on which the last-submitted payment request or 
invoice is Date Stamped. 

 
3. Absent a written agreement to the contrary, if the Provider refuses or fails 

to provide the written statement required above, the Agent and/or District 
Manager is not required to contact the Provider in the investigation.  In 
addition, and absent a written agreement to the contrary, if such written 
statement is not provided, the District may immediately contract with third 
parties to provide the goods and services subject to the dispute and deduct 
the costs of such third party purchases from amounts owed to the Provider. 

 
4. The Board shall approve any decision of the District Manager to contract 

with a third party which would result in: 1) an expenditure above what is 
budgeted for the Construction Services or Non-Construction Services; or 2) 
an expenditure which exceeds the original contract amount for the 
Construction Services or Non-Construction Services by more than ten 
percent (10%) or Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000), whichever is less. 

 
5. A written explanation of the final decision shall be sent to the Provider, via 

certified mail, within five (5) business days from the date on which such 
final decision is made.  A copy of the written explanation of the final 
decision shall be provided to the Chairperson of the Board simultaneously 
with the certified mailing to the Provider. 

 
6. If a Provider does not accept in writing the final decision within five (5) 

business days after receipt by the Provider, the District may immediately 
contract with third parties to provide the goods and services subject to the 
dispute and deduct the costs of such third party purchases from amounts 
owed to the Provider.  If the costs of the third party purchases exceed the 
amount the District owes to the Provider, the District may seek to recover 
such excess from the Provider in a court of law or as otherwise provided in 
an agreement between the District and the Provider.  Nothing contained 
herein shall limit or affect the District’s ability to enforce all of its legal and 
contractual rights and remedies against the Provider. 

    
VIII.  Purchases Involving Federal Funds or Bond Funds 
 

304



 
 

When the District intends to pay for a purchase with federal funds or bond funds, the 
District shall make such purchases only upon reasonable assurances that federal funds or 
bond funds sufficient to cover the cost will be received.  When payment is contingent upon 
the receipt of bond funds, federal funds or federal approval, the public procurement 
documents and any agreement with a Provider shall clearly state such contingency. (§ 
218.77, Fla. Stat.). 
 

IX. Requirements for Construction Services Contracts – Project Completion;  
 Retainage 
 

The District intends to follow the PPA requirements for construction project completion 
and retainage, including, but not limited to, § 218.735 (7) and (8), Fla. Stat. 

 

X. Late Payment Interest Charges 

 
Failure on the part of the District to make timely payments may result in District 
responsibility for late payment interest charges.  No agreement between the District and a 
Provider may prohibit the collection of late payment interest charges allowable under the 
PPA as mandatory interest. (§218.75, Fla. Stat.). 

 
A. Related to Non-Construction Goods and Services 

All payments due from the District, and not made within the time specified within 
this policy or as required by applicable law, will bear interest, from thirty (30) days 
after the due date, at the rate provided in Section 218.74(4), Fla. Stat.  The Vendor 
must submit a Proper Invoice to the District for any interest accrued in order to 
receive the interest payment. (§ 218.74 (4), Fla. Stat.). 

 
An overdue period of less than one (1) month is considered as one (1) month in 
computing interest.  Unpaid interest is compounded monthly.  The term one (1) 
month means a period beginning on any day of a month and ending on the same 
day of the following month. 

 
B. Related to Construction Services 

All payments for Construction Services that are not made within the time periods 
specified within the applicable statute, shall bear interest after the due date, at the 
rate of one percent (1%) per month, or the rate specified by agreement, whichever 
is greater. (§ 218.735 (9), Fla. Stat.). The Contractor must submit a Proper Payment 
Request to the District for any interest accrued in order to receive the interest 
payment.  (§ 218.735 (9), Fla. Stat.). An overdue period of less than one (1) month 
is considered as one (1) month in computing interest.  

 

305



 
 

Unpaid interest is compounded monthly.  The term one (1) month means a period 
beginning on any day of a month and ending on the same day of the following 
month. 

 
C. Report of Interest 

If the total amount of interest paid during the preceding fiscal year exceeds $250, 
the District Manager is required to submit a report to the Board during December 
of each year, stating the number of interest payments made and the total amount of 
such payments. (§ 218.78, Fla. Stat.). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

306



Kutak Rock LLP 

107 West College Avenue, Tallahassee, FL 32301-7707 

office 850.692.7300 

 
 

  
 

8 
 

MEMORANDUM 
FROM: Kutak Rock LLP  
 
TO:  Board of Supervisors 
 
DATE: January 7, 2026 
 
 
Subject: Resolution Adopting Travel Reimbursement Policy 

 

Staff Recommendation 

Staff recommends the Board adopt the Resolution Adopting Travel Reimbursement Policy. 

 

General Information 

This policy governs the distribution of reimbursement for travel relating to the District and 
adopts the reimbursement rates established by the Florida Statutes. 

 

District Legal Counsel Review 

The District’s attorneys prepared by this Resolution. 

 

Funding Review 

This Resolution is not expected to affect the District’s financial condition. 

 

 

 

 

 

307



 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-08 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1 
ADOPTING A POLICY FOR REIMBURSEMENT OF DISTRICT 
TRAVEL EXPENSES; AND PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY 
AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 1 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  

WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions as may be 
necessary for the conduct of district business; and 

WHEREAS, Section 112.061, Florida Statutes, establishes standard travel reimbursement rates, 
procedures and limitations applicable to all public officers, employees and authorized persons whose travel 
is authorized and paid for by a public agency; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to adopt a Policy for Reimbursement of District Travel Expenses 
(the “Travel Reimbursement Policy”) pursuant to the provisions of Section 112.061, Florida Statutes; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Board finds that it is in the best interests of the District to adopt by resolution the 
Travel Reimbursement Policy for immediate use and application. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1: 

1. POLICY.  The District hereby adopts the Travel Reimbursement Policy, attached hereto 
as Exhibit A.  

2. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution or the Travel Reimbursement 
Policy is held to be illegal or invalid, the other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 

3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall 
remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Travel Reimbursement Policy previously adopted by the District. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 1 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 

308



 
 

 
EXHIBIT A 

 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1 

POLICY FOR REIMBURSEMENT OF DISTRICT TRAVEL EXPENSES 
 
1.0 GENERAL PROVISIONS. 
 

1.1 The usual, ordinary, and incidental travel expenditures necessarily incurred by District 
board members, employees, consultants, or advisors in the performance of their official 
duties shall be reimbursed by the Tradition Community Development District No. 1 
(“District”).   

 
1.2 Except as otherwise provided, prior authorization for travel is not required, but 

reimbursable expenses will be limited to those expenses incurred in the performance of 
official duties undertaken in connection with such public purposes as the District has been 
authorized by law to perform. 

 
1.3 All claims submitted for reimbursement must be accompanied by a written statement that 

they are true and correct as to every material matter. 
 
2.0 TRANSPORTATION. 
 

2.1 All travel must be by a reasonably direct or usually traveled route.  In the event a person 
travels by an indirect route for his/her own convenience, any additional cost shall be borne 
by the traveler and reimbursement for expenses shall be based on the usually traveled route. 

 
2.2 Commercial travel shall be by the most economical method, tourist or coach class.  First 

class rates will be paid only in the event that a statement is attached to the claim certifying 
that tourist or coach seating was unavailable. 

 
2.3 When available without penalty for cancellation, travelers should take advantage of 

discount fares. 
 

2.4 Transportation by common carrier when traveling on official business and paid for by the 
traveler shall be substantiated by a receipt. 

 
2.5 Rental car expenses shall be substantiated by a copy of the rental agreement. 

 
2.6 Whenever travel is by a privately-owned vehicle, the traveler shall be entitled to a mileage 

allowance at the fixed rate per mile as established by the IRS.  Should the IRS increase the 
mileage allowance, the District shall, without further action, be permitted to reimburse 
travelers at the increased rate. As of January 1, 2025, the mileage rate is 70 cents per mile.   

 
 

2.7 All mileage shall be from point of origin to point of destination.  When travel commences 
from a location other than the traveler’s official headquarters, mileage shall be calculated 
on the basis of the distance from the headquarters city to the point of destination, unless 
the actual distance is shorter.  Vicinity mileage necessary for conduct of official business 

309



 
 

is allowable but must be identified as a separate item on the claim for reimbursement of 
expenses. 

 
2.8 No traveler shall be allowed either mileage or transportation expense when he/she is 

gratuitously transported by another person, or when he/she is transported by another 
traveler who is entitled to mileage or transportation expense.  However, a traveler on a 
private aircraft shall be reimbursed the actual amount charged and paid for his/her fare for 
such transportation up to the cost of a commercial airline ticket for the same flight if one 
is available, even though the owner or pilot of the aircraft is also entitled to transportation 
expense for the same flight. 

 
3.0 INCIDENTAL EXPENSES. 
 

3.1 Reasonable travel-related expenses for meals, lodging, gratuities, taxi fares, tolls, parking 
fees, and business-related telephone, telegraph, and facsimile charges shall also be 
reimbursed if substantiated by receipts. 

 
3.2 Registration fees and other actual and necessary expenses for conventions, conferences and 

seminars which will serve a direct public purpose related to District activities will be 
considered reimbursable if persons attending such meetings receive prior approval.  In the 
event room or meal expenses are included in the registration fee, reimbursement for these 
expenses will be reduced accordingly. 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

310



 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-08 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 
ADOPTING A POLICY FOR REIMBURSEMENT OF DISTRICT 
TRAVEL EXPENSES; AND PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY 
AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 2 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  

WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions as may be 
necessary for the conduct of district business; and 

WHEREAS, Section 112.061, Florida Statutes, establishes standard travel reimbursement rates, 
procedures and limitations applicable to all public officers, employees and authorized persons whose travel 
is authorized and paid for by a public agency; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to adopt a Policy for Reimbursement of District Travel Expenses 
(the “Travel Reimbursement Policy”) pursuant to the provisions of Section 112.061, Florida Statutes; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Board finds that it is in the best interests of the District to adopt by resolution the 
Travel Reimbursement Policy for immediate use and application. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2: 

1. POLICY.  The District hereby adopts the Travel Reimbursement Policy, attached hereto 
as Exhibit A.  

2. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution or the Travel Reimbursement 
Policy is held to be illegal or invalid, the other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 

3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall 
remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Travel Reimbursement Policy previously adopted by the District. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 2 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 

311



 
 

 
EXHIBIT A 

 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 

POLICY FOR REIMBURSEMENT OF DISTRICT TRAVEL EXPENSES 
 
1.0 GENERAL PROVISIONS. 
 

1.1 The usual, ordinary, and incidental travel expenditures necessarily incurred by District 
board members, employees, consultants, or advisors in the performance of their official 
duties shall be reimbursed by the Tradition Community Development District No. 2 
(“District”).   

 
1.2 Except as otherwise provided, prior authorization for travel is not required, but 

reimbursable expenses will be limited to those expenses incurred in the performance of 
official duties undertaken in connection with such public purposes as the District has been 
authorized by law to perform. 

 
1.3 All claims submitted for reimbursement must be accompanied by a written statement that 

they are true and correct as to every material matter. 
 
2.0 TRANSPORTATION. 
 

2.1 All travel must be by a reasonably direct or usually traveled route.  In the event a person 
travels by an indirect route for his/her own convenience, any additional cost shall be borne 
by the traveler and reimbursement for expenses shall be based on the usually traveled route. 

 
2.2 Commercial travel shall be by the most economical method, tourist or coach class.  First 

class rates will be paid only in the event that a statement is attached to the claim certifying 
that tourist or coach seating was unavailable. 

 
2.3 When available without penalty for cancellation, travelers should take advantage of 

discount fares. 
 

2.4 Transportation by common carrier when traveling on official business and paid for by the 
traveler shall be substantiated by a receipt. 

 
2.5 Rental car expenses shall be substantiated by a copy of the rental agreement. 

 
2.6 Whenever travel is by a privately-owned vehicle, the traveler shall be entitled to a mileage 

allowance at the fixed rate per mile as established by the IRS.  Should the IRS increase the 
mileage allowance, the District shall, without further action, be permitted to reimburse 
travelers at the increased rate. As of January 1, 2025, the mileage rate is 70 cents per mile.   

 
 

2.7 All mileage shall be from point of origin to point of destination.  When travel commences 
from a location other than the traveler’s official headquarters, mileage shall be calculated 
on the basis of the distance from the headquarters city to the point of destination, unless 
the actual distance is shorter.  Vicinity mileage necessary for conduct of official business 

312



 
 

is allowable but must be identified as a separate item on the claim for reimbursement of 
expenses. 

 
2.8 No traveler shall be allowed either mileage or transportation expense when he/she is 

gratuitously transported by another person, or when he/she is transported by another 
traveler who is entitled to mileage or transportation expense.  However, a traveler on a 
private aircraft shall be reimbursed the actual amount charged and paid for his/her fare for 
such transportation up to the cost of a commercial airline ticket for the same flight if one 
is available, even though the owner or pilot of the aircraft is also entitled to transportation 
expense for the same flight. 

 
3.0 INCIDENTAL EXPENSES. 
 

3.1 Reasonable travel-related expenses for meals, lodging, gratuities, taxi fares, tolls, parking 
fees, and business-related telephone, telegraph, and facsimile charges shall also be 
reimbursed if substantiated by receipts. 

 
3.2 Registration fees and other actual and necessary expenses for conventions, conferences and 

seminars which will serve a direct public purpose related to District activities will be 
considered reimbursable if persons attending such meetings receive prior approval.  In the 
event room or meal expenses are included in the registration fee, reimbursement for these 
expenses will be reduced accordingly. 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

313



 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-08 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 3 
ADOPTING A POLICY FOR REIMBURSEMENT OF DISTRICT 
TRAVEL EXPENSES; AND PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY 
AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 3 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  

WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions as may be 
necessary for the conduct of district business; and 

WHEREAS, Section 112.061, Florida Statutes, establishes standard travel reimbursement rates, 
procedures and limitations applicable to all public officers, employees and authorized persons whose travel 
is authorized and paid for by a public agency; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to adopt a Policy for Reimbursement of District Travel Expenses 
(the “Travel Reimbursement Policy”) pursuant to the provisions of Section 112.061, Florida Statutes; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Board finds that it is in the best interests of the District to adopt by resolution the 
Travel Reimbursement Policy for immediate use and application. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 3: 

1. POLICY.  The District hereby adopts the Travel Reimbursement Policy, attached hereto 
as Exhibit A.  

2. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution or the Travel Reimbursement 
Policy is held to be illegal or invalid, the other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 

3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall 
remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Travel Reimbursement Policy previously adopted by the District. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 3 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 

314



 
 

 
EXHIBIT A 

 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 3 

POLICY FOR REIMBURSEMENT OF DISTRICT TRAVEL EXPENSES 
 
1.0 GENERAL PROVISIONS. 
 

1.1 The usual, ordinary, and incidental travel expenditures necessarily incurred by District 
board members, employees, consultants, or advisors in the performance of their official 
duties shall be reimbursed by the Tradition Community Development District No. 3 
(“District”).   

 
1.2 Except as otherwise provided, prior authorization for travel is not required, but 

reimbursable expenses will be limited to those expenses incurred in the performance of 
official duties undertaken in connection with such public purposes as the District has been 
authorized by law to perform. 

 
1.3 All claims submitted for reimbursement must be accompanied by a written statement that 

they are true and correct as to every material matter. 
 
2.0 TRANSPORTATION. 
 

2.1 All travel must be by a reasonably direct or usually traveled route.  In the event a person 
travels by an indirect route for his/her own convenience, any additional cost shall be borne 
by the traveler and reimbursement for expenses shall be based on the usually traveled route. 

 
2.2 Commercial travel shall be by the most economical method, tourist or coach class.  First 

class rates will be paid only in the event that a statement is attached to the claim certifying 
that tourist or coach seating was unavailable. 

 
2.3 When available without penalty for cancellation, travelers should take advantage of 

discount fares. 
 

2.4 Transportation by common carrier when traveling on official business and paid for by the 
traveler shall be substantiated by a receipt. 

 
2.5 Rental car expenses shall be substantiated by a copy of the rental agreement. 

 
2.6 Whenever travel is by a privately-owned vehicle, the traveler shall be entitled to a mileage 

allowance at the fixed rate per mile as established by the IRS.  Should the IRS increase the 
mileage allowance, the District shall, without further action, be permitted to reimburse 
travelers at the increased rate. As of January 1, 2025, the mileage rate is 70 cents per mile.   

 
 

2.7 All mileage shall be from point of origin to point of destination.  When travel commences 
from a location other than the traveler’s official headquarters, mileage shall be calculated 
on the basis of the distance from the headquarters city to the point of destination, unless 
the actual distance is shorter.  Vicinity mileage necessary for conduct of official business 

315



 
 

is allowable but must be identified as a separate item on the claim for reimbursement of 
expenses. 

 
2.8 No traveler shall be allowed either mileage or transportation expense when he/she is 

gratuitously transported by another person, or when he/she is transported by another 
traveler who is entitled to mileage or transportation expense.  However, a traveler on a 
private aircraft shall be reimbursed the actual amount charged and paid for his/her fare for 
such transportation up to the cost of a commercial airline ticket for the same flight if one 
is available, even though the owner or pilot of the aircraft is also entitled to transportation 
expense for the same flight. 

 
3.0 INCIDENTAL EXPENSES. 
 

3.1 Reasonable travel-related expenses for meals, lodging, gratuities, taxi fares, tolls, parking 
fees, and business-related telephone, telegraph, and facsimile charges shall also be 
reimbursed if substantiated by receipts. 

 
3.2 Registration fees and other actual and necessary expenses for conventions, conferences and 

seminars which will serve a direct public purpose related to District activities will be 
considered reimbursable if persons attending such meetings receive prior approval.  In the 
event room or meal expenses are included in the registration fee, reimbursement for these 
expenses will be reduced accordingly. 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

316



 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-08 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 4 
ADOPTING A POLICY FOR REIMBURSEMENT OF DISTRICT 
TRAVEL EXPENSES; AND PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY 
AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 4 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  

WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions as may be 
necessary for the conduct of district business; and 

WHEREAS, Section 112.061, Florida Statutes, establishes standard travel reimbursement rates, 
procedures and limitations applicable to all public officers, employees and authorized persons whose travel 
is authorized and paid for by a public agency; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to adopt a Policy for Reimbursement of District Travel Expenses 
(the “Travel Reimbursement Policy”) pursuant to the provisions of Section 112.061, Florida Statutes; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Board finds that it is in the best interests of the District to adopt by resolution the 
Travel Reimbursement Policy for immediate use and application. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 4: 

1. POLICY.  The District hereby adopts the Travel Reimbursement Policy, attached hereto 
as Exhibit A.  

2. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution or the Travel Reimbursement 
Policy is held to be illegal or invalid, the other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 

3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall 
remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Travel Reimbursement Policy previously adopted by the District. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 4 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 

317



 
 

 
EXHIBIT A 

 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 4 

POLICY FOR REIMBURSEMENT OF DISTRICT TRAVEL EXPENSES 
 
1.0 GENERAL PROVISIONS. 
 

1.1 The usual, ordinary, and incidental travel expenditures necessarily incurred by District 
board members, employees, consultants, or advisors in the performance of their official 
duties shall be reimbursed by the Tradition Community Development District No. 4 
(“District”).   

 
1.2 Except as otherwise provided, prior authorization for travel is not required, but 

reimbursable expenses will be limited to those expenses incurred in the performance of 
official duties undertaken in connection with such public purposes as the District has been 
authorized by law to perform. 

 
1.3 All claims submitted for reimbursement must be accompanied by a written statement that 

they are true and correct as to every material matter. 
 
2.0 TRANSPORTATION. 
 

2.1 All travel must be by a reasonably direct or usually traveled route.  In the event a person 
travels by an indirect route for his/her own convenience, any additional cost shall be borne 
by the traveler and reimbursement for expenses shall be based on the usually traveled route. 

 
2.2 Commercial travel shall be by the most economical method, tourist or coach class.  First 

class rates will be paid only in the event that a statement is attached to the claim certifying 
that tourist or coach seating was unavailable. 

 
2.3 When available without penalty for cancellation, travelers should take advantage of 

discount fares. 
 

2.4 Transportation by common carrier when traveling on official business and paid for by the 
traveler shall be substantiated by a receipt. 

 
2.5 Rental car expenses shall be substantiated by a copy of the rental agreement. 

 
2.6 Whenever travel is by a privately-owned vehicle, the traveler shall be entitled to a mileage 

allowance at the fixed rate per mile as established by the IRS.  Should the IRS increase the 
mileage allowance, the District shall, without further action, be permitted to reimburse 
travelers at the increased rate. As of January 1, 2025, the mileage rate is 70 cents per mile.   

 
 

2.7 All mileage shall be from point of origin to point of destination.  When travel commences 
from a location other than the traveler’s official headquarters, mileage shall be calculated 
on the basis of the distance from the headquarters city to the point of destination, unless 
the actual distance is shorter.  Vicinity mileage necessary for conduct of official business 

318



 
 

is allowable but must be identified as a separate item on the claim for reimbursement of 
expenses. 

 
2.8 No traveler shall be allowed either mileage or transportation expense when he/she is 

gratuitously transported by another person, or when he/she is transported by another 
traveler who is entitled to mileage or transportation expense.  However, a traveler on a 
private aircraft shall be reimbursed the actual amount charged and paid for his/her fare for 
such transportation up to the cost of a commercial airline ticket for the same flight if one 
is available, even though the owner or pilot of the aircraft is also entitled to transportation 
expense for the same flight. 

 
3.0 INCIDENTAL EXPENSES. 
 

3.1 Reasonable travel-related expenses for meals, lodging, gratuities, taxi fares, tolls, parking 
fees, and business-related telephone, telegraph, and facsimile charges shall also be 
reimbursed if substantiated by receipts. 

 
3.2 Registration fees and other actual and necessary expenses for conventions, conferences and 

seminars which will serve a direct public purpose related to District activities will be 
considered reimbursable if persons attending such meetings receive prior approval.  In the 
event room or meal expenses are included in the registration fee, reimbursement for these 
expenses will be reduced accordingly. 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

319



 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-08 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5 
ADOPTING A POLICY FOR REIMBURSEMENT OF DISTRICT 
TRAVEL EXPENSES; AND PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY 
AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 5 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  

WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions as may be 
necessary for the conduct of district business; and 

WHEREAS, Section 112.061, Florida Statutes, establishes standard travel reimbursement rates, 
procedures and limitations applicable to all public officers, employees and authorized persons whose travel 
is authorized and paid for by a public agency; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to adopt a Policy for Reimbursement of District Travel Expenses 
(the “Travel Reimbursement Policy”) pursuant to the provisions of Section 112.061, Florida Statutes; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Board finds that it is in the best interests of the District to adopt by resolution the 
Travel Reimbursement Policy for immediate use and application. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5: 

1. POLICY.  The District hereby adopts the Travel Reimbursement Policy, attached hereto 
as Exhibit A.  

2. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution or the Travel Reimbursement 
Policy is held to be illegal or invalid, the other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 

3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall 
remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Travel Reimbursement Policy previously adopted by the District. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 5 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 

320



 
 

 
EXHIBIT A 

 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5 

POLICY FOR REIMBURSEMENT OF DISTRICT TRAVEL EXPENSES 
 
1.0 GENERAL PROVISIONS. 
 

1.1 The usual, ordinary, and incidental travel expenditures necessarily incurred by District 
board members, employees, consultants, or advisors in the performance of their official 
duties shall be reimbursed by the Tradition Community Development District No. 5 
(“District”).   

 
1.2 Except as otherwise provided, prior authorization for travel is not required, but 

reimbursable expenses will be limited to those expenses incurred in the performance of 
official duties undertaken in connection with such public purposes as the District has been 
authorized by law to perform. 

 
1.3 All claims submitted for reimbursement must be accompanied by a written statement that 

they are true and correct as to every material matter. 
 
2.0 TRANSPORTATION. 
 

2.1 All travel must be by a reasonably direct or usually traveled route.  In the event a person 
travels by an indirect route for his/her own convenience, any additional cost shall be borne 
by the traveler and reimbursement for expenses shall be based on the usually traveled route. 

 
2.2 Commercial travel shall be by the most economical method, tourist or coach class.  First 

class rates will be paid only in the event that a statement is attached to the claim certifying 
that tourist or coach seating was unavailable. 

 
2.3 When available without penalty for cancellation, travelers should take advantage of 

discount fares. 
 

2.4 Transportation by common carrier when traveling on official business and paid for by the 
traveler shall be substantiated by a receipt. 

 
2.5 Rental car expenses shall be substantiated by a copy of the rental agreement. 

 
2.6 Whenever travel is by a privately-owned vehicle, the traveler shall be entitled to a mileage 

allowance at the fixed rate per mile as established by the IRS.  Should the IRS increase the 
mileage allowance, the District shall, without further action, be permitted to reimburse 
travelers at the increased rate. As of January 1, 2025, the mileage rate is 70 cents per mile.   

 
 

2.7 All mileage shall be from point of origin to point of destination.  When travel commences 
from a location other than the traveler’s official headquarters, mileage shall be calculated 
on the basis of the distance from the headquarters city to the point of destination, unless 
the actual distance is shorter.  Vicinity mileage necessary for conduct of official business 

321



 
 

is allowable but must be identified as a separate item on the claim for reimbursement of 
expenses. 

 
2.8 No traveler shall be allowed either mileage or transportation expense when he/she is 

gratuitously transported by another person, or when he/she is transported by another 
traveler who is entitled to mileage or transportation expense.  However, a traveler on a 
private aircraft shall be reimbursed the actual amount charged and paid for his/her fare for 
such transportation up to the cost of a commercial airline ticket for the same flight if one 
is available, even though the owner or pilot of the aircraft is also entitled to transportation 
expense for the same flight. 

 
3.0 INCIDENTAL EXPENSES. 
 

3.1 Reasonable travel-related expenses for meals, lodging, gratuities, taxi fares, tolls, parking 
fees, and business-related telephone, telegraph, and facsimile charges shall also be 
reimbursed if substantiated by receipts. 

 
3.2 Registration fees and other actual and necessary expenses for conventions, conferences and 

seminars which will serve a direct public purpose related to District activities will be 
considered reimbursable if persons attending such meetings receive prior approval.  In the 
event room or meal expenses are included in the registration fee, reimbursement for these 
expenses will be reduced accordingly. 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

322



 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-08 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 6 
ADOPTING A POLICY FOR REIMBURSEMENT OF DISTRICT 
TRAVEL EXPENSES; AND PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY 
AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 6 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  

WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions as may be 
necessary for the conduct of district business; and 

WHEREAS, Section 112.061, Florida Statutes, establishes standard travel reimbursement rates, 
procedures and limitations applicable to all public officers, employees and authorized persons whose travel 
is authorized and paid for by a public agency; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to adopt a Policy for Reimbursement of District Travel Expenses 
(the “Travel Reimbursement Policy”) pursuant to the provisions of Section 112.061, Florida Statutes; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Board finds that it is in the best interests of the District to adopt by resolution the 
Travel Reimbursement Policy for immediate use and application. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 6: 

1. POLICY.  The District hereby adopts the Travel Reimbursement Policy, attached hereto 
as Exhibit A.  

2. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution or the Travel Reimbursement 
Policy is held to be illegal or invalid, the other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 

3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall 
remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Travel Reimbursement Policy previously adopted by the District. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 6 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 

323



 
 

 
EXHIBIT A 

 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 6 

POLICY FOR REIMBURSEMENT OF DISTRICT TRAVEL EXPENSES 
 
1.0 GENERAL PROVISIONS. 
 

1.1 The usual, ordinary, and incidental travel expenditures necessarily incurred by District 
board members, employees, consultants, or advisors in the performance of their official 
duties shall be reimbursed by the Tradition Community Development District No. 6 
(“District”).   

 
1.2 Except as otherwise provided, prior authorization for travel is not required, but 

reimbursable expenses will be limited to those expenses incurred in the performance of 
official duties undertaken in connection with such public purposes as the District has been 
authorized by law to perform. 

 
1.3 All claims submitted for reimbursement must be accompanied by a written statement that 

they are true and correct as to every material matter. 
 
2.0 TRANSPORTATION. 
 

2.1 All travel must be by a reasonably direct or usually traveled route.  In the event a person 
travels by an indirect route for his/her own convenience, any additional cost shall be borne 
by the traveler and reimbursement for expenses shall be based on the usually traveled route. 

 
2.2 Commercial travel shall be by the most economical method, tourist or coach class.  First 

class rates will be paid only in the event that a statement is attached to the claim certifying 
that tourist or coach seating was unavailable. 

 
2.3 When available without penalty for cancellation, travelers should take advantage of 

discount fares. 
 

2.4 Transportation by common carrier when traveling on official business and paid for by the 
traveler shall be substantiated by a receipt. 

 
2.5 Rental car expenses shall be substantiated by a copy of the rental agreement. 

 
2.6 Whenever travel is by a privately-owned vehicle, the traveler shall be entitled to a mileage 

allowance at the fixed rate per mile as established by the IRS.  Should the IRS increase the 
mileage allowance, the District shall, without further action, be permitted to reimburse 
travelers at the increased rate. As of January 1, 2025, the mileage rate is 70 cents per mile.   

 
 

2.7 All mileage shall be from point of origin to point of destination.  When travel commences 
from a location other than the traveler’s official headquarters, mileage shall be calculated 
on the basis of the distance from the headquarters city to the point of destination, unless 
the actual distance is shorter.  Vicinity mileage necessary for conduct of official business 

324



 
 

is allowable but must be identified as a separate item on the claim for reimbursement of 
expenses. 

 
2.8 No traveler shall be allowed either mileage or transportation expense when he/she is 

gratuitously transported by another person, or when he/she is transported by another 
traveler who is entitled to mileage or transportation expense.  However, a traveler on a 
private aircraft shall be reimbursed the actual amount charged and paid for his/her fare for 
such transportation up to the cost of a commercial airline ticket for the same flight if one 
is available, even though the owner or pilot of the aircraft is also entitled to transportation 
expense for the same flight. 

 
3.0 INCIDENTAL EXPENSES. 
 

3.1 Reasonable travel-related expenses for meals, lodging, gratuities, taxi fares, tolls, parking 
fees, and business-related telephone, telegraph, and facsimile charges shall also be 
reimbursed if substantiated by receipts. 

 
3.2 Registration fees and other actual and necessary expenses for conventions, conferences and 

seminars which will serve a direct public purpose related to District activities will be 
considered reimbursable if persons attending such meetings receive prior approval.  In the 
event room or meal expenses are included in the registration fee, reimbursement for these 
expenses will be reduced accordingly. 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

325



 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-08 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 7 
ADOPTING A POLICY FOR REIMBURSEMENT OF DISTRICT 
TRAVEL EXPENSES; AND PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY 
AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 7 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  

WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions as may be 
necessary for the conduct of district business; and 

WHEREAS, Section 112.061, Florida Statutes, establishes standard travel reimbursement rates, 
procedures and limitations applicable to all public officers, employees and authorized persons whose travel 
is authorized and paid for by a public agency; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to adopt a Policy for Reimbursement of District Travel Expenses 
(the “Travel Reimbursement Policy”) pursuant to the provisions of Section 112.061, Florida Statutes; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Board finds that it is in the best interests of the District to adopt by resolution the 
Travel Reimbursement Policy for immediate use and application. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 7: 

1. POLICY.  The District hereby adopts the Travel Reimbursement Policy, attached hereto 
as Exhibit A.  

2. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution or the Travel Reimbursement 
Policy is held to be illegal or invalid, the other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 

3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall 
remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Travel Reimbursement Policy previously adopted by the District. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 7 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 

326



 
 

 
EXHIBIT A 

 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 7 

POLICY FOR REIMBURSEMENT OF DISTRICT TRAVEL EXPENSES 
 
1.0 GENERAL PROVISIONS. 
 

1.1 The usual, ordinary, and incidental travel expenditures necessarily incurred by District 
board members, employees, consultants, or advisors in the performance of their official 
duties shall be reimbursed by the Tradition Community Development District No. 7 
(“District”).   

 
1.2 Except as otherwise provided, prior authorization for travel is not required, but 

reimbursable expenses will be limited to those expenses incurred in the performance of 
official duties undertaken in connection with such public purposes as the District has been 
authorized by law to perform. 

 
1.3 All claims submitted for reimbursement must be accompanied by a written statement that 

they are true and correct as to every material matter. 
 
2.0 TRANSPORTATION. 
 

2.1 All travel must be by a reasonably direct or usually traveled route.  In the event a person 
travels by an indirect route for his/her own convenience, any additional cost shall be borne 
by the traveler and reimbursement for expenses shall be based on the usually traveled route. 

 
2.2 Commercial travel shall be by the most economical method, tourist or coach class.  First 

class rates will be paid only in the event that a statement is attached to the claim certifying 
that tourist or coach seating was unavailable. 

 
2.3 When available without penalty for cancellation, travelers should take advantage of 

discount fares. 
 

2.4 Transportation by common carrier when traveling on official business and paid for by the 
traveler shall be substantiated by a receipt. 

 
2.5 Rental car expenses shall be substantiated by a copy of the rental agreement. 

 
2.6 Whenever travel is by a privately-owned vehicle, the traveler shall be entitled to a mileage 

allowance at the fixed rate per mile as established by the IRS.  Should the IRS increase the 
mileage allowance, the District shall, without further action, be permitted to reimburse 
travelers at the increased rate. As of January 1, 2025, the mileage rate is 70 cents per mile.   

 
 

2.7 All mileage shall be from point of origin to point of destination.  When travel commences 
from a location other than the traveler’s official headquarters, mileage shall be calculated 
on the basis of the distance from the headquarters city to the point of destination, unless 
the actual distance is shorter.  Vicinity mileage necessary for conduct of official business 

327



 
 

is allowable but must be identified as a separate item on the claim for reimbursement of 
expenses. 

 
2.8 No traveler shall be allowed either mileage or transportation expense when he/she is 

gratuitously transported by another person, or when he/she is transported by another 
traveler who is entitled to mileage or transportation expense.  However, a traveler on a 
private aircraft shall be reimbursed the actual amount charged and paid for his/her fare for 
such transportation up to the cost of a commercial airline ticket for the same flight if one 
is available, even though the owner or pilot of the aircraft is also entitled to transportation 
expense for the same flight. 

 
3.0 INCIDENTAL EXPENSES. 
 

3.1 Reasonable travel-related expenses for meals, lodging, gratuities, taxi fares, tolls, parking 
fees, and business-related telephone, telegraph, and facsimile charges shall also be 
reimbursed if substantiated by receipts. 

 
3.2 Registration fees and other actual and necessary expenses for conventions, conferences and 

seminars which will serve a direct public purpose related to District activities will be 
considered reimbursable if persons attending such meetings receive prior approval.  In the 
event room or meal expenses are included in the registration fee, reimbursement for these 
expenses will be reduced accordingly. 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

328



 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-08 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 8 
ADOPTING A POLICY FOR REIMBURSEMENT OF DISTRICT 
TRAVEL EXPENSES; AND PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY 
AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 8 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  

WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions as may be 
necessary for the conduct of district business; and 

WHEREAS, Section 112.061, Florida Statutes, establishes standard travel reimbursement rates, 
procedures and limitations applicable to all public officers, employees and authorized persons whose travel 
is authorized and paid for by a public agency; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to adopt a Policy for Reimbursement of District Travel Expenses 
(the “Travel Reimbursement Policy”) pursuant to the provisions of Section 112.061, Florida Statutes; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Board finds that it is in the best interests of the District to adopt by resolution the 
Travel Reimbursement Policy for immediate use and application. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 8: 

1. POLICY.  The District hereby adopts the Travel Reimbursement Policy, attached hereto 
as Exhibit A.  

2. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution or the Travel Reimbursement 
Policy is held to be illegal or invalid, the other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 

3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall 
remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Travel Reimbursement Policy previously adopted by the District. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 8 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 

329



 
 

 
EXHIBIT A 

 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 8 

POLICY FOR REIMBURSEMENT OF DISTRICT TRAVEL EXPENSES 
 
1.0 GENERAL PROVISIONS. 
 

1.1 The usual, ordinary, and incidental travel expenditures necessarily incurred by District 
board members, employees, consultants, or advisors in the performance of their official 
duties shall be reimbursed by the Tradition Community Development District No. 8 
(“District”).   

 
1.2 Except as otherwise provided, prior authorization for travel is not required, but 

reimbursable expenses will be limited to those expenses incurred in the performance of 
official duties undertaken in connection with such public purposes as the District has been 
authorized by law to perform. 

 
1.3 All claims submitted for reimbursement must be accompanied by a written statement that 

they are true and correct as to every material matter. 
 
2.0 TRANSPORTATION. 
 

2.1 All travel must be by a reasonably direct or usually traveled route.  In the event a person 
travels by an indirect route for his/her own convenience, any additional cost shall be borne 
by the traveler and reimbursement for expenses shall be based on the usually traveled route. 

 
2.2 Commercial travel shall be by the most economical method, tourist or coach class.  First 

class rates will be paid only in the event that a statement is attached to the claim certifying 
that tourist or coach seating was unavailable. 

 
2.3 When available without penalty for cancellation, travelers should take advantage of 

discount fares. 
 

2.4 Transportation by common carrier when traveling on official business and paid for by the 
traveler shall be substantiated by a receipt. 

 
2.5 Rental car expenses shall be substantiated by a copy of the rental agreement. 

 
2.6 Whenever travel is by a privately-owned vehicle, the traveler shall be entitled to a mileage 

allowance at the fixed rate per mile as established by the IRS.  Should the IRS increase the 
mileage allowance, the District shall, without further action, be permitted to reimburse 
travelers at the increased rate. As of January 1, 2025, the mileage rate is 70 cents per mile.   

 
 

2.7 All mileage shall be from point of origin to point of destination.  When travel commences 
from a location other than the traveler’s official headquarters, mileage shall be calculated 
on the basis of the distance from the headquarters city to the point of destination, unless 
the actual distance is shorter.  Vicinity mileage necessary for conduct of official business 

330



 
 

is allowable but must be identified as a separate item on the claim for reimbursement of 
expenses. 

 
2.8 No traveler shall be allowed either mileage or transportation expense when he/she is 

gratuitously transported by another person, or when he/she is transported by another 
traveler who is entitled to mileage or transportation expense.  However, a traveler on a 
private aircraft shall be reimbursed the actual amount charged and paid for his/her fare for 
such transportation up to the cost of a commercial airline ticket for the same flight if one 
is available, even though the owner or pilot of the aircraft is also entitled to transportation 
expense for the same flight. 

 
3.0 INCIDENTAL EXPENSES. 
 

3.1 Reasonable travel-related expenses for meals, lodging, gratuities, taxi fares, tolls, parking 
fees, and business-related telephone, telegraph, and facsimile charges shall also be 
reimbursed if substantiated by receipts. 

 
3.2 Registration fees and other actual and necessary expenses for conventions, conferences and 

seminars which will serve a direct public purpose related to District activities will be 
considered reimbursable if persons attending such meetings receive prior approval.  In the 
event room or meal expenses are included in the registration fee, reimbursement for these 
expenses will be reduced accordingly. 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

331



 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-08 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 9 
ADOPTING A POLICY FOR REIMBURSEMENT OF DISTRICT 
TRAVEL EXPENSES; AND PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY 
AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 9 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  

WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions as may be 
necessary for the conduct of district business; and 

WHEREAS, Section 112.061, Florida Statutes, establishes standard travel reimbursement rates, 
procedures and limitations applicable to all public officers, employees and authorized persons whose travel 
is authorized and paid for by a public agency; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to adopt a Policy for Reimbursement of District Travel Expenses 
(the “Travel Reimbursement Policy”) pursuant to the provisions of Section 112.061, Florida Statutes; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Board finds that it is in the best interests of the District to adopt by resolution the 
Travel Reimbursement Policy for immediate use and application. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 9: 

1. POLICY.  The District hereby adopts the Travel Reimbursement Policy, attached hereto 
as Exhibit A.  

2. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution or the Travel Reimbursement 
Policy is held to be illegal or invalid, the other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 

3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall 
remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Travel Reimbursement Policy previously adopted by the District. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 9 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 

332



 
 

 
EXHIBIT A 

 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 9 

POLICY FOR REIMBURSEMENT OF DISTRICT TRAVEL EXPENSES 
 
1.0 GENERAL PROVISIONS. 
 

1.1 The usual, ordinary, and incidental travel expenditures necessarily incurred by District 
board members, employees, consultants, or advisors in the performance of their official 
duties shall be reimbursed by the Tradition Community Development District No. 9 
(“District”).   

 
1.2 Except as otherwise provided, prior authorization for travel is not required, but 

reimbursable expenses will be limited to those expenses incurred in the performance of 
official duties undertaken in connection with such public purposes as the District has been 
authorized by law to perform. 

 
1.3 All claims submitted for reimbursement must be accompanied by a written statement that 

they are true and correct as to every material matter. 
 
2.0 TRANSPORTATION. 
 

2.1 All travel must be by a reasonably direct or usually traveled route.  In the event a person 
travels by an indirect route for his/her own convenience, any additional cost shall be borne 
by the traveler and reimbursement for expenses shall be based on the usually traveled route. 

 
2.2 Commercial travel shall be by the most economical method, tourist or coach class.  First 

class rates will be paid only in the event that a statement is attached to the claim certifying 
that tourist or coach seating was unavailable. 

 
2.3 When available without penalty for cancellation, travelers should take advantage of 

discount fares. 
 

2.4 Transportation by common carrier when traveling on official business and paid for by the 
traveler shall be substantiated by a receipt. 

 
2.5 Rental car expenses shall be substantiated by a copy of the rental agreement. 

 
2.6 Whenever travel is by a privately-owned vehicle, the traveler shall be entitled to a mileage 

allowance at the fixed rate per mile as established by the IRS.  Should the IRS increase the 
mileage allowance, the District shall, without further action, be permitted to reimburse 
travelers at the increased rate. As of January 1, 2025, the mileage rate is 70 cents per mile.   

 
 

2.7 All mileage shall be from point of origin to point of destination.  When travel commences 
from a location other than the traveler’s official headquarters, mileage shall be calculated 
on the basis of the distance from the headquarters city to the point of destination, unless 
the actual distance is shorter.  Vicinity mileage necessary for conduct of official business 

333



 
 

is allowable but must be identified as a separate item on the claim for reimbursement of 
expenses. 

 
2.8 No traveler shall be allowed either mileage or transportation expense when he/she is 

gratuitously transported by another person, or when he/she is transported by another 
traveler who is entitled to mileage or transportation expense.  However, a traveler on a 
private aircraft shall be reimbursed the actual amount charged and paid for his/her fare for 
such transportation up to the cost of a commercial airline ticket for the same flight if one 
is available, even though the owner or pilot of the aircraft is also entitled to transportation 
expense for the same flight. 

 
3.0 INCIDENTAL EXPENSES. 
 

3.1 Reasonable travel-related expenses for meals, lodging, gratuities, taxi fares, tolls, parking 
fees, and business-related telephone, telegraph, and facsimile charges shall also be 
reimbursed if substantiated by receipts. 

 
3.2 Registration fees and other actual and necessary expenses for conventions, conferences and 

seminars which will serve a direct public purpose related to District activities will be 
considered reimbursable if persons attending such meetings receive prior approval.  In the 
event room or meal expenses are included in the registration fee, reimbursement for these 
expenses will be reduced accordingly. 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

334



 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-08 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 10 
ADOPTING A POLICY FOR REIMBURSEMENT OF DISTRICT 
TRAVEL EXPENSES; AND PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY 
AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 10 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  

WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions as may be 
necessary for the conduct of district business; and 

WHEREAS, Section 112.061, Florida Statutes, establishes standard travel reimbursement rates, 
procedures and limitations applicable to all public officers, employees and authorized persons whose travel 
is authorized and paid for by a public agency; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to adopt a Policy for Reimbursement of District Travel Expenses 
(the “Travel Reimbursement Policy”) pursuant to the provisions of Section 112.061, Florida Statutes; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Board finds that it is in the best interests of the District to adopt by resolution the 
Travel Reimbursement Policy for immediate use and application. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 10: 

1. POLICY.  The District hereby adopts the Travel Reimbursement Policy, attached hereto 
as Exhibit A.  

2. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution or the Travel Reimbursement 
Policy is held to be illegal or invalid, the other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 

3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall 
remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Travel Reimbursement Policy previously adopted by the District. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 10 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 

335



 
 

 
EXHIBIT A 

 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 10 

POLICY FOR REIMBURSEMENT OF DISTRICT TRAVEL EXPENSES 
 
1.0 GENERAL PROVISIONS. 
 

1.1 The usual, ordinary, and incidental travel expenditures necessarily incurred by District 
board members, employees, consultants, or advisors in the performance of their official 
duties shall be reimbursed by the Tradition Community Development District No. 10 
(“District”).   

 
1.2 Except as otherwise provided, prior authorization for travel is not required, but 

reimbursable expenses will be limited to those expenses incurred in the performance of 
official duties undertaken in connection with such public purposes as the District has been 
authorized by law to perform. 

 
1.3 All claims submitted for reimbursement must be accompanied by a written statement that 

they are true and correct as to every material matter. 
 
2.0 TRANSPORTATION. 
 

2.1 All travel must be by a reasonably direct or usually traveled route.  In the event a person 
travels by an indirect route for his/her own convenience, any additional cost shall be borne 
by the traveler and reimbursement for expenses shall be based on the usually traveled route. 

 
2.2 Commercial travel shall be by the most economical method, tourist or coach class.  First 

class rates will be paid only in the event that a statement is attached to the claim certifying 
that tourist or coach seating was unavailable. 

 
2.3 When available without penalty for cancellation, travelers should take advantage of 

discount fares. 
 

2.4 Transportation by common carrier when traveling on official business and paid for by the 
traveler shall be substantiated by a receipt. 

 
2.5 Rental car expenses shall be substantiated by a copy of the rental agreement. 

 
2.6 Whenever travel is by a privately-owned vehicle, the traveler shall be entitled to a mileage 

allowance at the fixed rate per mile as established by the IRS.  Should the IRS increase the 
mileage allowance, the District shall, without further action, be permitted to reimburse 
travelers at the increased rate. As of January 1, 2025, the mileage rate is 70 cents per mile.   

 
 

2.7 All mileage shall be from point of origin to point of destination.  When travel commences 
from a location other than the traveler’s official headquarters, mileage shall be calculated 
on the basis of the distance from the headquarters city to the point of destination, unless 
the actual distance is shorter.  Vicinity mileage necessary for conduct of official business 

336



 
 

is allowable but must be identified as a separate item on the claim for reimbursement of 
expenses. 

 
2.8 No traveler shall be allowed either mileage or transportation expense when he/she is 

gratuitously transported by another person, or when he/she is transported by another 
traveler who is entitled to mileage or transportation expense.  However, a traveler on a 
private aircraft shall be reimbursed the actual amount charged and paid for his/her fare for 
such transportation up to the cost of a commercial airline ticket for the same flight if one 
is available, even though the owner or pilot of the aircraft is also entitled to transportation 
expense for the same flight. 

 
3.0 INCIDENTAL EXPENSES. 
 

3.1 Reasonable travel-related expenses for meals, lodging, gratuities, taxi fares, tolls, parking 
fees, and business-related telephone, telegraph, and facsimile charges shall also be 
reimbursed if substantiated by receipts. 

 
3.2 Registration fees and other actual and necessary expenses for conventions, conferences and 

seminars which will serve a direct public purpose related to District activities will be 
considered reimbursable if persons attending such meetings receive prior approval.  In the 
event room or meal expenses are included in the registration fee, reimbursement for these 
expenses will be reduced accordingly. 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

337



 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-08 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 11 
ADOPTING A POLICY FOR REIMBURSEMENT OF DISTRICT 
TRAVEL EXPENSES; AND PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY 
AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 11 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and  

WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions as may be 
necessary for the conduct of district business; and 

WHEREAS, Section 112.061, Florida Statutes, establishes standard travel reimbursement rates, 
procedures and limitations applicable to all public officers, employees and authorized persons whose travel 
is authorized and paid for by a public agency; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to adopt a Policy for Reimbursement of District Travel Expenses 
(the “Travel Reimbursement Policy”) pursuant to the provisions of Section 112.061, Florida Statutes; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Board finds that it is in the best interests of the District to adopt by resolution the 
Travel Reimbursement Policy for immediate use and application. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 11: 

1. POLICY.  The District hereby adopts the Travel Reimbursement Policy, attached hereto 
as Exhibit A.  

2. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution or the Travel Reimbursement 
Policy is held to be illegal or invalid, the other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 

3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall 
remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Travel Reimbursement Policy previously adopted by the District. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 11 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 

338



 
 

 
EXHIBIT A 

 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 11 

POLICY FOR REIMBURSEMENT OF DISTRICT TRAVEL EXPENSES 
 
1.0 GENERAL PROVISIONS. 
 

1.1 The usual, ordinary, and incidental travel expenditures necessarily incurred by District 
board members, employees, consultants, or advisors in the performance of their official 
duties shall be reimbursed by the Tradition Community Development District No. 11 
(“District”).   

 
1.2 Except as otherwise provided, prior authorization for travel is not required, but 

reimbursable expenses will be limited to those expenses incurred in the performance of 
official duties undertaken in connection with such public purposes as the District has been 
authorized by law to perform. 

 
1.3 All claims submitted for reimbursement must be accompanied by a written statement that 

they are true and correct as to every material matter. 
 
2.0 TRANSPORTATION. 
 

2.1 All travel must be by a reasonably direct or usually traveled route.  In the event a person 
travels by an indirect route for his/her own convenience, any additional cost shall be borne 
by the traveler and reimbursement for expenses shall be based on the usually traveled route. 

 
2.2 Commercial travel shall be by the most economical method, tourist or coach class.  First 

class rates will be paid only in the event that a statement is attached to the claim certifying 
that tourist or coach seating was unavailable. 

 
2.3 When available without penalty for cancellation, travelers should take advantage of 

discount fares. 
 

2.4 Transportation by common carrier when traveling on official business and paid for by the 
traveler shall be substantiated by a receipt. 

 
2.5 Rental car expenses shall be substantiated by a copy of the rental agreement. 

 
2.6 Whenever travel is by a privately-owned vehicle, the traveler shall be entitled to a mileage 

allowance at the fixed rate per mile as established by the IRS.  Should the IRS increase the 
mileage allowance, the District shall, without further action, be permitted to reimburse 
travelers at the increased rate. As of January 1, 2025, the mileage rate is 70 cents per mile.   

 
 

2.7 All mileage shall be from point of origin to point of destination.  When travel commences 
from a location other than the traveler’s official headquarters, mileage shall be calculated 
on the basis of the distance from the headquarters city to the point of destination, unless 
the actual distance is shorter.  Vicinity mileage necessary for conduct of official business 

339



 
 

is allowable but must be identified as a separate item on the claim for reimbursement of 
expenses. 

 
2.8 No traveler shall be allowed either mileage or transportation expense when he/she is 

gratuitously transported by another person, or when he/she is transported by another 
traveler who is entitled to mileage or transportation expense.  However, a traveler on a 
private aircraft shall be reimbursed the actual amount charged and paid for his/her fare for 
such transportation up to the cost of a commercial airline ticket for the same flight if one 
is available, even though the owner or pilot of the aircraft is also entitled to transportation 
expense for the same flight. 

 
3.0 INCIDENTAL EXPENSES. 
 

3.1 Reasonable travel-related expenses for meals, lodging, gratuities, taxi fares, tolls, parking 
fees, and business-related telephone, telegraph, and facsimile charges shall also be 
reimbursed if substantiated by receipts. 

 
3.2 Registration fees and other actual and necessary expenses for conventions, conferences and 

seminars which will serve a direct public purpose related to District activities will be 
considered reimbursable if persons attending such meetings receive prior approval.  In the 
event room or meal expenses are included in the registration fee, reimbursement for these 
expenses will be reduced accordingly. 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

340



Kutak Rock LLP 

107 West College Avenue, Tallahassee, FL 32301-7707 

office 850.692.7300 

 
 

  
 

9 
 

MEMORANDUM 
FROM: Kutak Rock LLP  
 
TO:  Board of Supervisors 
 
DATE: January 7, 2026 
 
 
Subject: Resolution Adopting Internal Controls Policy 

 

Staff Recommendation 

Staff recommends the Board adopt the Resolution Adopting Internal Controls Policy. 

 

General Information 

Florida Statutes requires the District to establish and maintain internal controls designed to 
prevent and detect fraud, waste, and abuse.  This resolution which adopts the minimal standards 
of internal controls and provides for implementation and monitoring. 

 

District Legal Counsel Review 

The District’s attorneys prepared by this Resolution. 

 

Funding Review 

This Resolution is not expected to affect the District’s financial condition. 

 

 

 

 

 

341



 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-09 
 

A RESOLUTION BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1 
ADOPTING AN INTERNAL CONTROLS POLICY CONSISTENT 
WITH SECTION 218.33, FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 1 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida; and 
 
 WHEREAS, consistent with Section 218.33, Florida Statutes, the District is statutorily required 
to establish and maintain internal controls designed to prevent and detect fraud, waste, and abuse as defined 
in Section 11.45(1), Florida Statutes; promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules, 
contracts, grant agreements, and best practices; support economical and efficient operations; ensure 
reliability of financial records and reports; and safeguard assets (the “Internal Controls Policy”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, to demonstrate compliance with Section 218.33, Florida Statutes, the District desires 
to adopt by resolution the Internal Controls Policy attached hereto as Exhibit A. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1: 

 
1. POLICY.  The attached Internal Controls Policy attached hereto as Exhibit A is hereby 

adopted pursuant to this Resolution.  
 
2. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the 

other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall 

remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Internal Controls Policy previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 1 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 
 
 
 

342



 
 

 
 
 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1 
INTERNAL CONTROLS POLICY 

 
1. Purpose.  

 
1.1. The purpose of this internal controls policy is to establish and maintain internal controls for the 

Tradition Community Development District No. 1. 
 
1.2. Consistent with Section 218.33(3), Florida Statutes, the internal controls adopted herein are 

designed to:  
 

1.2.1. Prevent and detect Fraud, Waste, and Abuse (as hereinafter defined). 
 
1.2.2. Promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant 

agreements, and best practices. 
 
1.2.3. Support economical and efficient operations. 
 
1.2.4. Ensure reliability of financial records and reports. 
 
1.2.5. Safeguard Assets (as hereinafter defined). 
 

2. Definitions.  
 

2.1. “Abuse” means behavior that is deficient or improper when compared with behavior that a 
prudent person would consider a reasonable and necessary operational practice given the facts 
and circumstances. The term includes the misuse of authority or position for personal gain. 
 

2.2. “Assets” means District assets such as cash or other financial resources, supplies, inventories, 
equipment and other fixed assets, real property, intellectual property, or data. 

 
2.3. “Auditor” means the independent auditor (and its employees) retained by the District to 

perform the annual audit required by state law. 
 
2.4. “Board” means the Board of Supervisors for the District. 
 
2.5. “District Management” means (i) the independent contractor (and its employees) retained by 

the District to provide professional district management services to the District and (ii) any 
other independent contractor (and its employees) separately retained by the District to provide 
amenity management services, provided said services include a responsibility to safeguard and 
protect Assets. 

 

343



 
 

2.6. “Fraud” means obtaining something of value through willful misrepresentation, including, but 
not limited to, intentional misstatements or intentional omissions of amounts or disclosures in 
financial statements to deceive users of financial statements, theft of an entity’s assets, bribery, 
or the use of one’s position for personal enrichment through the deliberate misuse or 
misapplication of an organization’s resources. 

 
2.7. “Internal Controls” means systems and procedures designed to prevent and detect fraud, waste, 

and abuse; promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant 
agreements, and best practices; support economical and efficient operations; ensure reliability 
of financial records and reports; and safeguard assets.  

 
2.8. “Risk” means anything that could negatively impact the District’s ability to meet its goals and 

objectives. The term includes strategic, financial, regulatory, reputational, and operational 
risks.  

 
2.9. “Waste” means the act of using or expending resources unreasonably, carelessly, extravagantly, 

or for no useful purpose. 
 

3. Control Environment. 
 
3.1. Ethical and Honest Behavior. 

  
3.1.1. District Management is responsible for maintaining a work environment that promotes ethical 

and honest behavior on the part of all employees, contractors, vendors and others.  
 

3.1.2. Managers at all levels must behave ethically and communicate to employees and others that 
they are expected to behave ethically.  

 
3.1.3. Managers must demonstrate through words and actions that unethical behavior will not be 

tolerated. 
 

4. Risk Assessment. 
 
4.1. Risk Assessment. District Management is responsible for assessing Risk to the District. District 

Management’s Risk assessments shall include, but not be limited to: 
 

4.1.1. Identifying potential hazards. 
 

4.1.2. Evaluating the likelihood and extent of harm. 
 

4.1.3. Identifying cost-justified precautions and implementing those precautions.  
 

 
 
5. Control Activities. 

 

344



 
 

5.1. Minimum Internal Controls. The District hereby establishes the following minimum Internal 
Controls to prevent and detect Fraud, Waste, and Abuse:   

 
5.1.1. Preventive controls designed to forestall errors or irregularities and thereby avoid the cost 

of corrections. Preventive control activities shall include, but not be limited to, the 
following: 

 
5.1.1.1. Identifying and segregating incompatible duties and/or implementing mitigating 

controls. 
 

5.1.1.2. Performing accounting functions in accordance with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAP) and Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) standards. 
 

5.1.1.3. Requiring proper authorizations to access and/or modify accounting software. 
 

5.1.1.4. Implementing computerized accounting techniques (e.g. to help identify coding 
errors, avoid duplicate invoices, etc.). 

 
5.1.1.5. Maintaining a schedule of the District’s material fixed Assets. 

 
5.1.1.6. Maintaining physical control over the District’s material and vulnerable Assets 

(e.g. lock and key, computer passwords, network firewalls, etc.). 
 

5.1.1.7. Retaining and restricting access to sensitive documents. 
 

5.1.1.8. Performing regular electronic data backups. 
 

5.1.2. Detective controls designed to measure the effectiveness of preventive controls and to 
detect errors or irregularities when they occur. Detective control activities shall include, 
but not be limited to, the following: 
 

5.1.2.1. Preparing financial reports in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles (GAAP) and Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) 
standards. 
 

5.1.2.2. Reviewing financial statements and investigating any material variances between 
budgeted expenses and actual expenses. 
 

5.1.2.3. Establishing and implementing periodic reconciliations of bank, trust, and petty 
cash accounts.  

 
5.1.2.4. Establishing an internal protocol for reporting and investigating known or 

suspected acts of Fraud, Waste, or Abuse. 
 

345



 
 

5.1.2.5. Engaging in periodic physical inventory counts and comparisons with inventory 
records. 

 
5.1.2.6. Monitoring all ACH (electronic) transactions and the sequencing of checks. 
 

5.2. Implementation. District Management shall implement the minimum Internal Controls 
described herein. District Management may also implement additional Internal Controls that it 
deems advisable or appropriate for the District. The specific ways District Management 
implements these minimum Internal Controls shall be consistent with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAP) and otherwise conform to Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board (GASB) and American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) standards and 
norms. 
 

6. Information and Communication. 
 

6.1. Information and Communication. District Management shall communicate to its employees 
(needing to know) information relevant to the Internal Controls, including but not limited to 
any changes to the Internal Controls and/or changes to laws, rules, contracts, grant agreements, 
and best practices.  
 

6.2. Training. District Management shall regularly train its employees (needing the training) in 
connection with the Internal Controls described herein and promote and encourage compliance 
with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant agreements, and best practices.  

 
7. Monitoring Activities. 
 

7.1. Internal Reviews. District Management shall internally review the District’s Internal Controls 
at least once per year. In connection with this internal review, District Management shall:  

 
7.1.1.1. Review its operational processes. 

 
7.1.1.2. Consider the potential risk of Fraud, Waste, or Abuse inherent in each process. 

 
7.1.1.3. Identify the controls included in the process, or controls that could be included, 

that would result in a reduction in the inherent risk.  
 

7.1.1.4. Assess whether there are Internal Controls that need to be improved or added to 
the process under consideration. 
  

7.1.1.5. Implement new controls or improve existing controls that are determined to be the 
most efficient and effective for decreasing the risk of Fraud, Waste or Abuse. 

 
7.1.1.6. Train its employees on implemented new controls or improvements to existing 

controls. 
 

346



 
 

7.2. External Audits and Other Reviews. Audits and other reviews may be performed on various 
components of the District’s Internal Controls by the Auditor consistent with Government 
Auditing Standards (GAS). Audits may identify material deficiencies in the Internal Controls 
and make recommendations to improve them. District Management shall communicate and 
cooperate with the Board and the Auditor regarding the potential implementation of Auditor 
recommendations. 

 
Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 218.33(3), Florida Statutes 
Effective date: January 7, 2026 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

347



 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-09 
 

A RESOLUTION BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 
ADOPTING AN INTERNAL CONTROLS POLICY CONSISTENT 
WITH SECTION 218.33, FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 2 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida; and 
 
 WHEREAS, consistent with Section 218.33, Florida Statutes, the District is statutorily required 
to establish and maintain internal controls designed to prevent and detect fraud, waste, and abuse as defined 
in Section 11.45(1), Florida Statutes; promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules, 
contracts, grant agreements, and best practices; support economical and efficient operations; ensure 
reliability of financial records and reports; and safeguard assets (the “Internal Controls Policy”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, to demonstrate compliance with Section 218.33, Florida Statutes, the District desires 
to adopt by resolution the Internal Controls Policy attached hereto as Exhibit A. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2: 

 
1. POLICY.  The attached Internal Controls Policy attached hereto as Exhibit A is hereby 

adopted pursuant to this Resolution.  
 
2. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the 

other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall 

remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Internal Controls Policy previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 2 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 
 
 
 

348



 
 

 
 
 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 
INTERNAL CONTROLS POLICY 

 
1. Purpose.  

 
1.1. The purpose of this internal controls policy is to establish and maintain internal controls for the 

Tradition Community Development District No. 2. 
 
1.2. Consistent with Section 218.33(3), Florida Statutes, the internal controls adopted herein are 

designed to:  
 

1.2.1. Prevent and detect Fraud, Waste, and Abuse (as hereinafter defined). 
 
1.2.2. Promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant 

agreements, and best practices. 
 
1.2.3. Support economical and efficient operations. 
 
1.2.4. Ensure reliability of financial records and reports. 
 
1.2.5. Safeguard Assets (as hereinafter defined). 
 

2. Definitions.  
 

2.1. “Abuse” means behavior that is deficient or improper when compared with behavior that a 
prudent person would consider a reasonable and necessary operational practice given the facts 
and circumstances. The term includes the misuse of authority or position for personal gain. 
 

2.2. “Assets” means District assets such as cash or other financial resources, supplies, inventories, 
equipment and other fixed assets, real property, intellectual property, or data. 

 
2.3. “Auditor” means the independent auditor (and its employees) retained by the District to 

perform the annual audit required by state law. 
 
2.4. “Board” means the Board of Supervisors for the District. 
 
2.5. “District Management” means (i) the independent contractor (and its employees) retained by 

the District to provide professional district management services to the District and (ii) any 
other independent contractor (and its employees) separately retained by the District to provide 
amenity management services, provided said services include a responsibility to safeguard and 
protect Assets. 

 

349



 
 

2.6. “Fraud” means obtaining something of value through willful misrepresentation, including, but 
not limited to, intentional misstatements or intentional omissions of amounts or disclosures in 
financial statements to deceive users of financial statements, theft of an entity’s assets, bribery, 
or the use of one’s position for personal enrichment through the deliberate misuse or 
misapplication of an organization’s resources. 

 
2.7. “Internal Controls” means systems and procedures designed to prevent and detect fraud, waste, 

and abuse; promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant 
agreements, and best practices; support economical and efficient operations; ensure reliability 
of financial records and reports; and safeguard assets.  

 
2.8. “Risk” means anything that could negatively impact the District’s ability to meet its goals and 

objectives. The term includes strategic, financial, regulatory, reputational, and operational 
risks.  

 
2.9. “Waste” means the act of using or expending resources unreasonably, carelessly, extravagantly, 

or for no useful purpose. 
 

3. Control Environment. 
 
3.1. Ethical and Honest Behavior. 

  
3.1.1. District Management is responsible for maintaining a work environment that promotes ethical 

and honest behavior on the part of all employees, contractors, vendors and others.  
 

3.1.2. Managers at all levels must behave ethically and communicate to employees and others that 
they are expected to behave ethically.  

 
3.1.3. Managers must demonstrate through words and actions that unethical behavior will not be 

tolerated. 
 

4. Risk Assessment. 
 
4.1. Risk Assessment. District Management is responsible for assessing Risk to the District. District 

Management’s Risk assessments shall include, but not be limited to: 
 

4.1.1. Identifying potential hazards. 
 

4.1.2. Evaluating the likelihood and extent of harm. 
 

4.1.3. Identifying cost-justified precautions and implementing those precautions.  
 

 
 
5. Control Activities. 

 

350



 
 

5.1. Minimum Internal Controls. The District hereby establishes the following minimum Internal 
Controls to prevent and detect Fraud, Waste, and Abuse:   

 
5.1.1. Preventive controls designed to forestall errors or irregularities and thereby avoid the cost 

of corrections. Preventive control activities shall include, but not be limited to, the 
following: 

 
5.1.1.1. Identifying and segregating incompatible duties and/or implementing mitigating 

controls. 
 

5.1.1.2. Performing accounting functions in accordance with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAP) and Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) standards. 
 

5.1.1.3. Requiring proper authorizations to access and/or modify accounting software. 
 

5.1.1.4. Implementing computerized accounting techniques (e.g. to help identify coding 
errors, avoid duplicate invoices, etc.). 

 
5.1.1.5. Maintaining a schedule of the District’s material fixed Assets. 

 
5.1.1.6. Maintaining physical control over the District’s material and vulnerable Assets 

(e.g. lock and key, computer passwords, network firewalls, etc.). 
 

5.1.1.7. Retaining and restricting access to sensitive documents. 
 

5.1.1.8. Performing regular electronic data backups. 
 

5.1.2. Detective controls designed to measure the effectiveness of preventive controls and to 
detect errors or irregularities when they occur. Detective control activities shall include, 
but not be limited to, the following: 
 

5.1.2.1. Preparing financial reports in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles (GAAP) and Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) 
standards. 
 

5.1.2.2. Reviewing financial statements and investigating any material variances between 
budgeted expenses and actual expenses. 
 

5.1.2.3. Establishing and implementing periodic reconciliations of bank, trust, and petty 
cash accounts.  

 
5.1.2.4. Establishing an internal protocol for reporting and investigating known or 

suspected acts of Fraud, Waste, or Abuse. 
 

351



 
 

5.1.2.5. Engaging in periodic physical inventory counts and comparisons with inventory 
records. 

 
5.1.2.6. Monitoring all ACH (electronic) transactions and the sequencing of checks. 
 

5.2. Implementation. District Management shall implement the minimum Internal Controls 
described herein. District Management may also implement additional Internal Controls that it 
deems advisable or appropriate for the District. The specific ways District Management 
implements these minimum Internal Controls shall be consistent with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAP) and otherwise conform to Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board (GASB) and American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) standards and 
norms. 
 

6. Information and Communication. 
 

6.1. Information and Communication. District Management shall communicate to its employees 
(needing to know) information relevant to the Internal Controls, including but not limited to 
any changes to the Internal Controls and/or changes to laws, rules, contracts, grant agreements, 
and best practices.  
 

6.2. Training. District Management shall regularly train its employees (needing the training) in 
connection with the Internal Controls described herein and promote and encourage compliance 
with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant agreements, and best practices.  

 
7. Monitoring Activities. 
 

7.1. Internal Reviews. District Management shall internally review the District’s Internal Controls 
at least once per year. In connection with this internal review, District Management shall:  

 
7.1.1.1. Review its operational processes. 

 
7.1.1.2. Consider the potential risk of Fraud, Waste, or Abuse inherent in each process. 

 
7.1.1.3. Identify the controls included in the process, or controls that could be included, 

that would result in a reduction in the inherent risk.  
 

7.1.1.4. Assess whether there are Internal Controls that need to be improved or added to 
the process under consideration. 
  

7.1.1.5. Implement new controls or improve existing controls that are determined to be the 
most efficient and effective for decreasing the risk of Fraud, Waste or Abuse. 

 
7.1.1.6. Train its employees on implemented new controls or improvements to existing 

controls. 
 

352



 
 

7.2. External Audits and Other Reviews. Audits and other reviews may be performed on various 
components of the District’s Internal Controls by the Auditor consistent with Government 
Auditing Standards (GAS). Audits may identify material deficiencies in the Internal Controls 
and make recommendations to improve them. District Management shall communicate and 
cooperate with the Board and the Auditor regarding the potential implementation of Auditor 
recommendations. 

 
Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 218.33(3), Florida Statutes 
Effective date: January 7, 2026 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

353



 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-09 
 

A RESOLUTION BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 3 
ADOPTING AN INTERNAL CONTROLS POLICY CONSISTENT 
WITH SECTION 218.33, FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 3 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida; and 
 
 WHEREAS, consistent with Section 218.33, Florida Statutes, the District is statutorily required 
to establish and maintain internal controls designed to prevent and detect fraud, waste, and abuse as defined 
in Section 11.45(1), Florida Statutes; promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules, 
contracts, grant agreements, and best practices; support economical and efficient operations; ensure 
reliability of financial records and reports; and safeguard assets (the “Internal Controls Policy”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, to demonstrate compliance with Section 218.33, Florida Statutes, the District desires 
to adopt by resolution the Internal Controls Policy attached hereto as Exhibit A. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 3: 

 
1. POLICY.  The attached Internal Controls Policy attached hereto as Exhibit A is hereby 

adopted pursuant to this Resolution.  
 
2. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the 

other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall 

remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Internal Controls Policy previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 3 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 
 
 
 

354



 
 

 
 
 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 3 
INTERNAL CONTROLS POLICY 

 
1. Purpose.  

 
1.1. The purpose of this internal controls policy is to establish and maintain internal controls for the 

Tradition Community Development District No. 3. 
 
1.2. Consistent with Section 218.33(3), Florida Statutes, the internal controls adopted herein are 

designed to:  
 

1.2.1. Prevent and detect Fraud, Waste, and Abuse (as hereinafter defined). 
 
1.2.2. Promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant 

agreements, and best practices. 
 
1.2.3. Support economical and efficient operations. 
 
1.2.4. Ensure reliability of financial records and reports. 
 
1.2.5. Safeguard Assets (as hereinafter defined). 
 

2. Definitions.  
 

2.1. “Abuse” means behavior that is deficient or improper when compared with behavior that a 
prudent person would consider a reasonable and necessary operational practice given the facts 
and circumstances. The term includes the misuse of authority or position for personal gain. 
 

2.2. “Assets” means District assets such as cash or other financial resources, supplies, inventories, 
equipment and other fixed assets, real property, intellectual property, or data. 

 
2.3. “Auditor” means the independent auditor (and its employees) retained by the District to 

perform the annual audit required by state law. 
 
2.4. “Board” means the Board of Supervisors for the District. 
 
2.5. “District Management” means (i) the independent contractor (and its employees) retained by 

the District to provide professional district management services to the District and (ii) any 
other independent contractor (and its employees) separately retained by the District to provide 
amenity management services, provided said services include a responsibility to safeguard and 
protect Assets. 

 

355



 
 

2.6. “Fraud” means obtaining something of value through willful misrepresentation, including, but 
not limited to, intentional misstatements or intentional omissions of amounts or disclosures in 
financial statements to deceive users of financial statements, theft of an entity’s assets, bribery, 
or the use of one’s position for personal enrichment through the deliberate misuse or 
misapplication of an organization’s resources. 

 
2.7. “Internal Controls” means systems and procedures designed to prevent and detect fraud, waste, 

and abuse; promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant 
agreements, and best practices; support economical and efficient operations; ensure reliability 
of financial records and reports; and safeguard assets.  

 
2.8. “Risk” means anything that could negatively impact the District’s ability to meet its goals and 

objectives. The term includes strategic, financial, regulatory, reputational, and operational 
risks.  

 
2.9. “Waste” means the act of using or expending resources unreasonably, carelessly, extravagantly, 

or for no useful purpose. 
 

3. Control Environment. 
 
3.1. Ethical and Honest Behavior. 

  
3.1.1. District Management is responsible for maintaining a work environment that promotes ethical 

and honest behavior on the part of all employees, contractors, vendors and others.  
 

3.1.2. Managers at all levels must behave ethically and communicate to employees and others that 
they are expected to behave ethically.  

 
3.1.3. Managers must demonstrate through words and actions that unethical behavior will not be 

tolerated. 
 

4. Risk Assessment. 
 
4.1. Risk Assessment. District Management is responsible for assessing Risk to the District. District 

Management’s Risk assessments shall include, but not be limited to: 
 

4.1.1. Identifying potential hazards. 
 

4.1.2. Evaluating the likelihood and extent of harm. 
 

4.1.3. Identifying cost-justified precautions and implementing those precautions.  
 

 
 
5. Control Activities. 

 

356



 
 

5.1. Minimum Internal Controls. The District hereby establishes the following minimum Internal 
Controls to prevent and detect Fraud, Waste, and Abuse:   

 
5.1.1. Preventive controls designed to forestall errors or irregularities and thereby avoid the cost 

of corrections. Preventive control activities shall include, but not be limited to, the 
following: 

 
5.1.1.1. Identifying and segregating incompatible duties and/or implementing mitigating 

controls. 
 

5.1.1.2. Performing accounting functions in accordance with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAP) and Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) standards. 
 

5.1.1.3. Requiring proper authorizations to access and/or modify accounting software. 
 

5.1.1.4. Implementing computerized accounting techniques (e.g. to help identify coding 
errors, avoid duplicate invoices, etc.). 

 
5.1.1.5. Maintaining a schedule of the District’s material fixed Assets. 

 
5.1.1.6. Maintaining physical control over the District’s material and vulnerable Assets 

(e.g. lock and key, computer passwords, network firewalls, etc.). 
 

5.1.1.7. Retaining and restricting access to sensitive documents. 
 

5.1.1.8. Performing regular electronic data backups. 
 

5.1.2. Detective controls designed to measure the effectiveness of preventive controls and to 
detect errors or irregularities when they occur. Detective control activities shall include, 
but not be limited to, the following: 
 

5.1.2.1. Preparing financial reports in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles (GAAP) and Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) 
standards. 
 

5.1.2.2. Reviewing financial statements and investigating any material variances between 
budgeted expenses and actual expenses. 
 

5.1.2.3. Establishing and implementing periodic reconciliations of bank, trust, and petty 
cash accounts.  

 
5.1.2.4. Establishing an internal protocol for reporting and investigating known or 

suspected acts of Fraud, Waste, or Abuse. 
 

357



 
 

5.1.2.5. Engaging in periodic physical inventory counts and comparisons with inventory 
records. 

 
5.1.2.6. Monitoring all ACH (electronic) transactions and the sequencing of checks. 
 

5.2. Implementation. District Management shall implement the minimum Internal Controls 
described herein. District Management may also implement additional Internal Controls that it 
deems advisable or appropriate for the District. The specific ways District Management 
implements these minimum Internal Controls shall be consistent with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAP) and otherwise conform to Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board (GASB) and American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) standards and 
norms. 
 

6. Information and Communication. 
 

6.1. Information and Communication. District Management shall communicate to its employees 
(needing to know) information relevant to the Internal Controls, including but not limited to 
any changes to the Internal Controls and/or changes to laws, rules, contracts, grant agreements, 
and best practices.  
 

6.2. Training. District Management shall regularly train its employees (needing the training) in 
connection with the Internal Controls described herein and promote and encourage compliance 
with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant agreements, and best practices.  

 
7. Monitoring Activities. 
 

7.1. Internal Reviews. District Management shall internally review the District’s Internal Controls 
at least once per year. In connection with this internal review, District Management shall:  

 
7.1.1.1. Review its operational processes. 

 
7.1.1.2. Consider the potential risk of Fraud, Waste, or Abuse inherent in each process. 

 
7.1.1.3. Identify the controls included in the process, or controls that could be included, 

that would result in a reduction in the inherent risk.  
 

7.1.1.4. Assess whether there are Internal Controls that need to be improved or added to 
the process under consideration. 
  

7.1.1.5. Implement new controls or improve existing controls that are determined to be the 
most efficient and effective for decreasing the risk of Fraud, Waste or Abuse. 

 
7.1.1.6. Train its employees on implemented new controls or improvements to existing 

controls. 
 

358



 
 

7.2. External Audits and Other Reviews. Audits and other reviews may be performed on various 
components of the District’s Internal Controls by the Auditor consistent with Government 
Auditing Standards (GAS). Audits may identify material deficiencies in the Internal Controls 
and make recommendations to improve them. District Management shall communicate and 
cooperate with the Board and the Auditor regarding the potential implementation of Auditor 
recommendations. 

 
Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 218.33(3), Florida Statutes 
Effective date: January 7, 2026 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

359



 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-09 
 

A RESOLUTION BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 4 
ADOPTING AN INTERNAL CONTROLS POLICY CONSISTENT 
WITH SECTION 218.33, FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 4 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida; and 
 
 WHEREAS, consistent with Section 218.33, Florida Statutes, the District is statutorily required 
to establish and maintain internal controls designed to prevent and detect fraud, waste, and abuse as defined 
in Section 11.45(1), Florida Statutes; promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules, 
contracts, grant agreements, and best practices; support economical and efficient operations; ensure 
reliability of financial records and reports; and safeguard assets (the “Internal Controls Policy”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, to demonstrate compliance with Section 218.33, Florida Statutes, the District desires 
to adopt by resolution the Internal Controls Policy attached hereto as Exhibit A. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 4: 

 
1. POLICY.  The attached Internal Controls Policy attached hereto as Exhibit A is hereby 

adopted pursuant to this Resolution.  
 
2. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the 

other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall 

remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Internal Controls Policy previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 4 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 
 
 
 

360



 
 

 
 
 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 4 
INTERNAL CONTROLS POLICY 

 
1. Purpose.  

 
1.1. The purpose of this internal controls policy is to establish and maintain internal controls for the 

Tradition Community Development District No. 4. 
 
1.2. Consistent with Section 218.33(3), Florida Statutes, the internal controls adopted herein are 

designed to:  
 

1.2.1. Prevent and detect Fraud, Waste, and Abuse (as hereinafter defined). 
 
1.2.2. Promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant 

agreements, and best practices. 
 
1.2.3. Support economical and efficient operations. 
 
1.2.4. Ensure reliability of financial records and reports. 
 
1.2.5. Safeguard Assets (as hereinafter defined). 
 

2. Definitions.  
 

2.1. “Abuse” means behavior that is deficient or improper when compared with behavior that a 
prudent person would consider a reasonable and necessary operational practice given the facts 
and circumstances. The term includes the misuse of authority or position for personal gain. 
 

2.2. “Assets” means District assets such as cash or other financial resources, supplies, inventories, 
equipment and other fixed assets, real property, intellectual property, or data. 

 
2.3. “Auditor” means the independent auditor (and its employees) retained by the District to 

perform the annual audit required by state law. 
 
2.4. “Board” means the Board of Supervisors for the District. 
 
2.5. “District Management” means (i) the independent contractor (and its employees) retained by 

the District to provide professional district management services to the District and (ii) any 
other independent contractor (and its employees) separately retained by the District to provide 
amenity management services, provided said services include a responsibility to safeguard and 
protect Assets. 

 

361



 
 

2.6. “Fraud” means obtaining something of value through willful misrepresentation, including, but 
not limited to, intentional misstatements or intentional omissions of amounts or disclosures in 
financial statements to deceive users of financial statements, theft of an entity’s assets, bribery, 
or the use of one’s position for personal enrichment through the deliberate misuse or 
misapplication of an organization’s resources. 

 
2.7. “Internal Controls” means systems and procedures designed to prevent and detect fraud, waste, 

and abuse; promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant 
agreements, and best practices; support economical and efficient operations; ensure reliability 
of financial records and reports; and safeguard assets.  

 
2.8. “Risk” means anything that could negatively impact the District’s ability to meet its goals and 

objectives. The term includes strategic, financial, regulatory, reputational, and operational 
risks.  

 
2.9. “Waste” means the act of using or expending resources unreasonably, carelessly, extravagantly, 

or for no useful purpose. 
 

3. Control Environment. 
 
3.1. Ethical and Honest Behavior. 

  
3.1.1. District Management is responsible for maintaining a work environment that promotes ethical 

and honest behavior on the part of all employees, contractors, vendors and others.  
 

3.1.2. Managers at all levels must behave ethically and communicate to employees and others that 
they are expected to behave ethically.  

 
3.1.3. Managers must demonstrate through words and actions that unethical behavior will not be 

tolerated. 
 

4. Risk Assessment. 
 
4.1. Risk Assessment. District Management is responsible for assessing Risk to the District. District 

Management’s Risk assessments shall include, but not be limited to: 
 

4.1.1. Identifying potential hazards. 
 

4.1.2. Evaluating the likelihood and extent of harm. 
 

4.1.3. Identifying cost-justified precautions and implementing those precautions.  
 

 
 
5. Control Activities. 

 

362



 
 

5.1. Minimum Internal Controls. The District hereby establishes the following minimum Internal 
Controls to prevent and detect Fraud, Waste, and Abuse:   

 
5.1.1. Preventive controls designed to forestall errors or irregularities and thereby avoid the cost 

of corrections. Preventive control activities shall include, but not be limited to, the 
following: 

 
5.1.1.1. Identifying and segregating incompatible duties and/or implementing mitigating 

controls. 
 

5.1.1.2. Performing accounting functions in accordance with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAP) and Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) standards. 
 

5.1.1.3. Requiring proper authorizations to access and/or modify accounting software. 
 

5.1.1.4. Implementing computerized accounting techniques (e.g. to help identify coding 
errors, avoid duplicate invoices, etc.). 

 
5.1.1.5. Maintaining a schedule of the District’s material fixed Assets. 

 
5.1.1.6. Maintaining physical control over the District’s material and vulnerable Assets 

(e.g. lock and key, computer passwords, network firewalls, etc.). 
 

5.1.1.7. Retaining and restricting access to sensitive documents. 
 

5.1.1.8. Performing regular electronic data backups. 
 

5.1.2. Detective controls designed to measure the effectiveness of preventive controls and to 
detect errors or irregularities when they occur. Detective control activities shall include, 
but not be limited to, the following: 
 

5.1.2.1. Preparing financial reports in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles (GAAP) and Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) 
standards. 
 

5.1.2.2. Reviewing financial statements and investigating any material variances between 
budgeted expenses and actual expenses. 
 

5.1.2.3. Establishing and implementing periodic reconciliations of bank, trust, and petty 
cash accounts.  

 
5.1.2.4. Establishing an internal protocol for reporting and investigating known or 

suspected acts of Fraud, Waste, or Abuse. 
 

363



 
 

5.1.2.5. Engaging in periodic physical inventory counts and comparisons with inventory 
records. 

 
5.1.2.6. Monitoring all ACH (electronic) transactions and the sequencing of checks. 
 

5.2. Implementation. District Management shall implement the minimum Internal Controls 
described herein. District Management may also implement additional Internal Controls that it 
deems advisable or appropriate for the District. The specific ways District Management 
implements these minimum Internal Controls shall be consistent with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAP) and otherwise conform to Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board (GASB) and American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) standards and 
norms. 
 

6. Information and Communication. 
 

6.1. Information and Communication. District Management shall communicate to its employees 
(needing to know) information relevant to the Internal Controls, including but not limited to 
any changes to the Internal Controls and/or changes to laws, rules, contracts, grant agreements, 
and best practices.  
 

6.2. Training. District Management shall regularly train its employees (needing the training) in 
connection with the Internal Controls described herein and promote and encourage compliance 
with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant agreements, and best practices.  

 
7. Monitoring Activities. 
 

7.1. Internal Reviews. District Management shall internally review the District’s Internal Controls 
at least once per year. In connection with this internal review, District Management shall:  

 
7.1.1.1. Review its operational processes. 

 
7.1.1.2. Consider the potential risk of Fraud, Waste, or Abuse inherent in each process. 

 
7.1.1.3. Identify the controls included in the process, or controls that could be included, 

that would result in a reduction in the inherent risk.  
 

7.1.1.4. Assess whether there are Internal Controls that need to be improved or added to 
the process under consideration. 
  

7.1.1.5. Implement new controls or improve existing controls that are determined to be the 
most efficient and effective for decreasing the risk of Fraud, Waste or Abuse. 

 
7.1.1.6. Train its employees on implemented new controls or improvements to existing 

controls. 
 

364



 
 

7.2. External Audits and Other Reviews. Audits and other reviews may be performed on various 
components of the District’s Internal Controls by the Auditor consistent with Government 
Auditing Standards (GAS). Audits may identify material deficiencies in the Internal Controls 
and make recommendations to improve them. District Management shall communicate and 
cooperate with the Board and the Auditor regarding the potential implementation of Auditor 
recommendations. 

 
Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 218.33(3), Florida Statutes 
Effective date: January 7, 2026 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

365



 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-09 
 

A RESOLUTION BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5 
ADOPTING AN INTERNAL CONTROLS POLICY CONSISTENT 
WITH SECTION 218.33, FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 5 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida; and 
 
 WHEREAS, consistent with Section 218.33, Florida Statutes, the District is statutorily required 
to establish and maintain internal controls designed to prevent and detect fraud, waste, and abuse as defined 
in Section 11.45(1), Florida Statutes; promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules, 
contracts, grant agreements, and best practices; support economical and efficient operations; ensure 
reliability of financial records and reports; and safeguard assets (the “Internal Controls Policy”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, to demonstrate compliance with Section 218.33, Florida Statutes, the District desires 
to adopt by resolution the Internal Controls Policy attached hereto as Exhibit A. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5: 

 
1. POLICY.  The attached Internal Controls Policy attached hereto as Exhibit A is hereby 

adopted pursuant to this Resolution.  
 
2. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the 

other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall 

remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Internal Controls Policy previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 5 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 
 
 
 

366



 
 

 
 
 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5 
INTERNAL CONTROLS POLICY 

 
1. Purpose.  

 
1.1. The purpose of this internal controls policy is to establish and maintain internal controls for the 

Tradition Community Development District No. 5. 
 
1.2. Consistent with Section 218.33(3), Florida Statutes, the internal controls adopted herein are 

designed to:  
 

1.2.1. Prevent and detect Fraud, Waste, and Abuse (as hereinafter defined). 
 
1.2.2. Promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant 

agreements, and best practices. 
 
1.2.3. Support economical and efficient operations. 
 
1.2.4. Ensure reliability of financial records and reports. 
 
1.2.5. Safeguard Assets (as hereinafter defined). 
 

2. Definitions.  
 

2.1. “Abuse” means behavior that is deficient or improper when compared with behavior that a 
prudent person would consider a reasonable and necessary operational practice given the facts 
and circumstances. The term includes the misuse of authority or position for personal gain. 
 

2.2. “Assets” means District assets such as cash or other financial resources, supplies, inventories, 
equipment and other fixed assets, real property, intellectual property, or data. 

 
2.3. “Auditor” means the independent auditor (and its employees) retained by the District to 

perform the annual audit required by state law. 
 
2.4. “Board” means the Board of Supervisors for the District. 
 
2.5. “District Management” means (i) the independent contractor (and its employees) retained by 

the District to provide professional district management services to the District and (ii) any 
other independent contractor (and its employees) separately retained by the District to provide 
amenity management services, provided said services include a responsibility to safeguard and 
protect Assets. 

 

367



 
 

2.6. “Fraud” means obtaining something of value through willful misrepresentation, including, but 
not limited to, intentional misstatements or intentional omissions of amounts or disclosures in 
financial statements to deceive users of financial statements, theft of an entity’s assets, bribery, 
or the use of one’s position for personal enrichment through the deliberate misuse or 
misapplication of an organization’s resources. 

 
2.7. “Internal Controls” means systems and procedures designed to prevent and detect fraud, waste, 

and abuse; promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant 
agreements, and best practices; support economical and efficient operations; ensure reliability 
of financial records and reports; and safeguard assets.  

 
2.8. “Risk” means anything that could negatively impact the District’s ability to meet its goals and 

objectives. The term includes strategic, financial, regulatory, reputational, and operational 
risks.  

 
2.9. “Waste” means the act of using or expending resources unreasonably, carelessly, extravagantly, 

or for no useful purpose. 
 

3. Control Environment. 
 
3.1. Ethical and Honest Behavior. 

  
3.1.1. District Management is responsible for maintaining a work environment that promotes ethical 

and honest behavior on the part of all employees, contractors, vendors and others.  
 

3.1.2. Managers at all levels must behave ethically and communicate to employees and others that 
they are expected to behave ethically.  

 
3.1.3. Managers must demonstrate through words and actions that unethical behavior will not be 

tolerated. 
 

4. Risk Assessment. 
 
4.1. Risk Assessment. District Management is responsible for assessing Risk to the District. District 

Management’s Risk assessments shall include, but not be limited to: 
 

4.1.1. Identifying potential hazards. 
 

4.1.2. Evaluating the likelihood and extent of harm. 
 

4.1.3. Identifying cost-justified precautions and implementing those precautions.  
 

 
 
5. Control Activities. 

 

368



 
 

5.1. Minimum Internal Controls. The District hereby establishes the following minimum Internal 
Controls to prevent and detect Fraud, Waste, and Abuse:   

 
5.1.1. Preventive controls designed to forestall errors or irregularities and thereby avoid the cost 

of corrections. Preventive control activities shall include, but not be limited to, the 
following: 

 
5.1.1.1. Identifying and segregating incompatible duties and/or implementing mitigating 

controls. 
 

5.1.1.2. Performing accounting functions in accordance with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAP) and Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) standards. 
 

5.1.1.3. Requiring proper authorizations to access and/or modify accounting software. 
 

5.1.1.4. Implementing computerized accounting techniques (e.g. to help identify coding 
errors, avoid duplicate invoices, etc.). 

 
5.1.1.5. Maintaining a schedule of the District’s material fixed Assets. 

 
5.1.1.6. Maintaining physical control over the District’s material and vulnerable Assets 

(e.g. lock and key, computer passwords, network firewalls, etc.). 
 

5.1.1.7. Retaining and restricting access to sensitive documents. 
 

5.1.1.8. Performing regular electronic data backups. 
 

5.1.2. Detective controls designed to measure the effectiveness of preventive controls and to 
detect errors or irregularities when they occur. Detective control activities shall include, 
but not be limited to, the following: 
 

5.1.2.1. Preparing financial reports in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles (GAAP) and Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) 
standards. 
 

5.1.2.2. Reviewing financial statements and investigating any material variances between 
budgeted expenses and actual expenses. 
 

5.1.2.3. Establishing and implementing periodic reconciliations of bank, trust, and petty 
cash accounts.  

 
5.1.2.4. Establishing an internal protocol for reporting and investigating known or 

suspected acts of Fraud, Waste, or Abuse. 
 

369



 
 

5.1.2.5. Engaging in periodic physical inventory counts and comparisons with inventory 
records. 

 
5.1.2.6. Monitoring all ACH (electronic) transactions and the sequencing of checks. 
 

5.2. Implementation. District Management shall implement the minimum Internal Controls 
described herein. District Management may also implement additional Internal Controls that it 
deems advisable or appropriate for the District. The specific ways District Management 
implements these minimum Internal Controls shall be consistent with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAP) and otherwise conform to Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board (GASB) and American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) standards and 
norms. 
 

6. Information and Communication. 
 

6.1. Information and Communication. District Management shall communicate to its employees 
(needing to know) information relevant to the Internal Controls, including but not limited to 
any changes to the Internal Controls and/or changes to laws, rules, contracts, grant agreements, 
and best practices.  
 

6.2. Training. District Management shall regularly train its employees (needing the training) in 
connection with the Internal Controls described herein and promote and encourage compliance 
with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant agreements, and best practices.  

 
7. Monitoring Activities. 
 

7.1. Internal Reviews. District Management shall internally review the District’s Internal Controls 
at least once per year. In connection with this internal review, District Management shall:  

 
7.1.1.1. Review its operational processes. 

 
7.1.1.2. Consider the potential risk of Fraud, Waste, or Abuse inherent in each process. 

 
7.1.1.3. Identify the controls included in the process, or controls that could be included, 

that would result in a reduction in the inherent risk.  
 

7.1.1.4. Assess whether there are Internal Controls that need to be improved or added to 
the process under consideration. 
  

7.1.1.5. Implement new controls or improve existing controls that are determined to be the 
most efficient and effective for decreasing the risk of Fraud, Waste or Abuse. 

 
7.1.1.6. Train its employees on implemented new controls or improvements to existing 

controls. 
 

370



 
 

7.2. External Audits and Other Reviews. Audits and other reviews may be performed on various 
components of the District’s Internal Controls by the Auditor consistent with Government 
Auditing Standards (GAS). Audits may identify material deficiencies in the Internal Controls 
and make recommendations to improve them. District Management shall communicate and 
cooperate with the Board and the Auditor regarding the potential implementation of Auditor 
recommendations. 

 
Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 218.33(3), Florida Statutes 
Effective date: January 7, 2026 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

371



 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-09 
 

A RESOLUTION BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 6 
ADOPTING AN INTERNAL CONTROLS POLICY CONSISTENT 
WITH SECTION 218.33, FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 6 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida; and 
 
 WHEREAS, consistent with Section 218.33, Florida Statutes, the District is statutorily required 
to establish and maintain internal controls designed to prevent and detect fraud, waste, and abuse as defined 
in Section 11.45(1), Florida Statutes; promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules, 
contracts, grant agreements, and best practices; support economical and efficient operations; ensure 
reliability of financial records and reports; and safeguard assets (the “Internal Controls Policy”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, to demonstrate compliance with Section 218.33, Florida Statutes, the District desires 
to adopt by resolution the Internal Controls Policy attached hereto as Exhibit A. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 6: 

 
1. POLICY.  The attached Internal Controls Policy attached hereto as Exhibit A is hereby 

adopted pursuant to this Resolution.  
 
2. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the 

other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall 

remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Internal Controls Policy previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 6 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 
 
 
 

372



 
 

 
 
 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 6 
INTERNAL CONTROLS POLICY 

 
1. Purpose.  

 
1.1. The purpose of this internal controls policy is to establish and maintain internal controls for the 

Tradition Community Development District No. 6. 
 
1.2. Consistent with Section 218.33(3), Florida Statutes, the internal controls adopted herein are 

designed to:  
 

1.2.1. Prevent and detect Fraud, Waste, and Abuse (as hereinafter defined). 
 
1.2.2. Promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant 

agreements, and best practices. 
 
1.2.3. Support economical and efficient operations. 
 
1.2.4. Ensure reliability of financial records and reports. 
 
1.2.5. Safeguard Assets (as hereinafter defined). 
 

2. Definitions.  
 

2.1. “Abuse” means behavior that is deficient or improper when compared with behavior that a 
prudent person would consider a reasonable and necessary operational practice given the facts 
and circumstances. The term includes the misuse of authority or position for personal gain. 
 

2.2. “Assets” means District assets such as cash or other financial resources, supplies, inventories, 
equipment and other fixed assets, real property, intellectual property, or data. 

 
2.3. “Auditor” means the independent auditor (and its employees) retained by the District to 

perform the annual audit required by state law. 
 
2.4. “Board” means the Board of Supervisors for the District. 
 
2.5. “District Management” means (i) the independent contractor (and its employees) retained by 

the District to provide professional district management services to the District and (ii) any 
other independent contractor (and its employees) separately retained by the District to provide 
amenity management services, provided said services include a responsibility to safeguard and 
protect Assets. 

 

373



 
 

2.6. “Fraud” means obtaining something of value through willful misrepresentation, including, but 
not limited to, intentional misstatements or intentional omissions of amounts or disclosures in 
financial statements to deceive users of financial statements, theft of an entity’s assets, bribery, 
or the use of one’s position for personal enrichment through the deliberate misuse or 
misapplication of an organization’s resources. 

 
2.7. “Internal Controls” means systems and procedures designed to prevent and detect fraud, waste, 

and abuse; promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant 
agreements, and best practices; support economical and efficient operations; ensure reliability 
of financial records and reports; and safeguard assets.  

 
2.8. “Risk” means anything that could negatively impact the District’s ability to meet its goals and 

objectives. The term includes strategic, financial, regulatory, reputational, and operational 
risks.  

 
2.9. “Waste” means the act of using or expending resources unreasonably, carelessly, extravagantly, 

or for no useful purpose. 
 

3. Control Environment. 
 
3.1. Ethical and Honest Behavior. 

  
3.1.1. District Management is responsible for maintaining a work environment that promotes ethical 

and honest behavior on the part of all employees, contractors, vendors and others.  
 

3.1.2. Managers at all levels must behave ethically and communicate to employees and others that 
they are expected to behave ethically.  

 
3.1.3. Managers must demonstrate through words and actions that unethical behavior will not be 

tolerated. 
 

4. Risk Assessment. 
 
4.1. Risk Assessment. District Management is responsible for assessing Risk to the District. District 

Management’s Risk assessments shall include, but not be limited to: 
 

4.1.1. Identifying potential hazards. 
 

4.1.2. Evaluating the likelihood and extent of harm. 
 

4.1.3. Identifying cost-justified precautions and implementing those precautions.  
 

 
 
5. Control Activities. 

 

374



 
 

5.1. Minimum Internal Controls. The District hereby establishes the following minimum Internal 
Controls to prevent and detect Fraud, Waste, and Abuse:   

 
5.1.1. Preventive controls designed to forestall errors or irregularities and thereby avoid the cost 

of corrections. Preventive control activities shall include, but not be limited to, the 
following: 

 
5.1.1.1. Identifying and segregating incompatible duties and/or implementing mitigating 

controls. 
 

5.1.1.2. Performing accounting functions in accordance with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAP) and Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) standards. 
 

5.1.1.3. Requiring proper authorizations to access and/or modify accounting software. 
 

5.1.1.4. Implementing computerized accounting techniques (e.g. to help identify coding 
errors, avoid duplicate invoices, etc.). 

 
5.1.1.5. Maintaining a schedule of the District’s material fixed Assets. 

 
5.1.1.6. Maintaining physical control over the District’s material and vulnerable Assets 

(e.g. lock and key, computer passwords, network firewalls, etc.). 
 

5.1.1.7. Retaining and restricting access to sensitive documents. 
 

5.1.1.8. Performing regular electronic data backups. 
 

5.1.2. Detective controls designed to measure the effectiveness of preventive controls and to 
detect errors or irregularities when they occur. Detective control activities shall include, 
but not be limited to, the following: 
 

5.1.2.1. Preparing financial reports in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles (GAAP) and Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) 
standards. 
 

5.1.2.2. Reviewing financial statements and investigating any material variances between 
budgeted expenses and actual expenses. 
 

5.1.2.3. Establishing and implementing periodic reconciliations of bank, trust, and petty 
cash accounts.  

 
5.1.2.4. Establishing an internal protocol for reporting and investigating known or 

suspected acts of Fraud, Waste, or Abuse. 
 

375



 
 

5.1.2.5. Engaging in periodic physical inventory counts and comparisons with inventory 
records. 

 
5.1.2.6. Monitoring all ACH (electronic) transactions and the sequencing of checks. 
 

5.2. Implementation. District Management shall implement the minimum Internal Controls 
described herein. District Management may also implement additional Internal Controls that it 
deems advisable or appropriate for the District. The specific ways District Management 
implements these minimum Internal Controls shall be consistent with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAP) and otherwise conform to Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board (GASB) and American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) standards and 
norms. 
 

6. Information and Communication. 
 

6.1. Information and Communication. District Management shall communicate to its employees 
(needing to know) information relevant to the Internal Controls, including but not limited to 
any changes to the Internal Controls and/or changes to laws, rules, contracts, grant agreements, 
and best practices.  
 

6.2. Training. District Management shall regularly train its employees (needing the training) in 
connection with the Internal Controls described herein and promote and encourage compliance 
with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant agreements, and best practices.  

 
7. Monitoring Activities. 
 

7.1. Internal Reviews. District Management shall internally review the District’s Internal Controls 
at least once per year. In connection with this internal review, District Management shall:  

 
7.1.1.1. Review its operational processes. 

 
7.1.1.2. Consider the potential risk of Fraud, Waste, or Abuse inherent in each process. 

 
7.1.1.3. Identify the controls included in the process, or controls that could be included, 

that would result in a reduction in the inherent risk.  
 

7.1.1.4. Assess whether there are Internal Controls that need to be improved or added to 
the process under consideration. 
  

7.1.1.5. Implement new controls or improve existing controls that are determined to be the 
most efficient and effective for decreasing the risk of Fraud, Waste or Abuse. 

 
7.1.1.6. Train its employees on implemented new controls or improvements to existing 

controls. 
 

376



 
 

7.2. External Audits and Other Reviews. Audits and other reviews may be performed on various 
components of the District’s Internal Controls by the Auditor consistent with Government 
Auditing Standards (GAS). Audits may identify material deficiencies in the Internal Controls 
and make recommendations to improve them. District Management shall communicate and 
cooperate with the Board and the Auditor regarding the potential implementation of Auditor 
recommendations. 

 
Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 218.33(3), Florida Statutes 
Effective date: January 7, 2026 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

377



 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-09 
 

A RESOLUTION BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 7 
ADOPTING AN INTERNAL CONTROLS POLICY CONSISTENT 
WITH SECTION 218.33, FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 7 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida; and 
 
 WHEREAS, consistent with Section 218.33, Florida Statutes, the District is statutorily required 
to establish and maintain internal controls designed to prevent and detect fraud, waste, and abuse as defined 
in Section 11.45(1), Florida Statutes; promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules, 
contracts, grant agreements, and best practices; support economical and efficient operations; ensure 
reliability of financial records and reports; and safeguard assets (the “Internal Controls Policy”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, to demonstrate compliance with Section 218.33, Florida Statutes, the District desires 
to adopt by resolution the Internal Controls Policy attached hereto as Exhibit A. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 7: 

 
1. POLICY.  The attached Internal Controls Policy attached hereto as Exhibit A is hereby 

adopted pursuant to this Resolution.  
 
2. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the 

other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall 

remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Internal Controls Policy previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 7 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 
 
 
 

378



 
 

 
 
 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 7 
INTERNAL CONTROLS POLICY 

 
1. Purpose.  

 
1.1. The purpose of this internal controls policy is to establish and maintain internal controls for the 

Tradition Community Development District No. 7. 
 
1.2. Consistent with Section 218.33(3), Florida Statutes, the internal controls adopted herein are 

designed to:  
 

1.2.1. Prevent and detect Fraud, Waste, and Abuse (as hereinafter defined). 
 
1.2.2. Promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant 

agreements, and best practices. 
 
1.2.3. Support economical and efficient operations. 
 
1.2.4. Ensure reliability of financial records and reports. 
 
1.2.5. Safeguard Assets (as hereinafter defined). 
 

2. Definitions.  
 

2.1. “Abuse” means behavior that is deficient or improper when compared with behavior that a 
prudent person would consider a reasonable and necessary operational practice given the facts 
and circumstances. The term includes the misuse of authority or position for personal gain. 
 

2.2. “Assets” means District assets such as cash or other financial resources, supplies, inventories, 
equipment and other fixed assets, real property, intellectual property, or data. 

 
2.3. “Auditor” means the independent auditor (and its employees) retained by the District to 

perform the annual audit required by state law. 
 
2.4. “Board” means the Board of Supervisors for the District. 
 
2.5. “District Management” means (i) the independent contractor (and its employees) retained by 

the District to provide professional district management services to the District and (ii) any 
other independent contractor (and its employees) separately retained by the District to provide 
amenity management services, provided said services include a responsibility to safeguard and 
protect Assets. 

 

379



 
 

2.6. “Fraud” means obtaining something of value through willful misrepresentation, including, but 
not limited to, intentional misstatements or intentional omissions of amounts or disclosures in 
financial statements to deceive users of financial statements, theft of an entity’s assets, bribery, 
or the use of one’s position for personal enrichment through the deliberate misuse or 
misapplication of an organization’s resources. 

 
2.7. “Internal Controls” means systems and procedures designed to prevent and detect fraud, waste, 

and abuse; promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant 
agreements, and best practices; support economical and efficient operations; ensure reliability 
of financial records and reports; and safeguard assets.  

 
2.8. “Risk” means anything that could negatively impact the District’s ability to meet its goals and 

objectives. The term includes strategic, financial, regulatory, reputational, and operational 
risks.  

 
2.9. “Waste” means the act of using or expending resources unreasonably, carelessly, extravagantly, 

or for no useful purpose. 
 

3. Control Environment. 
 
3.1. Ethical and Honest Behavior. 

  
3.1.1. District Management is responsible for maintaining a work environment that promotes ethical 

and honest behavior on the part of all employees, contractors, vendors and others.  
 

3.1.2. Managers at all levels must behave ethically and communicate to employees and others that 
they are expected to behave ethically.  

 
3.1.3. Managers must demonstrate through words and actions that unethical behavior will not be 

tolerated. 
 

4. Risk Assessment. 
 
4.1. Risk Assessment. District Management is responsible for assessing Risk to the District. District 

Management’s Risk assessments shall include, but not be limited to: 
 

4.1.1. Identifying potential hazards. 
 

4.1.2. Evaluating the likelihood and extent of harm. 
 

4.1.3. Identifying cost-justified precautions and implementing those precautions.  
 

 
 
5. Control Activities. 

 

380



 
 

5.1. Minimum Internal Controls. The District hereby establishes the following minimum Internal 
Controls to prevent and detect Fraud, Waste, and Abuse:   

 
5.1.1. Preventive controls designed to forestall errors or irregularities and thereby avoid the cost 

of corrections. Preventive control activities shall include, but not be limited to, the 
following: 

 
5.1.1.1. Identifying and segregating incompatible duties and/or implementing mitigating 

controls. 
 

5.1.1.2. Performing accounting functions in accordance with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAP) and Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) standards. 
 

5.1.1.3. Requiring proper authorizations to access and/or modify accounting software. 
 

5.1.1.4. Implementing computerized accounting techniques (e.g. to help identify coding 
errors, avoid duplicate invoices, etc.). 

 
5.1.1.5. Maintaining a schedule of the District’s material fixed Assets. 

 
5.1.1.6. Maintaining physical control over the District’s material and vulnerable Assets 

(e.g. lock and key, computer passwords, network firewalls, etc.). 
 

5.1.1.7. Retaining and restricting access to sensitive documents. 
 

5.1.1.8. Performing regular electronic data backups. 
 

5.1.2. Detective controls designed to measure the effectiveness of preventive controls and to 
detect errors or irregularities when they occur. Detective control activities shall include, 
but not be limited to, the following: 
 

5.1.2.1. Preparing financial reports in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles (GAAP) and Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) 
standards. 
 

5.1.2.2. Reviewing financial statements and investigating any material variances between 
budgeted expenses and actual expenses. 
 

5.1.2.3. Establishing and implementing periodic reconciliations of bank, trust, and petty 
cash accounts.  

 
5.1.2.4. Establishing an internal protocol for reporting and investigating known or 

suspected acts of Fraud, Waste, or Abuse. 
 

381



 
 

5.1.2.5. Engaging in periodic physical inventory counts and comparisons with inventory 
records. 

 
5.1.2.6. Monitoring all ACH (electronic) transactions and the sequencing of checks. 
 

5.2. Implementation. District Management shall implement the minimum Internal Controls 
described herein. District Management may also implement additional Internal Controls that it 
deems advisable or appropriate for the District. The specific ways District Management 
implements these minimum Internal Controls shall be consistent with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAP) and otherwise conform to Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board (GASB) and American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) standards and 
norms. 
 

6. Information and Communication. 
 

6.1. Information and Communication. District Management shall communicate to its employees 
(needing to know) information relevant to the Internal Controls, including but not limited to 
any changes to the Internal Controls and/or changes to laws, rules, contracts, grant agreements, 
and best practices.  
 

6.2. Training. District Management shall regularly train its employees (needing the training) in 
connection with the Internal Controls described herein and promote and encourage compliance 
with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant agreements, and best practices.  

 
7. Monitoring Activities. 
 

7.1. Internal Reviews. District Management shall internally review the District’s Internal Controls 
at least once per year. In connection with this internal review, District Management shall:  

 
7.1.1.1. Review its operational processes. 

 
7.1.1.2. Consider the potential risk of Fraud, Waste, or Abuse inherent in each process. 

 
7.1.1.3. Identify the controls included in the process, or controls that could be included, 

that would result in a reduction in the inherent risk.  
 

7.1.1.4. Assess whether there are Internal Controls that need to be improved or added to 
the process under consideration. 
  

7.1.1.5. Implement new controls or improve existing controls that are determined to be the 
most efficient and effective for decreasing the risk of Fraud, Waste or Abuse. 

 
7.1.1.6. Train its employees on implemented new controls or improvements to existing 

controls. 
 

382



 
 

7.2. External Audits and Other Reviews. Audits and other reviews may be performed on various 
components of the District’s Internal Controls by the Auditor consistent with Government 
Auditing Standards (GAS). Audits may identify material deficiencies in the Internal Controls 
and make recommendations to improve them. District Management shall communicate and 
cooperate with the Board and the Auditor regarding the potential implementation of Auditor 
recommendations. 

 
Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 218.33(3), Florida Statutes 
Effective date: January 7, 2026 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

383



 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-09 
 

A RESOLUTION BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 8 
ADOPTING AN INTERNAL CONTROLS POLICY CONSISTENT 
WITH SECTION 218.33, FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 8 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida; and 
 
 WHEREAS, consistent with Section 218.33, Florida Statutes, the District is statutorily required 
to establish and maintain internal controls designed to prevent and detect fraud, waste, and abuse as defined 
in Section 11.45(1), Florida Statutes; promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules, 
contracts, grant agreements, and best practices; support economical and efficient operations; ensure 
reliability of financial records and reports; and safeguard assets (the “Internal Controls Policy”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, to demonstrate compliance with Section 218.33, Florida Statutes, the District desires 
to adopt by resolution the Internal Controls Policy attached hereto as Exhibit A. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 8: 

 
1. POLICY.  The attached Internal Controls Policy attached hereto as Exhibit A is hereby 

adopted pursuant to this Resolution.  
 
2. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the 

other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall 

remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Internal Controls Policy previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 8 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 
 
 
 

384



 
 

 
 
 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 8 
INTERNAL CONTROLS POLICY 

 
1. Purpose.  

 
1.1. The purpose of this internal controls policy is to establish and maintain internal controls for the 

Tradition Community Development District No. 8. 
 
1.2. Consistent with Section 218.33(3), Florida Statutes, the internal controls adopted herein are 

designed to:  
 

1.2.1. Prevent and detect Fraud, Waste, and Abuse (as hereinafter defined). 
 
1.2.2. Promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant 

agreements, and best practices. 
 
1.2.3. Support economical and efficient operations. 
 
1.2.4. Ensure reliability of financial records and reports. 
 
1.2.5. Safeguard Assets (as hereinafter defined). 
 

2. Definitions.  
 

2.1. “Abuse” means behavior that is deficient or improper when compared with behavior that a 
prudent person would consider a reasonable and necessary operational practice given the facts 
and circumstances. The term includes the misuse of authority or position for personal gain. 
 

2.2. “Assets” means District assets such as cash or other financial resources, supplies, inventories, 
equipment and other fixed assets, real property, intellectual property, or data. 

 
2.3. “Auditor” means the independent auditor (and its employees) retained by the District to 

perform the annual audit required by state law. 
 
2.4. “Board” means the Board of Supervisors for the District. 
 
2.5. “District Management” means (i) the independent contractor (and its employees) retained by 

the District to provide professional district management services to the District and (ii) any 
other independent contractor (and its employees) separately retained by the District to provide 
amenity management services, provided said services include a responsibility to safeguard and 
protect Assets. 

 

385



 
 

2.6. “Fraud” means obtaining something of value through willful misrepresentation, including, but 
not limited to, intentional misstatements or intentional omissions of amounts or disclosures in 
financial statements to deceive users of financial statements, theft of an entity’s assets, bribery, 
or the use of one’s position for personal enrichment through the deliberate misuse or 
misapplication of an organization’s resources. 

 
2.7. “Internal Controls” means systems and procedures designed to prevent and detect fraud, waste, 

and abuse; promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant 
agreements, and best practices; support economical and efficient operations; ensure reliability 
of financial records and reports; and safeguard assets.  

 
2.8. “Risk” means anything that could negatively impact the District’s ability to meet its goals and 

objectives. The term includes strategic, financial, regulatory, reputational, and operational 
risks.  

 
2.9. “Waste” means the act of using or expending resources unreasonably, carelessly, extravagantly, 

or for no useful purpose. 
 

3. Control Environment. 
 
3.1. Ethical and Honest Behavior. 

  
3.1.1. District Management is responsible for maintaining a work environment that promotes ethical 

and honest behavior on the part of all employees, contractors, vendors and others.  
 

3.1.2. Managers at all levels must behave ethically and communicate to employees and others that 
they are expected to behave ethically.  

 
3.1.3. Managers must demonstrate through words and actions that unethical behavior will not be 

tolerated. 
 

4. Risk Assessment. 
 
4.1. Risk Assessment. District Management is responsible for assessing Risk to the District. District 

Management’s Risk assessments shall include, but not be limited to: 
 

4.1.1. Identifying potential hazards. 
 

4.1.2. Evaluating the likelihood and extent of harm. 
 

4.1.3. Identifying cost-justified precautions and implementing those precautions.  
 

 
 
5. Control Activities. 

 

386



 
 

5.1. Minimum Internal Controls. The District hereby establishes the following minimum Internal 
Controls to prevent and detect Fraud, Waste, and Abuse:   

 
5.1.1. Preventive controls designed to forestall errors or irregularities and thereby avoid the cost 

of corrections. Preventive control activities shall include, but not be limited to, the 
following: 

 
5.1.1.1. Identifying and segregating incompatible duties and/or implementing mitigating 

controls. 
 

5.1.1.2. Performing accounting functions in accordance with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAP) and Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) standards. 
 

5.1.1.3. Requiring proper authorizations to access and/or modify accounting software. 
 

5.1.1.4. Implementing computerized accounting techniques (e.g. to help identify coding 
errors, avoid duplicate invoices, etc.). 

 
5.1.1.5. Maintaining a schedule of the District’s material fixed Assets. 

 
5.1.1.6. Maintaining physical control over the District’s material and vulnerable Assets 

(e.g. lock and key, computer passwords, network firewalls, etc.). 
 

5.1.1.7. Retaining and restricting access to sensitive documents. 
 

5.1.1.8. Performing regular electronic data backups. 
 

5.1.2. Detective controls designed to measure the effectiveness of preventive controls and to 
detect errors or irregularities when they occur. Detective control activities shall include, 
but not be limited to, the following: 
 

5.1.2.1. Preparing financial reports in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles (GAAP) and Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) 
standards. 
 

5.1.2.2. Reviewing financial statements and investigating any material variances between 
budgeted expenses and actual expenses. 
 

5.1.2.3. Establishing and implementing periodic reconciliations of bank, trust, and petty 
cash accounts.  

 
5.1.2.4. Establishing an internal protocol for reporting and investigating known or 

suspected acts of Fraud, Waste, or Abuse. 
 

387



 
 

5.1.2.5. Engaging in periodic physical inventory counts and comparisons with inventory 
records. 

 
5.1.2.6. Monitoring all ACH (electronic) transactions and the sequencing of checks. 
 

5.2. Implementation. District Management shall implement the minimum Internal Controls 
described herein. District Management may also implement additional Internal Controls that it 
deems advisable or appropriate for the District. The specific ways District Management 
implements these minimum Internal Controls shall be consistent with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAP) and otherwise conform to Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board (GASB) and American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) standards and 
norms. 
 

6. Information and Communication. 
 

6.1. Information and Communication. District Management shall communicate to its employees 
(needing to know) information relevant to the Internal Controls, including but not limited to 
any changes to the Internal Controls and/or changes to laws, rules, contracts, grant agreements, 
and best practices.  
 

6.2. Training. District Management shall regularly train its employees (needing the training) in 
connection with the Internal Controls described herein and promote and encourage compliance 
with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant agreements, and best practices.  

 
7. Monitoring Activities. 
 

7.1. Internal Reviews. District Management shall internally review the District’s Internal Controls 
at least once per year. In connection with this internal review, District Management shall:  

 
7.1.1.1. Review its operational processes. 

 
7.1.1.2. Consider the potential risk of Fraud, Waste, or Abuse inherent in each process. 

 
7.1.1.3. Identify the controls included in the process, or controls that could be included, 

that would result in a reduction in the inherent risk.  
 

7.1.1.4. Assess whether there are Internal Controls that need to be improved or added to 
the process under consideration. 
  

7.1.1.5. Implement new controls or improve existing controls that are determined to be the 
most efficient and effective for decreasing the risk of Fraud, Waste or Abuse. 

 
7.1.1.6. Train its employees on implemented new controls or improvements to existing 

controls. 
 

388



 
 

7.2. External Audits and Other Reviews. Audits and other reviews may be performed on various 
components of the District’s Internal Controls by the Auditor consistent with Government 
Auditing Standards (GAS). Audits may identify material deficiencies in the Internal Controls 
and make recommendations to improve them. District Management shall communicate and 
cooperate with the Board and the Auditor regarding the potential implementation of Auditor 
recommendations. 

 
Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 218.33(3), Florida Statutes 
Effective date: January 7, 2026 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

389



 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-09 
 

A RESOLUTION BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 9 
ADOPTING AN INTERNAL CONTROLS POLICY CONSISTENT 
WITH SECTION 218.33, FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 9 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida; and 
 
 WHEREAS, consistent with Section 218.33, Florida Statutes, the District is statutorily required 
to establish and maintain internal controls designed to prevent and detect fraud, waste, and abuse as defined 
in Section 11.45(1), Florida Statutes; promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules, 
contracts, grant agreements, and best practices; support economical and efficient operations; ensure 
reliability of financial records and reports; and safeguard assets (the “Internal Controls Policy”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, to demonstrate compliance with Section 218.33, Florida Statutes, the District desires 
to adopt by resolution the Internal Controls Policy attached hereto as Exhibit A. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 9: 

 
1. POLICY.  The attached Internal Controls Policy attached hereto as Exhibit A is hereby 

adopted pursuant to this Resolution.  
 
2. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the 

other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall 

remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Internal Controls Policy previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 9 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 
 
 
 

390



 
 

 
 
 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 9 
INTERNAL CONTROLS POLICY 

 
1. Purpose.  

 
1.1. The purpose of this internal controls policy is to establish and maintain internal controls for the 

Tradition Community Development District No. 9. 
 
1.2. Consistent with Section 218.33(3), Florida Statutes, the internal controls adopted herein are 

designed to:  
 

1.2.1. Prevent and detect Fraud, Waste, and Abuse (as hereinafter defined). 
 
1.2.2. Promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant 

agreements, and best practices. 
 
1.2.3. Support economical and efficient operations. 
 
1.2.4. Ensure reliability of financial records and reports. 
 
1.2.5. Safeguard Assets (as hereinafter defined). 
 

2. Definitions.  
 

2.1. “Abuse” means behavior that is deficient or improper when compared with behavior that a 
prudent person would consider a reasonable and necessary operational practice given the facts 
and circumstances. The term includes the misuse of authority or position for personal gain. 
 

2.2. “Assets” means District assets such as cash or other financial resources, supplies, inventories, 
equipment and other fixed assets, real property, intellectual property, or data. 

 
2.3. “Auditor” means the independent auditor (and its employees) retained by the District to 

perform the annual audit required by state law. 
 
2.4. “Board” means the Board of Supervisors for the District. 
 
2.5. “District Management” means (i) the independent contractor (and its employees) retained by 

the District to provide professional district management services to the District and (ii) any 
other independent contractor (and its employees) separately retained by the District to provide 
amenity management services, provided said services include a responsibility to safeguard and 
protect Assets. 

 

391



 
 

2.6. “Fraud” means obtaining something of value through willful misrepresentation, including, but 
not limited to, intentional misstatements or intentional omissions of amounts or disclosures in 
financial statements to deceive users of financial statements, theft of an entity’s assets, bribery, 
or the use of one’s position for personal enrichment through the deliberate misuse or 
misapplication of an organization’s resources. 

 
2.7. “Internal Controls” means systems and procedures designed to prevent and detect fraud, waste, 

and abuse; promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant 
agreements, and best practices; support economical and efficient operations; ensure reliability 
of financial records and reports; and safeguard assets.  

 
2.8. “Risk” means anything that could negatively impact the District’s ability to meet its goals and 

objectives. The term includes strategic, financial, regulatory, reputational, and operational 
risks.  

 
2.9. “Waste” means the act of using or expending resources unreasonably, carelessly, extravagantly, 

or for no useful purpose. 
 

3. Control Environment. 
 
3.1. Ethical and Honest Behavior. 

  
3.1.1. District Management is responsible for maintaining a work environment that promotes ethical 

and honest behavior on the part of all employees, contractors, vendors and others.  
 

3.1.2. Managers at all levels must behave ethically and communicate to employees and others that 
they are expected to behave ethically.  

 
3.1.3. Managers must demonstrate through words and actions that unethical behavior will not be 

tolerated. 
 

4. Risk Assessment. 
 
4.1. Risk Assessment. District Management is responsible for assessing Risk to the District. District 

Management’s Risk assessments shall include, but not be limited to: 
 

4.1.1. Identifying potential hazards. 
 

4.1.2. Evaluating the likelihood and extent of harm. 
 

4.1.3. Identifying cost-justified precautions and implementing those precautions.  
 

 
 
5. Control Activities. 

 

392



 
 

5.1. Minimum Internal Controls. The District hereby establishes the following minimum Internal 
Controls to prevent and detect Fraud, Waste, and Abuse:   

 
5.1.1. Preventive controls designed to forestall errors or irregularities and thereby avoid the cost 

of corrections. Preventive control activities shall include, but not be limited to, the 
following: 

 
5.1.1.1. Identifying and segregating incompatible duties and/or implementing mitigating 

controls. 
 

5.1.1.2. Performing accounting functions in accordance with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAP) and Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) standards. 
 

5.1.1.3. Requiring proper authorizations to access and/or modify accounting software. 
 

5.1.1.4. Implementing computerized accounting techniques (e.g. to help identify coding 
errors, avoid duplicate invoices, etc.). 

 
5.1.1.5. Maintaining a schedule of the District’s material fixed Assets. 

 
5.1.1.6. Maintaining physical control over the District’s material and vulnerable Assets 

(e.g. lock and key, computer passwords, network firewalls, etc.). 
 

5.1.1.7. Retaining and restricting access to sensitive documents. 
 

5.1.1.8. Performing regular electronic data backups. 
 

5.1.2. Detective controls designed to measure the effectiveness of preventive controls and to 
detect errors or irregularities when they occur. Detective control activities shall include, 
but not be limited to, the following: 
 

5.1.2.1. Preparing financial reports in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles (GAAP) and Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) 
standards. 
 

5.1.2.2. Reviewing financial statements and investigating any material variances between 
budgeted expenses and actual expenses. 
 

5.1.2.3. Establishing and implementing periodic reconciliations of bank, trust, and petty 
cash accounts.  

 
5.1.2.4. Establishing an internal protocol for reporting and investigating known or 

suspected acts of Fraud, Waste, or Abuse. 
 

393



 
 

5.1.2.5. Engaging in periodic physical inventory counts and comparisons with inventory 
records. 

 
5.1.2.6. Monitoring all ACH (electronic) transactions and the sequencing of checks. 
 

5.2. Implementation. District Management shall implement the minimum Internal Controls 
described herein. District Management may also implement additional Internal Controls that it 
deems advisable or appropriate for the District. The specific ways District Management 
implements these minimum Internal Controls shall be consistent with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAP) and otherwise conform to Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board (GASB) and American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) standards and 
norms. 
 

6. Information and Communication. 
 

6.1. Information and Communication. District Management shall communicate to its employees 
(needing to know) information relevant to the Internal Controls, including but not limited to 
any changes to the Internal Controls and/or changes to laws, rules, contracts, grant agreements, 
and best practices.  
 

6.2. Training. District Management shall regularly train its employees (needing the training) in 
connection with the Internal Controls described herein and promote and encourage compliance 
with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant agreements, and best practices.  

 
7. Monitoring Activities. 
 

7.1. Internal Reviews. District Management shall internally review the District’s Internal Controls 
at least once per year. In connection with this internal review, District Management shall:  

 
7.1.1.1. Review its operational processes. 

 
7.1.1.2. Consider the potential risk of Fraud, Waste, or Abuse inherent in each process. 

 
7.1.1.3. Identify the controls included in the process, or controls that could be included, 

that would result in a reduction in the inherent risk.  
 

7.1.1.4. Assess whether there are Internal Controls that need to be improved or added to 
the process under consideration. 
  

7.1.1.5. Implement new controls or improve existing controls that are determined to be the 
most efficient and effective for decreasing the risk of Fraud, Waste or Abuse. 

 
7.1.1.6. Train its employees on implemented new controls or improvements to existing 

controls. 
 

394



 
 

7.2. External Audits and Other Reviews. Audits and other reviews may be performed on various 
components of the District’s Internal Controls by the Auditor consistent with Government 
Auditing Standards (GAS). Audits may identify material deficiencies in the Internal Controls 
and make recommendations to improve them. District Management shall communicate and 
cooperate with the Board and the Auditor regarding the potential implementation of Auditor 
recommendations. 

 
Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 218.33(3), Florida Statutes 
Effective date: January 7, 2026 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

395



 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-09 
 

A RESOLUTION BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 10 
ADOPTING AN INTERNAL CONTROLS POLICY CONSISTENT 
WITH SECTION 218.33, FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 10 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida; and 
 
 WHEREAS, consistent with Section 218.33, Florida Statutes, the District is statutorily required 
to establish and maintain internal controls designed to prevent and detect fraud, waste, and abuse as defined 
in Section 11.45(1), Florida Statutes; promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules, 
contracts, grant agreements, and best practices; support economical and efficient operations; ensure 
reliability of financial records and reports; and safeguard assets (the “Internal Controls Policy”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, to demonstrate compliance with Section 218.33, Florida Statutes, the District desires 
to adopt by resolution the Internal Controls Policy attached hereto as Exhibit A. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 10: 

 
1. POLICY.  The attached Internal Controls Policy attached hereto as Exhibit A is hereby 

adopted pursuant to this Resolution.  
 
2. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the 

other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall 

remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Internal Controls Policy previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 10 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 
 
 
 

396



 
 

 
 
 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 10 
INTERNAL CONTROLS POLICY 

 
1. Purpose.  

 
1.1. The purpose of this internal controls policy is to establish and maintain internal controls for the 

Tradition Community Development District No. 10. 
 
1.2. Consistent with Section 218.33(3), Florida Statutes, the internal controls adopted herein are 

designed to:  
 

1.2.1. Prevent and detect Fraud, Waste, and Abuse (as hereinafter defined). 
 
1.2.2. Promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant 

agreements, and best practices. 
 
1.2.3. Support economical and efficient operations. 
 
1.2.4. Ensure reliability of financial records and reports. 
 
1.2.5. Safeguard Assets (as hereinafter defined). 
 

2. Definitions.  
 

2.1. “Abuse” means behavior that is deficient or improper when compared with behavior that a 
prudent person would consider a reasonable and necessary operational practice given the facts 
and circumstances. The term includes the misuse of authority or position for personal gain. 
 

2.2. “Assets” means District assets such as cash or other financial resources, supplies, inventories, 
equipment and other fixed assets, real property, intellectual property, or data. 

 
2.3. “Auditor” means the independent auditor (and its employees) retained by the District to 

perform the annual audit required by state law. 
 
2.4. “Board” means the Board of Supervisors for the District. 
 
2.5. “District Management” means (i) the independent contractor (and its employees) retained by 

the District to provide professional district management services to the District and (ii) any 
other independent contractor (and its employees) separately retained by the District to provide 
amenity management services, provided said services include a responsibility to safeguard and 
protect Assets. 

 

397



 
 

2.6. “Fraud” means obtaining something of value through willful misrepresentation, including, but 
not limited to, intentional misstatements or intentional omissions of amounts or disclosures in 
financial statements to deceive users of financial statements, theft of an entity’s assets, bribery, 
or the use of one’s position for personal enrichment through the deliberate misuse or 
misapplication of an organization’s resources. 

 
2.7. “Internal Controls” means systems and procedures designed to prevent and detect fraud, waste, 

and abuse; promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant 
agreements, and best practices; support economical and efficient operations; ensure reliability 
of financial records and reports; and safeguard assets.  

 
2.8. “Risk” means anything that could negatively impact the District’s ability to meet its goals and 

objectives. The term includes strategic, financial, regulatory, reputational, and operational 
risks.  

 
2.9. “Waste” means the act of using or expending resources unreasonably, carelessly, extravagantly, 

or for no useful purpose. 
 

3. Control Environment. 
 
3.1. Ethical and Honest Behavior. 

  
3.1.1. District Management is responsible for maintaining a work environment that promotes ethical 

and honest behavior on the part of all employees, contractors, vendors and others.  
 

3.1.2. Managers at all levels must behave ethically and communicate to employees and others that 
they are expected to behave ethically.  

 
3.1.3. Managers must demonstrate through words and actions that unethical behavior will not be 

tolerated. 
 

4. Risk Assessment. 
 
4.1. Risk Assessment. District Management is responsible for assessing Risk to the District. District 

Management’s Risk assessments shall include, but not be limited to: 
 

4.1.1. Identifying potential hazards. 
 

4.1.2. Evaluating the likelihood and extent of harm. 
 

4.1.3. Identifying cost-justified precautions and implementing those precautions.  
 

 
 
5. Control Activities. 

 

398



 
 

5.1. Minimum Internal Controls. The District hereby establishes the following minimum Internal 
Controls to prevent and detect Fraud, Waste, and Abuse:   

 
5.1.1. Preventive controls designed to forestall errors or irregularities and thereby avoid the cost 

of corrections. Preventive control activities shall include, but not be limited to, the 
following: 

 
5.1.1.1. Identifying and segregating incompatible duties and/or implementing mitigating 

controls. 
 

5.1.1.2. Performing accounting functions in accordance with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAP) and Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) standards. 
 

5.1.1.3. Requiring proper authorizations to access and/or modify accounting software. 
 

5.1.1.4. Implementing computerized accounting techniques (e.g. to help identify coding 
errors, avoid duplicate invoices, etc.). 

 
5.1.1.5. Maintaining a schedule of the District’s material fixed Assets. 

 
5.1.1.6. Maintaining physical control over the District’s material and vulnerable Assets 

(e.g. lock and key, computer passwords, network firewalls, etc.). 
 

5.1.1.7. Retaining and restricting access to sensitive documents. 
 

5.1.1.8. Performing regular electronic data backups. 
 

5.1.2. Detective controls designed to measure the effectiveness of preventive controls and to 
detect errors or irregularities when they occur. Detective control activities shall include, 
but not be limited to, the following: 
 

5.1.2.1. Preparing financial reports in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles (GAAP) and Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) 
standards. 
 

5.1.2.2. Reviewing financial statements and investigating any material variances between 
budgeted expenses and actual expenses. 
 

5.1.2.3. Establishing and implementing periodic reconciliations of bank, trust, and petty 
cash accounts.  

 
5.1.2.4. Establishing an internal protocol for reporting and investigating known or 

suspected acts of Fraud, Waste, or Abuse. 
 

399



 
 

5.1.2.5. Engaging in periodic physical inventory counts and comparisons with inventory 
records. 

 
5.1.2.6. Monitoring all ACH (electronic) transactions and the sequencing of checks. 
 

5.2. Implementation. District Management shall implement the minimum Internal Controls 
described herein. District Management may also implement additional Internal Controls that it 
deems advisable or appropriate for the District. The specific ways District Management 
implements these minimum Internal Controls shall be consistent with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAP) and otherwise conform to Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board (GASB) and American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) standards and 
norms. 
 

6. Information and Communication. 
 

6.1. Information and Communication. District Management shall communicate to its employees 
(needing to know) information relevant to the Internal Controls, including but not limited to 
any changes to the Internal Controls and/or changes to laws, rules, contracts, grant agreements, 
and best practices.  
 

6.2. Training. District Management shall regularly train its employees (needing the training) in 
connection with the Internal Controls described herein and promote and encourage compliance 
with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant agreements, and best practices.  

 
7. Monitoring Activities. 
 

7.1. Internal Reviews. District Management shall internally review the District’s Internal Controls 
at least once per year. In connection with this internal review, District Management shall:  

 
7.1.1.1. Review its operational processes. 

 
7.1.1.2. Consider the potential risk of Fraud, Waste, or Abuse inherent in each process. 

 
7.1.1.3. Identify the controls included in the process, or controls that could be included, 

that would result in a reduction in the inherent risk.  
 

7.1.1.4. Assess whether there are Internal Controls that need to be improved or added to 
the process under consideration. 
  

7.1.1.5. Implement new controls or improve existing controls that are determined to be the 
most efficient and effective for decreasing the risk of Fraud, Waste or Abuse. 

 
7.1.1.6. Train its employees on implemented new controls or improvements to existing 

controls. 
 

400



 
 

7.2. External Audits and Other Reviews. Audits and other reviews may be performed on various 
components of the District’s Internal Controls by the Auditor consistent with Government 
Auditing Standards (GAS). Audits may identify material deficiencies in the Internal Controls 
and make recommendations to improve them. District Management shall communicate and 
cooperate with the Board and the Auditor regarding the potential implementation of Auditor 
recommendations. 

 
Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 218.33(3), Florida Statutes 
Effective date: January 7, 2026 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

401



 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-09 
 

A RESOLUTION BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 11 
ADOPTING AN INTERNAL CONTROLS POLICY CONSISTENT 
WITH SECTION 218.33, FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 11 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida; and 
 
 WHEREAS, consistent with Section 218.33, Florida Statutes, the District is statutorily required 
to establish and maintain internal controls designed to prevent and detect fraud, waste, and abuse as defined 
in Section 11.45(1), Florida Statutes; promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules, 
contracts, grant agreements, and best practices; support economical and efficient operations; ensure 
reliability of financial records and reports; and safeguard assets (the “Internal Controls Policy”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, to demonstrate compliance with Section 218.33, Florida Statutes, the District desires 
to adopt by resolution the Internal Controls Policy attached hereto as Exhibit A. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 11: 

 
1. POLICY.  The attached Internal Controls Policy attached hereto as Exhibit A is hereby 

adopted pursuant to this Resolution.  
 
2. SEVERABILITY.  If any provision of this Resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the 

other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
3. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall 

remain in effect unless rescinded or repealed. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any 
Internal Controls Policy previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 11 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 
 
 
 

402



 
 

 
 
 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 11 
INTERNAL CONTROLS POLICY 

 
1. Purpose.  

 
1.1. The purpose of this internal controls policy is to establish and maintain internal controls for the 

Tradition Community Development District No. 11. 
 
1.2. Consistent with Section 218.33(3), Florida Statutes, the internal controls adopted herein are 

designed to:  
 

1.2.1. Prevent and detect Fraud, Waste, and Abuse (as hereinafter defined). 
 
1.2.2. Promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant 

agreements, and best practices. 
 
1.2.3. Support economical and efficient operations. 
 
1.2.4. Ensure reliability of financial records and reports. 
 
1.2.5. Safeguard Assets (as hereinafter defined). 
 

2. Definitions.  
 

2.1. “Abuse” means behavior that is deficient or improper when compared with behavior that a 
prudent person would consider a reasonable and necessary operational practice given the facts 
and circumstances. The term includes the misuse of authority or position for personal gain. 
 

2.2. “Assets” means District assets such as cash or other financial resources, supplies, inventories, 
equipment and other fixed assets, real property, intellectual property, or data. 

 
2.3. “Auditor” means the independent auditor (and its employees) retained by the District to 

perform the annual audit required by state law. 
 
2.4. “Board” means the Board of Supervisors for the District. 
 
2.5. “District Management” means (i) the independent contractor (and its employees) retained by 

the District to provide professional district management services to the District and (ii) any 
other independent contractor (and its employees) separately retained by the District to provide 
amenity management services, provided said services include a responsibility to safeguard and 
protect Assets. 

 

403



 
 

2.6. “Fraud” means obtaining something of value through willful misrepresentation, including, but 
not limited to, intentional misstatements or intentional omissions of amounts or disclosures in 
financial statements to deceive users of financial statements, theft of an entity’s assets, bribery, 
or the use of one’s position for personal enrichment through the deliberate misuse or 
misapplication of an organization’s resources. 

 
2.7. “Internal Controls” means systems and procedures designed to prevent and detect fraud, waste, 

and abuse; promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant 
agreements, and best practices; support economical and efficient operations; ensure reliability 
of financial records and reports; and safeguard assets.  

 
2.8. “Risk” means anything that could negatively impact the District’s ability to meet its goals and 

objectives. The term includes strategic, financial, regulatory, reputational, and operational 
risks.  

 
2.9. “Waste” means the act of using or expending resources unreasonably, carelessly, extravagantly, 

or for no useful purpose. 
 

3. Control Environment. 
 
3.1. Ethical and Honest Behavior. 

  
3.1.1. District Management is responsible for maintaining a work environment that promotes ethical 

and honest behavior on the part of all employees, contractors, vendors and others.  
 

3.1.2. Managers at all levels must behave ethically and communicate to employees and others that 
they are expected to behave ethically.  

 
3.1.3. Managers must demonstrate through words and actions that unethical behavior will not be 

tolerated. 
 

4. Risk Assessment. 
 
4.1. Risk Assessment. District Management is responsible for assessing Risk to the District. District 

Management’s Risk assessments shall include, but not be limited to: 
 

4.1.1. Identifying potential hazards. 
 

4.1.2. Evaluating the likelihood and extent of harm. 
 

4.1.3. Identifying cost-justified precautions and implementing those precautions.  
 

 
 
5. Control Activities. 

 

404



 
 

5.1. Minimum Internal Controls. The District hereby establishes the following minimum Internal 
Controls to prevent and detect Fraud, Waste, and Abuse:   

 
5.1.1. Preventive controls designed to forestall errors or irregularities and thereby avoid the cost 

of corrections. Preventive control activities shall include, but not be limited to, the 
following: 

 
5.1.1.1. Identifying and segregating incompatible duties and/or implementing mitigating 

controls. 
 

5.1.1.2. Performing accounting functions in accordance with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAP) and Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) standards. 
 

5.1.1.3. Requiring proper authorizations to access and/or modify accounting software. 
 

5.1.1.4. Implementing computerized accounting techniques (e.g. to help identify coding 
errors, avoid duplicate invoices, etc.). 

 
5.1.1.5. Maintaining a schedule of the District’s material fixed Assets. 

 
5.1.1.6. Maintaining physical control over the District’s material and vulnerable Assets 

(e.g. lock and key, computer passwords, network firewalls, etc.). 
 

5.1.1.7. Retaining and restricting access to sensitive documents. 
 

5.1.1.8. Performing regular electronic data backups. 
 

5.1.2. Detective controls designed to measure the effectiveness of preventive controls and to 
detect errors or irregularities when they occur. Detective control activities shall include, 
but not be limited to, the following: 
 

5.1.2.1. Preparing financial reports in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles (GAAP) and Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) 
standards. 
 

5.1.2.2. Reviewing financial statements and investigating any material variances between 
budgeted expenses and actual expenses. 
 

5.1.2.3. Establishing and implementing periodic reconciliations of bank, trust, and petty 
cash accounts.  

 
5.1.2.4. Establishing an internal protocol for reporting and investigating known or 

suspected acts of Fraud, Waste, or Abuse. 
 

405



 
 

5.1.2.5. Engaging in periodic physical inventory counts and comparisons with inventory 
records. 

 
5.1.2.6. Monitoring all ACH (electronic) transactions and the sequencing of checks. 
 

5.2. Implementation. District Management shall implement the minimum Internal Controls 
described herein. District Management may also implement additional Internal Controls that it 
deems advisable or appropriate for the District. The specific ways District Management 
implements these minimum Internal Controls shall be consistent with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAP) and otherwise conform to Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board (GASB) and American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) standards and 
norms. 
 

6. Information and Communication. 
 

6.1. Information and Communication. District Management shall communicate to its employees 
(needing to know) information relevant to the Internal Controls, including but not limited to 
any changes to the Internal Controls and/or changes to laws, rules, contracts, grant agreements, 
and best practices.  
 

6.2. Training. District Management shall regularly train its employees (needing the training) in 
connection with the Internal Controls described herein and promote and encourage compliance 
with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant agreements, and best practices.  

 
7. Monitoring Activities. 
 

7.1. Internal Reviews. District Management shall internally review the District’s Internal Controls 
at least once per year. In connection with this internal review, District Management shall:  

 
7.1.1.1. Review its operational processes. 

 
7.1.1.2. Consider the potential risk of Fraud, Waste, or Abuse inherent in each process. 

 
7.1.1.3. Identify the controls included in the process, or controls that could be included, 

that would result in a reduction in the inherent risk.  
 

7.1.1.4. Assess whether there are Internal Controls that need to be improved or added to 
the process under consideration. 
  

7.1.1.5. Implement new controls or improve existing controls that are determined to be the 
most efficient and effective for decreasing the risk of Fraud, Waste or Abuse. 

 
7.1.1.6. Train its employees on implemented new controls or improvements to existing 

controls. 
 

406



 
 

7.2. External Audits and Other Reviews. Audits and other reviews may be performed on various 
components of the District’s Internal Controls by the Auditor consistent with Government 
Auditing Standards (GAS). Audits may identify material deficiencies in the Internal Controls 
and make recommendations to improve them. District Management shall communicate and 
cooperate with the Board and the Auditor regarding the potential implementation of Auditor 
recommendations. 

 
Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 218.33(3), Florida Statutes 
Effective date: January 7, 2026 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

407



Kutak Rock LLP 

107 West College Avenue, Tallahassee, FL 32301-7707 

office 850.692.7300 

 
 

  
 

10 
 

MEMORANDUM 
FROM: Kutak Rock LLP  
 
TO:  Board of Supervisors 
 
DATE: January 7, 2026 
 
 
Subject: Resolution Authorizing Disbursement of Funds 

 

Staff Recommendation 

Staff recommends the Board adopt the Resolution Authorizing Disbursement of Funds 

 

General Information 

This resolution authorizes the District Manager to approve expenditures related to (1) invoices 
received in connection with continuing services the District has contracted for/were approved by 
the Board (2) non-continuing expenditures necessary for certain purposes. For the latter, the 
resolution establishes limits on the total value of expenditures that may be approved by the 
Manager without the approval of the Chair. 

 

District Legal Counsel Review 

The District’s attorneys prepared by this Resolution. 

 

Funding Review 

This Resolution is not expected to affect the District’s financial condition. 

 

 

 

408



 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-10 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1 AUTHORIZING THE 
DISBURSEMENT OF FUNDS FOR PAYMENT OF CERTAIN CONTINUING 
EXPENSES WITHOUT PRIOR APPROVAL OF THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS; AUTHORIZING THE DISBURSEMENT OF FUNDS FOR 
PAYMENT OF CERTAIN NON-CONTINUING EXPENSES WITHOUT PRIOR 
APPROVAL OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS; PROVIDING FOR CERTAIN 
MONETARY THRESHOLDS; AND PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY AND AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 1 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, section 190.011(5), Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions that 
may be necessary for the conduct of District business; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District's Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) meets as necessary to conduct the 
business of the District, including authorizing the payment of District operating and maintenance expenses; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board may establish monthly, quarterly or other meeting dates not on a frequent 
basis, or may cancel scheduled meetings from time to time; and 
 
 WHEREAS, to conduct the business of the District in an efficient manner, recurring, non-recurring 
and other disbursements for goods and services must be processed and paid in a timely manner; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board determines this Resolution is in the best interest of the District and is 
necessary for the efficient conduct of District business; the health, safety, and welfare of the residents within 
the District; and the preservation of District assets or facilities. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1: 

 
1. CONTINUING EXPENSES. The Board hereby authorizes the payment of invoices of 

continuing expenses, which meet the following requirements: 
 

a) The invoices must be due on or before the next scheduled meeting of the Board. 
b) The invoice must be pursuant to a contract or agreement authorized by the Board. 
c) The total amount paid under such contract or agreement, including the current invoice, 

must be equal to or less than the amount specified in the contract or agreement. 
d) The invoice amount will not cause payments to exceed the adopted budget of the District. 

 
2. NON-CONTINUING EXPENSES.  The Board hereby authorizes the disbursement of 

funds for payment of invoices of non-continuing expenses which are (i) required to provide for the health, 
safety, and welfare of the residents within the District; or (ii) required to repair, control, or maintain a 
District facility or asset beyond the normal, usual, or customary maintenance required for such facility or 
assets, or (iii) are necessary to avoid an unnecessary expense that may be imposed on the District in 

409



 
 

connection with a District project; or (iv) are for routine services performed on an annual basis and the 
amount of such services is reflected in the District’s annual budget, or (v) are otherwise for an emergency 
circumstance, pursuant to the following schedule: 

 
a) Non-Continuing Expenses Not Exceeding $5,000 - with approval of the District Manager; 

and 
b) Non-Continuing Expenses Exceeding $5,000 - with approval of the 

District Manager and Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Board, if in the 
judgment of the District Manager and Chairman or Vice Chairman such 
Non-Continuing Expense is required to be addressed before the next 
scheduled meeting of the Board of Supervisors.  
 

3. BOARD RATIFICATION.  Any payment made pursuant to this 
Resolution shall be submitted to the Board at the next scheduled meeting for review, 
approval and ratification. The Board retains the right to disapprove any such payment and 
require reimbursement if the payment was not properly authorized under this Resolution.  
Copies of any disbursements made under the authority of this Resolution shall be included 
in the agenda package for the scheduled meeting or otherwise distributed to the Board at 
the meeting.  Any expenditures under this Section 3 must be within the District’s current 
fiscal year budget. 
 
 4. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its 
adoption. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any resolution prescribing authorization 
of payment for expenditures outside of a Board meeting previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
  

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 1 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 

 

 

 

410



 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-10 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 AUTHORIZING THE 
DISBURSEMENT OF FUNDS FOR PAYMENT OF CERTAIN CONTINUING 
EXPENSES WITHOUT PRIOR APPROVAL OF THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS; AUTHORIZING THE DISBURSEMENT OF FUNDS FOR 
PAYMENT OF CERTAIN NON-CONTINUING EXPENSES WITHOUT PRIOR 
APPROVAL OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS; PROVIDING FOR CERTAIN 
MONETARY THRESHOLDS; AND PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY AND AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 2 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, section 190.011(5), Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions that 
may be necessary for the conduct of District business; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District's Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) meets as necessary to conduct the 
business of the District, including authorizing the payment of District operating and maintenance expenses; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board may establish monthly, quarterly or other meeting dates not on a frequent 
basis, or may cancel scheduled meetings from time to time; and 
 
 WHEREAS, to conduct the business of the District in an efficient manner, recurring, non-recurring 
and other disbursements for goods and services must be processed and paid in a timely manner; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board determines this Resolution is in the best interest of the District and is 
necessary for the efficient conduct of District business; the health, safety, and welfare of the residents within 
the District; and the preservation of District assets or facilities. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2: 

 
1. CONTINUING EXPENSES. The Board hereby authorizes the payment of invoices of 

continuing expenses, which meet the following requirements: 
 

a) The invoices must be due on or before the next scheduled meeting of the Board. 
b) The invoice must be pursuant to a contract or agreement authorized by the Board. 
c) The total amount paid under such contract or agreement, including the current invoice, 

must be equal to or less than the amount specified in the contract or agreement. 
d) The invoice amount will not cause payments to exceed the adopted budget of the District. 

 
2. NON-CONTINUING EXPENSES.  The Board hereby authorizes the disbursement of 

funds for payment of invoices of non-continuing expenses which are (i) required to provide for the health, 
safety, and welfare of the residents within the District; or (ii) required to repair, control, or maintain a 
District facility or asset beyond the normal, usual, or customary maintenance required for such facility or 
assets, or (iii) are necessary to avoid an unnecessary expense that may be imposed on the District in 

411



 
 

connection with a District project; or (iv) are for routine services performed on an annual basis and the 
amount of such services is reflected in the District’s annual budget, or (v) are otherwise for an emergency 
circumstance, pursuant to the following schedule: 

 
a) Non-Continuing Expenses Not Exceeding $5,000 - with approval of the District Manager; 

and 
b) Non-Continuing Expenses Exceeding $5,000 - with approval of the 

District Manager and Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Board, if in the 
judgment of the District Manager and Chairman or Vice Chairman such 
Non-Continuing Expense is required to be addressed before the next 
scheduled meeting of the Board of Supervisors.  
 

3. BOARD RATIFICATION.  Any payment made pursuant to this 
Resolution shall be submitted to the Board at the next scheduled meeting for review, 
approval and ratification. The Board retains the right to disapprove any such payment and 
require reimbursement if the payment was not properly authorized under this Resolution.  
Copies of any disbursements made under the authority of this Resolution shall be included 
in the agenda package for the scheduled meeting or otherwise distributed to the Board at 
the meeting.  Any expenditures under this Section 3 must be within the District’s current 
fiscal year budget. 
 
 4. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its 
adoption. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any resolution prescribing authorization 
of payment for expenditures outside of a Board meeting previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
  

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 2 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 

 

 

 

412



 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-10 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 3 AUTHORIZING THE 
DISBURSEMENT OF FUNDS FOR PAYMENT OF CERTAIN CONTINUING 
EXPENSES WITHOUT PRIOR APPROVAL OF THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS; AUTHORIZING THE DISBURSEMENT OF FUNDS FOR 
PAYMENT OF CERTAIN NON-CONTINUING EXPENSES WITHOUT PRIOR 
APPROVAL OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS; PROVIDING FOR CERTAIN 
MONETARY THRESHOLDS; AND PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY AND AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 3 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, section 190.011(5), Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions that 
may be necessary for the conduct of District business; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District's Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) meets as necessary to conduct the 
business of the District, including authorizing the payment of District operating and maintenance expenses; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board may establish monthly, quarterly or other meeting dates not on a frequent 
basis, or may cancel scheduled meetings from time to time; and 
 
 WHEREAS, to conduct the business of the District in an efficient manner, recurring, non-recurring 
and other disbursements for goods and services must be processed and paid in a timely manner; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board determines this Resolution is in the best interest of the District and is 
necessary for the efficient conduct of District business; the health, safety, and welfare of the residents within 
the District; and the preservation of District assets or facilities. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 3: 

 
1. CONTINUING EXPENSES. The Board hereby authorizes the payment of invoices of 

continuing expenses, which meet the following requirements: 
 

a) The invoices must be due on or before the next scheduled meeting of the Board. 
b) The invoice must be pursuant to a contract or agreement authorized by the Board. 
c) The total amount paid under such contract or agreement, including the current invoice, 

must be equal to or less than the amount specified in the contract or agreement. 
d) The invoice amount will not cause payments to exceed the adopted budget of the District. 

 
2. NON-CONTINUING EXPENSES.  The Board hereby authorizes the disbursement of 

funds for payment of invoices of non-continuing expenses which are (i) required to provide for the health, 
safety, and welfare of the residents within the District; or (ii) required to repair, control, or maintain a 
District facility or asset beyond the normal, usual, or customary maintenance required for such facility or 
assets, or (iii) are necessary to avoid an unnecessary expense that may be imposed on the District in 

413



 
 

connection with a District project; or (iv) are for routine services performed on an annual basis and the 
amount of such services is reflected in the District’s annual budget, or (v) are otherwise for an emergency 
circumstance, pursuant to the following schedule: 

 
a) Non-Continuing Expenses Not Exceeding $5,000 - with approval of the District Manager; 

and 
b) Non-Continuing Expenses Exceeding $5,000 - with approval of the 

District Manager and Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Board, if in the 
judgment of the District Manager and Chairman or Vice Chairman such 
Non-Continuing Expense is required to be addressed before the next 
scheduled meeting of the Board of Supervisors.  
 

3. BOARD RATIFICATION.  Any payment made pursuant to this 
Resolution shall be submitted to the Board at the next scheduled meeting for review, 
approval and ratification. The Board retains the right to disapprove any such payment and 
require reimbursement if the payment was not properly authorized under this Resolution.  
Copies of any disbursements made under the authority of this Resolution shall be included 
in the agenda package for the scheduled meeting or otherwise distributed to the Board at 
the meeting.  Any expenditures under this Section 3 must be within the District’s current 
fiscal year budget. 
 
 4. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its 
adoption. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any resolution prescribing authorization 
of payment for expenditures outside of a Board meeting previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
  

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 3 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 

 

 

 

414



 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-10 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 4 AUTHORIZING THE 
DISBURSEMENT OF FUNDS FOR PAYMENT OF CERTAIN CONTINUING 
EXPENSES WITHOUT PRIOR APPROVAL OF THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS; AUTHORIZING THE DISBURSEMENT OF FUNDS FOR 
PAYMENT OF CERTAIN NON-CONTINUING EXPENSES WITHOUT PRIOR 
APPROVAL OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS; PROVIDING FOR CERTAIN 
MONETARY THRESHOLDS; AND PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY AND AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 4 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, section 190.011(5), Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions that 
may be necessary for the conduct of District business; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District's Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) meets as necessary to conduct the 
business of the District, including authorizing the payment of District operating and maintenance expenses; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board may establish monthly, quarterly or other meeting dates not on a frequent 
basis, or may cancel scheduled meetings from time to time; and 
 
 WHEREAS, to conduct the business of the District in an efficient manner, recurring, non-recurring 
and other disbursements for goods and services must be processed and paid in a timely manner; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board determines this Resolution is in the best interest of the District and is 
necessary for the efficient conduct of District business; the health, safety, and welfare of the residents within 
the District; and the preservation of District assets or facilities. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 4: 

 
1. CONTINUING EXPENSES. The Board hereby authorizes the payment of invoices of 

continuing expenses, which meet the following requirements: 
 

a) The invoices must be due on or before the next scheduled meeting of the Board. 
b) The invoice must be pursuant to a contract or agreement authorized by the Board. 
c) The total amount paid under such contract or agreement, including the current invoice, 

must be equal to or less than the amount specified in the contract or agreement. 
d) The invoice amount will not cause payments to exceed the adopted budget of the District. 

 
2. NON-CONTINUING EXPENSES.  The Board hereby authorizes the disbursement of 

funds for payment of invoices of non-continuing expenses which are (i) required to provide for the health, 
safety, and welfare of the residents within the District; or (ii) required to repair, control, or maintain a 
District facility or asset beyond the normal, usual, or customary maintenance required for such facility or 
assets, or (iii) are necessary to avoid an unnecessary expense that may be imposed on the District in 

415



 
 

connection with a District project; or (iv) are for routine services performed on an annual basis and the 
amount of such services is reflected in the District’s annual budget, or (v) are otherwise for an emergency 
circumstance, pursuant to the following schedule: 

 
a) Non-Continuing Expenses Not Exceeding $5,000 - with approval of the District Manager; 

and 
b) Non-Continuing Expenses Exceeding $5,000 - with approval of the 

District Manager and Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Board, if in the 
judgment of the District Manager and Chairman or Vice Chairman such 
Non-Continuing Expense is required to be addressed before the next 
scheduled meeting of the Board of Supervisors.  
 

3. BOARD RATIFICATION.  Any payment made pursuant to this 
Resolution shall be submitted to the Board at the next scheduled meeting for review, 
approval and ratification. The Board retains the right to disapprove any such payment and 
require reimbursement if the payment was not properly authorized under this Resolution.  
Copies of any disbursements made under the authority of this Resolution shall be included 
in the agenda package for the scheduled meeting or otherwise distributed to the Board at 
the meeting.  Any expenditures under this Section 3 must be within the District’s current 
fiscal year budget. 
 
 4. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its 
adoption. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any resolution prescribing authorization 
of payment for expenditures outside of a Board meeting previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
  

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 4 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 

 

 

 

416



 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-10 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5 AUTHORIZING THE 
DISBURSEMENT OF FUNDS FOR PAYMENT OF CERTAIN CONTINUING 
EXPENSES WITHOUT PRIOR APPROVAL OF THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS; AUTHORIZING THE DISBURSEMENT OF FUNDS FOR 
PAYMENT OF CERTAIN NON-CONTINUING EXPENSES WITHOUT PRIOR 
APPROVAL OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS; PROVIDING FOR CERTAIN 
MONETARY THRESHOLDS; AND PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY AND AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 5 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, section 190.011(5), Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions that 
may be necessary for the conduct of District business; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District's Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) meets as necessary to conduct the 
business of the District, including authorizing the payment of District operating and maintenance expenses; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board may establish monthly, quarterly or other meeting dates not on a frequent 
basis, or may cancel scheduled meetings from time to time; and 
 
 WHEREAS, to conduct the business of the District in an efficient manner, recurring, non-recurring 
and other disbursements for goods and services must be processed and paid in a timely manner; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board determines this Resolution is in the best interest of the District and is 
necessary for the efficient conduct of District business; the health, safety, and welfare of the residents within 
the District; and the preservation of District assets or facilities. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5: 

 
1. CONTINUING EXPENSES. The Board hereby authorizes the payment of invoices of 

continuing expenses, which meet the following requirements: 
 

a) The invoices must be due on or before the next scheduled meeting of the Board. 
b) The invoice must be pursuant to a contract or agreement authorized by the Board. 
c) The total amount paid under such contract or agreement, including the current invoice, 

must be equal to or less than the amount specified in the contract or agreement. 
d) The invoice amount will not cause payments to exceed the adopted budget of the District. 

 
2. NON-CONTINUING EXPENSES.  The Board hereby authorizes the disbursement of 

funds for payment of invoices of non-continuing expenses which are (i) required to provide for the health, 
safety, and welfare of the residents within the District; or (ii) required to repair, control, or maintain a 
District facility or asset beyond the normal, usual, or customary maintenance required for such facility or 
assets, or (iii) are necessary to avoid an unnecessary expense that may be imposed on the District in 

417



 
 

connection with a District project; or (iv) are for routine services performed on an annual basis and the 
amount of such services is reflected in the District’s annual budget, or (v) are otherwise for an emergency 
circumstance, pursuant to the following schedule: 

 
a) Non-Continuing Expenses Not Exceeding $5,000 - with approval of the District Manager; 

and 
b) Non-Continuing Expenses Exceeding $5,000 - with approval of the 

District Manager and Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Board, if in the 
judgment of the District Manager and Chairman or Vice Chairman such 
Non-Continuing Expense is required to be addressed before the next 
scheduled meeting of the Board of Supervisors.  
 

3. BOARD RATIFICATION.  Any payment made pursuant to this 
Resolution shall be submitted to the Board at the next scheduled meeting for review, 
approval and ratification. The Board retains the right to disapprove any such payment and 
require reimbursement if the payment was not properly authorized under this Resolution.  
Copies of any disbursements made under the authority of this Resolution shall be included 
in the agenda package for the scheduled meeting or otherwise distributed to the Board at 
the meeting.  Any expenditures under this Section 3 must be within the District’s current 
fiscal year budget. 
 
 4. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its 
adoption. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any resolution prescribing authorization 
of payment for expenditures outside of a Board meeting previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
  

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 5 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 

 

 

 

418



 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-10 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 6 AUTHORIZING THE 
DISBURSEMENT OF FUNDS FOR PAYMENT OF CERTAIN CONTINUING 
EXPENSES WITHOUT PRIOR APPROVAL OF THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS; AUTHORIZING THE DISBURSEMENT OF FUNDS FOR 
PAYMENT OF CERTAIN NON-CONTINUING EXPENSES WITHOUT PRIOR 
APPROVAL OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS; PROVIDING FOR CERTAIN 
MONETARY THRESHOLDS; AND PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY AND AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 6 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, section 190.011(5), Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions that 
may be necessary for the conduct of District business; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District's Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) meets as necessary to conduct the 
business of the District, including authorizing the payment of District operating and maintenance expenses; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board may establish monthly, quarterly or other meeting dates not on a frequent 
basis, or may cancel scheduled meetings from time to time; and 
 
 WHEREAS, to conduct the business of the District in an efficient manner, recurring, non-recurring 
and other disbursements for goods and services must be processed and paid in a timely manner; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board determines this Resolution is in the best interest of the District and is 
necessary for the efficient conduct of District business; the health, safety, and welfare of the residents within 
the District; and the preservation of District assets or facilities. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 6: 

 
1. CONTINUING EXPENSES. The Board hereby authorizes the payment of invoices of 

continuing expenses, which meet the following requirements: 
 

a) The invoices must be due on or before the next scheduled meeting of the Board. 
b) The invoice must be pursuant to a contract or agreement authorized by the Board. 
c) The total amount paid under such contract or agreement, including the current invoice, 

must be equal to or less than the amount specified in the contract or agreement. 
d) The invoice amount will not cause payments to exceed the adopted budget of the District. 

 
2. NON-CONTINUING EXPENSES.  The Board hereby authorizes the disbursement of 

funds for payment of invoices of non-continuing expenses which are (i) required to provide for the health, 
safety, and welfare of the residents within the District; or (ii) required to repair, control, or maintain a 
District facility or asset beyond the normal, usual, or customary maintenance required for such facility or 
assets, or (iii) are necessary to avoid an unnecessary expense that may be imposed on the District in 

419



 
 

connection with a District project; or (iv) are for routine services performed on an annual basis and the 
amount of such services is reflected in the District’s annual budget, or (v) are otherwise for an emergency 
circumstance, pursuant to the following schedule: 

 
a) Non-Continuing Expenses Not Exceeding $5,000 - with approval of the District Manager; 

and 
b) Non-Continuing Expenses Exceeding $5,000 - with approval of the 

District Manager and Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Board, if in the 
judgment of the District Manager and Chairman or Vice Chairman such 
Non-Continuing Expense is required to be addressed before the next 
scheduled meeting of the Board of Supervisors.  
 

3. BOARD RATIFICATION.  Any payment made pursuant to this 
Resolution shall be submitted to the Board at the next scheduled meeting for review, 
approval and ratification. The Board retains the right to disapprove any such payment and 
require reimbursement if the payment was not properly authorized under this Resolution.  
Copies of any disbursements made under the authority of this Resolution shall be included 
in the agenda package for the scheduled meeting or otherwise distributed to the Board at 
the meeting.  Any expenditures under this Section 3 must be within the District’s current 
fiscal year budget. 
 
 4. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its 
adoption. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any resolution prescribing authorization 
of payment for expenditures outside of a Board meeting previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
  

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 6 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 

 

 

 

420



 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-10 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 7 AUTHORIZING THE 
DISBURSEMENT OF FUNDS FOR PAYMENT OF CERTAIN CONTINUING 
EXPENSES WITHOUT PRIOR APPROVAL OF THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS; AUTHORIZING THE DISBURSEMENT OF FUNDS FOR 
PAYMENT OF CERTAIN NON-CONTINUING EXPENSES WITHOUT PRIOR 
APPROVAL OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS; PROVIDING FOR CERTAIN 
MONETARY THRESHOLDS; AND PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY AND AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 7 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, section 190.011(5), Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions that 
may be necessary for the conduct of District business; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District's Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) meets as necessary to conduct the 
business of the District, including authorizing the payment of District operating and maintenance expenses; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board may establish monthly, quarterly or other meeting dates not on a frequent 
basis, or may cancel scheduled meetings from time to time; and 
 
 WHEREAS, to conduct the business of the District in an efficient manner, recurring, non-recurring 
and other disbursements for goods and services must be processed and paid in a timely manner; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board determines this Resolution is in the best interest of the District and is 
necessary for the efficient conduct of District business; the health, safety, and welfare of the residents within 
the District; and the preservation of District assets or facilities. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 7: 

 
1. CONTINUING EXPENSES. The Board hereby authorizes the payment of invoices of 

continuing expenses, which meet the following requirements: 
 

a) The invoices must be due on or before the next scheduled meeting of the Board. 
b) The invoice must be pursuant to a contract or agreement authorized by the Board. 
c) The total amount paid under such contract or agreement, including the current invoice, 

must be equal to or less than the amount specified in the contract or agreement. 
d) The invoice amount will not cause payments to exceed the adopted budget of the District. 

 
2. NON-CONTINUING EXPENSES.  The Board hereby authorizes the disbursement of 

funds for payment of invoices of non-continuing expenses which are (i) required to provide for the health, 
safety, and welfare of the residents within the District; or (ii) required to repair, control, or maintain a 
District facility or asset beyond the normal, usual, or customary maintenance required for such facility or 
assets, or (iii) are necessary to avoid an unnecessary expense that may be imposed on the District in 

421



 
 

connection with a District project; or (iv) are for routine services performed on an annual basis and the 
amount of such services is reflected in the District’s annual budget, or (v) are otherwise for an emergency 
circumstance, pursuant to the following schedule: 

 
a) Non-Continuing Expenses Not Exceeding $5,000 - with approval of the District Manager; 

and 
b) Non-Continuing Expenses Exceeding $5,000 - with approval of the 

District Manager and Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Board, if in the 
judgment of the District Manager and Chairman or Vice Chairman such 
Non-Continuing Expense is required to be addressed before the next 
scheduled meeting of the Board of Supervisors.  
 

3. BOARD RATIFICATION.  Any payment made pursuant to this 
Resolution shall be submitted to the Board at the next scheduled meeting for review, 
approval and ratification. The Board retains the right to disapprove any such payment and 
require reimbursement if the payment was not properly authorized under this Resolution.  
Copies of any disbursements made under the authority of this Resolution shall be included 
in the agenda package for the scheduled meeting or otherwise distributed to the Board at 
the meeting.  Any expenditures under this Section 3 must be within the District’s current 
fiscal year budget. 
 
 4. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its 
adoption. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any resolution prescribing authorization 
of payment for expenditures outside of a Board meeting previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
  

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 7 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 

 

 

 

422



 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-10 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 8 AUTHORIZING THE 
DISBURSEMENT OF FUNDS FOR PAYMENT OF CERTAIN CONTINUING 
EXPENSES WITHOUT PRIOR APPROVAL OF THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS; AUTHORIZING THE DISBURSEMENT OF FUNDS FOR 
PAYMENT OF CERTAIN NON-CONTINUING EXPENSES WITHOUT PRIOR 
APPROVAL OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS; PROVIDING FOR CERTAIN 
MONETARY THRESHOLDS; AND PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY AND AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 8 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, section 190.011(5), Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions that 
may be necessary for the conduct of District business; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District's Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) meets as necessary to conduct the 
business of the District, including authorizing the payment of District operating and maintenance expenses; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board may establish monthly, quarterly or other meeting dates not on a frequent 
basis, or may cancel scheduled meetings from time to time; and 
 
 WHEREAS, to conduct the business of the District in an efficient manner, recurring, non-recurring 
and other disbursements for goods and services must be processed and paid in a timely manner; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board determines this Resolution is in the best interest of the District and is 
necessary for the efficient conduct of District business; the health, safety, and welfare of the residents within 
the District; and the preservation of District assets or facilities. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 8: 

 
1. CONTINUING EXPENSES. The Board hereby authorizes the payment of invoices of 

continuing expenses, which meet the following requirements: 
 

a) The invoices must be due on or before the next scheduled meeting of the Board. 
b) The invoice must be pursuant to a contract or agreement authorized by the Board. 
c) The total amount paid under such contract or agreement, including the current invoice, 

must be equal to or less than the amount specified in the contract or agreement. 
d) The invoice amount will not cause payments to exceed the adopted budget of the District. 

 
2. NON-CONTINUING EXPENSES.  The Board hereby authorizes the disbursement of 

funds for payment of invoices of non-continuing expenses which are (i) required to provide for the health, 
safety, and welfare of the residents within the District; or (ii) required to repair, control, or maintain a 
District facility or asset beyond the normal, usual, or customary maintenance required for such facility or 
assets, or (iii) are necessary to avoid an unnecessary expense that may be imposed on the District in 

423



 
 

connection with a District project; or (iv) are for routine services performed on an annual basis and the 
amount of such services is reflected in the District’s annual budget, or (v) are otherwise for an emergency 
circumstance, pursuant to the following schedule: 

 
a) Non-Continuing Expenses Not Exceeding $5,000 - with approval of the District Manager; 

and 
b) Non-Continuing Expenses Exceeding $5,000 - with approval of the 

District Manager and Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Board, if in the 
judgment of the District Manager and Chairman or Vice Chairman such 
Non-Continuing Expense is required to be addressed before the next 
scheduled meeting of the Board of Supervisors.  
 

3. BOARD RATIFICATION.  Any payment made pursuant to this 
Resolution shall be submitted to the Board at the next scheduled meeting for review, 
approval and ratification. The Board retains the right to disapprove any such payment and 
require reimbursement if the payment was not properly authorized under this Resolution.  
Copies of any disbursements made under the authority of this Resolution shall be included 
in the agenda package for the scheduled meeting or otherwise distributed to the Board at 
the meeting.  Any expenditures under this Section 3 must be within the District’s current 
fiscal year budget. 
 
 4. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its 
adoption. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any resolution prescribing authorization 
of payment for expenditures outside of a Board meeting previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
  

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 8 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 

 

 

 

424



 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-10 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 9 AUTHORIZING THE 
DISBURSEMENT OF FUNDS FOR PAYMENT OF CERTAIN CONTINUING 
EXPENSES WITHOUT PRIOR APPROVAL OF THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS; AUTHORIZING THE DISBURSEMENT OF FUNDS FOR 
PAYMENT OF CERTAIN NON-CONTINUING EXPENSES WITHOUT PRIOR 
APPROVAL OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS; PROVIDING FOR CERTAIN 
MONETARY THRESHOLDS; AND PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY AND AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 9 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, section 190.011(5), Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions that 
may be necessary for the conduct of District business; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District's Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) meets as necessary to conduct the 
business of the District, including authorizing the payment of District operating and maintenance expenses; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board may establish monthly, quarterly or other meeting dates not on a frequent 
basis, or may cancel scheduled meetings from time to time; and 
 
 WHEREAS, to conduct the business of the District in an efficient manner, recurring, non-recurring 
and other disbursements for goods and services must be processed and paid in a timely manner; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board determines this Resolution is in the best interest of the District and is 
necessary for the efficient conduct of District business; the health, safety, and welfare of the residents within 
the District; and the preservation of District assets or facilities. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 9: 

 
1. CONTINUING EXPENSES. The Board hereby authorizes the payment of invoices of 

continuing expenses, which meet the following requirements: 
 

a) The invoices must be due on or before the next scheduled meeting of the Board. 
b) The invoice must be pursuant to a contract or agreement authorized by the Board. 
c) The total amount paid under such contract or agreement, including the current invoice, 

must be equal to or less than the amount specified in the contract or agreement. 
d) The invoice amount will not cause payments to exceed the adopted budget of the District. 

 
2. NON-CONTINUING EXPENSES.  The Board hereby authorizes the disbursement of 

funds for payment of invoices of non-continuing expenses which are (i) required to provide for the health, 
safety, and welfare of the residents within the District; or (ii) required to repair, control, or maintain a 
District facility or asset beyond the normal, usual, or customary maintenance required for such facility or 
assets, or (iii) are necessary to avoid an unnecessary expense that may be imposed on the District in 

425



 
 

connection with a District project; or (iv) are for routine services performed on an annual basis and the 
amount of such services is reflected in the District’s annual budget, or (v) are otherwise for an emergency 
circumstance, pursuant to the following schedule: 

 
a) Non-Continuing Expenses Not Exceeding $5,000 - with approval of the District Manager; 

and 
b) Non-Continuing Expenses Exceeding $5,000 - with approval of the 

District Manager and Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Board, if in the 
judgment of the District Manager and Chairman or Vice Chairman such 
Non-Continuing Expense is required to be addressed before the next 
scheduled meeting of the Board of Supervisors.  
 

3. BOARD RATIFICATION.  Any payment made pursuant to this 
Resolution shall be submitted to the Board at the next scheduled meeting for review, 
approval and ratification. The Board retains the right to disapprove any such payment and 
require reimbursement if the payment was not properly authorized under this Resolution.  
Copies of any disbursements made under the authority of this Resolution shall be included 
in the agenda package for the scheduled meeting or otherwise distributed to the Board at 
the meeting.  Any expenditures under this Section 3 must be within the District’s current 
fiscal year budget. 
 
 4. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its 
adoption. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any resolution prescribing authorization 
of payment for expenditures outside of a Board meeting previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
  

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 9 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 

 

 

 

426



 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-10 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 10 AUTHORIZING THE 
DISBURSEMENT OF FUNDS FOR PAYMENT OF CERTAIN CONTINUING 
EXPENSES WITHOUT PRIOR APPROVAL OF THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS; AUTHORIZING THE DISBURSEMENT OF FUNDS FOR 
PAYMENT OF CERTAIN NON-CONTINUING EXPENSES WITHOUT PRIOR 
APPROVAL OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS; PROVIDING FOR CERTAIN 
MONETARY THRESHOLDS; AND PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY AND AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 10 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, section 190.011(5), Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions that 
may be necessary for the conduct of District business; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District's Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) meets as necessary to conduct the 
business of the District, including authorizing the payment of District operating and maintenance expenses; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board may establish monthly, quarterly or other meeting dates not on a frequent 
basis, or may cancel scheduled meetings from time to time; and 
 
 WHEREAS, to conduct the business of the District in an efficient manner, recurring, non-recurring 
and other disbursements for goods and services must be processed and paid in a timely manner; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board determines this Resolution is in the best interest of the District and is 
necessary for the efficient conduct of District business; the health, safety, and welfare of the residents within 
the District; and the preservation of District assets or facilities. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 10: 

 
1. CONTINUING EXPENSES. The Board hereby authorizes the payment of invoices of 

continuing expenses, which meet the following requirements: 
 

a) The invoices must be due on or before the next scheduled meeting of the Board. 
b) The invoice must be pursuant to a contract or agreement authorized by the Board. 
c) The total amount paid under such contract or agreement, including the current invoice, 

must be equal to or less than the amount specified in the contract or agreement. 
d) The invoice amount will not cause payments to exceed the adopted budget of the District. 

 
2. NON-CONTINUING EXPENSES.  The Board hereby authorizes the disbursement of 

funds for payment of invoices of non-continuing expenses which are (i) required to provide for the health, 
safety, and welfare of the residents within the District; or (ii) required to repair, control, or maintain a 
District facility or asset beyond the normal, usual, or customary maintenance required for such facility or 
assets, or (iii) are necessary to avoid an unnecessary expense that may be imposed on the District in 

427



 
 

connection with a District project; or (iv) are for routine services performed on an annual basis and the 
amount of such services is reflected in the District’s annual budget, or (v) are otherwise for an emergency 
circumstance, pursuant to the following schedule: 

 
a) Non-Continuing Expenses Not Exceeding $5,000 - with approval of the District Manager; 

and 
b) Non-Continuing Expenses Exceeding $5,000 - with approval of the 

District Manager and Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Board, if in the 
judgment of the District Manager and Chairman or Vice Chairman such 
Non-Continuing Expense is required to be addressed before the next 
scheduled meeting of the Board of Supervisors.  
 

3. BOARD RATIFICATION.  Any payment made pursuant to this 
Resolution shall be submitted to the Board at the next scheduled meeting for review, 
approval and ratification. The Board retains the right to disapprove any such payment and 
require reimbursement if the payment was not properly authorized under this Resolution.  
Copies of any disbursements made under the authority of this Resolution shall be included 
in the agenda package for the scheduled meeting or otherwise distributed to the Board at 
the meeting.  Any expenditures under this Section 3 must be within the District’s current 
fiscal year budget. 
 
 4. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its 
adoption. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any resolution prescribing authorization 
of payment for expenditures outside of a Board meeting previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
  

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 10 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 

 

 

 

428



 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-10 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 11 AUTHORIZING THE 
DISBURSEMENT OF FUNDS FOR PAYMENT OF CERTAIN CONTINUING 
EXPENSES WITHOUT PRIOR APPROVAL OF THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS; AUTHORIZING THE DISBURSEMENT OF FUNDS FOR 
PAYMENT OF CERTAIN NON-CONTINUING EXPENSES WITHOUT PRIOR 
APPROVAL OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS; PROVIDING FOR CERTAIN 
MONETARY THRESHOLDS; AND PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY AND AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 11 (the “District”) is a local unit 
of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, section 190.011(5), Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt resolutions that 
may be necessary for the conduct of District business; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District's Board of Supervisors (the “Board”) meets as necessary to conduct the 
business of the District, including authorizing the payment of District operating and maintenance expenses; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board may establish monthly, quarterly or other meeting dates not on a frequent 
basis, or may cancel scheduled meetings from time to time; and 
 
 WHEREAS, to conduct the business of the District in an efficient manner, recurring, non-recurring 
and other disbursements for goods and services must be processed and paid in a timely manner; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board determines this Resolution is in the best interest of the District and is 
necessary for the efficient conduct of District business; the health, safety, and welfare of the residents within 
the District; and the preservation of District assets or facilities. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 11: 

 
1. CONTINUING EXPENSES. The Board hereby authorizes the payment of invoices of 

continuing expenses, which meet the following requirements: 
 

a) The invoices must be due on or before the next scheduled meeting of the Board. 
b) The invoice must be pursuant to a contract or agreement authorized by the Board. 
c) The total amount paid under such contract or agreement, including the current invoice, 

must be equal to or less than the amount specified in the contract or agreement. 
d) The invoice amount will not cause payments to exceed the adopted budget of the District. 

 
2. NON-CONTINUING EXPENSES.  The Board hereby authorizes the disbursement of 

funds for payment of invoices of non-continuing expenses which are (i) required to provide for the health, 
safety, and welfare of the residents within the District; or (ii) required to repair, control, or maintain a 
District facility or asset beyond the normal, usual, or customary maintenance required for such facility or 
assets, or (iii) are necessary to avoid an unnecessary expense that may be imposed on the District in 

429



 
 

connection with a District project; or (iv) are for routine services performed on an annual basis and the 
amount of such services is reflected in the District’s annual budget, or (v) are otherwise for an emergency 
circumstance, pursuant to the following schedule: 

 
a) Non-Continuing Expenses Not Exceeding $5,000 - with approval of the District Manager; 

and 
b) Non-Continuing Expenses Exceeding $5,000 - with approval of the 

District Manager and Chairman or Vice Chairman of the Board, if in the 
judgment of the District Manager and Chairman or Vice Chairman such 
Non-Continuing Expense is required to be addressed before the next 
scheduled meeting of the Board of Supervisors.  
 

3. BOARD RATIFICATION.  Any payment made pursuant to this 
Resolution shall be submitted to the Board at the next scheduled meeting for review, 
approval and ratification. The Board retains the right to disapprove any such payment and 
require reimbursement if the payment was not properly authorized under this Resolution.  
Copies of any disbursements made under the authority of this Resolution shall be included 
in the agenda package for the scheduled meeting or otherwise distributed to the Board at 
the meeting.  Any expenditures under this Section 3 must be within the District’s current 
fiscal year budget. 
 
 4. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its 
adoption. Furthermore, upon its passage this Resolution supersedes any resolution prescribing authorization 
of payment for expenditures outside of a Board meeting previously adopted by the District. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026.  
  

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 11 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 
 
 

 

 

 

430



Kutak Rock LLP 

107 West College Avenue, Tallahassee, FL 32301-7707 

office 850.692.7300 

 
 

  
 

11 
 

MEMORANDUM 
FROM: Kutak Rock LLP  
 
TO:  Board of Supervisors 
 
DATE: January 7, 2026 
 
 
Subject: Resolution Setting Hearing on the District’s Rules of Procedure 

 

Staff Recommendation 

Staff recommends the Board adopt the Resolution Setting Hearing on the District’s Rules of 
Procedure. 

 

General Information 

This resolution sets a public hearing on the adoption of the Rules of Procedure. The public 
hearing with be held on the March Board meeting. 

 

District Legal Counsel Review 

The District’s attorneys prepared by this Resolution. 

 

Funding Review 

This Resolution is not expected to affect the District’s financial condition. 

 

431



 

1 

RESOLUTION 2026-11 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1 TO 
DESIGNATE DATE, TIME AND PLACE OF PUBLIC HEARING AND 
AUTHORIZATION TO PUBLISH NOTICE OF SUCH HEARING FOR 
THE PURPOSE OF ADOPTING RULES OF PROCEDURE; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
WHEREAS, Tradition Community Development District No. 1 (the “District”) is a local 

unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, 
being situated entirely within City of Port St. Lucie, St. Lucie County, Florida; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (the “Board”) is authorized by Section 
190.011(5), Florida Statutes, to adopt rules and orders pursuant to Chapter 120, Florida Statutes. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1: 

 
SECTION 1. A Public Hearing will be held to adopt the District’s Rules of Procedure on 

March 4, 2026, at 11:00  a.m., at Tradition Town Hall located at 10799 SW Civic Lane, Port St. 
Lucie, Florida 34987. 
 

SECTION 2. The District Secretary is directed to publish notice of the hearing in accordance 
with Section 120.54, Florida Statutes. 

 
SECTION 3. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2025. 

 
ATTEST:       TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1 
 
 
_______________________________  _________________________________ 
Secretary / Assistant Secretary   Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 432



 

2 

 
RESOLUTION 2026-11 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 TO 
DESIGNATE DATE, TIME AND PLACE OF PUBLIC HEARING AND 
AUTHORIZATION TO PUBLISH NOTICE OF SUCH HEARING FOR 
THE PURPOSE OF ADOPTING RULES OF PROCEDURE; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
WHEREAS, Tradition Community Development District No. 2 (the “District”) is a local 

unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, 
being situated entirely within City of Port St. Lucie, St. Lucie County, Florida; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (the “Board”) is authorized by Section 
190.011(5), Florida Statutes, to adopt rules and orders pursuant to Chapter 120, Florida Statutes. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2: 

 
SECTION 1. A Public Hearing will be held to adopt the District’s Rules of Procedure on 

March 4, 2026, at 11:00  a.m., at Tradition Town Hall located at 10799 SW Civic Lane, Port St. 
Lucie, Florida 34987. 
 

SECTION 2. The District Secretary is directed to publish notice of the hearing in accordance 
with Section 120.54, Florida Statutes. 

 
SECTION 3. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2025. 

 
ATTEST:       TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 
 
 
_______________________________  _________________________________ 
Secretary / Assistant Secretary   Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 433



 

3 

 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-11 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 3 TO 
DESIGNATE DATE, TIME AND PLACE OF PUBLIC HEARING AND 
AUTHORIZATION TO PUBLISH NOTICE OF SUCH HEARING FOR 
THE PURPOSE OF ADOPTING RULES OF PROCEDURE; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
WHEREAS, Tradition Community Development District No. 3 (the “District”) is a local 

unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, 
being situated entirely within City of Port St. Lucie, St. Lucie County, Florida; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (the “Board”) is authorized by Section 
190.011(5), Florida Statutes, to adopt rules and orders pursuant to Chapter 120, Florida Statutes. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 3: 

 
SECTION 1. A Public Hearing will be held to adopt the District’s Rules of Procedure on 

March 4, 2026, at 11:00  a.m., at Tradition Town Hall located at 10799 SW Civic Lane, Port St. 
Lucie, Florida 34987. 
 

SECTION 2. The District Secretary is directed to publish notice of the hearing in accordance 
with Section 120.54, Florida Statutes. 

 
SECTION 3. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2025. 

 
ATTEST:       TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 3 
 
 
_______________________________  _________________________________ 
Secretary / Assistant Secretary   Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 434



 

4 

 
 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-11 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 4 TO 
DESIGNATE DATE, TIME AND PLACE OF PUBLIC HEARING AND 
AUTHORIZATION TO PUBLISH NOTICE OF SUCH HEARING FOR 
THE PURPOSE OF ADOPTING RULES OF PROCEDURE; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
WHEREAS, Tradition Community Development District No. 4 (the “District”) is a local 

unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, 
being situated entirely within City of Port St. Lucie, St. Lucie County, Florida; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (the “Board”) is authorized by Section 
190.011(5), Florida Statutes, to adopt rules and orders pursuant to Chapter 120, Florida Statutes. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 4: 

 
SECTION 1. A Public Hearing will be held to adopt the District’s Rules of Procedure on 

March 4, 2026, at 11:00  a.m., at Tradition Town Hall located at 10799 SW Civic Lane, Port St. 
Lucie, Florida 34987. 
 

SECTION 2. The District Secretary is directed to publish notice of the hearing in accordance 
with Section 120.54, Florida Statutes. 

 
SECTION 3. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2025. 

 
ATTEST:       TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 4 
 
 
_______________________________  _________________________________ 
Secretary / Assistant Secretary   Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 435



 

5 

 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-11 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5 TO 
DESIGNATE DATE, TIME AND PLACE OF PUBLIC HEARING AND 
AUTHORIZATION TO PUBLISH NOTICE OF SUCH HEARING FOR 
THE PURPOSE OF ADOPTING RULES OF PROCEDURE; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
WHEREAS, Tradition Community Development District No. 5 (the “District”) is a local 

unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, 
being situated entirely within City of Port St. Lucie, St. Lucie County, Florida; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (the “Board”) is authorized by Section 
190.011(5), Florida Statutes, to adopt rules and orders pursuant to Chapter 120, Florida Statutes. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5: 

 
SECTION 1. A Public Hearing will be held to adopt the District’s Rules of Procedure on 

March 4, 2026, at 11:00  a.m., at Tradition Town Hall located at 10799 SW Civic Lane, Port St. 
Lucie, Florida 34987. 
 

SECTION 2. The District Secretary is directed to publish notice of the hearing in accordance 
with Section 120.54, Florida Statutes. 

 
SECTION 3. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2025. 

 
ATTEST:       TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5 
 
 
_______________________________  _________________________________ 
Secretary / Assistant Secretary   Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 436



 

6 

 
 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-11 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 6 TO 
DESIGNATE DATE, TIME AND PLACE OF PUBLIC HEARING AND 
AUTHORIZATION TO PUBLISH NOTICE OF SUCH HEARING FOR 
THE PURPOSE OF ADOPTING RULES OF PROCEDURE; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
WHEREAS, Tradition Community Development District No. 6 (the “District”) is a local 

unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, 
being situated entirely within City of Port St. Lucie, St. Lucie County, Florida; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (the “Board”) is authorized by Section 
190.011(5), Florida Statutes, to adopt rules and orders pursuant to Chapter 120, Florida Statutes. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 6: 

 
SECTION 1. A Public Hearing will be held to adopt the District’s Rules of Procedure on 

March 4, 2026, at 11:00  a.m., at Tradition Town Hall located at 10799 SW Civic Lane, Port St. 
Lucie, Florida 34987. 
 

SECTION 2. The District Secretary is directed to publish notice of the hearing in accordance 
with Section 120.54, Florida Statutes. 

 
SECTION 3. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2025. 

 
ATTEST:       TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 6 
 
 
_______________________________  _________________________________ 
Secretary / Assistant Secretary   Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 437



 

7 

 
 
 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-11 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 7 TO 
DESIGNATE DATE, TIME AND PLACE OF PUBLIC HEARING AND 
AUTHORIZATION TO PUBLISH NOTICE OF SUCH HEARING FOR 
THE PURPOSE OF ADOPTING RULES OF PROCEDURE; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
WHEREAS, Tradition Community Development District No. 7 (the “District”) is a local 

unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, 
being situated entirely within City of Port St. Lucie, St. Lucie County, Florida; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (the “Board”) is authorized by Section 
190.011(5), Florida Statutes, to adopt rules and orders pursuant to Chapter 120, Florida Statutes. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 7: 

 
SECTION 1. A Public Hearing will be held to adopt the District’s Rules of Procedure on 

March 4, 2026, at 11:00  a.m., at Tradition Town Hall located at 10799 SW Civic Lane, Port St. 
Lucie, Florida 34987. 
 

SECTION 2. The District Secretary is directed to publish notice of the hearing in accordance 
with Section 120.54, Florida Statutes. 

 
SECTION 3. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2025. 

 
ATTEST:       TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 7 
 
 
_______________________________  _________________________________ 
Secretary / Assistant Secretary   Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 
 
 438



 

8 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-11 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 8 TO 
DESIGNATE DATE, TIME AND PLACE OF PUBLIC HEARING AND 
AUTHORIZATION TO PUBLISH NOTICE OF SUCH HEARING FOR 
THE PURPOSE OF ADOPTING RULES OF PROCEDURE; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
WHEREAS, Tradition Community Development District No. 8 (the “District”) is a local 

unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, 
being situated entirely within City of Port St. Lucie, St. Lucie County, Florida; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (the “Board”) is authorized by Section 
190.011(5), Florida Statutes, to adopt rules and orders pursuant to Chapter 120, Florida Statutes. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 8: 

 
SECTION 1. A Public Hearing will be held to adopt the District’s Rules of Procedure on 

March 4, 2026, at 11:00  a.m., at Tradition Town Hall located at 10799 SW Civic Lane, Port St. 
Lucie, Florida 34987. 
 

SECTION 2. The District Secretary is directed to publish notice of the hearing in accordance 
with Section 120.54, Florida Statutes. 

 
SECTION 3. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2025. 

 
ATTEST:       TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 8 
 
 
_______________________________  _________________________________ 
Secretary / Assistant Secretary   Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 
 439



 

9 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-11 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 9 TO 
DESIGNATE DATE, TIME AND PLACE OF PUBLIC HEARING AND 
AUTHORIZATION TO PUBLISH NOTICE OF SUCH HEARING FOR 
THE PURPOSE OF ADOPTING RULES OF PROCEDURE; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
WHEREAS, Tradition Community Development District No. 9 (the “District”) is a local 

unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, 
being situated entirely within City of Port St. Lucie, St. Lucie County, Florida; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (the “Board”) is authorized by Section 
190.011(5), Florida Statutes, to adopt rules and orders pursuant to Chapter 120, Florida Statutes. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 9: 

 
SECTION 1. A Public Hearing will be held to adopt the District’s Rules of Procedure on 

March 4, 2026, at 11:00  a.m., at Tradition Town Hall located at 10799 SW Civic Lane, Port St. 
Lucie, Florida 34987. 
 

SECTION 2. The District Secretary is directed to publish notice of the hearing in accordance 
with Section 120.54, Florida Statutes. 

 
SECTION 3. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2025. 

 
ATTEST:       TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 9 
 
 
_______________________________  _________________________________ 
Secretary / Assistant Secretary   Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 440



 

10 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-11 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 10 TO 
DESIGNATE DATE, TIME AND PLACE OF PUBLIC HEARING AND 
AUTHORIZATION TO PUBLISH NOTICE OF SUCH HEARING FOR 
THE PURPOSE OF ADOPTING RULES OF PROCEDURE; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
WHEREAS, Tradition Community Development District No. 10 (the “District”) is a local 

unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, 
being situated entirely within City of Port St. Lucie, St. Lucie County, Florida; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (the “Board”) is authorized by Section 
190.011(5), Florida Statutes, to adopt rules and orders pursuant to Chapter 120, Florida Statutes. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 10: 

 
SECTION 1. A Public Hearing will be held to adopt the District’s Rules of Procedure on 

March 4, 2026, at 11:00  a.m., at Tradition Town Hall located at 10799 SW Civic Lane, Port St. 
Lucie, Florida 34987. 
 

SECTION 2. The District Secretary is directed to publish notice of the hearing in accordance 
with Section 120.54, Florida Statutes. 

 
SECTION 3. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2025. 

 
ATTEST:       TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 10 
 
 
_______________________________  _________________________________ 
Secretary / Assistant Secretary   Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 441



 

11 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION 2026-11 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 11 TO 
DESIGNATE DATE, TIME AND PLACE OF PUBLIC HEARING AND 
AUTHORIZATION TO PUBLISH NOTICE OF SUCH HEARING FOR 
THE PURPOSE OF ADOPTING RULES OF PROCEDURE; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
WHEREAS, Tradition Community Development District No. 11 (the “District”) is a local 

unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, 
being situated entirely within City of Port St. Lucie, St. Lucie County, Florida; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District (the “Board”) is authorized by Section 
190.011(5), Florida Statutes, to adopt rules and orders pursuant to Chapter 120, Florida Statutes. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 11: 

 
SECTION 1. A Public Hearing will be held to adopt the District’s Rules of Procedure on 

March 4, 2026, at 11:00  a.m., at Tradition Town Hall located at 10799 SW Civic Lane, Port St. 
Lucie, Florida 34987. 
 

SECTION 2. The District Secretary is directed to publish notice of the hearing in accordance 
with Section 120.54, Florida Statutes. 

 
SECTION 3. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2025. 

 
ATTEST:       TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 11 
 
 
_______________________________  _________________________________ 
Secretary / Assistant Secretary   Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 
 442



TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NOS. 1-11 
Tradition Town Hall 
10799 SW Civic Lane 

Port St. Lucie, Florida 34987 
OR 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/3341025012?omn=86540614650  
Meeting ID: 334 102 5012 

Dial-In: 1 929 436 2866 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING 

November 5, 2025 
11:00 a.m. 

 

A. CALL TO ORDER 
 
The Regular Board Meeting of the Tradition Community Development District No.’s 1-11 of 
November 5, 2025, was called to order at 11:00 a.m. in the Tradition Town Hall located at 10799 SW 
Civic Lane, Port St. Lucie, Florida 34987. 
 
B. PROOF OF PUBLICATION 
 
Proof of publication was presented that showed notice of the Regular Board Meeting had been 
published in the St. Lucie News Tribune on September 10, 2025, as part of the District’s Fiscal Year 
2025/2026 meeting schedule, as legally required. 
 
C.      ESTABLISH A QUORUM 
 
It was determined that the attendance of the following Supervisors constituted a quorum, and it was in 
order to proceed with the meeting: 
 
CDD #’s 1, 2, 7, 8, 9, 10 & 11   
Chairman Eric Sexauer  Present 
Vice Chairman   William Pittsley Present 
Supervisor Tara Toto Present 
Supervisor Karl Albertson Present 
Supervisor Jonas Read Present 

 
CDD # 3    
Supervisor Joe Piatcheck Present (via Zoom) 
Chairman Isiah Steinberg Present 
Supervisor Stan Briggs Present  
Vice Chair Rosario “Roy” Perconte Present 
Supervisor Suzanne Killeen Present 

 
CDD # 4   
Chairman Gail Cost Present 
Vice Chairman Rich Giglia Present 
Supervisor Rob Siedlecki Present (via Zoom) 
Supervisor Lauren Leandre  Present  
Supervisor Drew Wesley  Present (via Zoom) 

443

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/3341025012?omn=86540614650


 
CDD # 5   
Supervisor Cathy Powers Absent 
Chairperson  Chris King Present (via Zoom) 
Supervisor Dave Lasher Present 
Supervisor Rick Dixon Present (via Zoom) 
Vice Chairman Joe Pinto Absent 

 
CDD # 6   
Chairman Jerry Krbec Present 
Vice Chairman Keith Bulkin Present 
Supervisor George Russell Present 
Supervisor John Slicher  Present 
Supervisor Peter Webb Present 

 
Staff members in attendance were: 
 
District Manager Frank Sakuma Special District Services, Inc. 
District Manager Stephanie Brown Special District Services, Inc. 
Assistant District Manager Jessica Wargo Special District Services, Inc. 
District Manager Andrew Karmeris Special District Services, Inc. 
District Counsel Bennett Davenport Kutak Rock 
District Engineer Stef Matthes Culpepper and Terpening 

 
Also present: Michael McElligot with Special District Services, Inc, 
 
(See attached sign-in sheet) 
 
D. ADDITIONS OR DELETIONS TO AGENDA 

There were no additions or deletions to the agenda. 
 
E.  COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC NOT ON THE AGENDA 
 
Karen from Vitalia would like to know the date of the official re-use water connection notice from the 
City of Port St. Lucie. 
 
A resident of the Estates at Tradition voiced his concern about the loud noise coming from a water 
pump generator located near the entrance to Esplanade. Mr. Sexauer responded that he would have 
District staff look into it. 
 
F. CONSENT ITEMS 
 

1. Approval of October 1, 2025, Regular Board Meeting Minutes 

2. Approval of WA #19-143-197; 12841 SW Lake Fern Circle – Generator 
 
A motion was made by CDD No. 1 Mr. Albertson, seconded by Mr. Sexauer and passed unanimously 
by CDD No.1 approving the above Consent Items, as presented.  
 
G. OLD BUSINESS 

444



 
1. Franchise Agreement 

 
Mr. Albertson advised that the Franchise Agreement was ongoing. 
 

2. Irrigation Rate Study 
 
Mr. Sakuma advised that the Irrigation Rate Study preparation was ongoing. 
 
H. NEW BUSINESS 
 

1. Resolution No. 2025-23; Amended Final Fiscal Year Budget 2024/2025 
 
Resolution No. 2025-23 was presented, entitled: 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-23 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO.’S 1-11 AUTHORIZING AND 
ADOPTING AN AMENDED FINAL FISCAL YEAR 2024/2025 BUDGET, 
PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 190, FLORIDA STATUTES; AND PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
A motion was made by CDD Nos. 1, 2, 7, 8, 9, 10, and 11, Mr. Sexauer, seconded by Mr. Jonas, 
adopting Resolution 2025-23 Authorizing and Adopting an Amended Final Fiscal Year 2024/2025 
Budget. The motion passed unanimously. 
 
A motion was made by CDD No. 3, Mr. Steinberg, seconded by Ms. Killeen, adopting Resolution 
2025-23 Authorizing and Adopting an Amended Final Fiscal Year 2024/2025 Budget. The motion 
passed unanimously. 
 
A motion was made by CDD Nos. 4, Ms. Cost, seconded by Ms. Leandre, adopting Resolution 2025-
23 Authorizing and Adopting an Amended Final Fiscal Year 2024/2025 Budget. The motion passed 
unanimously. 
 
A motion was made by CDD No 6, Mr. Krbec, seconded by Mr. Bulkin, adopting Resolution 2025-23 
Authorizing and Adopting an Amended Final Fiscal Year 2024/2025 Budget. The motion passed 
unanimously. 
 

2. Resolution No. 2025-24 for District Nos. 1-11; Designating a Registered Agent and 
Registered Office of the District  

 
Resolution 2025-24 was presented, entitled: 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-24 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1, TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2, TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 3, TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 4, TRADITION 

445



COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5, TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 6, TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 7, TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 8, TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 9, TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 10  AND TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 11 DESIGNATING A 
REGISTERED AGENT AND REGISTERED OFFICE OF THE DISTRICT AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 
A motion was made by CDD Nos. 1, 2, 7, 8, 9, 10, and 11, Mr. Sexauer, seconded by Mr. Albertson, 
adopting Resolution 2025-24, as presented, designating Lindsay Whelan of Kutak Rock as the 
Registered Agent and Kutak Rock, LLC, 107 West College Avenue, Tallahassee, FL 32301 as the 
Registered Office. The motion passed unanimously. 
 
A motion was made by CDD No. 3, Mr. Steinberg seconded by Ms. Killeen, adopting Resolution 2025-
24, as presented, designating Lindsay Whelan of Kutak Rock as the Registered Agent and Kutak Rock, 
LLC, 107 West College Avenue, Tallahassee, FL 32301 as the Registered Office. The motion passed 
unanimously. 
 
A motion was made by CDD No. 4, Ms. Cost, seconded by Mr. Giglia, adopting Resolution 2025-24, 
as presented, designating Lindsay Whelan of Kutak Rock as the Registered Agent and Kutak Rock, LLC, 
107 West College Avenue, Tallahassee, FL 32301 as the Registered Office. The motion passed 
unanimously. 
 
A motion was made by CDD No. 6, Mr. Webb, seconded by Mr. Krbec, adopting Resolution 2025-24, 
as presented, designating Lindsay Whelan of Kutak Rock as the Registered Agent and Kutak Rock, LLC, 
107 West College Avenue, Tallahassee, FL 32301 as the Registered Office. The motion passed 
unanimously. 
 

3. Resolution No. 2025-28; Extending the Terms of Office for all Current Supervisors – 
District No. 11 

 
Resolution No. 2025-28 was presented, entitled: 
 

RESOLUTION 2025-28 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF TRADITION 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 11 EXTENDING THE 
TERMS OF OFFICE OF ALL CURRENT SUPERVISORS TO COINCIDE 
WITH THE GENERAL ELECTION PURSUANT TO SECTION 190.006, 
FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING 
AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
A motion was made by CDD No. 11 Mr. Sexauer, seconded by Mr. Read, adopting Resolution 2025-
28, Extending the Terms of Office of All Current Supervisors to Coincide with the General Election. 
The motion passed unanimously. 
 

4. RFPs for Aquatic Maintenance  
 

446



Mr. Davenport explained the RFP selection and scoring process to the Board.  Development Coordinator 
John Gallagher gave an overview of all aquatic maintenance bids submitted and answered Board 
questions. 
 
There was a consensus of the Board to address all agenda items and complete the Aquatic Maintenance 
RFP Proposal Ranking Sheets once all other agenda items had been discussed. 
 
I.     ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 
 

1. Manager’s Report 
 
Mr. Sakuma reminded the Board Members to complete the required 4-hour ethics training, which is 
due by December 31, 2025. 
 
There was a consensus of the Board to cancel the December 3, 2025, Regular Board Meeting.  The 
next Regular Board Meeting is scheduled for January 7, 2026. 
 

2. Attorney’s Report 
 
Mr. Davenport advised that he would present organizational resolutions for consideration at a future 
Board Meeting. 
 

3. Engineer’s Report 
 
Mr. Matthes provided an update on the lake banks restoration.  He stated that planting schemes could 
be completed by November.  
 

4. Financial Report 
 
Mr. Sakuma advised that the financial report was provided in the meeting package, and Mr. Karmeris 
was present to answer questions.  
 
Mr. Karmeris advised that he had recently provided his resignation to SDS and today would be his last 
District meeting.  Michael McElligot with Special District Services will take over his position. Mr. 
Sexauer expressed his gratitude for all the work Mr. Karmeris had done and wished him well in his 
future endeavors.  
 

5. Founder’s Report  

Mr. Sexauer advised that the lighting would be adjusted at the Heart Sculpture; the Stars and Stripes 
Park grand opening was set for December; and the completion of the Regional Park was still 
scheduled for Q1.  The cell tower has also been erected but is not yet operational. 
 
J. BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS 
 
There were no further Board comments.  
 
RFPs for Aquatic Maintenance (item continued after all other agenda items addressed) 
 
Mr. Sakuma stated that the RFP Aquatic Maintenance ranking scores from highest to lowest were as 
follows: 

447



 
1. Solitude - 433 
2. Premier Lakes – 429.5 
3. Crosscreek Environmental – 371 

 
A motion was made by CDD No. 1, Mr. Albertson, seconded by Mr. Jonas, approving the final RFP 
aquatic maintenance rankings, awarding the contract to Solitude and directing District Counsel to 
negotiate and finalize an agreement and to send out award notices. The motion passed unanimously. 
 
K. ADJORNMENT 
  
There being no further business to come before the Board, a motion was made by Mr. Sexauer, 
seconded by Mr. Read, adjourning the meeting at 12:15 p.m. There were no objections. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Secretary (Frank Sakuma)              Chair (Eric Sexauer) 
 
 
_________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Print Signature    Print Signature  

448



449



 
 

Claim Number: 25-439649821 
 
 
KNOW BY THESE PRESENTS, THAT I/WE, Tradition CDD No 1, for and in consideration of the sum of Ten Thousand 
and 00/100 dollars ($10000.00), the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, do hereby for myself/ourselves release and forever 
discharge Elizabeth Regan from any and all claims, actions, causes of action, demands, damages, costs, and any compensation 
whatsoever, which the undersigned now has/have or which may hereafter accrue for damages to property, including any claims for 
loss of use, diminution in value or other personal property, arising out of an accident which occurred on or about September 29th, 
2025, at or near Port St. Lucie, FL. 
 
It is understood and agreed that this settlement is in full compromise of a disputed claim as to questions of liability and as to the nature 
and extent of property damages.  Further, neither this release, nor the payment pursuant hereto, shall be construed as an admission of 
liability. 
 
THE UNDERSIGNED HAS READ THE FOREGOING RELEASE AND FULLY UNDERSTANDS IT. 
 
 
 
Executed at _____________________________________________________, this _______day of __________________, _______ 
 
 
 
_____________________________________________   ____________________________________________ 
Printed Name and Signature   Date    Witness Signature    Date 
 
_____________________________________________ 
Title  
 
_____________________________________________   ____________________________________________ 
Printed Name and Signature   Date    Witness Signature    Date 
 
_____________________________________ 
Title  
 
 
 
 

450



451



1 
 

AGREEMENT FOR OFFICE RENOVATION  SERVICES  
 
 THIS AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made and entered into this 4th day of December, 
2025, by and between: 
 

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1, a local unit of special-
purpose government established pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, and 
located within the St. Lucie County, Florida, with a mailing address of 2501A 
Burns Road, Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 (“District No. 1”); and 
 
INTEGRITY BUILDING CORPORATION, a Nevada corporation, with a mailing 
address of 1258 NW 13th Ave, Boynton Beach, Florida 33426 (the “Contractor,” 
together with District No. 1 the “Parties”).  

 
RECITALS 

 
 WHEREAS, District No. 1 is a local unit of special-purpose government created for the 
purpose of planning, financing, constructing, operating and/or maintaining certain infrastructure 
and providing certain public services; and 
 

WHEREAS, District No. 1, along with Tradition Community Development District Nos. 2-
11 (the “Other Districts,” and collectively with District No. 1, the “Districts”) are parties to that 
certain Amended and Restated District Development Interlocal Agreement dated April 8, 2008, 
and recorded in Official Records Book 2893, Pages 1074-1124, of the public records of St. Lucie 
County, Florida, as amended (“District Interlocal Agreement”); and 

 
WHEREAS, Pursuant to Section 3.02 the District Interlocal Agreement, the Districts have 

delegated to District No. 1 the authority to finance, refinance, acquire, and/or construct public 
infrastructure on behalf of all the Districts, which includes the authority to enter contracts relating 
to the planning, permitting, design and construction of public infrastructure and the hiring of all 
consultants and professionals in accordance therewith; and 
 
 WHEREAS, District No. 1 has a need to retain an independent contractor to provide 
construction services relative to the renovation of office space used by District staff and other 
personnel for a variety of District purposes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Contractor represents that it is qualified to provide such services and has 
agreed to provide to District No. 1 the services identified in Exhibit A, attached hereto and 
incorporated by reference herein (the “Work”); and 
 

WHEREAS, District No. 1 and the Contractor accordingly desire to enter into this 
Agreement to set forth the rights, duties, and obligations of the parties relative to same; and 

 
 WHEREAS, District No. 1 and the Contractor warrant and agree that they have all right, 
power and authority to enter into and be bound by this Agreement. 
 

452



2 
 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the recitals, agreements, and mutual covenants 
contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which 
are hereby acknowledged by the Parties, the Parties agree as follows: 
 
 SECTION 1. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS. The recitals stated above are true and 
correct and by this reference are incorporated by reference as a material part of this Agreement. 
 

SECTION 2. DESCRIPTION OF CONTRACTOR’S WORK.  
 
A. The Contractor shall provide professional construction services within presently 

accepted professional standards and in accordance with the terms of this 
Agreement. The duties, obligations, and responsibilities of the Contractor are 
described in Exhibit A hereto. The Work shall include any effort reasonably 
necessary for the completion of the Work, including but not limited to, the tools, 
labor, and materials reasonably necessary. 

 
B. The Work shall commence upon execution of this Agreement and be completed 

within One Hundred Eighty (180) calendar days of execution of this Agreement, 
unless extended in writing by the District in its sole discretion or terminated earlier 
in accordance with Section 14 herein. 

 
C. This Agreement grants to the Contractor the right to enter the lands that are subject 

to this Agreement, for those purposes described in this Agreement, and the 
Contractor hereby agrees to comply with all applicable laws, rules, and regulations. 

 
D. The Contractor shall perform all Work in a neat and workmanlike manner 

reasonably acceptable to District No. 1. In the event District No. 1 in its sole 
determination, finds that the work of the Contractor is not satisfactory to District 
No. 1, District No. 1 shall have the right to immediately terminate this Agreement 
and will only be responsible for payment of work satisfactorily completed and for 
materials actually incorporated into the Work. 

 
E. The Contractor shall be solely responsible for the means, manner and methods by 

which its duties, obligations and responsibilities are met to the satisfaction of  
District No. 1. While providing the Work, the Contractor shall assign such staff as 
may be required, and such staff shall be responsible for coordinating, expediting, 
and controlling all aspects to assure completion of the Work.  

 
F. The Contractor shall report directly to District Manager. The Contractor shall use 

all due care to protect the property of the Districts, their residents and landowners 
from damage. The Contractor agrees to repair any damage resulting from the 
Contractor’s activities and work within twenty-four (24) hours. 

 
G. The Contractor shall keep the premises and surrounding area free from 

accumulation of waste materials or rubbish caused by operations under the 
Agreement. At completion of the Work, the Contractor shall remove from the site 

453



3 
 

waste materials, rubbish, tools, construction equipment, machinery and surplus 
materials. If the Contractor fails to clean up as provided herein, District No. 1 may 
do so, and the cost thereof shall be charged to the Contractor. 

 
SECTION 3. COMPENSATION, PAYMENT, AND RETAINAGE.  

 
A. District No. 1 shall pay the Contractor Three Hundred Sixty Seven Thousand 

Two Hundred Nine Dollars and Eighty-Three Cents ($367,209.83) for the Work 
as identified in Exhibit A. The Contractor shall invoice District No. 1 for the Work 
pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. District No. 1 shall provide payment within 
forty-five (45) days of receipt of invoices. The Contractor agrees to render monthly 
invoices to the District, in writing, which shall be delivered or mailed to District 
No. 1 by the fifth (5th) day of the next succeeding month. These monthly invoices 
are due and payable as provided for under the Local Government Prompt Payment 
Act, Sections 218.70 et seq., Fla. Stat. Each monthly invoice will include such 
supporting information as the District may reasonably require the Contractor to 
provide. Such amounts include all materials and labor provided for in Exhibit A 
and all items, labor, materials, or otherwise, to provide District No. 1 the maximum 
benefit of the Work.  

 
B. If District No. 1 should desire additional work or services, the Contractor agrees to 

negotiate in good faith to undertake such additional work or services. Upon 
successful negotiations, the Parties shall agree in writing to an addendum, addenda, 
or change order(s) to this Agreement. The Contractor shall be compensated for such 
agreed additional work or services based upon a payment amount acceptable to the 
parties and agreed to in writing. 

 
1. If the Contractor provides a price quotation for a proposed change order that 

was requested or issued by District No. 1, and the price quotation conforms 
to all statutory and contractual requirements, District No. 1 shall provide 
written notice to the Contractor, within thirty-five (35) days of receipt of the 
price quotation, either approving or denying same.  If District No. 1 denies 
the price quotation, the notice must specify any deficiencies and list action 
steps required to remedy the deficiencies. If District No. 1 fails to provide 
the approval or denial notice within such timeframe, the price quote and the 
related change order are deemed to be approved by District No. 1, and 
District No. 1 shall be obligated to pay Contractor the amount stated in the 
price quotation upon the completion of portion of the Work addressed by 
the change order. 

 
C. District No. 1 may require, as a condition precedent to making any payment to the 

Contractor, that all subcontractors, material men, suppliers or laborers be paid and 
require evidence, in the form of lien releases or partial waivers of lien, to be 
submitted to District No. 1 by those subcontractors, material men, suppliers or 
laborers, and further require that the Contractor provide an affidavit relating to the 
payment of said indebtedness. Further, District No. 1 shall have the right to require, 

454



4 
 

as a condition precedent to making any payment, evidence from the Contractor, in 
a form satisfactory to District No. 1, that any indebtedness of the Contractor, as to 
services to District No. 1, has been paid and that the Contractor has met all of the 
obligations with regard to the withholding and payment of taxes, Social Security 
payments, Workmen’s Compensation, Unemployment Compensation 
contributions, and similar payroll deductions from the wages of employees. 

 
SECTION 4. WARRANTY. The Contractor warrants to District No. 1 that all materials 

furnished under this Agreement shall be new, and that all services and materials shall be of good 
quality, free from faults and defects, and will conform to the standards and practices for projects 
of similar design and complexity in an expeditious and economical manner consistent with the 
best interest of the Districts. In addition to all manufacturer warranties for materials purchased for 
purposes of this Agreement, all Work provided by the Contractor pursuant to this Agreement shall 
be warranted for two (2) years from the date of acceptance of the Work by District No. 1. The 
Contractor shall replace or repair warranted items to District No. 1’s satisfaction and in District 
No. 1’s discretion. Neither final acceptance of the Work, nor final payment therefore, nor any 
provision of the Agreement shall relieve the Contractor of responsibility for defective or deficient 
materials or Work. If any of the materials or Work are found to be defective, deficient or not in 
accordance with the Agreement, the Contractor shall correct, remove and replace it promptly after 
receipt of a written notice from District No. 1 and correct and pay for any other damage resulting 
therefrom to District No. 1’s property, the property of the Other Districts or the property of 
landowners within the Districts.  
 

SECTION 5. PERMITS AND LICENSES. All permits and licenses required by any 
governmental agency directly for District No. 1 or any of the Other Districts shall be obtained and 
paid for by District No. 1. All other permits or licenses necessary for the Contractor to perform 
under this Agreement shall be obtained and paid for by the Contractor. 
 

SECTION 6. INSURANCE. 
  

A. The Contractor shall maintain throughout the term of this Agreement the following 
insurance: 

 
1. Worker’s Compensation Insurance in accordance with the laws of the State 

of Florida. 
 

2. Commercial General Liability Insurance covering the Contractor’s legal 
liability for bodily injuries, with limits of not less than One Million Dollars 
($1,000,000) combined single limit bodily injury and property damage 
liability, and covering at least the following hazards: 

 
i. Independent Contractors Coverage for bodily injury and property 

damage in connection with any subcontractors’ operation. 
 

3. Employer’s Liability Coverage with limits of at least One Million Dollars 
($1,000,000) per accident or disease. 

455



5 
 

 
4. Automobile Liability Insurance for bodily injuries in limits of not less than 

One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) combined single limit bodily injury and 
for property damage, providing coverage for any accident arising out of or 
resulting from the operation, maintenance, or use by the Contractor of any 
owned, non-owned, or hired automobiles, trailers, or other equipment 
required to be licensed. 

 
B. The Districts and their staff, consultants, officers, and supervisors shall be named 

as additional insured. The Contractor shall furnish District No. 1 with the 
Certificate of Insurance evidencing compliance with this requirement. No 
certificate shall be acceptable to District No. 1 unless it provides that any change 
or termination within the policy periods of the insurance coverage, as certified, shall 
not be effective within thirty (30) days of prior written notice to District No. 1. 
Insurance coverage shall be from a reputable insurance carrier, licensed to conduct 
business in the State of Florida. 
 

C. If the Contractor fails to have secured and maintained the required insurance, 
District No. 1 has the right but not the obligation to secure such required insurance 
in which event the Contractor shall pay the cost for that required insurance and shall 
furnish, upon demand, all information that may be required in connection with 
District No. 1’s obtaining the required insurance. 

 
 SECTION 7. INDEMNIFICATION. 

 
A. The Contractor agrees to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the Districts and 

their officers, agents, employees, successors, assigns, members, affiliates, or 
representatives from any and all liability, claims, actions, suits, liens, demands, 
costs, interest, expenses, damages, penalties, fines, judgments against the Districts, 
or loss or damage, whether monetary or otherwise, arising out of, wholly or in part 
by, or in connection with the Services to be performed by the Contractor, its 
subcontractors, its employees and agents in connection with this Agreement, 
including litigation, mediation, arbitration, appellate, or settlement proceedings 
with respect thereto.  
 

B. Obligations under this section shall include the payment of all settlements, 
judgments, damages, liquidated damages, penalties, forfeitures, back pay awards, 
court costs, arbitration and/or mediation costs, litigation expenses, attorneys’ fees, 
paralegal fees, expert witness fees (incurred in court, out of court, on appeal, or in 
bankruptcy proceedings), any interest, expenses, damages, penalties, fines, or 
judgments against the Districts. 
 

 SECTION 8. LIMITATIONS ON GOVERNMENTAL LIABILITY. Nothing in this Agreement 
shall be deemed as a waiver of immunity or limits of liability of the Districts beyond any statutory 
limited waiver of immunity or limits of liability which may have been adopted by the Florida 
Legislature in section 768.28, Florida Statutes, or other statute, and nothing in this Agreement 

456



6 
 

shall inure to the benefit of any third party for the purpose of allowing any claim which would 
otherwise be barred under the Doctrine of Sovereign Immunity or by operation of law.  
 
 SECTION 9. COMPLIANCE WITH GOVERNMENTAL REGULATION. The Contractor shall 
keep, observe, and perform all requirements of applicable local, State, and Federal laws, rules, 
regulations, or ordinances. If the Contractor fails to notify District No. 1 in writing within five (5) 
days of the receipt of any notice, order, required to comply notice, or a report of a violation or an 
alleged violation, made by any local, State, or Federal governmental body or agency or subdivision 
thereof with respect to the services being rendered under this Agreement or any action of the 
Contractor or any of its agents, servants, employees, or materialmen, or with respect to terms, 
wages, hours, conditions of employment, safety appliances, or any other requirements applicable 
to provision of services, or fails to comply with any requirement of such agency within five (5) 
days after receipt of any such notice, order, request to comply notice, or report of a violation or an 
alleged violation, District No. 1 may terminate this Agreement, such termination to be effective 
upon the giving of notice of termination. 
 
 SECTION 10. LIENS AND CLAIMS. The Contractor shall promptly and properly pay for all 
labor employed, materials purchased, and equipment hired by it to perform under this Agreement. 
The Contractor shall keep the property of the Districts free from any materialmen’s or mechanic’s 
liens and claims or notices in respect to such liens and claims, which arise by reason of the 
Contractor’s performance under this Agreement, and the Contractor shall immediately discharge 
any such claim or lien. In the event that the Contractor does not pay or satisfy such claim or lien 
within three (3) business days after the filing of notice thereof, District No. 1 in addition to any 
and all other remedies available under this Agreement, may terminate this Agreement to be 
effective immediately upon the giving of notice of termination. 
 
 SECTION 11. DEFAULT AND PROTECTION AGAINST THIRD PARTY INTERFERENCE. A 
default by either party under this Agreement shall entitle the other to all remedies available at law 
or in equity, which may include, but not be limited to, the right of damages, injunctive relief, and/or 
specific performance. District No. 1 shall be solely responsible for enforcing its rights under this 
Agreement against any interfering third party. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall limit or 
impair District No. 1’s right to protect its rights from interference by a third party to this 
Agreement. 
 
 SECTION 12. CUSTOM AND USAGE. It is hereby agreed, any law, custom, or usage to the 
contrary notwithstanding, that District No. 1 shall have the right at all times to enforce the 
conditions and agreements contained in this Agreement in strict accordance with the terms of this 
Agreement, notwithstanding any conduct or custom on the part of District No. 1 in refraining from 
so doing; and further, that the failure of District No. 1 at any time or times to strictly enforce its 
rights under this Agreement shall not be construed as having created a custom in any way or 
manner contrary to the specific conditions and agreements of this Agreement, or as having in any 
way modified or waived the same. 
 
 SECTION 13. SUCCESSORS. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding 
upon the heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns of the Parties to this Agreement, 
except as expressly limited in this Agreement. 

457



7 
 

 
 SECTION 14. TERMINATION. District No. 1 agrees that the Contractor may terminate this 
Agreement with cause by providing thirty (30) days’ written notice of termination to District No. 
1 stating a failure of District No. 1 to perform according to the terms of this Agreement; provided, 
however, that District No. 1 shall be provided a reasonable opportunity to cure any failure under 
this Agreement. The Contractor agrees that District No. 1 may terminate this Agreement 
immediately for cause by providing written notice of termination to the Contractor. District No. 1 
shall provide thirty (30) days’ written notice of termination without cause. Upon any termination 
of this Agreement, the Contractor shall be entitled to payment for all work and/or services rendered 
up until the effective termination of this Agreement, subject to whatever claims or off-sets District 
No. 1 may have against the Contractor.  
 
 SECTION 15. ASSIGNMENT. Neither District No. 1 nor the Contractor may assign this 
Agreement without the prior written approval of the other. Any purported assignment without such 
approval shall be void. 
 
 SECTION 16. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR STATUS. In all matters relating to this 
Agreement, the Contractor shall be acting as an independent contractor. Neither the Contractor nor 
employees of the Contractor, if there are any, are employees of District No. 1, or any of the Other 
Districts, under the meaning or application of any Federal or State Unemployment or Insurance 
Laws or Old Age Laws or otherwise. The Contractor agrees to assume all liabilities or obligations 
imposed by any one or more of such laws with respect to employees of the Contractor, if there are 
any, in the performance of this Agreement. The Contractor shall not have any authority to assume 
or create any obligation, express or implied, on behalf of District No. 1 or the Other Districts and 
the Contractor shall have no authority to represent District No. 1 or any of the Other Districts as 
an agent, employee, or in any other capacity, unless otherwise set forth in this Agreement. 
 
 SECTION 17. HEADINGS FOR CONVENIENCE ONLY. The descriptive headings in this 
Agreement are for convenience only and shall neither control nor affect the meaning or 
construction of any of the provisions of this Agreement. 
 
 SECTION 18. ENFORCEMENT OF AGREEMENT. A default by either party under this 
Agreement shall entitle the other party to all remedies available at law or in equity. In the event 
that either District No. 1 or the Contractor is required to enforce this Agreement by court 
proceedings or otherwise, then the substantially prevailing party shall be entitled to recover all fees 
and costs incurred, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, paralegal fees and expert witness fees and 
costs for trial, alternative dispute resolution, or appellate proceedings. 
 
 SECTION 19. AGREEMENT. This instrument shall constitute the final and complete 
expression of this Agreement between the Parties relating to the subject matter of this Agreement.  
 
 SECTION 20. AMENDMENTS. Amendments to and waivers of the provisions contained in 
this Agreement may be made only by an instrument in writing which is executed by both the 
Parties. 
 

458



8 
 

 SECTION 21. AUTHORIZATION. The execution of this Agreement has been duly 
authorized by the appropriate body or official of the Parties, the Parties have complied with all the 
requirements of law, and the Parties have full power and authority to comply with the terms and 
provisions of this Agreement. 
 
 SECTION 22. NOTICES. All notices, requests, consents and other communications under 
this Agreement (“Notice” or “Notices”) shall be in writing and shall be hand delivered, mailed by 
First Class Mail, postage prepaid, or sent by overnight delivery service, to the Parties, as follows: 
 

A. If to the District:  Tradition Community Development District  
     No. 1 

      2501A Burns Road 
Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 
Attn: District Manager 

 
With a copy to:  Kutak Rock LLP 

      107 West College Avenue 
      Tallahassee, Florida 32301 
      Attn: District Counsel 
 

B. If to the Contractor:  Integrity Building Corporation 
1258 NW 13th Ave 
Boynton Beach, Florida 33426 

      Attn: ____________________ 
 
 Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, any Notice shall be deemed received only 
upon actual delivery at the address set forth above. Notices delivered after 5:00 p.m. (at the place 
of delivery) or on a non-business day, shall be deemed received on the next business day. If any 
time for giving Notice contained in this Agreement would otherwise expire on a non-business day, 
the Notice period shall be extended to the next succeeding business day. Saturdays, Sundays, and 
legal holidays recognized by the United States government shall not be regarded as business days. 
Counsel for the Districts and counsel for the Contractor may deliver Notices on behalf of District 
No. 1 and the Contractor. Any party or other person to whom Notices are to be sent or copied may 
notify the Parties and addressees of any change in name or address to which Notices shall be sent 
by providing the same on five (5) days written notice to the Parties and addressees set forth in this 
Agreement. 
 
 SECTION 23. THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES. This Agreement is solely for the benefit of 
the Parties hereto and no right or cause of action shall accrue upon or by reason, to or for the 
benefit of any third party not a formal party to this Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement 
expressed or implied is intended or shall be construed to confer upon any person or corporation 
other than the Parties hereto any right, remedy, or claim under or by reason of this Agreement or 
any of the provisions or conditions of this Agreement; and all of the provisions, representations, 
covenants, and conditions contained in this Agreement shall inure to the sole benefit of and shall 
be binding upon the Parties hereto and their respective representatives, successors, and assigns. 
 

459



9 
 

 SECTION 24. CONTROLLING LAW AND VENUE. This Agreement and the provisions 
contained in this Agreement shall be construed, interpreted, and controlled according to the laws 
of the State of Florida. All actions and disputes shall be brought in the proper court and venue, 
which shall be St. Lucie County, Florida. 
 
 SECTION 25. COMPLIANCE WITH PUBLIC RECORDS LAWS. The Contractor understands 
and agrees that all documents of any kind provided to the Districts in connection with this 
Agreement may be public records, and, accordingly, the Contractor agrees to comply with all 
applicable provisions of Florida law in handling such records, including but not limited to Section 
119.0701, Florida Statutes. The Contractor acknowledges that the designated public records 
custodian for the Districts is Special District Services, Inc. (“Public Records Custodian”). 
Among other requirements and to the extent applicable by law, the Contractor shall 1) keep and 
maintain public records required by the Districts to perform the Work; 2) upon request by the 
Public Records Custodian, provide the requested public records or allow the records to be 
inspected or copied within a  reasonable time period at a cost that does not exceed the cost provided 
in Chapter 119, Florida Statutes; 3) ensure that public records which are exempt or confidential, 
and exempt from public records disclosure requirements, are not disclosed except as authorized by 
law for the duration of the contract term and following the contract term if the Contractor does not 
transfer the records to the Public Records Custodian of the Districts; and 4) upon completion of 
the contract, transfer to the Public Records Custodian, at no cost, all  public records in the 
Contractor’s possession or, alternatively, keep, maintain and meet all applicable  requirements for 
retaining public records pursuant to Florida laws. When such public records are transferred by the 
Contractor, the Contractor shall destroy any duplicate public records that are exempt or 
confidential and exempt from public records disclosure requirements. All records stored 
electronically must be provided to the Public Records Custodian in a format that is compatible 
with Microsoft Word or Adobe PDF formats.  

 
IF THE CONTRACTOR HAS QUESTIONS REGARDING THE 
APPLICATION OF CHAPTER 119, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO 
CONTRACTOR’S DUTY TO PROVIDE PUBLIC RECORDS RELATING 
TO THIS CONTRACT, CONTACT THE CUSTODIAN OF PUBLIC 
RECORDS AT (772) 345-5119, BSAKUMA@SDSINC.ORG, OR 2501A 
BURNS ROAD, PORT ST. LUCIE, FLORIDA 34987. 

 
 SECTION 26. SEVERABILITY. The invalidity or unenforceability of any one or more 
provisions of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining 
portions of this Agreement, or any part of this Agreement not held to be invalid or unenforceable. 
 
 SECTION 27. ARM’S LENGTH TRANSACTION. This Agreement has been negotiated fully 
between the Parties as an arm’s length transaction. The Parties participated fully in the preparation 
of this Agreement with the assistance of their respective counsel. In the case of a dispute 
concerning the interpretation of any provision of this Agreement, the Parties are each deemed to 
have drafted, chosen, and selected the language, and any doubtful language will not be interpreted 
or construed against any party. 
 

460



10 
 

 SECTION 28. COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed in any number of 
counterparts, each of which when executed and delivered shall be an original; however, all such 
counterparts together shall constitute, but one and the same instrument. Additionally, the Parties 
acknowledge and agree that the Agreement may be executed by electronic signature, which shall 
be considered as an original signature for all purposes and shall have the same force and effect as 
an original signature. Without limitation, “electronic signature” shall include faxed versions of an 
original signature, electronically scanned and transmitted versions (e.g. via PDF) of an original 
signature, or signatures created in a digital format.  
 
 SECTION 29. E-VERIFY REQUIREMENTS. The Contractor shall comply with and perform 
all applicable provisions of Section 448.095, Florida Statutes. Accordingly, beginning January 1, 
2021, to the extent required by Florida Statute, the Contractor shall register with and use the United 
States Department of Homeland Security’s E-Verify system to verify the work authorization status 
of all newly hired employees. District No. 1 may terminate this Agreement immediately for cause 
if there is a good faith belief that the Contractor has knowingly violated Section 448.091, Florida 

Statutes. 
  

If the Contractor anticipates entering into agreements with a subcontractor for the Work, 
the Contractor will not enter into the subcontractor agreement without first receiving an affidavit 
from the subcontractor regarding compliance with Section 448.095, Florida Statutes, and stating 
that the subcontractor does not employ, contract with, or subcontract with an unauthorized alien. 
The Contractor shall maintain a copy of such affidavit for the duration of the agreement and 
provide a copy to District No. 1 upon request.  
  

In the event that District No. 1 has a good faith belief that a subcontractor has knowingly 
violated Section 448.095, Florida Statutes, but the Contractor has otherwise complied with its 
obligations hereunder, District No. 1 shall promptly notify the Contractor. The Contractor agrees 
to immediately terminate the agreement with the subcontractor upon notice from District No. 1. 
Further, absent such notification from District No. 1, the Contractor or any subcontractor who has 
a good faith belief that a person or entity with which it is contracting has knowingly violated s. 
448.09(1), Florida Statutes, shall promptly terminate its agreement with such person or entity. 
  

By entering into this Agreement, the Contractor represents that no public employer has 
terminated a contract with the Contractor under Section 448.095(2)(c), Florida Statutes, within the 
year immediately preceding the date of this Agreement.  

 
SECTION 30. STATEMENT REGARDING CHAPTER 287 REQUIREMENTS. The Contractor 

acknowledges that, in addition to all Laws and Regulations that apply to this Agreement, the 
following provisions of Florida law (“Public Integrity Laws”) apply to this Agreements: 

 
A. Section 287.133, Florida Statutes, titled Public entity crime; denial or revocation 

of the right to transact business with public entities; 
 
B. Section 287.134, Florida Statutes, titled Discrimination; denial or revocation of 

the right to transact business with public entities; 
 

461



11 
 

C. Section 287.135, Florida Statutes, titled Prohibition against contracting with 

scrutinized companies; 
 
D. Section 287.137, Florida Statutes, titled Antitrust violations; denial or revocation 

of the right to transact business with public entities; denial of economic benefits; 
and 

 
E. Section 287.138, Florida Statutes, titled Contracting with entities of foreign 

countries of concern prohibited. 
 

The Contractor acknowledges that the Public Integrity Laws prohibit entities that meet 
certain criteria from bidding on or entering into or renewing a contract with governmental entities, 
including with the Districts (“Prohibited Criteria”).  

 
The Contractor also acknowledges that District No. 1 may terminate this Agreement if the 

Contractor is found to have met the Prohibited Criteria or violated the Public Integrity Laws.  
 
The Contractor certifies that in entering into this Agreement, neither it nor any of its 

officers, directors, executives, partners, shareholders, employees, members, or agents who are 
active in the management of the entity, nor any affiliate of the entity, meets any of the Prohibited 
Criteria, and in the event such status changes, the Contractor shall immediately notify District No. 
1. By entering into this Agreement, the Contractor agrees that any renewal or extension of this 
Agreement shall be deemed a recertification of such status 
 

SECTION 31. COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 20.055, FLORIDA STATUTES. The Contractor 
agrees to comply with Section 20.055(5), Florida Statutes, to cooperate with the inspector general 
in any investigation, audit, inspection, review, or hearing pursuant to such section and to 
incorporate in all subcontracts the obligation to comply with Section 20.055(5), Florida Statutes. 

 

SECTION 32.  ANTI-HUMAN TRAFFICKING STATEMENT. The Contractor does not use 
coercion for labor or services as defined in Section 787.06, Florida Statutes, and the Contractor 
has complied, and agrees to comply, with the provisions of Section 787.06, Florida Statutes. 

 
 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 
 

 

462



12 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have signed this Agreement on the day and 
year first written above. 

 
       TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1 
 
 
              
       Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 

INTEGRITY BUILDING 
CORPORATION, a Nevada corporation  

 
 
              
       By:       
       Its:       
 
 
Exhibit A:  Scope of Work 

463



 
 

Exhibit A 

Scope of Work 
 

 

464



4910-5696-1405.1  

 

COST SHARE AGREEMENT 
FOR OFFICE RENOVATION CONSTRUCTION SERVICES 

 
 THIS COST SHARE AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made and entered into this 3rd day 
of December, 2025, by and between: 
 

TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1, a local unit of special-
purpose government established pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, and 
located within the St. Lucie County, Florida, with a mailing address of 2501A 
Burns Road, Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 (“TCDD1”); and 
 
SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5, a local unit of 
special-purpose government established pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, 
and located within the St. Lucie County, Florida, with a mailing address of 2501A 
Burns Road, Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 (“SGCDD5”); and 
 
TRADITION COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION, INC., a Florida not-for-profit corporation, 
whose address is 10807 SW Tradition Square, Port St. Lucie, Florida 34987 (the 
“Association,” together with the TCDD1 and SGCDD5, the “Parties”). 
 

RECITALS 
 

WHEREAS, TCDD1 and SGCDD5 were each established pursuant to the Uniform 
Community Development District Act of 1980, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, as amended, and 
are validly existing under the Constitution and laws of the State of Florida; and 

 
WHEREAS, TCDD1, along with Tradition Community Development District Nos. 2-11 

(collectively with TCDD5, the “Tradition Districts”) are parties to that certain Amended and 
Restated District Development Interlocal Agreement dated April 8, 2008, and recorded in Official 
Records Book 2893, Pages 1074-1124, of the public records of St. Lucie County, Florida, as 
amended (“Tradition Interlocal Agreement”); and 

 
WHEREAS, Pursuant to Section 3.02 the Tradition Interlocal Agreement, the Tradition 

Districts have delegated to TCDD1 the authority to finance, refinance, acquire, and/or construct 
public infrastructure on behalf of all the Tradition Districts, which includes the authority to enter 
contracts relating to the planning, permitting, design and construction of public infrastructure and 
the hiring of all consultants and professionals in accordance therewith; and 

 
WHEREAS, SGCDD5, along with Southern Grove Community Development District Nos. 

1-4, 6-11 (collectively with SGCDD5, the “Southern Grove Districts”) are parties to that certain 
Second Amended and Restated District Development Interlocal Agreement dated July 9, 2013, 
and recorded in Official Records Book 3539, Pages 672-713, of the public records of St. Lucie 
County, Florida, as amended (“Southern Grove Interlocal Agreement”); and 
 

465



4910-5696-1405.1  

WHEREAS, Pursuant to Section 3.02 the Southern Grove Interlocal Agreement, the 
Southern Grove Districts have delegated to SGCDD5 the authority to finance, refinance, acquire, 
and/or construct public infrastructure on behalf of all the Southern Grove Districts, which includes 
the authority to enter contracts relating to the planning, permitting, design and construction of 
public infrastructure and the hiring of all consultants and professionals in accordance therewith; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, the Tradition Districts, the Southern Grove Districts and the Association each 
have staff and other personnel contracted to perform work for them that work out of the office 
located at 10807 SW Tradition Square, Port St. Lucie, Florida 34987 (the “Office”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the Parties have determined that the Office requires renovations and that such 

renovations would inure to the benefit all of the Parties; and  
 
WHEREAS, for ease of administration and potential cost savings for each of the Parties, the 

Parties determined that TCDD1 would solicit the services of an independent contractor to perform 
the desired Office renovations and enter a contract with the contractor concerning the same and 
that the Association and SGCDD5 would reimburse TCDD1 for the portion of the cost of the 
renovations commensurate with their use of the Office and the expected benefit received in 
connection with the renovations relative to the other Parties; and 

 
WHEREAS, TCDD1 entered into that certain Agreement for Office Renovation Services, 

dated December 4th, 2025 (the “Office Renovation Services Agreement”), and attached hereto 
as Exhibit A; and 
 
 WHEREAS, accordingly, the Parties now desire to enter an agreement to share the costs of 
the Office Renovation Services Agreement. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the above-stated recitals and other good and 
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is acknowledged by each of the Parties 
hereto, the Parties agree as follows: 
 

1. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS.  The recitals stated above are true and correct and 
by this reference are incorporated into and form a material part of this Agreement. 
 
 2. COST SHARING.   The Parties agree that the payment owed to contractor under the 
Office Renovation Services Agreement (collectively, “Cost”) shall be allocated to each Party in 
accordance with the following proportionate share of the Cost: 
 

A. TCDD1 shall be responsible for 28% of the Cost. 

B. SGCDD5 shall be responsible for and pay to TCDD1 22% of the Cost. 

C. The Association shall be responsible for and pay to TCDD1 50% of the 
Cost.   

466



4910-5696-1405.1  

Upon written request by TCDD1, the Association and/or SGCDD5 shall, within fifteen (15) days 
of such written request, pay to TCDD1 its proportionate share of the Cost.  
 
 3. TERMINATION. The Parties shall each have the right to terminate this Agreement 
for cause upon thirty (30) days written notice. Upon termination, the Parties shall account to each 
other with respect to all matters outstanding as of the date of termination.  
 

4. NEGOTIATION AT ARM’S LENGTH. This Agreement has been negotiated fully 
between the Parties as an arm’s length transaction. The Parties participated fully in the preparation 
of this Agreement and received the advice of counsel. In the case of a dispute concerning the 
interpretation of any provision of this Agreement, all Parties are deemed to have drafted, chosen 
and selected the language, and the doubtful language will not be interpreted or construed against 
any Party. 
 
 5.   AMENDMENT. Amendments to and waivers of the provisions contained in this 
Agreement may be made only by an instrument in writing which is executed by all the Parties 
hereto. 
 
 6. AUTHORITY TO CONTRACT. The execution of this Agreement has been duly 
authorized by the appropriate body or official of all Parties hereto, each of the Parties has complied 
with all the requirements of law, and each of the Parties has full power and authority to comply 
with the terms and provisions of this instrument. 
 
 7.  NOTICES. All notices, requests, consents and other communications hereunder 
(“Notices”) shall be in writing and shall be delivered, mailed by Federal Express or First-Class 
Mail, postage prepaid, to the Parties, as follows: 
 
  A. If to the Association:  Tradition Community Association, Inc. 

10807 SW Tradition Square,  
Port St. Lucie, Florida 34987 

       Attn:  _______________ 
 

B. If to TCDD1:  Tradition Community Development District 
No. 1 

       2501A Burns Road, 
       Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 
       Attn: District Manager 
 

C. If to SGCDD1: Southern Grove Community Development 
District No. 5 

       2501A Burns Road, 
       Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410 
       Attn: District Manager 
   
 
 

467



4910-5696-1405.1  

   With a copy to:    Kutak Rock LLP 
       107 W. College Avenue 
       Tallahassee, Florida 32301 
       Attn: District Counsel 
 
 Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, any Notice shall be deemed received only 
upon actual delivery at the address set forth above. Notices delivered after 5:00 p.m. (at the place 
of delivery) or on a non-business day, shall be deemed received on the next business day. If any 
time for giving Notice contained in this Agreement would otherwise expire on a non-business day, 
the Notice period shall be extended to the next succeeding business day. Saturdays, Sundays, and 
legal holidays recognized by the United States government shall not be regarded as business days. 
Counsel for SGCDD5 or TCDD1 may deliver Notice on behalf of the SGCDD 5 or TCDD1, 
respectively. Any Party or other person to whom Notices are to be sent or copied may notify the 
other Parties and addressees of any change in name or address to which Notices shall be sent by 
providing the same on five (5) days written notice to the Parties and addressees set forth herein. 
 
 8. APPLICABLE LAW AND VENUE. This Agreement and the provisions contained 
herein shall be construed, interpreted and controlled according to the laws of the State of Florida.  
Venue for any dispute shall be in a court of appropriate jurisdiction in St. Lucie County, Florida. 
 
 9. TERM. This Agreement shall become effective upon full execution by all Parties 
hereto and shall remain in effect until the completion of the renovations of the Office contemplated 
in the Office Renovation Services Agreement, unless terminated earlier by any of the Parties in 
accordance with this Agreement. 
 
 11. ENFORCEMENT. A default by any of the Parties under this Agreement shall entitle 
the other Parties to all remedies available at law or in equity, which shall include, but not be limited 
to, the right of damages, injunctive relief and specific performance.  
 

12. ATTORNEYS’ FEES. In the event any of the Parties are required to enforce this 
Agreement or any provision by court proceedings or otherwise, the prevailing Party shall be 
entitled to recover from the non-prevailing Party all fees and costs incurred, including but not 
limited to reasonable attorneys' fees incurred prior to or during any such arbitration, litigation or 
other dispute resolution, and including fees incurred in appellate proceedings. 
 

13. ASSIGNMENT. This Agreement may not be assigned, in whole or in part, by any of 
the Parties without the prior written consent of the others. Any purported assignment without such 
approval shall be void.  
   
 14. LIMITATIONS ON GOVERNMENTAL LIABILITY. Nothing in this Agreement shall 
be deemed as a waiver of immunity or limits of liability of any of the Tradition Districts or the 
Southern Grove Districts beyond any statutory limited waiver of immunity or limits of liability 
which may have been adopted by the Florida Legislature in Section 768.28, Florida Statutes or 
other statute, and nothing in this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of any third party for the 
purpose of allowing any claim which would otherwise be barred under the Doctrine of Sovereign 
Immunity or by operation of law.  

468



4910-5696-1405.1  

 
 15. BINDING EFFECT; NO THIRD-PARTY BENEFICIARIES. The terms and provisions 
hereof shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the Parties. This Agreement is solely 
for the benefit of the Parties hereto and no right or cause of action shall accrue upon or by reason 
hereof, to or for the benefit of any third party not a formal Party hereto. Nothing in this Agreement, 
expressed or implied, is intended or shall be construed to confer upon any person or corporation 
other than the Parties hereto any right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this Agreement or 
any provisions or conditions hereof; and all of the provisions, representations, covenants and 
conditions herein contained shall inure to the sole benefit of and shall be binding upon the Parties 
hereto and their respective representatives, successors and assigns. 
 
 16. PUBLIC RECORDS. The Association understands and agree that all documents of 
any kind provided to TCDD1 and/or SGCDD5 in connection with this Agreement may be public 
records and shall be treated as such in accordance with the Records Retention Policy adopted by 
TCDD1 and SGCDD5 and Florida law. Pursuant to Section 119.07(1)(a), Florida Statutes, the 
Association shall permit such records to be inspected and copied by any person desiring to do so. 
Failure of the Association to comply with public records laws to the extent required by statute will 
result in immediate termination of the Agreement. 
 
 17. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between 
the Parties with respect to its subject matter and all antecedent and contemporaneous negotiations, 
undertakings, representations, warranties, inducements and obligations are merged into this 
Agreement and superseded by its delivery. No provision of this Agreement may be amended, 
waived or modified unless the same is set forth in writing and signed by each of the Parties to this 
Agreement, or their respective successors or assigns. 
 
 18. EXECUTION IN COUNTERPARTS; ELECTRONIC SIGNATURES.  This instrument 
may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which, when executed and delivered, shall 
constitute an original, and such counterparts together shall constitute one and the same instrument. 
Signature and acknowledgment pages, if any, may be detached from the counterparts and attached 
to a single copy of this document to physically form one document. Additionally, the Parties 
acknowledge and agree that this Agreement may be executed by electronic signature, which shall 
be considered as an original signature for all purposes and shall have the same force and effect as 
an original signature. Without limitation, “electronic signature” shall include faxed versions of an 
original signature, electronically scanned and transmitted versions (e.g. via PDF) of an original 
signature, or signatures created in a digital format. 

 
 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

469



4910-5696-1405.1  

 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have each caused their duly authorized officers to 
execute this Agreement as of the date and year first written above. 
 
Attest: TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT NO. 1 
 
_____________________________  _________________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary   Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 
 
Attest: SOUTHERN GROVE COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 5 
 
_____________________________  _________________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary   Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 
 
Witness: TRADITION COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION, 

INC.,  a Florida not-for-profit corporation 
      
 
_______________________________ __________________________________________ 
      By:_______________________________________  
_______________________________  Its:_______________________________________ 
(Print name of witness) 
 
 
 
Exhibit A: Agreement for Office Renovation Services, dated December 3, 2025 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

470



4910-5696-1405.1  

Exhibit A 

Agreement for Office Renovation Services, dated December 3, 2025 

471



472



473



474



475



476



477



478



479



480



481



MEMORANDUM 
FROM: Kutak Rock LLP  

TO: Board of Supervisors 

DATE: January 7, 2026 

Subject: Resolution Setting Hearing on Adoption of Revised Irrigation Rates 

Staff Recommendation 

Staff recommends the Board adopt the Resolution Setting Hearing on Adoption of Revised 
Irrigation Rates. 

General Information 

Under Chapter 120, community development districts are required to hold a public hearing 
before adopting any rules which would assess or impose fees or charges on certain persons. The 
revised irrigation rates recommended for approval by the Irrigation Committee fall under the 
purview of the public hearing requirements contained within Chapter 120. This resolution sets 
the public hearing to consider the adoption of the revised irrigation rates for the Board meeting in 
March. 

District Legal Counsel Review 

The District’s attorneys prepared by this Resolution. 

Funding Review 

This Resolution is not expected to affect the District’s financial condition. 

482



RESOLUTION 2026-12 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1 TO 
DESIGNATE THE DATE, TIME AND LOCATION OF A PUBLIC 
HEARING AND AUTHORIZATION TO PUBLISH NOTICE OF SUCH 
HEARING FOR THE PURPOSE OF ADOPTING REVISED IRRIGATION 
RATES. 
 
WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 1 (“District No. 1”) is a 

local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida 
Statutes, being situated entirely within the City of Port St. Lucie, St. Lucie County, Florida; and  

 
WHEREAS, the City of Port St. Lucie (the “City”) entered into that certain Amended and 

Restated Irrigation Franchise Agreement [Tradition and Southern Grove], dated November 14, 
2016 (the “Franchise Agreement”) with Tradition Irrigation Company, LLC (the “Irrigation 
Company”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the Franchise Agreement provided the Irrigation Company with a non-

exclusive franchise for the provision of irrigation water to specified lands within the City, which 
lands currently consist of the lands within the boundaries of Tradition Community Development 
Districts Nos. 1-11 and Southern Grove Community Development Districts Nos. 1-10 
(collectively, the “Districts”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the Irrigation Company assigned the Franchise Agreement to District No. 1 

pursuant to that certain Assignment of Amended and Restated Irrigation Franchise Agreement 
[Tradition and Southern Grove], dated August 10, 2017; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Districts entered into that certain Irrigation System Interlocal Agreement, 

dated November 9, 2016 (the “Interlocal Agreement”), for the purpose of sharing the authority and 
responsibility of establishing and maintaining tariffs, rates and charges for the provision of 
irrigation water (“Irrigation Rates”) by the creation of a joint irrigation rate system committee (the 
“Committee”); and 

 
WHEREAS, Section 6 of the Interlocal Agreement requires District No. 1 to submit to the 

Committee any proposed revisions to Irrigation Rates, along with all reports and analyses prepared 
in connection with the proposed revision, and requires District No. 1 to receive a recommendation 
of approval of the proposed revision prior to their enactment; and  

 
WHEREAS, District No. 1 submitted to the Committee an irrigation rate study containing 

the proposed revisions (the “Revised Rates”), attached hereto as Exhibit A; and 
 
WHEREAS, on January 7, 2026, the Committee considered the Revised Rates and 

recommended them for approval to District No. 1; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of District No. 1 (the “Board”) desires to proceed 
with the enactment of the Revised Rates and is authorized by Sections 190.011(5) and 190.035, 
Florida Statutes, to adopt rules, orders, rates, fees and charges pursuant to Chapter 120, Florida 
Statutes. 

483



 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 1: 

 
SECTION 1.  The Board will hold a public hearing to adopt the Revised Rates, a proposed 

copy of which along with an analysis thereof is attached hereto as Exhibit A.  The public hearing 
will be held on March 4, 2026, at 11:00 a.m., at the Tradition Town Hall located at 10799 SW 
Civic Lane, Port St. Lucie, Florida 34987. The Board reserves the right to continue the hearing to 
a later date and time as necessary.  

 
SECTION 2. The District Secretary is directed to publish notice of the hearing in 

accordance with Section 120.54, Florida Statutes. 
 
SECTION 3.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 7th DAY OF JANUARY 2026. 

 
ATTEST:      TRADITION COMMUNITY  

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1 
 
 
             
Secretary / Assistant Secretary   Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 
 
EXHIBIT A:  Irrigation Rate Study with the Revised Rates 
 

484



EXHIBIT A 

 
 
 

 

485



MEMORANDUM 
FROM: Kutak Rock LLP  

TO: Board of Supervisors 

DATE: January 7, 2026 

Subject: Resolution re Authorizing the Disposition of Tangible Personal Property 

Staff Recommendation 

Staff recommends the Board adopt the Resolution. 

General Information 

Tradition Community Development District No. 1 owns roadway signs for which it no longer 
has any use. Under Section 274.05, Florida Statutes, the District may either sell or donate certain 
tangible person property to certain governmental units or qualifying nonprofit agencies upon a 
declaration that the property in question is surplus tangible personal property. 

The City of Port St. Lucie has expressed a desire to receive the roadway signage from the 
District via donation. In order to facilitate the donation, this resolution declares the roadway 
signs as surplus tangible person property and authorizes District staff to complete the donation to 
the City of Port St. Lucie in accordance with Florida Statutes. 

District Legal Counsel Review 

The District’s attorneys prepared this Resolution. 

Funding Review 

This Resolution is not expected to affect the District’s financial condition. 

486



RESOLUTION 2026-13 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 1 CLASSIFYING SURPLUS TANGIBLE 
PERSONAL PROPERTY; AUTHORIZING DISPOSITION 
OF SURPLUS TANGIBLE PERSONAL PROPERTY 
PURSUANT TO F.S. § 274.05; PROVIDING A 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Tradition Community Development District No. 1 (“District”) is a local 
unit of special-purpose government established pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, for the 
purpose of providing, operating and maintaining infrastructure improvements, facilities and 
services to the lands within the District; and 
 
 WHEREAS, as such, the District is a governmental unit within the meaning of Chapter 
274, Florida Statutes (“Governmental Unit”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the District has purchased and owns certain road signage and/or other related 
personal property as listed in more detail in the attached Exhibit A (“Surplus Property”); and  

 
WHEREAS, the District desires to classify the Surplus Property as surplus tangible 

personal property, and to determine that the Surplus Property is obsolete and that continued use of 
the Surplus Property is uneconomical, inefficient to maintain, and/or serves no useful function; 
and  

 
WHEREAS, the District has considered the best interests of the District, the value and 

condition of the Surplus Property, and the probability of the Surplus Property’s being desired by 
prospective donees or purchasers; and  

 
WHEREAS, the District desires to dispose of the Surplus Property for sale or donation to 

another Governmental Unit within the county or District or to a private nonprofit agency as defined 
in Section 273.01(3), and if the Surplus Property is offered for sale and no acceptable bid is 
received within a reasonable time, to offer the Surplus Property to a Governmental Unit outside 
the county or District or to another private nonprofit agency for sale or donation; and 

 
WHEREAS, the District has disclosed in its offer the value and condition of the Surplus 

Property, accepted the best bid if the Surplus Property was disposed of by sale, acknowledged the 
cost of transfer of the Surplus Property will be met by the purchaser or receiver; and   
 

WHEREAS, the District believes that it is in its best interests to dispose of the Surplus 
Property in this fashion. 

 

487



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TRADITION COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT NO. 1: 

 
 SECTION 1. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS.  All of the representations, findings and 
determinations contained within the recitals stated above are recognized as true and accurate and 
are expressly incorporated into this Resolution. 
 

SECTION 2. CLASSIFICATION OF SURPLUS TANGIBLE PERSONAL PROPERTY.  The 
District hereby classifies the Surplus Property as surplus tangible personal property, and hereby 
determines that the continued use of the Surplus Property is uneconomical, inefficient to maintain, 
and/or serves no useful function. 

 
SECTION 3. DISPOSITION OF SURPLUS TANGIBLE PERSONAL PROPERTY.  The District 

hereby directs and authorizes Staff to dispose of the Surplus Property by giving for value or 
donating it either to another Governmental Unit within the county or District or to a private 
nonprofit agency as defined in Section 273.01(3), Florida Statutes; or, if no acceptable bid is 
received within a reasonable time, Staff may dispose of the Surplus Property by giving for value 
or donating it to a  Governmental Unit outside the county or District or other private nonprofit 
agency. Staff will accept the best bid for the Surplus Property if it is disposed of by sale, and the 
Purchaser or Receiver will be responsible for the cost of transfer of the Surplus Property. Staff 
may dispose of the respective pieces of Surplus Property to different persons, at different times.  
Although referenced jointly, it is the intent of the District to dispose of the Surplus Property 
separately to the extent it is in the best interest of the District. 

 
SECTION 4. SEVERABILITY.  The invalidity or unenforceability of any one or more 

provisions of this Resolution shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining portions 
of this Resolution, or any part thereof. 
 
 SECTION 5. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon the 
passage and adoption of this Resolution by the Board of Supervisors of the District. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED this 7th day of January, 2026. 
 
ATTEST: TRADITION COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 1 
 
 
_____________________________   ________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary    Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

488



Exhibit A 
 

List of the Property 
 

 

489



Financial Report:
Under Separate Cover 

489


	Cover page
	Agenda
	Proof of Publication
	Res No. 2026-01; Adopting Recoreds Retention Policy
	Res No. 2026-02; Designating a Qualified Public Depository
	Res No. 2026-03; Establishing Defense Policy
	Res No. 2026-04; Authorizing Chair & Vice Chair to Execute Plats, Permits & Conveyances 
	Res No. 2026-05; Designating Public Comment Period
	Res No. 2026-06; Adopting Alt. Investment Guidelines
	Res. No 2026-07; Adopting Prompt Payment Policies 
	Res. No. 2026-08; Adopting Travel Reimbursement Policy 
	Res No 2026-09; Adopting Internal Controls Policy
	Res No. 2026-10; Authorizing Disbursement of Funds
	Res No. 2026-11; Setting Hearing on the District's Rules of Procedures 
	Meeting Minutes 11.5.25
	Fixed Property Damage Agreement 
	Office Renovation Construction Services & Cost Share Agreement
	Cost Share Agreement for Office Renovation Construction Services 
	WA #19-143-198; iThink Financial Plaza
	Res. No. 2025-23; Auth & Adopting Amended Final Fiscal Year 24/25 Budget - Old business
	Res. No. 2025-24; Designating a Registered Office of the District  - Old Business
	Res No. 2026-12; Setting Hearing on Adoption of Revised Irrigation Rates
	Res No. 2026-13; Authorizing the Disposition of Tangible Personal Property
	Financial Report (Under Separate Cover)



